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HSBC USA Inc.

PART I

Item 1. Financial Statements (Unaudited)

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF INCOME (LOSS) (UNAUDITED)

Three Months Ended Six Months Ended
June 30, June 30,

2013 2012 2013 2012
(in millions)

Interest income:

LLOBNS ...ttt ettt ettt ettt ettt ettt st et b bRt b ebene et et et ene ettt ene et berene s $ 478 $ 456 $ 942 $ 919
IS U ] (=SSO 225 280 453 585
TrAdING ASSELS.....ccviieciece ettt sr et st se et et e e e e eseeseeneeresresaenren 27 26 51 59
ShOrt-tErM INVESIMENES. .......eiiieiieie et 16 33 30 59
(@11 SRS 11 10 21 21
I r= U (=] (=T T Todo] - 757 805 1,497 1,643
Interest expense:
=010 = 56 85 99 161
ShOort-termM BOITOWINGS.......coiiiiecece e e ere e 8 6 17 15
LONG-TEM AEDL ... e 166 178 333 332
(@11 SRS 9 1 25 13
TOtal INTEIESt EXPENSE ....vieeeiieeesteeet ettt s et s ae e naens 239 270 474 521
NEL INEEIESE INCOME.......ei ittt et e et et e e ere e et e e sbee et e e sbessaseebessabesnneesneees 518 535 1,023 1,122
Provision fOr Credit I0SSES .......ccviiireree e 67 89 88 89
Net interest income after provision for credit [0SSeS........ccccevevevevcvccece e, 451 446 935 1,033
Other revenues:
Credit Card fEES. ... oottt r e 21 22 34 52
Other fees and COMMISSIONS.........coeiirierereeieeeeee e sr e s 176 185 346 396
BI85 BT 1o ST 31 25 63 50
TrAdiNG FEVENUE........eceeeieiieciietes e sees e ettt te et tesre st e e se e e eseeseeseenessesnennens 107 84 271 282
Other SECUNtIES QAINS, NEL.......ccviiieiieseerieieseee e e s resre s 23 65 154 95
Servicing and other fees from HSBC affiliates.........ccocvvveiieineieneineeseeseeee 59 46 113 102
Residential mortgage banking reVENUE ...........cooeiireieieenene e 9 2 55 27
Gain (loss) on instruments designated at fair value and related derivatives............. 115 141 88 (71
Gain 0N SAl@ Of DIaNChES.........ccvvie e — 330 — 330
(@1 0= T gTore) g T (o) I 25 (21 34 —
TOtal OTNEE FEVENUES .......cviieeiie ettt 566 879 1,158 1,263
Operating expenses:
Salaries and employee DENEFITS ..o 247 246 499 526
Support services from HSBC affiliates ..o 362 386 686 771
OCCUPANCY EXPENSE, MNEL .....veviivireie ettt neerenre s 57 57 116 116
Expense related to certain regulatory matters (NOt€ 21) .....c.ccveveeeeeecenereseseeneens — 700 — 700
(@1 L= o o= 1S = 122 178 276 327
TOotal OPEratiNg EXPENSES.......ccviiieirieteciecrestete e e e e e testesresbesbestesaeseee s eneesessessesresrens 788 1,567 1,577 2,440
Income (loss) from continuing operations before income tax expense........c.cccccveeveeene 229 (242) 516 (144)
[NCOME tAX EXPENSE......eeivieriieirisresie sttt ettt e s se e ese e enenrennenne s 49 351 153 369
Income (loss) from coNtinUING OPEratioNS ........cccvevvueueirererirerereeeeere e 180 (593) 363 (513)
Discontinued Operations (Note 2):
Income from discontinued operations before income tax eXPense.........cccevveeveeeieiennens — 74 — 315
[NCOME LAX EXPENSE .....eteeetieteete ettt sttt bbb sbe bt she e besaeesre s e e saeeeesreeresneenresaeans — 26 — 112
Income from discontinued OPEratioNS ..........ccccveeeieieeie et — 48 — 203
NEE INCOME (I0SS) ...evvvieeeiieetete sttt s st st e ettt eae s st et et e sese et et e e s etetesnan s $ 180 $ (545 $ 363 $ (310)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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HSBC USA Inc.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS) (UNAUDITED)
Three Months Ended Six Months Ended

June 30, June 30,
2013 2012 2013 2012
(in millions)

NEL INCOME (I0SS) ...virvieiirieiiteieteee ettt se st st e et neebeeens $ 180 $ (545 $ 363 $ (310
Net change in unrealized gains (losses), net of tax as applicable on:

Securities available-for-SAlEM. ..o (585) 248 (735) 121

Derivatives designated as cash flow hedges..........covevneiieinennense e 51 (37) 74 —

Pension and postretirement benefit plan adjustments, net of taX ..........ccccceeevereenee. — — — 1

Other comprehensive income (10sS), Net 0f taX........cccceeveveiicciccccecee e, (534) 211 (661) 122

Comprenensive INCOME (I0SS) .......c.oveveureeereeeeeeeeeeeteee e teteee et e teae e et e e e eesens $ (354) $ (334) $ (298) $ (188)

@ During the three and six months ended June 30, 2013 and 2012, there were no other-than-temporary impairment ("OTTI") losses on securities recognized
in other revenues and no OTTI losses in the non-credit component of securities were recognized in accumulated other comprehensive income.

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.



HSBC USA Inc.

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET (UNAUDITED)

June 30, December 31,
2013 2012

(in millions, except share data)

Assets®

Cash and dUE FIOM DENKS .........couieieiiieeseeee ettt ettt ettt se et se et st et ebesee st st e seese st e st sbesessesteesreseesearens $ 1,311 $ 1,359
Interest bearing depOoSitS With DANKS...........cc.coiiiiii e e 29,820 13,279
Securities purchased under agreemMentST0 FESENL ........coiieiieeiee e 1,399 3,149
THAOING BSSELS ...t eeueeteeete ettt ettt ettt et st et et e s tesesbe e et e ae s e b eneebe e ese e e e e ebe st enesEe e ebeseene et e e eneseeneebeeenessenenbens 27,448 35,995
SECUNTIES AVAHlADIETOI-SAIE ..ottt ettt et e et e e e e eatesaeesbeesbeeste e beeteenbeeneas 52,858 67,716
Securities held-to-maturity (fair value of $1.7 billion and $1.8 billion at June 30, 2013 and December 31,

DA (=S o ot (Y Y ) TSRS 1,538 1,620
0 ST 66,705 63,258
Less— allowanCe fOr Cradit [OSSES.........oi ittt s et b e s e nae s 605 647

(072 10N 0 1 R 66,100 62,611
Loans held for sale (includes $3 million and $465 million designated under fair value option at June 30,

2013 and December 31, 2012, FESPECLIVEIY) ....ovvieeririeiiieieti ettt sb e ere e 359 1,018
Properties and EQUIPMENT, NMEL ..........oir ittt b e bbb e e b et sb e e b ae e e s 261 276
INEANGIDIE ASSELS, NEL. ... ettt b et b et b bt b et e et b et b e b n e e s 299 247
GOOAWII] ..o 2,228 2,228
Other assets 8,765 7,069
Total assets $ 192,386 $ 196,567
Liabilities®”

Debt:
Deposits in domestic offices:
NONINEEFESE DEAMNG. .......cviviviieteteieee ettt bbb bbb bbb bt st et ss s st et es st bans $ 30,562 $ 31,315
Interest bearing (includes $8.0 billion and $8.7 billion designated under fair value option at June 30,
2013 and December 31, 2012, FESPECHIVEIY).......cvoveeeieereeeeiereeeeeeeseess e sessseses st tss st s s ssneeens 63,147 66,520

Depositsin foreign offices:

Noninterest bearing 1,368 1,813
Interest Bearing ........ccocveeeeievieesee e 16,658 18,023
Total dEPOSItS.....cceceveeeirieiei et 111,735 117,671
Short-term borrowings 21,394 14,933
Long-term debt (includes $6.6 billion and $7.3 billion designated under fair value option at June 30,
2013 and December 31, 2012, respectively) 20,934 21,745
L0 = e L= o 154,063 154,349
QLo 1010 Lo 1 L= 15,337 19,820
Interest, taxes and Other [TADITTTIES.......ocuiiieie et e e e e e e s e e e be e s s bessbessebnessseneans 5,584 4,562
TOAL HADTTITIES. ...ttt ettt e e e e et e st e et e e eaeeeeeeaesaeesaeesaeesaeesaeessessseeseessesasesasssaesssnesenessnesrnanns 174,984 178,731
Shareholders' equity
[ LS (S 0= 0 I (01 TR 1,565 1,565
Common shareholder’ s equity:
Common stock ($5 par; 150,000,000 shares authorized; 713 shares issued and outstanding at June
30, 2013 and DeCembEr 31, 2012) .......ccociiieieieieie ettt re e — —
Additional Paid-in CAPITAl ........ccciiiiiiiici e e et e 14,090 14,123
S = L0 Tc 0 = 1T SRS 1,690 1,363
Accumulated other COMPreNENSIVE INCOME..........ccviiieiiieicieei et re e 57 785
Total common Shar€hOIAEr S EQUILY .....cvoveuiieiiieieesee ettt sa bt se et e e enesreseaaens 15,837 16,271
Total SHArENOIAEIS’ EOUILY......ceviviieicie ettt st se bt e b ae st e e e b e st eseebe e enesseneaaens 17,402 17,836
Total liabilities and shareholders’ BQUILY..........ccccicviucieiiiciccec et $ 192,386 $ 196,567

@ The following table summarizes assets and liabilities related to our consolidated variable interest entities (“VIES') as of June 30, 2013 and December 31,
2012 which are consolidated on our balance sheet. Assets and liabilities exclude intercompany balances that eliminate in consolidation.
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June 30,

2013

2012

December 31,

Assets

Liabilities
IS aToT (= o0 0 1Y T g RSP
Long-term debt
Interest, taxes and OLhEr [HBDIHTTIES. ..ottt bbb eb s
LIz T L o =SSOSO

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.

(in millions)

221 $ 216
218 —
544 533
983 $ 749
400 $ —

92 92
122 152
614 $ 244




HSBC USA Inc.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY (UNAUDITED)

Six Months Ended June 30, 2013 2012
(dollars are in millions)

Preferred stock

Balance at beginning and end Of PEMOU............coueiiierieiiiirriesiss ettt een $ 1565 $ 1,565
Common stock
Balance at beginning and end Of PEITOU ..o — —
Additional paid-in capital
Balance at beginning Of PO ........cc.ciiieiiieeiece ettt b et b e e ne st ese b e e senee 14,123 13,814
O .. bbb R bR R R b E b E e E R b bR R R E R bbb bbb (33) (24)
S F = gTecY = gTo o) 7= oo OO SORTS S SR 14,090 13,790
Retained earnings
Balance at beginning Of PEMTOM .......c.coiririirreeirr et 1,363 2,481
INEL INCOME (IOSS) ..ttt bbb b e b ee b bt e b st e bbbt b b st s ek et et b bt e bbb enenn 363 (310)
Cash dividends declared on Preferred SLOCK. ..ottt e b (36) (37
Balance af €N OF PEOU........ueuiiririeirieieer ettt bbbkt st b ettt ne et ebanan 1,690 2,134
Accumulated other comprehensive income
Balance at beginning Of PEIMTOM ...ttt b e e ne s s e e s s 785 642
Adjustment to add other-than-temporary impairment on securities held-to-maturity due to the consolidation

Of avariable iNtEreSt ENMItY ........cciveiiieeiiici e (67) —
Other comprehensive iNCOME (10SS), NEE OF TAX......c.covrrirrrererieeni e se s eese e e sesenesessenesessesnnen (661) 122
Balance at €N OF PEITOU........veuiiririeerieiet ettt b et b e r et n e enenn 57 764
Total commOon SNArENOIUEI'S BQUILY........eiveirieiiieieesteeseee ettt sttt se et e saeneseeneenens 15,837 16,688
Total ShareNOIAErS” BUUILY ......ccoviievieiicecteee ettt b bt ea et s e st an e nene $ 17,402 % 18,253

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (UNAUDITED)
Six Months Ended June 30, 2013

2012

(in millions)

Cash flows from operating activities

INEE INCOME (IOSS) ...uvuvvieietetete sttt sttt sttt et e e se st e s e e s et ese et sebessse b e s ese s et ebe s e s b ebens st ese et ebesensesebesensssebenssnssenesn $ 363 $ (310
INncome from di SCONtINUEA OPEIGHIONS. .......c.vrueuireririeteirerie ettt ettt b et b et b b et st b b nene et s et enenen — 203
Income (10SS) from CONLINUING OPEIELIONS.......c.couiirierieuireeerie ettt b et b et be e be b et b e e e be b e e sb e s esesee e nbeseenenean 363 (513)
Adjustments to reconcile net income (10ss) to net cash provided by operating activities:
Depreciation and @MOTTIZALION ..........c.eiirrereir ettt b et se bt s b e r e r e 175 108
GaiN ON SAIE OF BIANCNES........eei bbbttt b et b et s et ene e — (330)
Expense accrual related to certain regulaiory MELtErS........ccuvueivirieiieiee et b e s e — 700
ProviSion fOr CrEOIT IOSSES ......cucuiuiuiiiiiiiieiciieiee bbb bbb bbb bbbt eb e 88 89
Realized gains on securities availabl €-fOr-SAlE...........ouieiirreirc e e (146) (95)
Realized gains on SeCUrities NElA-tO-MEIUNTTY .......c.covieeieeierieiee e et 8) —
Net change in other assets and [HEDIITHES........c.co e e 244 868
Net change in 108NS EIA fOr SAEL........cuiiice bbbt
OrigiNGioNS Of [OGNS.......ciiieuiiieiitirieeste ettt et s bt e st e e besaese st et esesseneebesaesestensesesaesesseseenessenentens (1,043) (1,702)
Sales and collection Of 08NS NEIA FOr SAIE.........occuiiei ittt et ae s eesreesbessreeans 1,246 1,756
Net change in trading assetS and [HaDIlITIES. ..o 4,023 9,044
Lower of amortized cost or fair value adjustments on loans held for Sale.........ooo e 9 18
Mark-to-market loss on financia instruments designated at fair value and related derivatives...........ccccoceeereeennee (88) 71
Cash provided by operating activities — CONtiNUING OPErAHONS.........c.uiveviiririerierireeiee ettt 4,863 10,014
Cash provided by operating activities — diSCoNtinUed OPEratioNsS............ccuvueivierieiirieice e — 614
Net cash provided by OpErating @CHIVITIES.......c.covrrieieiriiieirriee ettt eann 4,863 10,628
Cash flows from investing activities
Net change in interest bearing depoSitS With DANKS..........c.corrrriree e (16,522) 6,645
Net changein federal funds sold and securities purchased under agreementSto resell .........ccovveennneinnneecnennnenns 1,750 (10,557)
Securities available-for-sale:
Purchases of securities avallable-fOr-SAl@...........ccciiiiiice e ee (13,876) (21,755)
Proceeds from sales of securities available-fOr-SAl@...........coici ittt 22,216 7,049
Proceeds from maturities of securities available-fOr-Sal€..........cooovuiiiiiiiieeccee e e 4,745 7,256
Securities held-to-maturity:
Proceeds from sales of Securities NEld-tO-MELUIILY ........ccccvreirrieir e 79 —
Proceeds from maturities of securities Neld-tO-MELUIILY ........ccccovieiniieiee e 233 191
Changein loans:
Originations, NEL Of COHECLIONS..........c.ciiuiiiiiiieeitee ettt s a e st e b e st se et e e b e st ese et e e sesbesesbessese e (3,141) (4,464)
[0 7= g e o B (o { gl o 7= g (=SSOSR 15 53
Net cash used for acquisitions of properties and EQUIPIMENT .........c..ocerirererrerreeres e seesesse e e saeansen (15) 2
Net outflows related to the sale Of DranCheS. ... — (7,768)
(@101 0 1 1= OO OSSOSO TSP OPROPO (61) (66)
Cash used in investing activities — CONtiNUING OPEIGLIONS..........cvrieiriiieieseei et e e re b se e se s e (4,577) (23,418)
Cash provided by investing activities — discontinued OPEratioNS............ccvreirrrieennese e — 21,186
Net cash USE iN INVESHING @CHIVITIES. .......covriiueueerreeie ettt ettt se et sese e neesene e aeannen (4,577) (2,232
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS ZUNAUDITED; zCOHtlnued)
Six Months Ended June 30, 2013 2012
(in millions)

Cash flows from financing activities

N ot o R T (= o0 £ (5,894) (6,384)
Debt:
Net change in SNOM-LEMM DOMTOWINGS.......cvrveueerrrreieire ettt s e bt r e r et nr e 6,046 (5,278)
RS U gl o T laTo T =g 10 1o U= o SO S 3,637 4,739
Repayment Of 10NG-tEIM AL ..ottt b st se b e e se st e e b e s e se st e e ese e (4,054) (1,457)
Repayment of debt related to the sale and leaseback of 452 Fifth Avenue property.........cverennseienneseienenenns — (8)
Other decreases in CaPital SUMPIUS..........couiuruirrieeerree ettt e et e st e se e s e aese e seesene e e et ene e neeen (33) (24)
TRV =010 7= o T (36) (37)
Cash used in financing activities — CONtiNUING OPEraONS.......ccvuereirerreirerriereese e (334) (8,449)
Cash provided by financing activities — diSCONtiNUEH OPEraLiONS..........c.eovririereiririerenirese et — (35)
Net cash USed in fiNANCING ACHIVITIES........ccuiiiiciiicice ettt a s et e e et e b e sesae s eresaenennan (334) (8,484)
Net changein cash and due fromM DANKS ..........coouiiiiiiciicee ettt e b e b e saenennan (48) (88)
Cash and due from banks at beginning of period 1,359 1,616
Cash and due from banks at nd Of PEFIOU ..........coiuiiiiececceee et be bt ne e $ 1311 $ 1528
Supplemental disclosure of non-cash investing activities -
Trading securities PENAING SEIEMENE .........coiiirrr ettt $ (41) $ (12
Transfer Of 10aNST0 NEIA fOr SA@ ...ttt 32 39

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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1. Organization

HSBC USA Inc. (“HSBC USA"), incorporated under the laws of Maryland, isaNew York State based bank holding company and
anindirect wholly-owned subsidiary of HSBC North AmericaHoldingsInc. (“HSBC North America’), whichisanindirect wholly-
owned subsidiary of HSBC Holdings plc (“HSBC"). The accompanying unaudited interim consolidated financial statements of
HSBC USA Inc. and its subsidiaries (collectively “HUSI") have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America (“U.S. GAAP") for interim financial information and with the instructions to Form 10-
QandArticle 10 of Regulation S-X, aswell asin accordance with predominant practi ceswithin the banking industry. Accordingly,
they do not includeall of theinformation and footnotesrequired by generally accepted accounting principlesfor completefinancial
statements. In the opinion of management, all normal and recurring adjustments considered necessary for afair presentation of
financial position, results of operations and cash flows for the interim periods have been made. HSBC USA (together with its
subsidiaries, “HUSI") may also be referred to in these notes to the consolidated financial statementsas“we,” “us’ or “our.” These
unaudited interim consolidated financial statements should be read in conjunction with our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the
year ended December 31, 2012 (the “2012 Form 10-K"). Certain reclassifications have been made to prior period amounts to
conform to the current period presentation.

The preparation of financial statementsin conformity with U.S. GAAP requires the use of estimates and assumptions that affect
reported amounts and disclosures. Actual results could differ from those estimates. Unless otherwise noted, information included
in these notes to the consolidated financial statements relates to continuing operations for all periods presented. See Note 2,
“Discontinued Operations” for further details. Interim results should not be considered indicative of resultsin future periods.

During the second quarter of 2013, we consolidated our commercia paper conduit variable interest entity, otherwise known as
Bryant Park Funding LLC ("Bryant Park") upon the completion of a restructuring of that entity. See Note 18, "Variable Interest
Entities’ for further details.
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2. Discontinued Operations

Sale of Certain Credit Card Operations to Capital One OnAugust 10, 2011, HSBC, throughitswholly-owned subsidiariesHSBC
Finance Corporation (“HSBC Finance”), HSBC USA and other wholly-owned affiliates, entered into an agreement to sell its Card
and Retail Services business to Capital One Financial Corporation (“ Capital One”). This transaction was completed on May 1,
2012. The sale included our General Motors (“GM™) and Union Plus (“UP") credit card receivables as well as our private label
credit card and closed-end receivables, all of which were purchased from HSBC Finance. Prior to completing the transaction, we
recorded lower of amortized cost or fair value adjustments on these receivables which, prior to the sale, were classified as held
for sale on our balance sheet as a component of assets of discontinued operations which totaled $107 million and $440 millionin
the three and six months ended June 30, 2012, respectively, and is reflected in net interest income and other revenuesin the table
below. Thesefair value adjustments were largely offset by held for sale accounting adjustments in which loan impairment charges
and premium amortization were no longer recorded. The total final cash consideration allocated to us was approximately $19.2
billion, which did not result in the recognition of a gain or loss upon completion of the sale as the receivables were recorded at
fair value. The sale to Capital One did not include credit card receivables associated with HSBC Bank USA N. A.'s ("HSBC Bank
USA") legacy credit card program and, therefore, are excluded from the table below. However a portion of these receivables were
included as part of the branch sale to First NiagaraBank, N.A. in 2012 and HSBC Bank USA continuesto offer credit cardsto its
customers. No significant one-time closure costs were incurred as aresult of exiting these portfolios. In connection with the sale
of our credit card portfolio to Capital One, we have entered into an outsourcing arrangement with Capital One with respect to the
servicing of our remaining credit card portfolio.

Because the credit card and private label receivables sold were classified as held for sale prior to disposition and the operations
and cash flows from these receivables were eliminated from our ongoing operations post-disposition without any significant
continuing involvement, we determined we had met the requirements to report the results of these credit card and private label
card receivables sold as discontinued operations for all periods presented.

Following the completion of the sale in May of 2012, there was no remaining impact on our results related to the discontinued
credit cards operations. The following summarizes the results of our discontinued credit card operationsfor the prior year periods:

Three Months Ended Six Months Ended

June 30, 2012 June 30, 2012
(in millions)
Net interest income and Other FEVENUES M. oot eee e see s $ 129 $ 541
Income from discontinued operations before iNCOME tax ..........covvveeeneeineieneneseneenns 74 315

@ Interest expense in 2012 was allocated to discontinued operations in accordance with our existing internal transfer pricing policy. This policy uses match
funding based on the expected lives of the assets and liabilities of the business at the time of origination, subject to periodic review, as demonstrated by the
expected cash flows and re-pricing characteristics of the underlying assets.

At June 30, 2013 and December 31, 2012 there were no remaining assets and liabilities of our discontinued credit cards operations
reported on our consolidated balance sheet.
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3. Trading Assets and Liabilities

Trading assets and liabilities are summarized in the following table.

June 30, December 31,
2013 2012

(in millions)

Trading assets:
U.S. TIEASUINY ...ttt ettt sttt ettt b et be e s et et e e ss e b et e se s et et eseasss s et enessebebese s e bebesensssesebenssessebenens $ 1530 $ 2,484
U.S. GOVEIMIMENT BOEINCY ...veveeuiereeeieseeesteeseesseeseesseesessseessssseessesssessesssessesssessesssesseessssseessssseessesseessessenns 73 337
U.S. Government SPONSOred ENEEIPIISES™ .........c.evuereereereeeessesseessesissssssssessssssesssssssssesssssesssssnees 124 32
ASSEL DACKEA SECUNTIES. ......ocvieii ettt ettt et e ae e s be e e sbeeaeesheensesteentesteentesteentesreenns 469 687
Corporate and fOreign BONGASZ ... ee e s se s sneennes 6,830 9,583
OB SECUNTIES. . ....eeteee ettt sttt et e e e e et ae e bt eh e s bt sbesb e s bt se et e bese e e ens e e e neeneeneenenneas 24 36
= w010 Y 1115 t= £ 9,397 12,332
DEITVALIVES ..ottt sttt stttk et b et b e st b se ke s e ke s e e bt se b e nb e st s b et et e e et et et e neebe e 9,001 10,504

$ 27448 $ 35995
Trading liabilities: —_— =

Securities Sold, NOt YEL PUICHASED .......ccvieiiiise e e ettt se e e e e e e e eneenesneenens $ 491 % 207
Payabl €S fOr PraCiOUS MELAIS. .......coiierieietertere ettt bbb e et se et e e b nae e 4,545 5,767
(DL (A7 Y= SRR 10,301 13,846

$ 15337 $ 19,820

@ Includes mortgage backed securities of $97 million and $16 million issued or guaranteed by the Federal National Mortgage Association (“FNMA”) and $27
million and $16 million issued or guaranteed by the Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corporation (“FHLMC”) at June 30, 2013 and December 31, 2012,
respectively.

@ Wedid not hold any foreign bonds issued by the governments of Greece, Ireland, Italy, Portugal or Spain at either June 30, 2013 or December 31, 2012.
At June 30, 2013 and December 31, 2012, thefair value of derivativesincluded in trading assets has been reduced by $5.0 billion

and $5.1 hillion, respectively, relating to amounts recognized for the abligation to return cash collateral received under master
netting agreements with derivative counterparties.

At June 30, 2013 and December 31, 2012, the fair value of derivatives included in trading liabilities has been reduced by $1.9
billion and $1.3 billion, respectively, relating to amounts recognized for the right to reclaim cash collateral paid under master
netting agreements with derivative counterparties.

See Note 10, "Derivative Financia Instruments® for further information on our trading derivatives and related collateral .
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4. Securities

The amortized cost and fair value of the securities available-for-sale and securities held-to-maturity portfolios are summarized in
the following tables.

Non-Credit
Loss
Component of
Amortized OTTI Unrealized Unrealized Fair
June 30, 2013 Cost Securities Gains Losses Value
(in millions)
Securities available-for-sale:
U.S. TTEASUNY ...ttt $ 22807 $ — 3 439 $ (84) $ 23,162
U.S. Government sponsored enterprises:”
Mortgage-backed SECUNtIES ..o, 199 — — (13) 186
Direct agency obligations..........ccvevveeereneneneseseeesenienens 3,931 — 298 (14) 4,215
U.S. Government agency issued or guaranteed:
Mortgage-backed SECUNLIES .......cccevvveereireneseseee i 12,354 — 130 (240) 12,244
Collateralized mortgage obligations............coeeeveereeerenne 6,553 — 69 (100) 6,522
Direct agency obligations...........ccocevererieneiieneeieeenerenaens 1 — — — 1
Obligations of U.S. states and political subdivisions............. 874 — 19 (24) 869
Asset backed securities collateralized by:
Residential MOrtgages.........covveereereienenenensesesesesienens 1 — — — 1
Commercial MOMgagES ......coevverierierereeie e 162 — 4 — 166
HOME €QUILY ..., 285 — — (40) 245
SHUAENE 1OBNS.....cueieeieire et — — — — —
(@14 1= ST 102 — 2 — 104
Corporate and other domestic debt securities........................ 23 — 1 — 24
Foreign debt securitieS?™ ... ..o, 4,976 — 9 (31) 4,954
EQUItY SECUMTIES.....c.civiieeiieiie e 165 — 2 (2) 165
Total available-for-sale SECUNtiES......cvcvvieeeveiieece e, $52433 $ — 3 973 $ (548) $ 52,858
Securities held-to-maturity: -
U.S. Government sponsored enterprises:®
Mortgage-backed SECUNtieS ........ccveeevvericveeri e $ 0956 $ — 3 113 $ — $ 1,069
U.S. Government agency issued or guaranteed:
Mortgage-backed SECUNTIES ........cceverereerieeee e 59 — 9 — 68
Collateralized mortgage obligations...........coecvecereeenennes 242 — 31 — 273
Obligations of U.S. states and political subdivisions............. 33 — 2 — 35
Asset-backed securities collateralized by residential
1000 = 0 (TR 30 — 1 — 31
Asset-backed securities and other debt securities held by
CONSOldAEd VIE®.......rvvveerrcrrreeeoseeesssisssesssssisssseseeee 333 (115) 20 — 238
Total held-to-maturity SECUNtIES.........cvcveveeeeeereeeeeeeeeeeeee $ 1653 $ (115) $ 176 $ — $ 1,714
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Amortized Unrealized Unrealized Fair

December 31, 2012 Cost Gains Losses Value

(in millions)

Securities available-for-sale:

U.S. TIEASUINY....ocveeeeeteteeeeeteteeeeee ettt e et ses et se s s s sese s e bete e enane $ 34800 $ 566 $ (24) $ 35342
U.S. Government sponsored enterprises:®)
Mortgage-backed SECUNtIES..........covrueiiiiiiiicc 166 1 D 166
Direct agency ObligationS..........ccoveeveireienieesee e 4,039 364 (2 4,401
U.S. Government agency issued or guaranteed:
Mortgage-backed SECUNTIES.........cccvvveirieiricesee e 15,646 674 (6) 16,314
Collateralized mortgage obligations............ceevvieveverereseesiereeeeeenens 4,315 156 — 4471
Direct agency obligations..........ccoeoeeeriererenereses e 1 — — 1
Obligations of U.S. states and political subdivisions.............c.cccouvueuinen 877 37 2 912
Asset backed securities collateralized by:
Residential MOrgageS......ccvvvverereeeeeeeee s 1 — — 1
ComMErCial MOMQAgES ...cveeeeeeeereee ettt eneas 208 6 — 214
HOME BOUILY ... 310 — (52 258
SHUAENT TOBNS ...ttt — — — —
OLNEN ... 102 — (18) 84
Corporate and other domestic debt securities..........ccoovcevvrcereneceennene 24 2 — 26
Foreign debt SECUNTIES D™ ... ..o 5,385 16 (48) 5,353
EQUILY SECUFTIES. ..ot s 167 6 — 173
Total available-for-sale SECUNTIES.......c.eeieiiieeeee e $ 66041 $ 1828 $ (153) $ 67,716

Securities held-to-maturity:

U.S. Government sponsored enterprises:®

Mortgage-backed SECUNTIES.........cccevveirieiricesee e $ 1121 % 148 % — $ 1269
U.S. Government agency issued or guaranteed:
Mortgage-backed SECUNTIES. .......ooveererereeeerere e 66 12 — 78
Collateralized mortgage obligations............ceevvieveveresceseereeseeeeeenens 277 42 — 319
Obligations of U.S. states and political subdivisions............cccocecerveennee 38 3 — 41
Asset-backed securities collateralized by residential mortgages............ 118 6 — 124
Total held-to-maturity SECUNTIES........covvviieriieieeerieeree s $ 1620 $ 211 $ — $ 1831
@ Includes securities at amortized cost of $165 million and $153 million issued or guaranteed by FNMA at June 30, 2013 and December 31, 2012, respectively,
and $34 million and $13 million issued or guaranteed by FHLMC at June 30, 2013 and December 31, 2012, respectively.
@ AtJune 30, 2013 and December 31, 2012, foreign debt securities consisted of $1.4 billion and $1.5 billion, respectively, of securitiesfully backed by foreign
governments. The remainder of foreign debt securities represents foreign bank or corporate debt.
®  Includessecurities at amortized cost of $448 million and $507 million issued or guaranteed by FNMA at June 30, 2013 and December 31, 2012, respectively,
and $508 million and $614 million issued and guaranteed by FHLMC at June 30, 2013 and December 31, 2012, respectively.
@ Wedid not hold any foreign debt securities issued by the governments of Greece, Ireland, Italy, Portugal or Spain at June 30, 2013 and December 31, 2012.
®

Relatesto securitiesheld by Bryant Park Funding LL C, avariableinterest entity which was consolidated in the second quarter of 2013, See Note 18, "Variable
Interest Entities" for additional information.
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A summary of grossunrealized losses and related fair values as of June 30, 2013 and December 31, 2012 classified asto thelength
of time the losses have existed follows:

One Year or Less Greater Than One Year
Number Gross Aggregate Number Gross Aggregate
of Unrealized Fair Value of Unrealized Fair Value
June 30, 2013 Securities Losses of Investment Securities Losses of Investment

(dollars are in millions)
Securities available-for-sale;

U.S. TraSUIY ... 17 $ (7)) $ 7,145 6 $ (13) $ 531
U.S. Government sponsored enterprises...... 25 27 749 14 — 7
U.S. Government agency issued or
guaranteed ..., 160 (340) 12,647 1 — —
Obligations of U.S. states and political
SUDAIVISIONS........coniiiiii e 48 (24) 434 — — —
Asset backed SeCUrities........coovcciiinnen, — — — 13 (40) 258
Foreign debt Securities...........ccooeerererenenen. 6 — 499 9 (31) 3,649
Equity SECUMtieS.......coovvieiiiciiiisicin 1 2 157 — — —
Securities available-for-sale...........cccooeeeeieennne 257 $ (464) $ 21,631 43 $ 84) $ 4,445
Securities held-to-maturity:
U.S. Government sponsored enterprises...... 16 $ — $ — 46 $ — $ —
U.S. Government agency issued or
QUArANtEEd .....c.oveveieereeee e 68 — — 900 — 2
Obligations of U.S. states and political
SUDAIVISIONS......ccvevereereeiese e 3 — 2 2 — 1
Asset backed Securities.........ccovevveeeceenenee. — — — — — —
Securities held-to-maturity..........cccccevvveuneee 87 $ — 3 2 948 $ — % 3
One Year or Less Greater Than One Year
Number Gross Aggregate Number Gross Aggregate
of Unrealized Fair Value of Unrealized Fair Value
December 31, 2012 Securities Losses of Investment Securities Losses of Investment

(dollars are in millions)
Securities available-for-sale:

U.S. Treasury ... 6 $ 3 $ 3,344 6 $ (21 s 587
U.S. Government sponsored enterprises...... 9 (3) 431 14 — 7
U.S. Government agency issued or
QUAraNtEEd ..........ccevereevererereereserese e 18 (6) 1,059 — — —
Obligations of U.S. states and political
SUDAIVISIONS.......cocviiicric 14 2 168 1 — 7
Asset backed securities........coovvevveeeneeen 3 — 20 13 (70) 354
Foreign debt Securities.........ccovvevvrerverenenen. — — — 9 (48) 3,787
Securities available-for-sale...........ccccovvunnneee. 5 $ (14 $ 5022 43 $ (139 $ 4742
Securities held-to-maturity: -
U.S. Government sponsored enterprises...... 24 % — $ — 52 % — % —
U.S. Government agency issued or
QUArANEEEd ..o 75 — — 947 — 2
Obligations of U.S. states and political
SUDAIVISIONS. ....cvevieeeirieecree e 2 — 1 1 — —
Asset backed securities........coooveveeerecee. 1 — 4 2 — 7
Securities held-to-maturity ..........cccovvvererenene. 102 $ — $ 5 1,002 $ — $ 9
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Net unrealized gains decreased within the available-for-sale portfolio in the first six months of 2013 primarily dueto asignificant
riseinyields on U.S. Treasury and other U.S. Government securities during the second quarter of 2013 due to concerns that the
Federal Reservewill wind down its bond buying program sooner than previously expected aswell as security salesduring thefirst
half of 2013. We have reviewed the securities for which there is an unrealized loss for other-than-temporary impairment in
accordancewith our accounting policies. During thethreeand six monthsended June 30, 2013 and 2012, none of our debt securities
were determined to have either initial other-than-temporary impairment or changes to previous other-than-temporary impairment
estimates relating to the credit component.

Upon consolidation of Bryant Park Funding LLC during the second quarter of 2013, we have held-to-maturity asset backed
securities totaling $218 million which were previously determined to be other-than-temporarily impaired. We do not consider any
other debt securities to be other-than-temporarily impaired at June 30, 2013 as we expect to recover the amortized cost basis of
these securities and we neither intend nor expect to be required to sell these securities prior to recovery, even if that equates to
holding securities until their individual maturities. However, additional other-than-temporary impairments may occur in future
periodsif the credit quality of the securities deteriorates.

On-going Assessment for Other-Than-Temporary Impairment On a quarterly basis, we perform an assessment to determine
whether there have been any events or economic circumstances to indicate that a security with an unrealized loss has suffered
other-than-temporary impairment. A debt security is considered impaired if its fair value is less than its amortized cost at the
reporting date. If impaired, we assess whether the unrealized loss is other-than-temporary.

Anunrealized loss is generally deemed to be other-than-temporary and a credit lossis deemed to exist if the present value of the
expected future cash flows is less than the amortized cost basis of the debt security. As a result, the credit 1oss component of an
other-than-temporary impairment write-down for debt securities is recorded in earnings while the remaining portion of the
impairment loss attributable to factors other than credit lossis recognized, net of tax, in other comprehensive income provided we
do not intend to sell the underlying debt security and it is more likely than not that we would not have to sell the debt security
prior to recovery.

For all securities held in the available-for-sale or held-to-maturity portfolio for which unrealized |osses attributed to factors other
than credit loss have existed for a period of time, we do not have the intention to sell and believe we will not be required to sell
the securities for contractual, regulatory or liquidity reasons as of the reporting date. As debt securities issued by U.S. Treasury,
U.S. Government agencies and government sponsored entities accounted for 88 percent and 90 percent of total available-for-sale
and held-to-maturity securities as of June 30, 2013 and December 31, 2012, respectively, our assessment for credit loss was
concentrated on private label asset-backed securities and foreign securities. Substantially all of the private label asset-backed
securities are supported by residential mortgages, home equity loans or commercial mortgages. Our assessment for credit losswas
concentrated on this particular asset class because of the following inherent risk factors:

*  Therecovery of the U.S. economy has been slow;
e Thehigh levels of pending foreclosure volume associated with a U.S. housing market in the early stages of recovery;
e Alack of significant traction in government sponsored programs in loan modifications;

* A lack of refinancing activities within certain segments of the mortgage market, even at the current low interest rate
environment, and the re-default rate for refinanced loans;

*  Theunemployment rate although improving remains high compared with historical levels;
» Thedeclinein the occupancy rate in commercial properties; and
*  The severity and duration of unrealized loss.

In determining whether a credit loss exists and the period over which the debt security is expected to recover, we considered the
following factors;

» Thelength of time and the extent to which the fair value has been less than the amortized cost basis;

» Thelevel of credit enhancement provided by the structure, whichincludesbutisnot limited to credit subordination positions,
over collateralization, protective triggers and financial guarantees provided by monoline wraps,

»  Changesin the near term prospects of the issuer or underlying collateral of asecurity such as changesin default rates, loss
severities given default and significant changes in prepayment assumptions;

» Thelevel of excess cash flows generated from the underlying collateral supporting the principa and interest payments of
the debt securities; and

* Any adverse change to the credit conditions of the issuer, the monoline insurer or the security such as credit downgrades
by the rating agencies.

16



HSBC USA Inc.

We use a standard valuation model to measure the credit loss for available-for-sale and held-to-maturity securities. The valuation
model captures the composition of the underlying collateral and the cash flow structure of the security. Management develops
inputs to the model based on external analyst reports and forecasts and internal credit assessments. Significant inputs to the model
includedelinquencies, collateral typesand rel ated contractual features, estimated rates of default, lossgiven default and prepayment
assumptions. Using the inputs, the model estimates cash flows generated from the underlying collateral and distributes those cash
flows to respective tranches of securities considering credit subordination and other credit enhancement features. The projected
future cash flows attributabl e to the debt security held are discounted using the effective interest rates determined at the original
acquisition date if the security bears a fixed rate of return. The discount rate is adjusted for the floating index rate for securities
which bear avariable rate of return, such as LIBOR-based instruments.

For the three and six months ended June 30, 2013 and 2012 there were no other-than-temporary impairment losses recognized
related to credit loss. At June 30, 2013, asaresult of consolidating a previously unconsolidated VI E in the second quarter of 2013,
the excessfuture cash flows over fair value, representing the non-credit component of the unrealized | oss associated with all other-
than-temporarily impaired securities, was $115 million. At December 31, 2012, there were no non-credit component unrealized
loss amounts recognized.

Thefollowing table summarizestherollforward of credit |osses on debt securitiesthat were other-than-temporarily impaired which
have previously been recognized in income that we do not intend to sell nor will likely be required to sell:

Three Months Ended  Six Months Ended

June 30, 2013 June 30, 2013
(in millions)

Credit losses at the beginning of the PEMOd ..o $ — % —
Credit losses previously recognized on held-to-maturity debt securities of VIE
consolidated during the second quarter of 2013.........ccooeiiirenrirr e 61 61
Ending balance of credit |osses on held-to-maturity debt securities for which a portion
of an other-than-temporary impairment was recognized in other comprehensive income
(1OSS) vttt bbb R b e R bbb b b e n s $ 61 $ 61

At June 30, 2013, we held 26 individual asset-backed securities in the available-for-sale portfolio, of which 8 were also wrapped
by a monoline insurance company. The asset-backed securities backed by a monoline wrap comprised $349 million of the total
aggregate fair value of asset-backed securities of $516 million at June 30, 2013. The gross unrealized losses on these monoline
securities were $38 million at June 30, 2013. We did not take into consideration the value of the monoline wrap of any non-
investment grade monoline insurers as of June 30, 2013 and, therefore, we only considered the financial guarantee of monoline
insurers on securities for purposes of evaluating other-than-temporary impairment with afair value of $107 million. No security
wrapped by abel ow investment grade monoline insurance company was deemed to be other-than-temporarily impaired at June 30,
2013.

At December 31, 2012, we held 27 individual asset-backed securities in the available-for-sale portfolio, of which 8 were also
wrapped by a monoline insurance company. The asset-backed securities backed by a monoline wrap comprised $343 million of
thetotal aggregate fair value of asset-backed securities of $557 million at December 31, 2012. The gross unrealized losses on these
monoline securities were $69 million at December 31, 2012. We did not take into consideration the value of the monoline wrap
of any non-investment grade monolineinsurersasof December 31, 2012 and, therefore, we only considered thefinancial guarantee
of monoline insurers on securities with afair value of $110 million for purposes of evaluating other-than-temporary impai rment.
No security wrapped by abel ow investment grade monolineinsurance company was deemed to be other-than-temporarily impaired
at December 31, 2012.

As discussed above, certain asset-backed securities in the available-for-sale portfolio have an embedded financial guarantee
provided by monolineinsurers. Becausethefinancial guaranteeisnot aseparate and distinct contract from the asset-backed security,
they are considered as a single unit of account for fair value measurement and impairment assessment purposes. The monoline
insurers are regulated by the insurance commissioners of the relevant states and certain monoline insurers that write the financial
guarantee contracts are public companies. As discussed above, we did not consider the value of the monoline wrap of any non-
investment grade monolineinsurer at June 30, 2013 and December 31, 2012. In eval uating the extent of our reliance on investment
grade monoline insurance companies, consideration is given to our assessment of the creditworthiness of the monoline and other
market factors. We perform both a credit as well as aliquidity analysis on the monoline insurers each quarter. Our analysis also
compares market-based credit default spreads, when available, to assess the appropriateness of our monoline insurer’'s
creditworthiness. Based on the public information available, including the regul atory reviews and actions undertaken by the state
insurance commissions and the published financial results, we determine the degree of reliance to be placed on the financial
guarantee policy in estimating the cash flows to be collected for the purpose of recognizing and measuring impairment |oss.
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A credit downgrade to non-investment gradeisakey but not the only factor in determining the credit risk or the monolineinsurer’s
ability to fulfill its contractual obligation under the financial guarantee arrangement. Although a monoline may have been down-
graded by the credit rating agencies or have been ordered to commute its operations by the insurance commissioners, it may retain
the ability and the obligation to continue to pay claimsin the near term. We evaluate the short-term liquidity of and the ability to
pay claims by the monoline insurers in estimating the amounts of cash flows expected to be collected from specific asset-backed
securities for the purpose of assessing and measuring credit loss.

Realized Gains (Losses)

The following table summarizes realized gains and losses on investment securities transactions attributable to available-for-sale
Securities.

Three Months Ended Six Months Ended

June 30, June 30,
2013 2012 2013 2012
(in millions)
GrOSS rEAlIZEA QAINS .....cueeeeeeeieeeeeeeteee ettt ettt ae b re s ae b ae e e eas $ 83 $ 132 $ 207 $ 20
Gross realized |0SSES.........couiiiiii (60) (67) (61) (106)
NEL FEAIIZEA QAINS... ... ettt ettt ettt ae e saesbesee e $ 23 $ 65 $ 146 $ 95

The following table summarizes realized gains and losses on investment securities transactions attributable to held-to-maturity
securities.

Three Months Ended Six Months Ended

June 30, June 30,
2013 2012 2013 2012
(in millions)
GroOSSrEAlIZEU QAINS.....cceiieeeee ettt te ettt s aeesae s e e sresaesreenaesreensesreens $ — % — 3% 8 $ —
GrOSS rEAlIZEU |OSSES........eictieie ettt ettt et et sae e sbeeaesbeenbesbeens — — — —
Net realized gaiNS (I0SSES) ....voiveeieieeiiceese ettt enreenes $ — % — 3% 8 $ —

During thefirst quarter of 2013, we sold six asset-backed securities out of our held-to-maturity portfolio with atotal carrying value
of $71 million. These sales were in response to the significant credit deterioration which had occurred on these securities which
had been classified as substandard for regulatory reporting purposes and, therefore, these disposals do not affect our intent and
ability to hold our remaining held-to-maturity portfolio until maturity.

Contractual Maturities and Yields Theamortized cost andfair valuesof securitiesavailable-for-sal eand securitieshel d-to-maturity
at June 30, 2013, are summarized in the table below by contractual maturity. Expected maturitiesdiffer from contractual maturities
because borrowers have theright to prepay obligations without prepayment penaltiesin certain cases. Securities available-for-sale
amounts exclude equity securities asthey do not have stated maturities. The table bel ow also reflects the distribution of maturities
of debt securities held at June 30, 2013, together with the approximate taxable equivalent yield of the portfolio. The yields shown
are calculated by dividing annual interest income, including the accretion of discounts and the amortization of premiums, by the
amortized cost of securities outstanding at June 30, 2013. Yields on tax-exempt obligations have been computed on a taxable
equivalent basis using applicable statutory tax rates.
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After One After Five
Within But Within But Within After Ten
One Year Five Years Ten Years Years
Taxable Equivalent Basis Amount Yield Amount Yield Amount Yield Amount Yield

(dollars are in millions)

Available-for-sale:

U.S. Treasury .....ccceveeeveereneeesieseeseeseens $ 7,597 30% $ 10,424 62% $ 2821 242% $ 1,965 3.92%
U.S. Government sponsored
ENEETPIISES ..cvviveeeeeetere e 50 .39 515 249 2,798 3.19 767 3.91
U.S. Government agency issued or
guaranteed..........cceveeerererenenineneeenes — — 6 5.09 102 243 18,800 2.59
Obligations of U.S. states and political
SubdivisSions .........ccccoeeiieieseces — — 74  3.90 323 372 477 349
Asset backed securities.........cc.covevvenee. — — 1 199 11 40 538 274
Other domestic debt securities............... — — — — — — 23 390
Foreign debt securities..........ccocvvveneene. 721 2.85 4,255 195 — — — —
Total amortized COSt ........c.coevvevveecveeeieennee. $ 8,368 52% $ 15275 107% $ 6,055 284% $ 22570 2.77%
Total fair VAIUE.......c.oceeeeeeeeeeeeeee e $ 8376 $ 15,270 $ 6,451 $ 22,596

Held-to-maturity:
U.S. Government sponsored

ENEEIPIISES ..ot $ 2 798% $ 2 745% $ 1 791% $ 951 6.16%
U.S. Government agency issued or
guaranteed..........coeveeereenenninnenes — — 1 761 2 770 298 6.51
Obligations of U.S. states and political
SUDAIVISIONS ... 5 510 12 5.06 7 4.03 9 502
Asset backed securities..........cccoeeeenee. — — — — — — 30 6.37
Asset backed securities issued by
consolidated VIE ........ccccoovvvnvnnnnnennn. — — — — 69 .30 149 .36
Total amortized COSt ........cooeeeveveeireeienenns $ 7 58% $ 15 561% $ 79 99% $ 1437 5.63%
Total far value.......ccoevveeevenensieene $ 7 $ 16 $ 81 $ 1,610

Investments in Federal Home Loan Bank (“FHLB") stock and Federal Reserve Bank (“FRB”) stock of $139 million and $482
million, respectively, were included in other assets at June 30, 2013 . Investments in Federal Home Loan Bank (“FHLB") stock
and Federal Reserve Bank (“FRB”) stock of $143 million and $483 million, respectively, were included in other assets at
December 31, 2012.
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5. Loans

Loans consisted of the following:

December 31,

June 30, 2013

2012

(in millions)

Commercia loans:

Construction and Other 1eal EBSTALE............o e $ 8529 $ 8,457
Business and Corporate DaNKING..........coe e 12,391 12,608
GIOBE DANKINGD et e e en s 23,339 20,009
OthEr COMIMEICIAL....ee ettt et tee e e e be e et e e be e s beesaeesabeesbeesaseesbessnseebeesabeenseesanens 3,005 3,076
TOtaAl COMMEICIAL......ceeiiiiie ettt e s e e st e st e e b e sbeeabesbeeabesbeenbesbeenbesaeensesaneseeennas 47,264 44,150
Consumer loans:
HOME EUILY MOIQBOES .....veveevereeieesiesiesiesteeseeseeseeeee e sses e ssestesteseeseesseseeseensenseneeneesensessnssessessnssens 2,172 2,324
Residential mortgages, excluding home equity MOIMGagES...........oveeerreirreeseereesesesesese s 15,837 15,371
Lo 1 o o 858 815
OFNEY CONSUMIEY ...ttt sttt sttt se ettt eae s bt bt sbe s b e sbesae et e bese e s e b e e e e e e eneeaeeaeebesaesaeebeneas 574 598
QLI L= o0 1S U0 1= 19,441 19,108
TOAI LOBNS......ccteeeieectee ettt ettt et e et e be e sabe e beesabe e sbeeeaseebeesaseesbeesabeeseesateesbeesaseebeesnnenntensns $ 66,705 $ 63,258

@ Representslarge multinational firmsincluding globally focused U.S. corporate and financial institutionsand U.S. Dollar lending to select high quality Latin

American and other multinational banking customers managed by HSBC on aglobal basis as well asloansto HSBC affiliates.

@ Includes loans to HSBC affiliates of $7.0 billion and $4.5 billion at June 30, 2013 and December 31, 2012, respectively. See Note 15, "Related Party

Transactions' for additional information regarding loans to HSBC affiliates.

Net deferred origination costs totaled $15 million and $30 million at June 30, 2013 and December 31, 2012, respectively.

AtJune30, 2013 and December 31, 2012, we had net unamorti zed premium on our loansof $21 millionand $25 million, respectively.
Weamortized net premiums of $1 million and $3 million on our loansin the three and six months ended June 30, 2013, respectively,

compared with $9 million and $18 million on our loans in the three and six months ended June 30, 2012, respectively.

Age Analysis of Past Due Loans Thefollowing table summarizes the past due status of our loans at June 30, 2013 and December
31, 2012. The aging of past due amounts is determined based on the contractual delinquency status of payments under the loan.
An account isgenerally considered to be contractually delinquent when payments have not been made in accordance with the loan
terms. Delinquency status may be affected by customer account management policies and practices such as re-age, which results

in the re-setting of the contractual delinquency statusto current.
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Past Due
Total Past Due
At June 30, 2013 30-89days 90+days 30Daysor More Current?  Total Loans

(in millions)

Commercia loans:

Construction and other real estate........ccccoveveeeeeverceeeerennee. $ 79 % 38 $ 117 $ 8412 $ 8,529
Business and corporate banking ...........cccceeereerienenienenennns 25 39 64 12,327 12,391
Global banKing.........cccoeevveviiiriiees e — 8 8 23,331 23,339
Other COMMEICIA ......ceveeieie e 20 16 36 2,969 3,005
Total COMMEICIA .......coeieeiecececeee e e 124 101 225 47,039 47,264
Consumer loans:
Home equity MOMQagES........cvovrerrereerrrereererenreee s 37 64 101 2,071 2,172
Residential mortgages, excluding home equity mortgages 487 978 1,465 14,372 15,837
Credit CardS......coveeciecieceeeececeece e e 11 11 22 836 858
Other CONSUMET .......coiiiiiieieie e 3 26 29 545 574
TOtal CONSUMES ......oveeveeteeteceeeteete sttt ere e 538 1,079 1,617 17,824 19,441
TOtal 10ANS ...ttt $ 662 $ 1,180 $ 1,842 $ 64,863 66,705
Past Due

Total Past Due
At December 31, 2012 30-89days 90+days 30Daysor More Current?  Total Loans

(in millions)

Commercial loans:

Construction and other real estate.........ccccoeeeeveeevevreecreenenns $ 8 $ 152 $ 241 $ 8216 $ 8457
Business and corporate banking ..........ccccceeeeeerienenienenennn. 73 70 143 12,465 12,608
Global banKing..........ccoovveveiievercercc e 30 8 38 19,971 20,009
Other COMMEICIA ... 16 31 47 3,029 3,076
Total COMMEICIA ........ccoeivieieceeeeecte e 208 261 469 43,681 44,150
Consumer loans:
Home equity MOrtgages........ccveereereeriiereneseseseseereseenes 40 82 122 2,202 2,324
Residential mortgages, excluding home equity mortgages 493 976 1,469 13,902 15,371
(O o ] o o S 14 15 29 786 815
Other CONSUMES ........c.eeiicieeieceecte et 5 33 38 560 598
TOtal CONSUMEY......ccoiiieeiteitiecte ettt et et ere e 552 1,106 1,658 17,450 19,108
TOtAl |OBNS ...ttt $ 760 $ 1,367 $ 2127 $ 61,131 $ 63,258

@ Loans less than 30 days past due are presented as current.

Nonaccrual Loans Nonaccrual loans totaled $1.4 billion and $1.6 billion at June 30, 2013 and December 31, 2012, respectively.
Interest income that would have been recorded if such nonaccrual 1oans had been current and in accordance with contractual terms
was approximately $30 million and $61 million in the three and six months ended June 30, 2013, respectively, compared with $26
million and $55 million in the three and six months ended June 30, 2012, respectively. | nterest incomethat wasincluded in interest
income on these loans was $11 million and $16 million in the three and six months ended June 30, 2013, respectively, compared
with $2 million and less than $1 million in the three and six months ended June 30, 2012, respectively. For an analysis of reserves
for credit losses, see Note 6, “ Allowance for Credit Losses.”
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Nonaccrual loans and accruing receivables 90 days or more delinquent are summarized in the following table:

December 31,
June 30, 2013 2012

(in millions)

Nonaccrual loans:

Commercial:
s S = (=
Construction and 18N [OANS............c.cueeeeieereeieeeeeeteee ettt et s st aeae s snena $ 47 $ 104
Other 188l ESIALE ... .eveeeeeceeete ettt et et be e eesaeeaesaeebesreenbesreens 132 281
Business and corporate banking ..........ccceeererereieeieeieeesese e se e e e s ens 44 47
GlODEl DANKING ... et b 18 18
Other COMIMETCIAL .....c.viiveeie ettt e s re et e sbeeaesae e besaeebesreens 5 13
LI oo 0= o - 246 463
Consumer:
Residential mortgages, excluding home equity MOMgagesS..........ccovveereierererenereneseseee e 1,013 1,038
HOME EUILY MOMQAOES. .....ecveeviieeeeeeesieseeses e see e e e e et s e s restesaese e tesaesae e enae e eseenesnesnesrenses 89 86
Total residential MOMGAgES ™Y ...........ooveeveeeeeieeeeeeees s eeseees s 1,102 1,124
Other CONSUMES [0BNS.........cccviiieciecieeee ettt ettt e e st e e sreeeesaeeaesae e besaeebesreens 5 5
TOtal CONSUMEN [OANS......cciiiiiiiiieiiesieese e seee et e st s e e sre st saesresbesteseensesteseeneeseeseeneesessesaesnens 1,107 1,129
Nonaccrual 10aNS held fOr SAE ..o e 50 37
Total NONACCIUING JOANS..........cueieieeeeeee ettt ettt sttt sa et e e e e e eaeeaeeneeneereeeas 1,403 1,629
Accruing loans contractually past due 90 days or more:
Commercial:
S s = =TSR
Construction and [and [08NS.........cccereeerieirieee e enens — —
(@191 g = S = (O 1 8
Business and corporate DanKinNg ............coreireirenneineseee e 6 28
Other COMMEICIA ..ottt e e e e e e e e e s e e sesaesrenrenes 1 1
TOtal COMMIEICIAL ......cccuieieieeec ettt st e st et e st e e b e e re et e sneenaeennesneeneas 8 37
Consumer:
Credit Card reCaIVANIES ..o et nre s 11 15
(@191 g oo 1S 1 1= SR 21 28
Total CONSUMEY [OBNS.......ccitiitieiticiecteete ettt sttt ae st e st e st e ensesaeentesneesaeeanesneeneas 32 43
Total accruing loans contractually past due 90 days OF MOFe..........ccccvererereereereeeereee e 40 80
Total NONPEIrTOrMING J0ANS........ccoiiieie et sa e e e reeaeenesreens $ 1,443 $ 1,709

@ Nonaccrual residential mortgages includes all receivables which are 90 or more days contractually delinquent as well as loans discharged under Chapter 7 bankruptcy and not re-
affirmed and second lien loans where the first lien loan that we own or service is 90 or more days contractually delinquent.

Impaired Loans A loanis considered to beimpaired when it is deemed probable that not all principal and interest amounts due
according to the contractual terms of the loan agreement will be collected. Probable losses from impaired loans are quantified and
recorded as a component of the overall allowance for credit losses. Commercial and consumer loans for which we have modified
the loan terms as part of a troubled debt restructuring are considered to be impaired loans. Additionally, commercial loans in
nonaccrual status, or that have been partially charged-off or assigned a specific allowance for credit losses are aso considered
impaired loans.

Troubled debt restructurings Troubled debt restructurings ("TDR Loans") represent loansfor which the original contractual terms
have been modified to provide for termsthat are less than what we would be willing to accept for new |oans with comparable risk
because of deterioration in the borrower’s financial condition.

Modificationsfor consumer and commercial loansmay include changesto one or moretermsof theloan, including, but not limited
to, achangeininterest rate, extension of the amortization period, reduction in payment amount and partial forgiveness or deferment
of principal. A substantial amount of our modificationsinvolveinterest rate reductions which lower the amount of interest income
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wearecontractually entitled to receivein future periods. Through lowering theinterest rate and other |oan term changes, we believe
we are able to increase the amount of cash flow that will ultimately be collected from the loan, given the borrower’s financial
condition. TDR Loans are reserved for either based on the present value of expected future cash flows discounted at the loans
original effective interest rates which generaly results in a higher reserve requirement for these loans or in the case of certain
secured commercial loans, the estimated fair value of the underlying collateral. Once aconsumer loanisclassified asaTDR Loan,
it continues to be reported as such until it is paid off or charged-off. For commercial loans, if subsequent performance is in
accordance with the new terms and such termsreflect current market rates at the time of restructure, they will no longer be reported
asaTDR Loan beginning in the year after restructuring. Since 2010, approximately $11 million of commercial loans have met
this criteria and have been removed from TDR Loan classification.

The following table presents information about receivables which were modified during the three and six months ended June 30,
2013 and 2012 and as aresult of this action became classified as TDR Loans.

Three Months Ended  Six Months Ended
June 30, June 30,

2013 2012 2013 2012

(in millions)

Commercial loans:

Construction and Other real ESLALE ............cceeeeeeeeeeeeereeee e et $ 32 % — $ 32 $ 70

Business and corporate Danking...........ccoeeeererinenene s s 5 — 9 22

Total COMMEICIAL........oiueeiecee ettt ettt e e aae st e eaae et e enresreenns 37 — 41 92
Consumer loans:

ReSIeNtial MOMQAgES ......veiveeeie ettt ettt sbe e sbe e 49 52 92 108

Cradit CArOS ...ttt st sttt e et e et e ebe et e saeenbesaeesaeeneesneennas 1 — 1 —

QLI o0 015 0T 50 52 93 108
TOMAL ...ttt ettt ettt e a e ae e te e beebe e heebeebesteshebebesaentens et et eaeereeaeeneatenrene $ 87 $ 52 $ 134 $ 200

The weighted-average contractual rate reduction for consumer |oans which became classified as TDR Loans during the three and
six months ended June 30, 2013 was 2.10 percent and 2.10 percent, respectively, compared with 1.70 percent and 1.80 percent
during the three and six months ended June 30, 2012, respectively. Weighted-average contractual rate reduction for commercial
loans was not significant in both number of loans and rate.

The following tables present information about our TDR Loans and the related credit loss reserves for TDR Loans:

June 30, December 31,
2013 2012

(in millions)

TDR Loans?®:
Commercial loans:
Construction and Other real ESIALE.........ooeiereee e e $ 435 % 343
Business and corporate banking..........cciceeererererieieeieeiesesiese e sesre e ste e seessessesee e eseeseee e sressesnens 27 86
Other COMIMETCIAL .......eocticeiecte e e et e b e esbeeaeesbeeeesaeeeesaeetesanesesaeentessnans 28 31
QLI L= oo 1 0= o - 490 460
Consumer loans:
RESIAENtial MOMGAIES™ ...ttt se s eenes 890 960
(O [ o= o SRS 11 14
QLI L= o0 015 U411 901 974
TOtA TDR LOBNS™ ........ooooeereeeeeee e seeseees e ss s ee s ses s ee s aessssne e $ 1391 $ 1434
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June 30, December 31,
2013 2012

(in millions)

Allowance for credit losses for TDR Loans®®:
Commercial loans:
Construction and Other real ESEALE. ..........cceeie ittt saeens $ 25 $ 23
Business and corporate Danking..........cciceeererererieieeieeeeesese e sesee e te e seesees e seessesessee e ssessessesnens 1 3
Other commercial

QLI L= oo 0= o - 26 26
Consumer loans:

RESIAENtIE MOMGAGES. ... ..eieeeeeeiiitiertieet ettt sttt sttt eene e 77 109

(= [ o= o RSOSSN 4 5

QLI L= o001 U4 1= 81 114

Total allowance for credit |0SSeSfOr TDR LOGNS.........cceiieieeiiecieeie ettt st sneens $ 107 $ 140

@ TDRLoansareconsidered to beimpaired loans. For consumer loans, all such loansare considered impaired loansregardlessof accrual status, For commercial
loans, impaired loans include other loans in addition to TDRs which totaled $125 million and $237 million at June 30, 2013 and December 31, 2012,
respectively.

@ TheTDR Loan balancesincluded in the table above reflect the current carrying amount of TDR Loans and includes all basis adjustments on the |oan, such
asunearnedincome, unamortized deferred feesand costson originated | oans, partial charge-offsand premiumsor discountson purchased loans. Thefollowing
table reflects the unpaid principal balance of TDR Loans:

June 30, December 31,
2013 2012
(in millions)
Commercial loans:
Construction and OtNEr FEAl ESEALE...........cuerireeieeririee ettt ettt se bbb et $ 451  $ 398
Business and COrporate BaNKING............cceiiiiiiiiiieii ettt 68 137
OtNEN COMMEICIAL ...ttt 31 34
TOLAl COMIMENCIAI .....vcveuiieeeieeeee ettt se et s s s e et esese s e s e e st esese s e s eRe et esene s e b ene e e sesenenseaesesesenesansennnens 550 569
Consumer loans:
ReSIAENTIAl MOMGAOES. ......cuiuiiirieiiic bbb 1,059 1,118
Credit cards.... 11 14
TOB CONSUITIET ...ttt £ttt 1,070 1,132
TIOLA ettt $ 1620 $ 1,701

®  Includes $657 million and $608 million at June 30, 2013 and December 31, 2012, respectively, of loans that are recorded at the lower of amortized cost or
fair value of the collateral less cost to sell.

@ Includes balances of $404 million and $519 million at June 30, 2013 and December 31, 2012, respectively, which are classified as nonaccrual loans.

®)

Included in the alowance for credit losses.
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Additional information relating to TDR Loansis presented in the table below.

Three Months Ended  Six Months Ended

June 30, June 30,
2013 2012 2013 2012
(in millions)
Average balance of TDR Loans
Commercial loans:
Construction and other 1eal EStALe..........c..ccvcveieeeeeeeeeeeeeeee e $ 290 $ 360 $ 307 $ 34
Business and corporate DanKing...........ocoeveireineineisesereseseee e 30 96 49 96
Other COMMEICIA ......eeeececeeceee et ens 29 35 30 36
Total COMMEICIAL......c.eieeciecie ettt e re et e e e 349 491 386 4386
Consumer loans:
RESIAENtial MOMGAIESY ... eees e ees e se s eeeee e 890 669 906 648
CrEtit CAIOS ...o.veveeeee ettt sttt b e s et be st sr et e sbe e e s ennenas 12 18 13 19
TOtAl CONSUMEY ...ttt ettt et s re et s beeatesbeenbeebeenbeeaeenteennennas 902 687 919 667
Total average balance of TDR LOANS.......ccccciuciiieiiieeiees et $ 1251 $1178 $1,305 $1,153

Interest income recognized on TDR Loans
Commercial loans:

Construction and other real EStALE.........c.cccuceieeeeeeeeeee e $ 3 3 2 $ 5% 4
Business and corporate banking..........ccccoeeeereeriererene e — — — —
Other COMMETCIAL ......ocueeieceeee ettt e ere e s sresaee e 1 2 2 3
TOtal COMMEICIAL.....c.eceeieeeeeee ettt e sa e e e 4 4 7 7
Consumer loans:
ReSidential MOMGAgES ......cccovereriereriereete et 8 7 17 13
L@t o ] oo S — — — —
L0 = o0 1o = SR 8 7 17 13
Total interest income recognized 0N TDR LOBNS.......cvovrreeeneeeeeseseseenesesesesesesesesesenes $ 12 % 11 $ 24 $ 20

@ Asof the third quarter of 2012, average balances for residential mortgages includes loans discharged under Chapter 7 bankruptcy and not re-affirmed.

The following table presents loans which were classified as TDR Loans during the previous 12 months which for commercial
loans became 90 daysor greater contractually delinquent or for consumer loansbecame 60 daysor greater contractually delinquent
during the three and six months ended June 30, 2013 and 2012:

Three Months Ended  Six Months Ended
June 30, June 30,

2013 2012 2013 2012

(in millions)

Commercial loans:

Construction and Other real BSLALE..............ccevvvreeeeeeseee e $ - $ — $ — $ —
Business and corporate Danking............cocoereerenienereres e — — — —
Other COMMEICIA ......c.eiiieicece sttt ne e e e ens — — — —
Total COMMEICIAL......ceeiiieie ettt sttt ebe st et e eraereeneenes — — — —
Consumer loans:
ReSIAENtial MOMQAgES .. ..cvveeeereie s e ste ettt sr e e eneeneennenens 11 7 24 13
L= [ o= o TP — — — —
TOtAl CONSUMEY ...ttt ettt et e te e e s be e ae s beetesbe e besbeenbesbeenbesteentesneennas 11 7 24 13
11 1 ST $ 11 $ 7 %$ 24 $ 13
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Impaired commercial loans Impaired commercial loan statistics are summarized in the following table:

Amount
Amount with without Total Impaired
Impairment Impairment Commercial Impairment
Reserves Reserves Loans(l)(z)(?’) Reserve
(in millions)

At June 30, 2013
Construction and other real estate...........coceeevcieecceie e $ 224  $ 241 $ 465 $ 26
Business and corporate banking..........ccocooereennienniennieneneeeee 48 20 68 12
Global BANKING.......cceoiriieeee e — 18 18 —
Other COMMENCIAl........covereiererereeree s 10 54 64 —
1= | S $ 282 % 333 % 615 $ 38
At December 31, 2012 -
Construction and other real estate............ccovvevreeerernensreseesereeas $ 192 $ 305 $ 497 $ 86
Business and corporate banking............c.ccovevvreeonnnecinneneens 57 49 106 10
Global BanKing.........ccovverrirriee e — 18 18 —
Other COMMEICIAL......cceeeeeeeeeee e 1 75 76 —
I = | O $ 250 $ 447  $ 697 $ 96

@ Thereduction in impaired commercial loans for construction and other real estate loans includes the charge-off of a single loan totaling $57 million in the
first quarter of 2013 which was fully reserved.

@ Includes impaired commercial loans which are also considered TDR Loans as follows:

June 30, December 31,

2013 2012
(in millions)
Construction anNd OtNEN TEAl ESLALE .........c.evveieerrieicie e e r et $ 435 $ 343
Business and COrporate DanKinNg ... s 27 86
OLNEN COMMEITIAL ...ttt bbb bbb bbb bbb bbb bbb bbb bbb bbb 28 31
$ 490 $ 460

®  Theimpaired commercial loan balancesincluded in the table above reflect the current carrying amount of the loan and includes all basis adjustments, such
as unamortized deferred fees and costs on originated loans and any premiums or discounts. The unpaid principa balance of impaired commercia loans
included in the table above are as follows:
June 30, December 31,
2013 2012
(in millions)
ConStruction @Nd OtNEY FEE| ESLALE ...........oueerieieeieice ettt b bbb bbb bbb bbb bbb bbbt s $ 481 $ 552
Business and Corporate DANKING ...........ccueviiicec e 109 157
GO DANKING ...t 18 18
OLNEI COMIMEICIBL ...t bbb bbb bbb bbb bbb bbb bbbt bbb 67 79
LI - OO UTSTPRTRRTSI $ 675 $ 806
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The following table presents information about average impaired commercial loan balances and interest income recognized on
the impaired commercial loans:

Three Months Ended Six Months Ended
June 30, June 30,

2013 2012 2013 2012
(in millions)

Average balance of impaired commercial loans:

Construction and Other real ESLALE...........ccccevereeieeerre e, $ 353 $ 624 $ 401 $ 660
Business and corporate DanKing ...........coeoveorirreneinee s 58 127 74 127
GlObEl BANKING.....c.iiiieiccice e e 18 66 18 90
Other COMMEITIAL ......oouiieiieiiie et et 69 88 71 89
Total average balance of impaired commercial 10anS..........cccoeeererenenenenenenenenenenenenenes $ 498 $ 905 $ 564 $ 966
Interest income recognized on impaired commercial loans: - -
Construction and Other real ESLALE...........cccceverieeeeesr e $ 1% 1% 2 3% 3
Business and corporate DanKing ...........coeoveerirneneinerereeere s — 1 — 2
GlObEl BANKING.....c.iiiieiccice e e — — — —
Other COMMEITIAL ......ooueieiieieie e e e 1 1 1 1
Total interest income recognized on impaired commercial 10ans........c.ccoceeeererenennes $ 2 $ 3% 3% 6

Commercial Loan Credit Quality Indicators The following credit quality indicators are monitored for our commercial loan
portfolio:

Criticized asset classifications These classifications are based on therisk rating standards of our primary regulator. Problem loans
are assigned various criticized facility grades. We also assign obligor grades which are used under our allowance for credit losses
methodology. Criticized assets for commercial loans are summarized in the following table:

Special Mention ~ Substandard Doubtful Total
(in millions)

At June 30, 2013

Construction and other real estate.........cooevvveeveecceeeceeee e $ 455 % 494 $ 23 $ 972
Business and corporate banking...........cccooeeeerneneneinceee 372 147 10 529
Global DaNKING........ccorriirrcer e s 72 124 — 196
Other COMMEXCIA.........ccoi e 10 53 3 66
TOAl et re s $ 9209 $ 818 $ 36 $ 1,763
At December 31, 2012 -
Construction and other real estate..........coovvovverererereieeeereeens $ 627 $ 677 $ 105 $ 1,409
Business and corporate banking...........ccoccevrieverenieseseseeseeseeeeeneens 369 115 10 494
Global banKing........ccooereereee e 93 50 — 143
Other COMMEICIA......cc.coeceeieeee e 36 74 2 112
Q- [T $ 1,125 $ 916 $ 117 $ 2,158
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Nonperforming The status of our commercial loan portfolio is summarized in the following table:

Accruing Loans
Performing Nonaccrual Contractually Past
Loans Loans Due 90 days or More Total

(in millions)

At June 30, 2013

Commercial:
Construction and other real estate.........ccccoveeevvvevveevereneene $ 8,349 $ 179 $ 1 $ 8,529
Business and corporate banking ..........ccccceeeeeenienenenenenn. 12,341 44 6 12,391
Global banKing..........ccoevviverievercerceee e 23,321 18 — 23,339
Other COMMEICIA ......ceeeeieie e 2,999 5 1 3,005
Total COMMENCIAl ......ccoveieeiricecececteeece e $ 47,010 $ 246 $ 8 $ 47,264
At December 31, 2012
Commercial:
Construction and other real estate..........ccooeeeeveieeecveeeenen. $ 8064 $ 385 $ 8 $ 8,457
Business and corporate banking .........ccccoeeeeeeereeeerennneenen 12,533 47 28 12,608
Global banKing..........cccceiiveieieceeeeee e 19,991 18 — 20,009
Other COMMEICIAl .....cveeeveieteecee e 3,062 13 1 3,076
Total COMMEICIA ........oeiieiieceie e $ 43650 $ 463 $ 37 % 44,150
Credit risk profile The following table shows the credit risk profile of our commercial loan portfolio:
Investment Inv’:s(;rr]r;ent
Grade Grade Total
(in millions)
At June 30, 2013
Construction and Other real EEALE ........ccveevveeiieiceece et $ 5010 $ 3519 $ 8,529
Business and corporate banking ..........ccoceeerierereriereereeeeeese s s ens 5,912 6,479 12,391
(€1 To o I oo 2q 1 oo TP 19,927 3,412 23,339
Other COMIMETCIAL .....cvicveereceece ettt sttt et e b et e sbe e besaeesaeeneesresnnesreennens 1,198 1,807 3,005
TOtAl COMMENCIA] ...ttt b e b e eb e s en e $ 32,047 $ 15217 $ 47,264
At December 31, 2012 -
Construction and Other real ESALE ............cvreereierierer s $ 4727 $ 3730 $ 8457
Business and corporate Danking ...........cocverreeinncireee e 6,012 6,596 12,608
GIODE DANKING ... st et s e e ne e eneas 16,206 3,803 20,009
Other COMIMETCIAL .....c.vievieieceeee ettt et be e e saeeaeesreeaesaeennens 1,253 1,823 3,076
TOtaAl COMMEICIAL ...ttt s e e e e s s be e s s bt e s s earee s sabeesssbeeesans $ 28198 $ 15952 $ 44,150
(6]

Investment grade includes commercial 1oans with credit ratings of at least BBB- or above or the equivalent based on our internal credit rating system.
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Consumer Loan Credit Quality Indicators The following credit quality indicators are utilized for our consumer loan portfolio:

Delinquency The following table summarizes dollars of two-months-and-over contractual delinquency and as a percent of total
loans and loans held for sale (“delinquency ratio”) for our consumer loan portfolio:

June 30, 2013 December 31, 2012
Delinquent  Delinquency  Delinquent  Delinquency
Loans Ratio Loans Ratio

(dollars are in millions)

Consumer:
Residential mortgage, excluding home equity mortgages™ ................. $ 1,170 726% $ 1,233 7.78%
HOME equity MOIMQAgES ......ccceerererieeierie sttt 77 3.55 75 3.23
Total residential MOrQAgES. .......covevererierere e 1,247 6.82 1,308 7.20
Credit CarUS.. ..ot e e 15 1.75 21 2.58
OthEr CONSUMIEY ....c.viitiieitiiesie st b et s se et 26 4.08 30 452
TOtAl CONSUMEY .......ooeeieeeie sttt ettt e e st e eesae e sbe e tesae e besaeesbeereeans $ 1,288 6.51% $ 1,359 6.92%

@ AtJune 30, 2013 and December 31, 2012, residential mortgage loan delinquency includes $1.1 billion and $1.0 billion, respectively, of loansthat are carried
at the lower of amortized cost or fair value of the collateral less cost to sell.

Nonperforming The status of our consumer [oan portfolio is summarized in the following table:

Accruing Loans

Performing Nonaccrual Contractually Past
Loans Loans Due 90 days or More Total
(in millions)
At June 30, 2013
Consumer:
Residential mortgage, excluding home equity mortgages....... $ 14824 $ 1,013 $ — $ 15,837
Home equity MOMMQAJES.........coverrerrerereerrerereerereseses s 2,083 89 — 2,172
Total residential MOMtgages........cccoevveererereserese s 16,907 1,102 — 18,009
Credit Cards.......ccoeieeiececteeeee et 847 — 11 858
(©101S w0101 111 G 548 5 21 574
TOtAl CONSUMES ...ttt e e seee e e se e eresresne e nees $ 18,302 $ 1,107 $ 32 $ 19441
At December 31, 2012 - -
Consumer:
Residential mortgage, excluding home equity mortgages....... $ 14333 $ 1,038 $ — $ 15371
Home equity MOMQageS.......coervereereereeeeeeeeeeeeese e 2,238 86 — 2,324
Total residential MOrtgagesS........coceveeveeererieeerere e ee e 16,571 1,124 — 17,695
Credit Cards.......cocecieeiecieeeeece e e 800 — 15 815
OthEr CONSUMES .......vcuiieeeeieeieteeeteeee ettt saere et ereneas 565 5 28 598
TOtAl CONSUMES ...ttt $ 17936 $ 1,129 $ 43 $ 19,108

Troubled debt restructurings See discussion of impaired loans above for further details on this credit quality indicator.

Concentration of Credit Risk A concentration of credit risk isdefined as asignificant credit exposure with an individual or group
engaged in similar activities or affected similarly by economic conditions. We enter into a variety of transactions in the normal
course of business that involve both on and off-balance sheet credit risk. Principal among these activities is lending to various
commercial, institutional, governmental and individual customers. We participate in lending activity throughout the United States
and internationally. In general, we manage the varying degrees of credit risk involved in on and off-balance sheet transactions
through specific credit policies. These policies and procedures provide for a strict approval, monitoring and reporting process. It
isour policy to require collateral when it is deemed appropriate. Varying degrees and types of collateral are secured depending
upon management’s credit evaluation. As with any nonconforming and non-prime loan products, we utilize high underwriting
standards and price these loansin amanner that is appropriate to compensate for higher risk. We do not offer teaser rate mortgage
loans.
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Our loan portfolio includes the following types of loans:

e High loan-to-value (“LTV") loans— Certain residential mortgages on primary residences with LTV ratios equal to or
exceeding 90 percent at the time of origination and no mortgage insurance.

* Interest-only loans—A loan which alows a customer to pay the interest-only portion of the monthly payment for a period
of time which resultsin lower payments during the initial 1oan period.
» Adjustable rate mortgage (“ARM”) loans— A loan which alows us to adjust pricing on the loan in line with market
movements.
The following table summarizes the balances of high LTV, interest-only and ARM loansin our loan portfolios, including certain
loans held for sale, at June 30, 2013 and December 31, 2012, respectively. Each category is not mutually exclusive and loans may
appear in more than one category below.

June 30, December 31,

2013 2012
(in billions)
Residential mortgage loans with high LTV and no mortgage insurance™ .............cooovoeeeeeneesrcserenes $ 8 $ 9
Interest-only residential MOrtgage |0BNS..........cocireirieirieereee et 3.8 4.0
ARM LOBNSP ...ttt 10.6 10.4

@ Residential mortgage loanswith high LTV and no mortgage insurance includes both fixed rate and adjustable rate mortgages. Excludes $17 million and $20
million of subprime residential mortgage |oans held for sale at June 30, 2013 and December 31, 2012, respectively.

@ ARM loan balances above exclude $19 million and $19 million of subprime residential mortgage loans held for sale at June 30, 2013 and December 31,
2012, respectively. In 2013 and 2014, approximately $140 million and $304 million, respectively, of the ARM loans will experience their first interest rate
reset.

Concentrations of first and second lienswithin the outstanding residential mortgage | oan portfolio are summarized in thefollowing
table. Amountsin the table exclude residential mortgage loans held for sale of $275 million and $472 million at June 30, 2013 and
December 31, 2012, respectively.

June 30, December 31,
2013 2012

(in millions)

Closed end:

L= A TT=!o [T $ 15837 $ 15371

= or) 1ol 1= PSRRI 159 186
Revolving:

= w0 00 I 1= TP 2,013 2,138
TOUAL oot e et ee ettt et en et et et e et et et e et et et et n et et et e e et e e et et e et et et enne et eeeeeneenee et eeenaenn $ 18,009 $ 17,695
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6. Allowance for Credit Losses

An analysis of the allowance for credit losses is presented in the following table.

Three Months Ended Six Months Ended

June 30, June 30,
2013 2012 2013 2012
(in millions)
Balance at beginning of PEMOU........cccoivieiiei i $ 568 $ 603 $ 647 $ 743
ProvisSion fOr Credit I0SSES.....cuiiiiirceeeeeee e nes 67 89 88 89
Charge-offs.......ccooccviisiiiciiicnne (48) (91) (158) (253)
RECOVENES.....cvevvvcveeeeeeeeee 18 18 28 40

Balance at end of period $ 605 $ 619 $ 605 $ 619

The following table summarizes the changesin the allowance for credit losses by product and the related |oan balance by product
during the three and six months ended June 30, 2013 and 2012:

Commercial Consumer
Residential
Business Mortgage,
Construction and Excl Home Home
and Other Corporate Global Other Equity Equity Credit Other
Real Estate Banking Banking Comm’l Mortgages Mortgages Card Consumer Total
(in millions)
Three Months Ended June 30, 2013
Allowance for credit losses — beginning
Of PENTO ..o $ 116 $ 9% $ 40 $ 17 $ 192 % 50 $ 42 % 15 $ 568
Provision charged to income.... (14) 15 29 4) 14 13 13 1 67
Charge offS......ceeeeeeceeceeceeeea 1) 9) — — (13) (11) (11) 3) (48)
RECOVENES ... 9 1 - 4 3 — 1 — 18
Net (charge offs) recoveries 8 (8) — 4 (10) (11) (10) 3) (30)
Allowance for credit losses — end of
915 ([v.o PO $ 110 $ 103 $ 69 $ 17 $ 196 $ 52 $ 45 $ 13 $ 605
Three Months Ended June 30, 2012
Allowance for credit losses — beginning
OF PENIOd ..o $ 205 $ 7% $ 25 $ 20 $ 182 $ 43 $ 35 $ 17 $ 603
Provision charged to income.................... (5) 15 19 @) 24 34 9 — 89
Charge offS.....cceeeeeceeceeceeeea 2 (13) — — (23) (30) (16) @) (912)
Recoveries — 2 — 5 5 — 3 3 18
Net (charge offs) recoveries 2 (12) — 5 (18) (30) (13) (4 (73)
Allowance for credit losses — end of
412 (141 R $ 198 $ 80 $ 44 $ 18 $ 188 $ 47 $ 31 $ 13 $ 619
Six Months Ended June 30, 2013
Allowance for credit losses — beginning
Of PENTO ..o $ 162 $ 97 $ 41 $ 17 $ 210 $ 45 $ 55 $ 20 $ 647
Provision charged to income.................... (5) 17 28 4) 11 30 1 — 88
Charge offS......ceeeeeeceeceeceeeea (59) (15) — — (29) (23) (23) 9) (158)
RECOVENES ... 12 4 — 4 4 — 2 2 28
Net (charge offs) recoveries........coocuene. (47) (11) — 4 (25) (23) (21) @ (130)
Allowance for credit losses — end of
915 ([v.o PO $ 110 $ 103 $ 69 $ 17 $ 196 $ 52 $ 45 $ 13 $ 605
Ending balance: collectively evaluated
for impairment ..., $ 84 $ 91 $ 69 $ 17 3 122 $ 49 $ 41 $ 13 $ 486
Ending balance: individually evaluated
for impairment .............coceeeeererenennnn. 26 12 — — 74 3 4 — 119
Total allowance for credit losses.............. $ 110 $ 103 $ 69 $ 17 $ 196 $ 52 $ 45 § 13 $ 605
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Loans:

Collectively evaluated for impairment.... ¢ gos4 § 12,323 $23321 $ 2941 $ 14057 $ 2151 $ 847 $ 574 $64,278
Individually evaluated for impairment®.. 465 68 18 64 212 21 11 _ 859
Loans carried at lower of amortized cost

or fair valuelesscost to sell ..o — — — — 1,568 — — — 1,568

TOtal 10aNS ..o $ 8529 $ 12,391 $23,339 $ 3,005 $ 15837 $ 2,172 $ 858 $ 574  $66,705

Six Months Ended June 30, 2012
Allowance for credit losses — beginning

Of PEXIOT ..o $ 212 $ 78 $ 131 $ 21 $ 192 $ 52 $ 39 $ 18 $ 743
Provision charged to income... (25) 21 (©)] 9 39 42 20 4 89
Charge offS......ccceereeeeeeeeeeeeeeas 3) (23) (84) — (49) (47) (33) (14) (253)
RECOVENTES ... 14 4 — 6 6 — 5 5 40
Net (charge offs) recoveries..........ccuuu.. 11 (29) (84) 6 (43) 47) (28) 9) (213)
Allowance for credit losses—end of
PEITOO ..o $ 198 $ 80 $ 44 $ 18 $ 188 $ 47 $ 31 $ 13 $ 619
Ending balance: collectively evaluated -
for impairment ..........cccceveevevveeeevenennn. $ 87 $ 73 % 31 % 17 $ 9% $ 443 $ 25 $ 13 $ 384
Ending balance: individually evaluated
for impairment ..........cccooeeeverneenrennns 111 7 13 1 93 4 6 — 235
Total allowance for credit losses.............. $ 198 $ 80 $ 44 3 18 $ 188 $ 47 $ 31 $ 13 $ 619
Loans:
Collectively evaluated for impairment..... $ 7386 $ 11,141 $14928 $ 3055 $ 13243 $ 2441 $ 765 $ 651 $63,610
Individually evaluated for impairment®... 501 115 114 87 660 14 18 — 159
Loans carried at lower of amortized cost
or fair value less cost to sell — — — — 855 — — — 855

Total [0anS.......ccccvviecrerec e $ 7977 $ 11256 $15042 $ 3142 $ 14758 $ 2455 $ 783 $ 651 $56,064

@ For consumer loans, these amountsrepresent TDR L oansfor which we eval uate reserves using adiscounted cash flow methodol ogy. Each loanisindividually
identified asa TDR Loan and then grouped together with other TDR Loans with similar characteristics. The discounted cash flow analysisis then applied
to these groups of TDR Loans. Loansindividually evaluated for impairment exclude TDR loans that are carried at the lower of amortized cost or fair value
of the collateral less cost to sell which totaled $657 million and $510 million at June 30, 2013 and 2012, respectively.
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7. Loans Held for Sale

Loans held for sale consisted of the following:

June 30, 2013 December 31, 2012

(in millions)
(0000 100= o= Lo 7= T USSR $ 20 $ 481
Consumer loans:
ReSIENtial MOMQAgES ... eeeeeereerieie ettt b e bbb e e e e 275 472
OLhEr CONSUMIET .....ceeeeeeieeeecteee ettt e s e e e seese e e srestesaesaesbeseesaensenseneennenennenneanens 64 65
B0 = o0 1S 4= RS 339 537
Total |0aNS hEIA fOr SAE.....c.eiiiceecteceecee et beere s reennes $ 359 $ 1,018

We originate commercial loans in connection with our participation in a number of leveraged acquisition finance syndicates. A
substantial majority of these |oans were originated with the intent of selling them to unaffiliated third parties and are classified as
commercia loans held for sale at June 30, 2013 and December 31, 2012. The fair value of commercia |oans held for sale under
this program was $3 million and $465 million at June 30, 2013 and December 31, 2012, respectively. We have el ected to designate
all of theleveraged acquisition finance syndicated loans classified asheld for sale at fair value under fair value option. SeeNote 11,
“Fair Value Option,” for additional information.

Commercial loans held for sale also includes commercial real estate loans totaling $17 million and $16 million at June 30, 2013
and December 31, 2012, respectively.

Residential mortgage loans held for sale include first mortgage loans which historically have been originated and held for sale
primarily to various government sponsored enterprises. Gains and losses from the sale of residential mortgage |oans are reflected
asacomponent of residential mortgage banking revenuein the accompanying consolidated statement of income. Upon conversion
of our mortgage processing and servicing operations to PHH Mortgage in the second quarter of 2013, we no longer retain the
servicing rightsin relation to new mortgage loans and new agency eligible loan originations are sold servicing released directly
to PHH Mortgage beginning with May 2013 applications. Also included in residential mortgage loans held for sale are subprime
residential mortgage loans with afair value of $54 million and $52 million at June 30, 2013 and December 31, 2012, respectively,
which were acquired from unaffiliated third parties and from HSBC Finance with the intent of securitizing or selling theloansto
third parties.

Excluding the commercial loans designated under fair value option discussed above, loans held for sale are recorded at the lower
of amortized cost or fair value. While theinitial carrying amount of loans held for sale continued to exceed fair value at June 30,
2013, we experienced a decrease in the valuation allowance for consumer loans held for sale during 2013 due primarily to loan
sales. The valuation allowance on consumer loans held for sale was $95 million and $114 million at June 30, 2013 and December
31, 2012, respectively.

Loansheld for sale have historically been subject to market risk, liquidity risk and interest raterisk, inthat their value will fluctuate
as aresult of changes in market conditions, as well as the interest rate and credit environment. Interest rate risk for residential
mortgage loans held for saleis partially mitigated through an economic hedging program to offset changesin the fair value of the
mortgage loans held for sal e attributable to changesin market interest rates. Trading rel ated revenue associated with this economic
hedging program, which isincluded in net interest income and residential mortgage banking revenuein the consolidated statement
of income, were gains of $4 million and $4 million during the three and six months ended June 30, 2013, respectively, compared
with losses of $3 million and gains of $4 million during the three and six months ended June 30, 2012, respectively. With the
conversion of our mortgage processing and servicing operations to PHH Mortgage in the second quarter of 2013, PHH Mortgage
is obligated to purchase the loans from us as of the earlier of when the customer locks the mortgage loan pricing or when the
mortgage loan application is approved beginning with May 2013 applications. As aresult, we retain none of the risk of market
changes in mortgage rates and, therefore, an economic hedging program for these loans is no longer required.
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8. Intangible Assets

Intangible assets consisted of the following:

June 30, 2013 December 31, 2012

(in millions)
MOrtgage SErVICING FONES........iiiie ettt sttt e et e e e neeseeneens $ 237 $ 179
Purchased credit card relationShiPs. ... .o 57 60
Favorable |6ase agrEEMENLS........ccceiiieiereeeeeee et sttt e e neene s 5 8
Total other INtaNGIDIE BSSELS........eii i eneas $ 299 $ 247

Mortgage Servicing Rights (“MSRs”) A servicing asset is a contract under which estimated future revenues from contractually
specified cash flows, such as servicing fees and other ancillary revenues, are expected to exceed the obligation to service the
financial assets. We recognize the right to service mortgage loans as a separate and distinct asset at the time they are acquired or
when originated loans are sold.

MSRs are subject to credit, prepayment and interest rate risk, in that their value will fluctuate as a result of changes in these
economic variables. Interest rate risk is mitigated through an economic hedging program that uses securities and derivatives to
offset changesin thefair value of MSRs. Since the hedging program involvestrading activity, risk isquantified and managed using
anumber of risk assessment techniques.

Residential mortgage servicing rights Residential MSRs are initially measured at fair value at the time that the related loans are
sold and remeasured at fair value at each reporting date. Changes in fair value of MSRs are reflected in residential mortgage
banking revenuein the period in which the changes occur. Fair valueis determined based upon the application of valuation models
and other inputs. The valuation models incorporate assumptions market participants would use in estimating future cash flows.
The reasonableness of these valuation modelsis periodically validated by reference to external independent broker valuations and
industry surveys.

Fair value of residential MSRs s calculated using the following critical assumptions:

June 30, 2013 December 31, 2012

Annualized constant prepayment rate (“CPR”) ....ccoccrirnenereresese e 13.4% 22.4%
CONSEANE AISCOUNL FAEE ... .ecueeeteceeicie et eee st ete et s e e et e b e et et e sbeesbesaeesbeeaeesaeeneesaeensesreensens 12.9% 11.3%
Weighted aVErage life.... ..ot 47 34

Residential MSRs activity is summarized in the following table:

Three Months Ended Six Months Ended

June 30, June 30,
2013 2012 2013 2012
(in millions)
Fair value of MSRs:
BeginniNg DalaNCe........cccvcveieieeeetcece ettt s $ 190 $ 228 $ 168 $ 220
Additions related t0 108N SAIES .........coceiiririiiee e 5 6 11 14
Changesin fair value due to:
Change in valuation inputs or assumptions used in the valuation models........... 43 (31) 69 (15)
Realization of Cash fIOWS ........ccoicicicecececce e e (13) (16) (23) (32)
gl T To o $ 225 $ 187 $ 225 $ 187

Information regarding residential mortgage loans serviced for others, which are not included in the consolidated balance sheet,
is summarized in the following table:

June 30, 2013 December 31, 2012

(in millions)
Outstanding principal balances at period eNnd...........cccoevrernennienserre e $ 29,446 $ 32,041
Custodial balances maintained and included in noninterest bearing deposits at period end. $ — % 810
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Our CPR assumption declined significantly at June 30, 2013 compared with December 31, 2012 dueto rising interest rates during
the second quarter of 2013 which was the primary driver of theincrease in value.

During the second quarter of 2013, we completed the conversion of our mortgage processing and servicing operations to PHH
Mortgageunder our previously announced strategi c rel ati onshi p agreement with PHH M ortgageto manage our mortgage processing
and servicing operations. Under the terms of the agreement, PHH Mortgage now provides us with mortgage origination processing
services as well as sub-servicing of our portfolio of owned and serviced mortgages totaling $46.8 hillion as of June 30, 2013.
Although we continue to own both the mortgages on our balance sheet and the mortgage servicing rights associated with the
serviced loans at the time of conversion, we now sell our agency €eligible originations beginning with May 2013 applications to
PHH Mortgage on aservicing released basiswhich will result in no new mortgage servicing rights being recogni zed going forward.
Asaresult we no longer maintain custodial balances. No significant one-time restructuring costs have been or are expected to be
incurred as a result of this transaction. We plan to continue originating mortgages for our customers with particular emphasis on
Premier relationships.

Servicing fees collected are included in residential mortgage banking revenue and totaled $21 million and $42 million during the
three and six months ended June 30, 2013, respectively, compared with $22 million and $47 million during the three and six months
ended June 30, 2012, respectively.

Commercial mortgage servicing rights Commercial MSRs, which are accounted for using the lower of amortized cost or fair
value method, totaled $12 million and $11 million at June 30, 2013 and December 31, 2012, respectively.

Purchased credit card relationships InMarch 2012, we purchased from HSBC Finance the account rel ationships associated with
$746 million of credit card receivables which were not included in the sale to Capital One at a fair value of $108 million.
Approximately $43 million of this value was associated with the credit card receivables sold to First Niagara. The remaining $65
million was included in intangible assets and is being amortized over its estimated useful life of ten years.

9. Goodwill

Goodwill was $2.2 billion at both June 30, 2013 and December 31, 2012, and includes accumulated impai rment losses from prior
years of $54 million.

Based on the results of our interim goodwill impairment testing in December 2012 and March 2013 and historically narrow
differences between fair value and book valuein our Global Banking and Markets reporting unit, we performed an interim review
of goodwill impairment for this reporting unit during the second quarter of 2013. As aresult of this testing, the fair value of this
reporting unit continued to exceed its carrying value, including goodwill. At June 30, 2013, the book value of our Global Banking
and Markets reporting unit including allocated goodwill of $612 million, was 97 percent of fair value. Our goodwill impairment
testing is, however, highly sensitive to certain assumptions and estimates used. As our testing results continue to indicate that there
isonly amarginal excess of fair value over book value for our Globa Banking and Markets reporting unit, we will continue to
monitor this reporting unit and perform interim impairment testing in future periods as very small changes in projections could
result in either partial or full goodwill impairment of this reporting unit. We continue to perform periodic analyses of the risks and
strategies of all our business and product offerings. If deterioration in economic conditions occurs or changes in the strategy or
performance of our businessesor product offerings occur, interimimpairment testsfor reporting unitsin addition to Global Banking
and Markets could be required in 2013.
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10. Derivative Financial Instruments

In the normal course of business, the derivative instruments entered into are for trading, market making and risk management
purposes. For financial reporting purposes, a derivative instrument is designated in one of the following categories: (a) financial
instruments held for trading, (b) hedging instruments designated as a qualifying hedge under derivative and hedge accounting
principlesor (c) anon-qualifying economic hedge. The derivative instruments held are predominantly swaps, futures, options and
forward contracts. All derivatives are stated at fair value. Where we enter into enforceable master netting arrangements with
counterparties, the master netting arrangements permit us to net those derivative asset and liability positions and to offset cash
collateral held and posted with the same counterparty.

Thefollowing table presentsthefair value of derivative contracts by major product type on agrossbasis. Grossfair valuesexclude
the effects of both counterparty netting aswell as collateral, and therefore are not representative of our exposure. The table below
presents the amounts of counterparty netting and cash collateral that have been offset in the consolidated balance sheet, aswell as
cash and securities collateral posted and received under enforceable credit support agreements that do not meet the criteria for
netting. Derivative assets and liabilities which are not subject to an enforceable master netting agreement, or are subject to a
netting agreement that we have not yet determined to be enforceable, have not been netted in the table below. Where we have
received or posted collateral under credit support agreements, but have not yet determined such agreements are enforceable, the
related collateral also has not been netted in the table below.
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D

D

erivatives accounted for as fair value hedges ®
OTC-cleared @ .......ooovveeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeesee e

erivatives accounted for as cash flow hedges ®
Interest rate contracts - bilateral OTC @..........

Trading derivatives not accounted for as hedges ©

O

Exchange-traded @ ..........ooocomevecormeeererseseecsnen
OTC-cleared @ ......ccooooooooeeoeeeeceeeeeeeee

Exchange-traded @ ...........oo.cooovvvcronneeceseree,
Bilateral OTC @ ...

Exchange-traded @ ...........o.cooomvvcronnercereree,
Bilateral OTC @ ...,

ther derivatives not accounted for as hedges®
Interest rate contracts - bilateral OTC @..........

Foreign exchange contracts - bilateral OTC @
Equity contracts - bilateral OTC @ ..................
Precious metals contracts - bilateral OTC @ ...

Credit contracts - bilateral OTC @ ..................

Total derivatives

Less: Gross amounts of receivable / payable subject to enforcable master
netting agreements @ © .

Less: Gross amounts of cash collateral received / posted subject to
enforcable master netting agreements ®© .

Net amounts of derivative assets / liabilities presented in the balance sheet ....

Less: Gross amounts of financial instrument collateral received / posted
subject to enforcable master netting agreements but not offset in the
consolidated balance sheet

N

et amounts of derivative assets / liabilities ........

(€8]

@]

(©)]
4
®)

June 30, 2013

December 31, 2012

Derivative Derivative Derivative Derivative
assets liabilities assets liabilities
(in millions)
48 3 5 % — 8 15
136 349 10 860
184 354 10 875
116 124 47 236
72 83 99 82
18,411 — 17,204 16,663
37,923 56,648 53,562 53,705
56,406 56,731 70,865 70,450
5 4 4 25
16,125 15,539 13,795 13,576
16,130 15,543 13,799 13,601
1,332 1,334 1,287 1,291
767 148 135 19
2,874 1,909 656 719
3,641 2,057 791 738
584 — 511 437
5,308 5,926 6,617 6,910
5,892 5,926 7,128 7,347
602 93 901 97
22 54 52 17
506 224 472 126
8 51 — —
13 10 1 4
84,852 82,501 95,353 94,782
69,353 69,353 78,244 78,244
5,047 1,937 5123 1,336
10,452 11,211 11,986 15,202
1,209 3,435 627 4,887
9,243 $ 7776 $ 11,359 $ 10,315

Derivative assets/liabilities related to cash flow hedges, fair value hedges and derivative instruments held for purposes other than for trading are recorded
in other assets/ interest, taxes and other liabilities on the consolidated balance sheet.
Over-the-counter (OTC) derivatives include derivatives executed and settled bilaterally with counterparties without the use of an organized exchange or
central clearing house. The credit risk associated with bilateral OTC derivatives is managed through master netting agreements and obtaining collateral.
OTC-cleared derivatives are executed bilaterally in the OTC market but then novated to a central clearing counterparty, whereby the central clearing
counterparty becomes the counterparty to both of the original counterparties. Exchange traded derivatives are executed directly on an organized exchange
that provides pre-trade price transparency. Credit risk is minimized for OTC-cleared derivatives and exchange traded derivatives through daily margining

required by central clearing counterparties.

Trading related derivative assets/liabilities are recorded in trading assets/trading liabilities on the consolidated balance sheet.
Represents the netting of derivative receivable and payable balances for the same counterparty under enforceabl e netting agreements.
Represents the netting of cash collateral posted and received by counterparty under enforceable credit support agreements.
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©®  Netting is performed at a counterparty level in cases where enforceable master netting and credit support agreements are in place, regardless of the type of
derivative instrument. Therefore, we have not attempted to allocate netting to the different types of derivative instruments shown in the table above.

See Note 19, "Guarantee Arrangements, Pledged Assets and Collateral" for further information on offsetting related to resale and
repurchase agreements and securities borrowing and lending arrangements.

Derivatives Held for Risk Management Purposes Our risk management policy requires usto identify, analyze and manage risks
arising from the activities conducted during the normal course of business. We use derivative instruments as an asset and liability
management tool to manage our exposures in interest rate, foreign currency and credit risks in existing assets and liabilities,
commitments and forecasted transactions. The accounting for changes in fair value of a derivative instrument will depend on
whether the derivative has been designated and qualifies for hedge accounting.

We designate derivative instruments to offset the fair value risk and cash flow risk arising from fixed-rate and floating-rate assets
and liabilities aswell as forecasted transactions. We assess the hedging relationships, both at the inception of the hedge and on an
ongoing basis, using aregression approach to determine whether the designated hedging instrument ishighly effectivein offsetting
changesin the fair value or the cash flows attributabl e to the hedged risk. Accounting principles for qualifying hedges require us
to prepare detailed documentation describing the rel ationship between the hedging instrument and the hedged item, including, but
not limited to, the risk management objective, the hedging strategy and the methods to assess and measure the ineffectiveness of
the hedging relationship. We discontinue hedge accounting when we determine that the hedge is no longer highly effective, the
hedging instrument is terminated, sold or expired, the designated forecasted transaction is not probable of occurring, or when the
designation is removed by us.

Fair Value Hedges In the normal course of business, we hold fixed-rate loans and securities and issue fixed-rate senior and
subordinated debt obligations. The fair value of fixed-rate (USD and non-USD denominated) assets and liabilities fluctuates in
responseto changesininterest ratesor foreign currency exchangerates. We utilize interest rate swaps, forward and futures contracts
and foreign currency swaps to minimize the effect on earnings caused by interest rate and foreign currency volatility.

For reporting purposes, changesin fair value of a derivative designated in aqualifying fair value hedge, net of changesin the fair
value of the hedged asset or liability attributable to the hedged risk, are recorded in current period earnings. We recognized net
gains of $17 million and $12 million during the three and six months ended June 30, 2013, respectively, compared with net losses
of $30 million and $20 million during the three and six months ended June 30, 2012, respectively, which are reported in other
income in the consolidated statement of income which represents the ineffective portion of al fair value hedges. The interest
accrual related to the derivative contract is recognized in interest income.

The changes in the fair value of the hedged item designated in a qualifying hedge are captured as an adjustment to the carrying
amount of the hedged item (basis adjustment). If the hedging relationship is terminated and the hedged item continues to exist,
the basis adjustment is amortized over the remaining life of the hedged item. We recorded basis adjustments for active fair value
hedges which increased the carrying amount of our debt by $1 million during the six months ended June 30, 2013, respectively,
compared with adecrease in the carrying amount of our debt by $1 million and $6 million during the three and six months ended
June 30, 2012, respectively. We amortized $3 million and $7 million of basisadjustmentsrel ated to terminated and/or re-designated
fair value hedge relationships during the three and six months ended June 30, 2013, respectively, compared with $3 million and
$6 million during the three and six months ended June 30, 2012, respectively. Thetotal accumulated unamortized basis adjustment
amounted to an increase in the carrying amount of our debt of $41 million and $49 million as of June 30, 2013 and December 31,
2012, respectively. Basis adjustmentsfor active fair value hedges of available-for-sale securitiesincreased the carrying amount of
the securities by $445 million and $600 million during the three and six months ended June 30, 2013, respectively, compared with
an increase in the carrying amount of the securities by $481 million and $187 million during the three and six months ended June
30, 2012. Total accumulated unamortized basis adjustments for active fair value hedges of available-for-sal e securities amounted
to an increase in carrying amount of $154 million and $836 million as of June 30, 2013 and December 31, 2012, respectively.
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The following table presents information on gains and losses on derivative instruments designated and qualifying as hedging
instruments in fair value hedges and the hedged items in fair value hedges and their location on the consolidated statement of

income.

Gain (Loss) on Derivative

Gain (Loss) on Hedged Items

Interest Income

Interest Income

(Expense) Other Income (Expense) Other Income
(in millions)

Three Months Ended June 30, 2013
Interest rate contracts/AFS SECUNtieS.......ccvvvvvvvvevevererierirenns $ (55) $ 397 % 111 (380)
Interest rate contracts/subordinated debt.............coceviiineene 4 — (15) —
TOEl. ettt $ (51) $ 397 $ 96 (380)
Three Months Ended June 30, 2012
Interest rate contracts/AFS SECUNtieS........ovveverevererrerrreenes $ 39 % (582) $ 162 552
Interest rate contracts/subordinated debt...........c.coeveerreerenene. (13 1 (15) 1)
TOEL. et $ (52) $ (581) $ 147 551
Six Months Ended June 30, 2013
Interest rate contracts/AFS SeCUIties. ..o veerverceeerenen. $ (111) $ 567 $ 225 (554)
Interest rate contracts/subordinated debt.............c.cocoviiiienene, 8 (@)) (30) 1
TOEl. et $ (103) $ 566 $ 195 (553)
Six Months Ended June 30, 2012
Interest rate contracts/AFS SeCurities.........c.coovvvvvrerrenene $ 84 % (285) $ 341 265
Interest rate contracts/subordinated debt.............c.cocoviiiienene 27 6 (30) (6)
TOEl. oot $ (111) $ (279) $ 311 259
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Cash Flow Hedges We own or issue floating rate financial instruments and enter into forecasted transactions that give rise to
variability in future cash flows. Asapart of our risk management strategy, we use interest rate swaps, currency swaps and futures
contracts to mitigate risk associated with variability in the cash flows. Changesin fair value of a derivative instrument associated
with the effective portion of aqualifying cash flow hedge are recognized initially in other comprehensive income. When the cash
flows for which the derivative is hedging materialize and are recorded in income or expense, the associated gain or loss from the
hedging derivative previously recorded in accumulated other comprehensive income is reclassified into earnings in the same
accounting periodinwhich the designated forecasted transaction or hedgeditem affectsearnings. If acash flow hedge of aforecasted
transaction is de-designated becauseit is no longer highly effective, or if the hedge relationship isterminated, the cumulative gain
or loss on the hedging derivative to that date will continueto be reported in accumul ated other comprehensiveincome (loss) unless
it is probablethat the hedged forecasted transaction will not occur by the end of the originally specified time period as documented
at the inception of the hedge, at which time the cumulative gain or loss is released into earnings. As of June 30, 2013 and
December 31, 2012, active cash flow hedge relationships extend or mature through July 2036. During the three and six months
ended June 30, 2013, $3 million and $7 million, respectively, of lossesrelated to terminated and/or re-designated cash flow hedge
relationships were amortized to earnings from accumul ated other comprehensiveincome compared with $4 million and $8 million
during the three and six months ended June 30, 2012, respectively. During the next twelve months, we expect to amortize $10
million of remaining lossesto earnings resulting from these terminated and/or de-designated cash flow hedges. Theinterest accrual
related to the derivative contract is recognized in interest income.

The following table presents information on gains and losses on derivative instruments designated and qualifying as hedging
instrumentsin cash flow hedges (including amounts recognized in AOCI from all terminated cash flow hedges) and their locations
on the consolidated statement of income.

Location of Gain

(Loss) Gain (Loss)
Gain (Loss) Gain (Loss) Recognized Recognized
Recognized Location of Gain Reclassed in Income in Income
in AOCI on (Loss) Reclassified From AOCI on the Derivative on the
Derivative from AOCI into Income (Ineffective Portion and Derivative
(Effective into Income (Effective (Effective Amount Excluded from (Ineffective
Portion) Portion) Portion) Effectiveness Testing) Portion)
2013 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012
(in millions)
Three Months Ended June 30,
Interest income _
Interest rate contracts........... $ 84 $ (68) (expense) $ (3) $ (4 Otherincome $ 1 $ —
Six Months Ended June 30,
Interest income .
Interest rate contracts........... $ 119 $ (10) (expense) $ (7) $ (8 Otherincome $ — $ —
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Trading Derivatives and Non-Qualifying Hedging Activities Inaddition to risk management, weenter into derivativeinstruments
for trading and market making purposes, to repackage risks and structure trades to facilitate clients’ needs for various risk taking
and risk modification purposes. Wemanage our risk exposure by entering into offsetting derivativeswith other financial institutions
to mitigate the market risks, in part or in full, arising from our trading activities with our clients. In addition, we also enter into
buy-protection credit derivatives with other market participants to manage our counterparty credit risk exposure. Where we enter
into derivatives for trading purposes, realized and unrealized gains and losses are recognized in trading revenue or residential
mortgage banking revenue. Credit losses arising from counterparty risk on over-the-counter derivative instruments and offsetting
buy protection credit derivative positions are recognized as an adjustment to the fair value of the derivatives and are recorded in
trading revenue.

We have elected the fair value option for certain fixed rate long-term debt issuances as well as hybrid instruments which include
all structured notes and structured deposits and have entered into certain derivative contracts related to these debt issuances and
hybridinstrumentscarried at fair value. These derivative contracts are non-qualifying hedges but are considered economic hedges.
We have also entered into credit default swaps which are designated as economic hedges against the credit risks within our loan
portfolio. In the event of an impairment loss occurring in aloan that is economically hedged, the impairment loss is recognized
asprovision for credit losses while the gain on the credit default swap is recorded as other income. In addition, we also from time
to time have designated certain forward purchase or sale of to-be-announced (“ TBA”) securitiesto economically hedge mortgage
servicing rights. Changesin thefair value of TBA positions, which are considered derivatives, arerecorded in residential mortgage
banking revenue. Derivative instruments designated as economic hedges that do not qualify for hedge accounting are recorded at
fair value through profit and loss. Realized and unrealized gains and losses are recognized in gain (10ss) on instruments designated
at fair value and related derivatives, other income or residential mortgage banking revenue while the derivative asset or liability
positions are reflected as other assets or other liabilities

Thefollowing table presentsinformation on gainsand losses on derivativeinstrumentsheld for trading purposesand their locations
on the consolidated statement of income.

Amount of Gain (Loss) Recognized
in Income on Derivatives

Three Months Ended Six Months Ended
Location of Gain (Loss) June 30, June 30,
Recognized in Income on Derivatives 2013 2012 2013 2012
(in millions)

Interest rate contracts..........coeevveevenen. Trading revenue $ (468) $ 2 $ (382 $ 16
Interest rate CoNtracts.........coververereeeen. Residential mortgage banking revenue (34) 38 (41) 21
Foreign exchange contracts................ Trading revenue 716 246 578 645
Equity CONtracts........c.covvcveviivinnnnennn, Trading revenue 4 42 2 60
Precious metals contracts ................... Trading revenue 19 16 61 52
Credit CONracts...........coovveeererererenenn. Trading revenue (69) (450) 78 (678)
TO@ e $ 168 $ (1100 $ 296 $ 116

Thefollowing table presentsinformation on gains and losses on derivative instruments held for non-qualifying hedging activities
and their locations on the consolidated statement of income.
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Amount of Gain (Loss) Recognized
in Income on Derivatives

Three Months Ended Six Months Ended
Location of Gain (Loss) June 30, June 30,
Recognized in Income on Derivatives 2013 2012 2013 2012
(in millions)
Interest rate contracts............ccocevvnvenne. Gain (loss) on instruments designated at
fair value and related derivatives $ (176) $ 195 $ (238) $ 105
Interest rate CoNtracts.........covevererereene Residential mortgage banking revenue 5 )] 4 5
Foreign exchange contracts................. Gain (loss) on instruments designated at
fair value and related derivatives (24) 36 (55) 50
Equity CONtracts.......occevevvereerernereneenns Gain (loss) on instruments designated at
fair value and related derivatives (75) (118) 240 246
Precious metals contracts ................... Gain (loss) on instruments designated at
fair value and related derivatives (42) — (42) —
Credit CONtracts.........cccovvverereeereeennenns Gain (loss) on instruments designated at
fair value and related derivatives 1 1 1 2
Credit CONracts.........ccoocvierrccicnenns Other income 3 2 3 (5)
TOA e $ (308) 110 $ (87) $ 403

Credit-Risk Related Contingent Features We enter into total return swap, interest rate swap, cross-currency swap and credit
default swap contracts, amongst others which contain provisions that require us to maintain a specific credit rating from each of
the major credit rating agencies. Sometimes the derivative instrument transactions are a part of broader structured product
transactions. If HSBC Bank USA's credit ratings were to fall below the current ratings, the counterparties to our derivative
instruments could demand us to post additional collateral. The amount of additional collateral required to be posted will depend
on whether HSBC Bank USA is downgraded by one or more notches and whether the downgrade is in relation to long-term or
short-term ratings. The aggregate fair value of all derivative instruments with credit-risk-related contingent features that arein a
liahility position as of June 30, 2013, is $7.1 billion for which we have posted collateral of $5.6 hillion. The aggregate fair value
of all derivative instruments with credit-risk-related contingent features that are in a liability position as of December 31, 2012,
is$8.7 billion for which we have posted collateral of $7.9 billion. Substantially all of the collateral postedisintheform of securities
available-for-sale. See Note 19, “Guarantee Arrangements, Pledged Assets and Collateral,” for further details.

In the event of a credit downgrade, we currently do not expect HSBC Bank USA's long-term ratings to go below A2 and A+ or
the short-term ratingsto go below P-2 and A-1 by Moody’s and S& P, respectively. The following tables summarize our obligation
topost additional collateral (fromthecurrent collateral level) in certain hypothetical commercially reasonable downgrade scenarios.
Itisnot appropriateto accumulate or extrapol ateinformation presented in thetablesbel ow to determine our total obligation because
the information presented to determine the obligation in hypothetical rating scenariosis not mutually exclusive.

Moody’s Long-Term Ratings
Short-Term Ratings Al A2 A3

(in millions)
e PSPPI $ — % 1 % 182
P e bt bt he et sttt ae e nAeeRe e benae e beeat e benaeenes 1 28 182
S&P Long-Term Ratings
Short-Term Ratings AA- A+ A

(in millions)
N PSPPSRI $ — $ 27 $ 27
PSR 16 16 197

We would be required to post $17 million of additional collateral on total return swaps and certain other transactions if HSBC
Bank USA isdowngraded by S& P and Moody’s by two notches on our long term rating accompanied by one notch downgrade in
our short term rating.
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Notional Value of Derivative Contracts The following table summarizes the notional values of derivative contracts.

June 30, 2013

December 31,
2012

Interest rate:

[ U =3 010 B 0] A= (0 RN

(O 0)1T0) 015371 1= o
OPLIONS PUICNASEA. ...ttt ettt be bt s be s b e b e st e seese et e e e se e s e e e e e e eneenas

Foreign Exchange:

SWaPS, TULUIES 8N FOMWEITS.........coiiiieieierie ettt et
OPIONS WITTEEN. ...ttt b et bbb st b e e b e e b e e bbbt bbb b
(O 0]1T0) 015y 0 01 7= = o 15

Commodities, equities and precious metals:
SWaPS, TULUIES 8N FOMWEITS.........coirieieirieie bbbt e e
OPIONS WITTEEN. ...ttt b et bbb st b e e b e e b e e bbbt bbb b
(O 0]1T0) 1Sy 0 01 7= S = o 15
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(in billions)

$ 2099 $ 313.9
3,400.3 2,842.6
19.1 43.3
22.3 44.2
3,651.6 3,244.0
830.8 743.7
79.7 54.9
80.2 55.5
69.9 56.3
1,060.6 910.4
49.9 48.1
21.8 210
222 214
93.9 90.5
419.2 484.9

$ 52253

S 4798
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11.  Fair Value Option

We report our resultsto HSBC in accordance with its reporting basis, International Financial Reporting Standards (“1FRSS’). We
typically have elected to apply fair value option accounting to selected financial instruments to align the measurement attributes
of those instruments under U.S. GAAP and IFRSs and to simplify the accounting model applied to those financial instruments.
Weelected to apply fair valueoption (“ FVO”) reporting to commercial leveraged acquisition financeloansheld for saleand rel ated
unfunded commitments, certain fixed rate long-term debt issuances and hybrid instruments which include all structured notes and
structured deposits. Changes in fair value for these assets and liabilities are reported as gain (loss) on instruments designated at
fair value and related derivativesin the consolidated statement of income.

Loans We elected to apply FVO to all commercial leveraged acquisition finance loans held for sale and related unfunded
commitments. The election allows usto account for these loans and commitments at fair val ue which is consistent with the manner
inwhich theinstruments are managed. During thefirst quarter of 2013, we compl eted the sale of substantially all of our remaining
leveraged acquisition finance syndi cated | oanswhich wehad been hol ding sincethefinancial crisis. Asof June 30,2013, commercia
leveraged acquisition finance loans held for sale and related unfunded commitments of $3 million carried at fair value had an
aggregate unpaid principal balance of $3 million. As of December 31, 2012, commercial leveraged acquisition finance loans held
for sale and related unfunded commitments of $465 million carried at fair value had an aggregate unpaid principal balance of $486
million.

These loans are included in loans held for sale in the consolidated balance sheet. Interest from these loans is recorded as interest
income in the consolidated statement of income. Because a substantial majority of the loans elected for the fair value option are
floating rate assets, changes in their fair value are primarily attributable to changes in loan-specific credit risk factors. The
components of gain (loss) related to loans designated at fair value are summarized in the table below. As of June 30, 2013 and
December 31, 2012, no loansfor which thefair value option has been el ected are 90 days or more past due or on honaccrual status.

Long-Term Debt (Own Debt Issuances) We elected to apply FV O for certain fixed-rate long-term debt for which we had applied
or otherwisewould elect to apply fair value hedge accounting. The election allows usto achieve asimilar accounting effect without
having to meet the hedge accounting requirements. We measure the fair value of these debt i ssuances based on inputs observed in
the secondary market. Changes in fair value of these instruments are attributable to changes of our own credit risk and interest
rates.

The fair value of fixed-rate debt accounted for under FVO at June 30, 2013 totaled $1.8 billion and had an aggregate unpaid
principa balance of $1.8 billion. The fair value of fixed-rate debt accounted for under FVO at December 31, 2012 totaled $2.0
billion and had an aggregate unpaid principal balance of $1.8 billion. Interest on the fixed-rate debt accounted for under FVO is
recorded as interest expense in the consolidated statement of income. The components of gain (loss) related to long-term debt
designated at fair value are summarized in the table bel ow.

Hybrid Instruments We elected to apply fair value option accounting to al of our hybrid instruments, inclusive of structured
notes and structured deposits, issued after January 1, 2006. As of June 30, 2013, interest bearing deposits in domestic offices
included $8.0 billion of structured deposits accounted for under FVO which had an unpaid principal balance of $7.8 hillion. As
of December 31, 2012, interest bearing deposits in domestic offices included $8.7 hillion of structured deposits accounted for
under FVO which had an unpaid principal balance of $8.4 billion. Long-term debt at June 30, 2013 included structured notes of
$4.8 hillion accounted for under FVO which had an unpaid principal balance of $4.7 billion. Long-term debt at December 31,
2012 included structured notes of $5.3 billion accounted for under FVO which had an unpaid principal balance of $5.0 billion.
Interest on thisdebt isrecorded asinterest expense in the consolidated statement of income. The components of gain (loss) related
to hybrid instruments designated at fair value which reflect the instruments described above are summarized in the table below.

Components of Gain on Instruments at Fair Value and Related Derivatives Gain (10ss) on instruments designated at fair value
and related derivatives includes the changes in fair value related to interest, credit and other risks as well as the mark-to-market
adjustment on derivatives related to the financial instrument designated at fair value and net realized gains or losses on these
derivatives. The components of gain (loss) on instruments designated at fair value and related derivatives related to the changes
in fair value of the financia instrument accounted for under FVO are as follows:
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Long-Term Hybrid
Loans Debt Instruments Total
(in millions)

Three Months Ended June 30, 2013
Interest rate and other components'™y..............covvveeveereereerenseeereenreeenenns — 3 120 $ 204 324
Credit riSk COMPONENL .....cveuereiireiirrereeereee e — 53 54 107
Total mark-to-market on financial instruments designated at fair

1Yz 11T — 173 258 431
Net realized loss on financial iNStruMEeNts..........ccooeveeveerceneeenneennes — — — —
Mark-to-market on the related derivatives..........coooveeveeicenccncees — (128) (204) (332)
Net realized gain on the related long-term debt derivatives.................. — 16 — 16
Gain (loss) on instruments designated at fair value and related

(0 LS V2 Y= TSRO — % 61 $ 54 115
Three Months Ended June 30, 2012
Interest rate and other components™y.............o.ovveeveeereereeeeeessesseseneons — 3 (123) $ 74 (49)
Credit riSk COMPONENE ........covviiieiicis s 2 131 (56) 77
Total mark-to-market on financial instruments designated at fair
VAU ..ttt st st e et e e e e e e e enens 2 8 18 28
Net realized loss on financial iNStruments.............cooevevereneneeneeeeene — — — —
Mark-to-market on the related derivatives............coooeievereieneneee — 142 (44) 98
Net realized gain on the related long-term debt derivatives.................. — 15 — 15
Gain (loss) on instruments designated at fair value and related
ENVBLIVES. ...ttt st 2 $ 165 $ (26) 141
Six Months Ended June 30, 2013
Interest rate and other compoNENtS™..........oovvveerreeernreeessenreeeseeee — % 183 $ (112) 71
Credit riSK COMPONENL .....cveueriiiriiietereeereee e 21 11 87 119
Total mark-to-market on financial instruments designated at fair

VEIUB.....oiiiii s 21 194 (25) 190
Net realized loss on financial instruments..............cocecccccicccccnnen. 8 — — 8)
Mark-to-market on the related derivatives............oocevvcceinincinnns — (190) 64 (126)
Net realized gain on the related long-term debt derivatives.................. — 32 — 32
Gain (loss) on instruments designated at fair value and related

ENVALIVES ...t sttt e 13 $ 36 $ 39 88
Six Months Ended June 30, 2012
Interest rate and other ComPONENtS™............oc.oveveeieeeeeeeeeseeessseesneeees 1 $ (40) $ (355) (394)
Credit risk COMPONENE ..o 34 (90) (23) (79)
Total mark-to-market on financial instruments designated at fair
VAIUB ...ttt ettt a et b e ne st b e st et s 35 (130) (378) (473)
Net realized loss on financial instruments..............ccooveveiiiniciciniinnene, (D — — @)
Mark-to-market on the related derivatives..........cooveeveercenccneees — 27 345 372
Net realized gain on the related long-term debt derivatives.................. — 31 — 31
Gain (loss) on instruments designated at fair value and related
JENVELIVES......ccvcrciei e 4 $ 72 $ (33) (71)

@
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Asit relates to hybrid instruments, interest rate and other components includes interest rate, foreign exchange and equity contract risks.
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12.

Income Taxes

The following table is an analysis of the difference between effective rates based on the total income tax provision attributable
to pretax income and the statutory U.S. Federal income tax rate.

2013

2012

Three Months Ended June 30, 2013

Tax expense at the U.S. federal statutory income tax rate

Increase (decrease) in rate resulting from:

State and local taxes, net of federal ben€fit.........cooveveivcineiciiee
Non-deductible expense accrual related to certain regulatory matters™® ...
Non-deductible goodwill related to branch sal€®............cooovvvvevveverereennne
Other non-deductible/ non-taxable items? ...........ccccoovveeeeeeereseenenennn
Items affecting Prior PErioaS™ ......... ..o
Uncertain tax adjustments™ .............co..oovuorveoeeeereeeeeeeeeeeeeeeee e
Impact of fOreign OPEratioNS.........cccvevveeerereeieee e

Six Months Ended June 30, 2013

Tax expense at the U.S. federal statutory income tax rate

Increase (decrease) in rate resulting from:

State and local taxes, net of federal benefit.........cocovenniniiciis
Adjustment of tax rate used to value deferred taxes...........c.ccecevevineninnenne
Non-deductible expense accrual related to certain regulatory matters™® ...
Non-deductible goodwill related to branch sale®.............cooovevverenrreen.
Other non-deductible / non-taxable items® .............cooooeveereeeresneeinreesnnonn.
Items affecting Prior PErioAs™ .............ccovvieeeeeesreeeseeesesee s ssseeeseenes
Uncertain tax adjustments™ .............coooovvrveeereereseeeeseeeeeeeeeee oo
Impact of fOreign OPEratioNS ........cccoiveieererieree e e
Low income housing taX Credits........ooovereeneereie e

()]
@

@

(dollars are in millions)

80 350% $ (84 (3B.0)%
13 5.7 16 6.6
— — 245  101.2
— — 106 438
(12) (5.2) ©) (1.2)
(12) (5.2) 33 136
4 1.7 49 20.2

1 4 35 145
(22) 9.7) (1) (128
3) (1.3) (15) (5.9)
49 214% $ 351 1450 %
181 350% $  (50) (35.0)%
30 5.8 22 153
— — (10)  (6.9)
— — 245  170.1
— — 106 736
©) (1.7) 8 (5.6)
(22) (4.3) 33 229
18 35 65 45.1
4 8 21 14.6
43) (8.3) (42)  (29.2)
(6) (1.1) (13) (8.6)
153 297% $ 369 2563 %

Relates to non-deductible expense related to certain regulatory matters and non-deductible goodwill related to the branches sold to First Niagarain 2012.
Mainly relates to a change in the assessment of the deductibility of certain amounts accrued for certain regulatory matters.

Relates to corrections to current and deferred tax balance sheet accounts.

Reflects changesin state uncertain tax positions which no longer meet the more likely than not requirement for recognition.

It is reasonably possible that there could be a change in the amount of our unrecognized tax benefits within the next 12 months
due to settlements or statutory expirations in various tax jurisdictions. The total amount of unrecognized tax benefits that, if
recognized, would affect the effectiveincome tax rate is $332 million and $314 million at June 30, 2013 and December 31, 2012,
respectively.
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Itisour policy to recognize accrued interest related to unrecognized tax positionsin interest expense in the consolidated statement
of income (loss) and to recognize penalties, if any, related to unrecogni zed tax positionsasacomponent of other operating expenses
in the consolidated statement of income (loss). We had accrualsfor the payment of interest associated with uncertain tax positions
of $182 million and $159 million at June 30, 2013 and December 31, 2012, respectively. We have no penalty accruals recorded
as of June 30, 2013.

HSBC North America Consolidated Income Taxes We areincluded in HSBC North Americas consolidated Federal income tax
return and in various combined state income tax returns. As such, we have entered into a tax allocation agreement with HSBC
North America and its subsidiary entities (the “HNAH Group”) included in the consolidated returns which govern the current
amount of taxesto be paid or received by the various entitiesincluded in the consolidated return filings. Asaresult, we have looked
at the HNAH Group's consolidated deferred tax assets and various sources of taxable income, including the impact of HSBC and
HNAH Group tax planning strategies, in reaching conclusionson recoverability of deferred tax assets. Whereaval uation allowance
is determined to be necessary at the HSBC North America consolidated level, such allowanceisallocated to principal subsidiaries
within the HNAH Group as described below in a manner that is systematic, rational and consistent with the broad principles of
accounting for income taxes.

The HNAH Group evaluates deferred tax assetsfor recoverability using a consistent approach which considersthe relative impact
of negativeand positive evidence, including historical financia performance, projections of futuretaxableincome, futurereversals
of existing taxable temporary differences, tax planning strategies and any available carryback capacity.

In evaluating the need for aval uation allowance, the HNAH Group estimatesfuture taxabl ei ncome based on management approved
business plans, future capital requirements and ongoing tax planning strategies, including capital support from HSBC necessary
as part of such plans and strategies. The HNAH Group has continued to consider the impact of the economic environment on the
U.S. businesses and the expected growth of the deferred tax assets. This evaluation process involves significant management
judgment about assumptions that are subject to change from period to period.

In conjunction with the HNAH Group deferred tax evaluation process, based on our forecasts of future taxable income, which
include assumptions about the depth and severity of home price depreciation and the U.S. economic environment, including
unemployment levels and their related impact on credit losses, we currently anticipate that our results of future operations will
generate sufficient taxable income to allow us to realize our deferred tax assets. However, since these market conditions have
created losses in the HNAH Group in recent periods and volatility in our pre-tax book income, our analysis of the recoverability
of the deferred tax assets significantly discounts any future taxable income expected from continuing operations and reliesto a
greater extent on continued capital support from our parent, HSBC, including tax planning strategies implemented in relation to
such support. HSBC has indicated it remains fully committed and has the capacity and willingness to provide capital as needed
to run operations, maintain sufficient regulatory capital, and fund certain tax planning strategies. Asfinancial performance in our
U.S. operations improves, it is anticipated that reliance may be placed on projected future operating income in management's
evaluation of the recognition of the deferred tax assets.

Only thosetax planning strategiesthat are both prudent and feasi bl e, and which management hasthe ability and intent to implement,
are incorporated into our analysis and assessment. The primary and most significant strategy is HSBC's commitment to reinvest
excess HNAH Group capital to reduce debt funding or otherwise invest in assets to ensure that it is more likely than not that the
deferred tax assets will be utilized.

Currently, it has been determined that the HNAH Group's primary tax planning strategy, in combination with other tax planning
strategies, provides support for the realization of the net deferred tax assets recorded for the HNAH Group. Such determination
is based on HSBC's business forecasts and assessment as to the most efficient and effective deployment of HSBC capital, most
importantly including thelength of time such capital will need to bemaintainedintheU.S. for purposesof thetax planning strategy.

Notwithstanding the above, the HNAH Group had val uation all owances against certain state deferred tax assetsand certain Federal
tax loss carry forwards for which the aforementioned tax planning strategies did not provide appropriate support.

HNAH Groupvaluation allowancesareall ocated to theprincipal subsidiaries, including us. Themethodol ogy all ocatesthevaluation
allowance to the principal subsidiaries based primarily on the entity's relative contribution to the growth of the HSBC North
America consolidated deferred tax asset against which the valuation allowance is being recorded.
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If futureresultsdiffer fromthe HNAH Group'scurrent forecasts or thetax planning strategieswereto change, aval uation allowance
against some or all of the remaining net deferred tax assets may need to be established which could have amaterial adverse effect
on our results of operations, financial condition and capital position. The HNAH Group will continue to update its assumptions
andforecastsof futuretaxableincome, including rel evant tax planning strategies, and assessthe need for suchincremental valuation
allowances.

Absent the capital support from HSBC and implementation of the related tax planning strategies, the HNAH Group, including us,
would be required to record a valuation allowance against the remaining deferred tax assets.

HSBC USA Inc. Income Taxes We recognize deferred tax assets and liabilities for the future tax consequences related to the
differences between the financial statement carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their respective tax bases, and
for tax creditsand state net operating losses. Our net deferred tax assets, including deferred tax liabilities and val uation all owances,
totaled $1.4 billion and $905 million as of June 30, 2013 and December 31, 2012, respectively.

The Internal Revenue Serviceis currently auditing our income tax returns for the period 2006 through 2009 with an anticipated
completion in the second half of 2013. We remain subject to state and local income tax examinations for years 2004 and forward.
We are currently under audit by various state and local tax jurisdictions. Uncertain tax positions are reviewed on an ongoing basis
and are adjusted in light of changing facts and circumstances, including progress of tax audits, developmentsin case law and the
closing of statutes of limitations. Such adjustments are reflected in the tax provision. As aresult of a 2011 state court decision
related to a state tax uncertainty, we do not believe that we can uphold the more likely than not conclusion taken on one of these
uncertain tax positions. At June 30, 2013, total tax reserves are $270 million (net of federal tax benefit) along with related accrued
interest expense of $150 million in relation to the estimated exposure on this matter.
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13.  Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income

Accumulated other comprehensive income includes certain items that are reported directly within a separate component of
shareholders’ equity. The following table presents changes in accumulated other comprehensive income balances.

Three Months Ended June 30, 2013 2012
(in millions)

Unrealized gains (losses) on securities available-for-sale:
Balance at beginning Of PEFTOU ..o et neens $ 842 % 756
Other comprehensive income (loss) for period:
Net unrealized gains (losses) arising during period, net of tax of $(398) million and $203

MIlION, FESPECLIVELY ...t e (571) 286
Reclassification adjustment for gains realized in net income (10ss), net of tax of $(9) million
and $(27) Million, rESPECHIVEIY M ........urrvreerirerrreeiseersssssssessssssssssesssssssssessssesssesssssssens (14) (39)
Total other comprehensive |0SS for PEFiod..........cuiii s (585) 248
Balance at €N OF PEITO.......c.ciuiiiiiiiees ettt nes 257 1,004
Unrealized losses on other-than-temporarily impaired debt securities held-to-maturity:
Balance at beginning Of PEITOU .........ccviiiiriii e e e e eneens — —
Adjustment to add other-than-temporary impairment due to the consolidation of VIE, net of tax
OF B(48) MITTON.......ooiiii s (67) —
Balance at end Of PEIOd..........cccuiciiiciii s (67) —
Unrealized gains (losses) on derivatives classified as cash flow hedges:
Balance at beginning Of PEMOM .........o.ooiiiii e (178) (192

Other comprehensive income (loss) for period:
Net gains (losses) arising during period, net of tax of $35 million and $(29) million,

TESPECHIVELY ..o s 49 (39)
Reclassification adjustment for |osses realized in net income (loss), net of tax of $1 million

and $2 Million, FESPECHIVEY @) ...t s s sse s 2 2

Total other comprehensive income (10SS) fOr PEFiOd.......cc.cveeeerirere e 51 (37)

Balance at end Of PEO. ..o (127) (229)
Pension and postretirement benefit liability:

Balance at beginning and end of Period............cccciiciiic (6) (11)

Total accumulated other comprehensive income at end of Period ...........ccocvvevvievevevereseseceeeee $ 57 % 764
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Six Months Ended June 30, 2013 2012
(in millions)

Unrealized gains (losses) on securities available-for-sale:
Balance at beginning Of PO ...t $ 992 $ 883
Other comprehensive income (loss) for period:
Net unrealized gains (losses) arising during period, net of tax of $(455) million and $127

MIliON, FESPECHIVEIY ... (649) 177
Reclassification adjustment for gains realized in net income (loss), net of tax of $(60) million
and $(39) Million, respECtiVEIY B ... ...t (86) (56)
Total other comprehensive income (10SS) fOr PEFiOd........c.coveeeeeiriecie s (735) 121
Balance a €nd Of PEITOM........coeriiiiiieie et et b e b et e se e et e s eneeas 257 1,004
Unrealized losses on other-than-temporarily impaired debt securities held-to-maturity:
Balance at beginning Of PEMOM ........co.ooiiii e — —
Adjustment to add other-than-temporary impairment due to the consolidation of VIE, net of tax
OF $(48) MIITION ...t (67) —
Balance at €nd Of PEIOM.........ccuciiiiiiriieice ettt b e be e s st se b ne b nssa e e s s (67) —
Unrealized gains (losses) on derivatives classified as cash flow hedges:
Balance at beginning Of PEMIOM .......coiiiiirieiree et nes (201) (229)

Other comprehensive income (loss) for period:
Net gains (losses) arising during period, net of tax of $49 million and $(5) million,

TESPECEIVELY ..o 70 (5
Reclassification adjustment for |osses realized in net income (loss), net of tax of $3 million
and $3 Million, FESPECHIVEY @) ... ... s 4 5
Total other comprehensive income for PEIOQ.........ceoveveieeeieeeeeeeee e 74 —
Balance at €nd Of PEIO........ccuiiiiiiiiie e et sre st e s besr et et e e e e e eneeneeneerenns (127) (229)
Pension and postretirement benefit liability:
Balance at beginning Of PEMOU. .......c.ciivieiiei et st (6) (12)

Other comprehensive income for period:
Reclassification adjustment of prior service costs and transition obligations in net income, net

of tax Of 16SSthan $L MIlIION........cccvcviiiicceeec et — 1

Total other comprehensive iNComMe for PEriOd.........c.cireiriiii s — 1
Balance at €N Of PEITO.......c.ciuiiiiiiriiieee bbbt b e b e (6) (11
Total accumulated other comprehensive income at end of Period ............cccoeveveieneineinennenenee $ 57 $ 764

@ Amount reclassified to net income (loss) isincluded in other securities gains, net in our consolidated statement of income.
@ Amount reclassified to net income (loss) relatesto interest rate contracts and isincluded in interest income (expense) in our consolidated statement of income.
®  Amount reclassified to net income (loss) isincluded in salaries and employee benefits in our consolidated statement of income.
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14. Pension and Other Postretirement Benefits

Defined Benefit Pension Plans Effective January 1, 2005, our previously separate qualified defined benefit pension plan was
combined with that of HSBC Financeinto asingle HSBC North Americaqualified defined benefit pension plan (either the“HSBC
North America Pension Plan” or the “Plan”) which facilitates the development of a unified employee benefit policy and unified
employee benefit plan administration for HSBC companies operating in the U.S. The table below reflects the portion of pension
expense and its related components of the HSBC North America Pension Plan which has been allocated to us and is recorded in

our consolidated statement of income.

Three Months Ended Six Months Ended

June 30, June 30,
2013 2012 2013 2012
(in millions)
Service cost — benefits earned during the period...........ccooviie e $ 1 % 4 $ 2 $ 7
Interest cost on projected benefit obligation...........cccove e 17 18 34 35
EXPECted return ON 8SSELS.........ccciiicicici s (21) (23) (41) (44)
Amortization of prior service cost (DENEFt) .....cvvvvvrciiicii — 2 — 3
RECOGNIZEA [OSSES.....cueitiieieisies ettt bbb st b et sne e 13 8 26 19
S S0 g c 1= 1S $ 10 $ 5 21 $ 14

Postretirement Plans Other Than Pensions Our employees also participate in plans which provide medical, dental and life
insurance benefits to retirees and eligible dependents. These plans cover substantially all employees who meet certain age and
vested service regquirements. We have instituted dollar limits on payments under the plans to control the cost of future medical

benefits.
The net postretirement benefit cost included the following components:

Three Months Ended Six Months Ended

June 30, June 30,
2013 2012 2013 2012
(in millions)
L= =S o= TR $ — $ 19 13 2
Amortization of transition Obligation .............cceiriin e — — — 1
Net periodic postretirement BENEFit COSL.......ouvrrrrrrrrrneer st eseeeeeeeeees $ — 3 19 1 % 3
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15. Related Party Transactions

In the normal course of business, we conduct transactions with HSBC and its subsidiaries. These transactions occur at prevailing
market rates and terms and include funding arrangements, derivative execution, purchases and sales of receivables, servicing
arrangements, information technology and some centralized services, item and statement processing services, banking and other
miscellaneous services. All extensions of credit by (and certain credit exposures of) HSBC Bank USA to other HSBC affiliates
(other than FDIC-insured banks) arelegally required to be secured by eligible collateral. Thefollowing table presentsrelated party

balances and the income and expense generated by related party transactions:

June 30, 2013

December 31, 2012

Assets:
Cash and due from DANKS..........couiieeee e
Interest bearing deposits With DaNKS............cociriiiiiiir e
Securities purchased under agreementSto reSall ...
TEAAING SSELSY ...

(in millions)

173 $ 114
923 714
18,533 21,370
6,967 4,514
945 858
27541 % 27,570
14333 % 13,863
21,374 23,910
3,513 2,721
3,991 3,990
631 459
43,842 $ 44,943

@ Trading assets and liabilities exclude the impact of netting which allows the offsetting of amounts relating to certain contracts if certain conditions are

met.
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Three Months Ended  Six Months Ended

June 30, June 30,
2013 2012 2013 2012
(in millions)
Income/(Expense):
INEEFESE INCOME.......eeiertreeer ettt $ 83 $ 14 $ 105 $ 27
[ NEEIESE EXPENSE. ...ttt ettt bbbt ae b st e sb e st sbe et e sbeeabesbe et e naeenes (19) (23) (39) (47)
Net iNterest iNCOME (I0SS) ......cuvurriemieeriierieerreie e $ 64 $ (9% 66 $ (20
Servicing and other fees from HSBC affiliate: -
Fees and commissions:
[ IS O T 7= 0 [0 TR $ 260 $ 17 $ 47 $ 30
HSBC Markets (USA) INC. (“HMUS') .....oveeoeeeeeeeeseeeeeeseeeeseseeesseeeesseseeeseseesene 4 5 9 10
Other HSBC @ffillAES......ceeeveiriiieeeieirieieiesese et 14 14 30 42
Other HSBC affiliat@S INCOME.......ccooveriireriercieriee e 15 10 27 20
Total affiliale INCOME ... ..o et eeas $ 50 $ 46 $ 113 $ 102
Residential Mortgage banking FeVENUE...............oov.eveeereeeeseeesseeseeesesesesee s sseesneeee $ —3$ 1$ — $ 3
Support services from HSBC ffiliates: -
HSBC FINAMNCE.......coiiiiiiiieieiceeie s $ G MmMs$s O $ 1Y
HIMUS .o essse e essss e ees s senenees (54) (79)  (106)  (161)
HSBC Technology & Services (USA) (“HTSU")...oooiiieieiesereseseeee e (242) (240) (475) (474
Oher HSBC @ffiliaeS ... cvvveeeeeeeeeeeoeeeeeeeeeesseeeeesseessseseeseessseseeesesssseesesssessssneeeees (61) (60) (96) (119)
Total support services from HSBC affiliales.........ocvcurcrriiineeeeeeee e $ (362) $ (386) $ (686) $(771)
Stock based compensation expense With HSBC ...........veureeeeeesnreeeeeesseeseseseess $ (13 B $ (22 $ (20

Transactions Conducted with HSBC Finance Corporation

In July 2004, we sold the account relationships associated with $970 million of credit card receivables to HSBC Finance and
on adaily basis, we purchased new originations on these credit card receivables. As discussed in Note 8, “Intangible Assets,”
on March 29, 2012 we re-purchased these account relationships from HSBC Finance for $108 million and as a result, we
stopped purchasing new originations on these credit card accounts from HSBC Finance. We purchased $492 million of credit
card receivables from HSBC Finance during the three months ended March 31, 2012. HSBC Finance continued to service
theseloansfor usfor afeethrough April 30, 2012. Effective with the close of the sale of our GM and UP credit card receivables
and our private label credit card and closed-end receivables on May 1, 2012, these |oans are now serviced by Capital One for
afee. Premiums previously paid are amortized to interest income over the estimated life of the receivables purchased. We paid
HSBC Financefeesfor servicing theseloans of $2 million and $7 million during the three and six months ended June 30, 2012.

In 2003 and 2004, we purchased approximately $3.7 billion of residential mortgageloansfrom HSBC Finance. HSBC Finance
continues to service these loans for usfor afee. At June 30, 2013 and December 31, 2012, HSBC Finance was servicing $1.1
billion and $1.2 billion, respectively, of residential mortgage loans for us. We paid HSBC Finance fees for servicing these
loans of $1 million and $2 million during the three and six months ended June 30, 2013, respectively, compared with $1 million
and $2 million during the three and six months ended June 30, 2012, respectively.

In the fourth quarter of 2009, an initiative was begun to streamline the servicing of real estate secured receivables across North
America. As aresult, certain functions that we had previously performed for our mortgage customers were being performed
by HSBC Finance for all North America mortgage customers, including our mortgage customers. Additionally, we began
performing certain functions for all North America mortgage customers where these functions had been previously provided
separately by each entity. During 2011, we began a process to separate these functions so that each entity will be servicing its
own mortgage customers when the process is completed. During the three months ended June 30, 2013 and 2012, we paid $1
million and $1 million, respectively, for services we received from HSBC Finance and received less than a million and $1
million, respectively, for services we provided to HSBC Finance. During the six months ended June 30, 2013 and 2012, we
paid $3 million and $3 million, respectively, for services we received from HSBC Finance and received less than a million
and $3 million, respectively, for services we provided to HSBC Finance.

In July 2010, certain employeesin the real estate receivable default servicing department of HSBC Finance were transferred
to the mortgage loan servicing department of a subsidiary of HSBC Bank USA and subsequently to HSBC Bank USA. These
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employees continue to service defaulted real estate secured receivables for HSBC Finance and we receive afee for providing
these services. During the three and six months ended June 30, 2013, we received servicing revenue from HSBC Finance of
$15 million and $31 million, respectively, compared with $14 million and $28 million during the year-ago periods.

*  We extended a $1.5 hillion uncommitted secured credit facility to certain subsidiaries of HSBC Finance in December 2008.
The current credit facility maturesin November 2013. Any draws on this credit facility by HSBC Finance require regul atory
approval. There were no balances outstanding at June 30, 2013 and December 31, 2012.

e During thefourth quarter of 2011, we extended an unsecured $3.0 billion 364 day uncommitted revolving credit agreement to
HSBC Finance which alowed for borrowings with maturities of up to 15 years. During the second quarter of 2012, an
amendment was executed to increase this uncommitted revolving credit agreement to $4.0 billion. As of June 30, 2013 and
December 31, 2012, $2.0 billion was outstanding under this credit agreement with $512 million maturing in September 2017
and $1.5 billion maturing in January 2018.

* InMay 2012, we extended a $2.0 billion committed revolving credit facility to HSBC Finance which expires in May 2017.
As of June 30, 2013 and December 31, 2012 there were no amounts outstanding under this credit facility.

Transactions Conducted with HSBC Finance Corporation Involving Discontinued Operations Asit relatesto our discontinued
credit card and private label operations, in January 2009, we purchased the GM and UP Portfolios from HSBC Finance, with an
outstanding principal balance of $12.4 billion at thetime of sale, at atotal net premium of $113 million. Additionally, in December
2004, we purchased the private label credit card receivable portfolio aswell as private label commercial and closed end loansfrom
HSBC Finance. HSBC Finance retained the customer account relationships for both the GM and UP receivables and the private
label credit card receivables and by agreement we purchased on adaily basis substantially all new originations from these account
relationships from HSBC Finance. Premiums paid for these receivables are amortized to interest income over the estimated life
of the receivables purchased and are included as a component of Income from Discontinued Operations. HSBC Finance serviced
these credit card loans for usfor afee through April 30, 2012. Fees paid for servicing these loan portfolios, which are included as
acomponent of Income from discontinued operations, totaled $48 million and $199 million during the three and six months ended
June 30, 2012, respectively. Information regarding these loans is summarized in the table below.

Private Label Credit Card
Commercial
and
Closed General Union
Cards End Loans Motors Privilege Other Total
(in billions)

Total loans purchased on a daily basis from HSBC
Finance during:

Three Months Ended June 30, 2012...........ccccceeevevrverennene 11 — 9 3 2 25

Six Months Ended June 30, 2012.........cccocevveveereceeenene, 44 — 39 1.0 .6 9.9

The GM and UP credit card receivables as well as the private label credit card receivables were purchased from HSBC Finance
on a daily basis a a sales price for each type of portfolio determined using a fair value calculated semi-annually in April and
October by an independent third party based on the projected future cash flows of the receivables. The projected future cash flows
were developed using various assumptions reflecting the historical performance of the receivables and adjusting for key factors
such as the anticipated economic and regulatory environment. The independent third party used these projected future cash flows
and a discount rate to determine a range of fair values. We used the mid-point of this range as the sales price. If significant
information became available that altered the projected future cash flows, an analysis was performed to determine if fair value
rates needed to be updated prior to the normal semi-annual cycles. With the announcement of the Capital One transaction, an
analysis was performed and an adjustment to the fair value rates was made effective in August 2011 to reflect the sale of the
receivables to a third party during the first half of 2012. The rates continued to be updated as part of our normal semi-annual
process until the time the transaction was compl eted.

Transactions Conducted with HSBC Markets (USA) Inc. (""HMUS™) and Subsidiaries

*  Weuutilize HSBC Securities (USA) Inc. (“HSI") for broker dealer, debt and preferred stock underwriting, customer referrals,
loan syndication and other treasury and traded markets related services, pursuant to service level agreements. Fees charged by
HSI for broker dealer, loan syndication services, treasury and traded markets related services are included in support services
from HSBC affiliates. Debt underwriting fees charged by HSI are deferred as a reduction of long-term debt and amortized to
interest expense over the life of the related debt. Preferred stock issuance costs charged by HS| are recorded as a reduction of
capital surplus. Customer referral fees paid to HSI are netted against customer fee income, which isincluded in other fees and
commissions.
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We have extended loans and lines, some of them uncommitted, to HMUS and its subsidiaries in the amount of $3.8 billion at
June 30, 2013 and December 31, 2012. At June 30, 2013 and December 31, 2012, $1.3 hillion and $310 million, respectively,
was outstanding on these loans and lines. Interest income on these loans and lines totaled $1 million and $2 million during the
three and six months ended June 30, 2013, respectively, compared with $1 million and $2 million during the three and six
months ended June 30, 2012, respectively.

Other Transactions with HSBC Affiliates

HNAH extended a $1.0 hillion senior debt to us in August 2009. This is a five year floating rate debt which matures in
August 2014. In addition, in April 2011, we borrowed an additional $3.0 billion from HNAH. This senior debt maturesin three
equal installments of $1.0 billion in April 2015, 2016 and 2017. The debt bears interest at 90 day USD Libor plus a spread,
with each maturity at a different spread. Interest expense on this debt totaled $14 million and $28 million during the three and
six months ended June 30, 2013, respectively, compared with $17 million and $33 million during the three and six months
ended June 30, 2012, respectively.

In addition to purchases of U.S. Treasury and U.S. Government Agency securities, we purchased both foreign-denominated
and USD denominated marketable securitiesfrom certain affiliatesincluding HSI, HSBC Asia-Pacific, HSBC Mexico, HSBC
London, HSBC Brazil, HSBC Chile and HSBC Canada. Marketabl e securities outstanding from these purchases are reflected
in trading assets and totaled $12 million and $14 million at June 30, 2013 and December 31, 2012, respectively.

We have extended uncommitted lines of credit to HSBC Bank Brasil in the amount of $1.5 billion and $1.0 billion at June 30,
2013 and December 31, 2012, respectively, of which $1.0 billion was outstanding at both June 30, 2013 and December 31,
2012.

We have extended an uncommitted line of credit to HSBC Panama in the amount of $752 million at June 30, 2013 and
December 31, 2012 of which $292 million and $372 million was outstanding at  June 30, 2013 and December 31, 2012,
respectively.

We have a committed unused line of credit with HSBC Investment (Bahamas) Limited of $900 million at June 30, 2013 and
December 31, 2012.

We have acommitted unused line of credit with HSBC Holdings plc of $500 million at June 30, 2013 and December 31, 2012.

We have an uncommitted unused line of credit with HSBC North America Inc. (“HNAI") of $150 million at June 30, 2013
and December 31, 2012.

Wehaveextended |oansand linesof credit to variousother HSBC affiliatestotaling $460 million at June 30, 2013 and December
31, 2012. At June 30, 2013 and December 31, 2012, there were no amounts outstanding under these loans or lines of credit.

In addition to loans and lines extended to affiliates discussed above, from time to time we may extend loansto &ffiliates which
are generally short termin nature. At June 30, 2013 and December 31, 2012, there were $2.2 billion and $812 million of short
term loans outstanding primarily related to metals activities.

Historically, we have provided support to several HSBC affiliate sponsored asset-backed commercial paper (“* ABCP’) conduits
by purchasing A-1/P-1 rated commercial paper issued by them. At June 30, 2013 and December 31, 2012, no ABCPissued by
such conduitswasheld. Pursuant to aglobal restructure of HSBC sponsored ABCPconduits, certain assets previously originated
and funded by Bryant Park, an ABCP conduit organized by HUSI, have been refinanced by Regency, another ABCP conduit
organized and consolidated by our affiliate. HUSI is committed to provide liquidity facilities to backstop the liquidity risk in
Regency in relation to assets originated in the U.S. region. The notional amount of the liquidity facilities provided by HUSI
to Regency was approximately $3.1 billion as of June 30, 2013.

Weroutinely enter into derivative transactionswith HSBC Finance and other HSBC affiliates as part of aglobal HSBC strategy
to offset interest rate or other market risks associated with debt issues and derivative contracts with unaffiliated third parties.
The notional value of derivative contracts related to these contracts was approximately $1,263.3 billion and $1,066.5 billion
at June 30, 2013 and December 31, 2012, respectively. The net credit exposure (defined asthe net fair value of derivative assets
and liabilities) related to the contracts was approximately $836 million and $691 million at June 30, 2013 and December 31,
2012, respectively. Our Global Banking and Markets business accounts for these transactions on a mark to market basis, with
the change in value of contracts with HSBC affiliates substantially offset by the change in value of related contracts entered
into with unaffiliated third parties.

HSBC North America's technology and certain centralized support services including human resources, corporate affairs, risk
management, legal, compliance, tax, finance and other shared servicesare centralized within HTSU. Technology related assets
and softwarepurchased aregenerally purchased and owned by HT SU. HT SU also providescertai nitem processing and statement
processing activities which are included in Support services from HSBC affiliates in the consolidated statement of income.
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We also receive fees from HTSU for providing them certain administrative services. The fees we receive from HTSU are
recorded as a component of servicing and other fees from HSBC affiliates.

e Our domestic employees participate in a defined benefit pension plan sponsored by HSBC North America. Additional
information regarding pensionsis provided in Note 14 “Pension and Other Post retirement Benefits.”

»  Employees participate in one or more stock compensation plans sponsored by HSBC. Our share of the expense of these plans
on apre-tax basiswas $13 million and $22 million during the three and six months ended June 30, 2013, respectively, compared
with $8 million and $20 million during the three and six months ended June 30, 2012, respectively.

*  WeuseHSBC Globa Resourcing (UK) Ltd., an HSBC affiliate located outside of the United States, to provide various support
services to our operations including among other areas customer service, systems, collection and accounting functions. The
expensesrel ated to these services of $3 million and $8 million during thethreeand six monthsended June 30, 2013, respectively,
compared with $6 million and $13 million during the three and six months ended June 30, 2012, respectively, areincluded as
a component of Support services from HSBC affiliates in the table above. Through February 2011, the expenses for these
servicesfor all HSBC North Americaoperationswere billed directly to HT SU who then billed these servicesto the appropriate
HSBC affiliate who benefited from the services. Beginningin March 2011, HSBC Globa Resourcing (UK) Ltd. began billing
us directly for the services we receive from them.

*  Wedid not pay any dividends to our parent company, HNAI, on our common stock during the three and six months ended
June 30, 2013 and 2012.

16. Business Segments

We have four distinct business segments that we utilize for management reporting and analysis purposes, which are aligned with
HSBC's global businesses and business strategy. Our segment results are reported on a continuing operations basis. There have
been no changesin the basis of our segmentation or measurement of segment profit as compared with the presentation in our 2012
Form 10-K except as noted bel ow.

Commercial Banking ("CMB") has historically held investments in low income housing tax credits. The financial benefit from
theseinvestmentsis obtai ned through lower taxes. Since business segment returns are measured on apre-tax basis, arevenue share
has historically been in place in the form of afunding credit to provide CMB with an exact and equal offset booked to the Other
segment.  Beginning in 2013, this practice has been eliminated and the low income housing tax credit investments and related
financial impact are being recorded entirely in the Other segment. We have reclassified prior period resultsin both the CMB and
Other segments to conform to the revised current year presentation.

Net interest income of each segment represents the difference between actual interest earned on assets and interest incurred on
liabilities of the segment, adjusted for afunding charge or credit. Segments are charged a cost to fund assets (e.g. customer |oans)
and receive afunding credit for funds provided (e.g. customer deposits) based on equivalent market rates. The objective of these
charges/creditsisto transfer interest rate risk from the segments to one centralized unit in Global Banking and Markets ("GBM")
and more appropriately reflect the profitability of segments.

Certain other revenue and operating expense amounts are al so apportioned among the business segments based upon the benefits
derived fromthisactivity or therel ationship of thisactivity to other segment activity. Theseinter-segment transactionsare accounted
for asif they were with third parties.

Our segment results are presented in accordance with IFRSs (anon-U.S. GAAPfinancial measure) on alegal entity basis (“IFRSs
Basis’) as operating results are monitored and reviewed, trends are evaluated and decisions about allocating resources, such as
employeesare made almost exclusively on an IFRSsbasissince we report financial information to our parent, HSBC in accordance
with IFRSs. We continue to monitor capital adequacy, establish dividend policy and report to regulatory agencieson aU.S. GAAP
legal entity basis.

Net Interest Income

Effective interest rate - The calculation of effective interest rates under 1AS 39, “Financial Instruments. Recognition and
Measurement” (“1AS 39”), requires an estimate of changesin estimated contractual cash flows, including fees and points paid or
received between parties to the contract that are an integral part of the effective interest rate to beincluded. U.S. GAAP generally
prohibits recognition of interest income to the extent the net interest in the loan would increase to an amount greater than the
amount at which the borrower could settle the obligation. Under U.S. GAAP, prepayment penalties are generally recognized as
received. U.S. GAAPalsoincludesinterest income on loans originated as held for salewhichisincluded in other operating income
for IFRSs.
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Deferred loan origination costs and fees - Certain loan fees and incremental direct |oan costs, which would not have been incurred
but for the origination of loans, are deferred and amortized to earnings over the life of the loan under IFRSs. Certain |oan fees and
direct incremental loan origination costs, including certaininternal costsdirectly attributable to the origination of loansin addition
to direct salaries, are deferred and amortized to earnings under U.S. GAAP.

Loan origination deferrals under |FRSs are more stringent and generally result in lower costs being deferred than permitted under
U.S. GAAP. In addition, al deferred loan origination fees, costs and loan premiums must be recognized based on the expected
life of theloan under IFRSs as part of the effective interest calculation while under U.S. GAAPthey may be recognized on either
acontractual or expected life basis.

Derivative interest expense - Under IFRSs, net interest income includes the interest element for derivatives which corresponds to
debt designated at fair value. For U.S. GAAR, thisisincluded in gain (loss) on instruments designated at fair value and related
derivatives which is a component of other revenues.

Other Operating Income (Total Other Revenues)

Derivatives - Effective January 1, 2008, U.S. GAAP removed the observability requirement of valuation inputs to allow up-front
recognition of the difference between transaction price and fair value in the consolidated statement of income (loss). Under |FRSs,
recognition is permissible only if the inputs used in calculating fair value are based on observable inputs. If the inputs are not
observable, profit and lossis deferred and is recognized (1) over the period of contract, (2) when the data becomes observable, or
(3) when the contract is settled.

Unquoted equity securities — Under IFRSs, equity securities which are not quoted on a recognized exchange, but for which fair
valuecanbereliably measured, arerequired to be measured at fair val ue. Securitiesmeasured at fair value under IFRSsareclassified
as either available-for-sale securities, with changes in fair value recognized in shareholders' equity, or as trading securities, with
changesin fair value recognized inincome. Under U.S. GAAP, equity securitiesthat are not quoted on arecognized exchange are
not considered to have areadily determinable fair value and are required to be measured at cost, less any provisions for known
impairment, and classified in other assets.

Loans held for sale - IFRSs requires |oans originated with the intent to sell to be classified as trading assets and recorded at their
fair value. Under U.S. GAAP, loans designated as held for sale are reflected as loans and recorded at the lower of amortized cost
or fair value. Under IFRSs, theincome related to loans held for saleisreported in trading revenue. Under U.S. GAAP, theincome
related to loans held for saleis reported similarly to loans held for investment.

For loans transferred to held for sale subsequent to origination, |FRSs requires these receivables to be reported separately on the
balance sheet when certain criteria are met which are generally more stringent than those under U.S. GAAR, but does not change
therecognition and measurement criteria. Accordingly, for IFRSs purposes such | oans continueto be accounted for and impairment
continues to be measured in accordance with IAS 39 with any gain or loss recorded at the time of sale. U.S. GAAPrequires|oans
that meet the held for sale classification requirements be transferred to a held for sale category at the lower of amortized cost or
fair value. Under U.S. GAAP, the component of thelower of amortized cost or fair value adjustment rel ated to credit risk isrecorded
in the statement of income (loss) as provision for credit losses while the component related to interest rates and liquidity factors
isreported in the statement of income (10ss) in other revenues.

IFRS reclassification of fair value measured financial assets during 2008 - Certain securitieswerereclassified from “trading assets”
to“loansand receivables’ under IFRSsasof July 1, 2008 pursuant to an amendment to | AS 39 and are no longer marked to market.
InNovember 2008, additional securitiesweresimilarly transferredtoloansand receivabl es. Thesesecuritiescontinueto beclassified
as “trading assets’ under U.S. GAAP.

Additionally, certain Leverage Acquisition Finance (“LAF") loans had been classified as trading assets for IFRSs and to be
consistent, an irrevocable fair value option was elected on these loans under U.S. GAAP on January 1, 2008. These loans were
reclassified to “loans and advances’ as of July 1, 2008 pursuant to the IAS 39 amendment discussed above. Under U.S. GAAR,
these loans were classified as “held for sale” and carried at fair value due to the irrevocable nature of the fair value option.
Substantialy al of the remaining balance of these loans were sold in the first quarter of 2013.

Servicing assets — Under IFRSs, servicing assetsareinitially recorded on the balance sheet at cost and amortized over the projected
life of the assets. Servicing assets are periodically tested for impairment with impairment adjustments charged against current
earnings. Under U.S. GAARP, servicing assets are initially recorded on the balance sheet at fair value. All subsequent adjustments
to fair value are reflected in current period earnings.

Other-than-temporary impairments - Under U.S. GAAR, adecline in fair value of an available-for-sale debt security below its
amortized cost may indicate that the security is other-than-temporarily impaired under certain conditions. |FRSs do not have an
“other than temporary” impairment concept. Under IFRSs, adeclinein fair value of an available-for-sale debt security below its
amortized cost is considered evidence of impairment if the decline can, at least partially, be attributed to an incurred loss event

57



HSBC USA Inc.

that impactsthe estimated future cash flows of the security (i.e., acredit lossevent). Thusasecurity may not be considered impaired
if the decline in value is the result of events that do not negatively impact the estimated future cash flows of the security (e.g., an
increasein therisk-freeinterest rate). However, until the entity sellsthe security, it will have to assess the security for credit losses
at each reporting date.

Another difference between U.S. GAAP and IFRSsis the amount of the loss that an entity recognizes in earnings on an impaired
(other-than-temporarily impaired for U.S. GAAP) available-for-sale debt security. Under U.S. GAARP , if an entity has decided to
sell adebt security whose fair value has declined below its amortized cost, or will be more likely than not required to sell the debt
security beforeit recoversitsamortized cost basis, it will recognize an impairment lossin earnings equal to the difference between
the debt security's carrying amount and its fair value. If the entity has not decided to sell the debt security and will not be more
likely than not required to sell the debt security before it recovers its amortized cost basis, but nonethel ess expects that it will not
recover the security's amortized cost basis, it will bifurcate the impairment lossinto a credit |oss component and a non-credit 1oss
component, and recognizethe credit |oss component in earningsand the non-credit | oss component in other comprehensiveincome.
Under IFRSs, the entity recognizes the entire declinein fair value below amortized cost in earnings.

REO expense - Other revenues under |FRSs include losses on sale and the lower of amortized cost or fair value of the collateral
less cost to sell adjustments on REO properties which are classified as other expense under U.S. GAAP.

Securities - Under IFRSs, securitiesinclude HSBC shares held for stock plans at fair value. These shares held for stock plans are
measured at fair value through other comprehensive income. If it is determined that these shares have become impaired, the
unrealized lossin accumulated other comprehensive incomeis reclassified to profit or loss. Thereisno similar requirement under
U.S. GAAP.

Loan Impairment Charges (Provision for Credit Losses)

IFRSs requires a discounted cash flow methodology for estimating impairment on pools of homogeneous customer loans which
requires the discounting of cash flows including recovery estimates at the original effective interest rate of the pool of customer
loans. Theamount of impairment rel ating to thediscounting of future cash flowsunwindswith the passage of time, andisrecognized
ininterest income. Also under IFRSs, if the recognition of awrite-down to fair value on secured | oans decreases because collateral
values have improved and the improvement can be related objectively to an event occurring after recognition of the write-down,
such write-down is reversed, which is not permitted under U.S. GAAP. Additionally under IFRSs, future recoveries on charged-
off loans or loans written down to fair value less cost to obtain title and sell are accrued for on a discounted basis and a recovery
asset is recorded. Subsequent recoveries are recorded to earnings under U.S. GAARP, but are adjusted against the recovery asset
under IFRSs. Under IFRSs, interest on impaired loans is recorded at the effective interest rate on the customer loan balance net
of impairment allowances, and therefore reflects the collectibility of the loans.

As discussed above, under U.S. GAAP, the credit risk component of the lower of amortized cost or fair value adjustment related
to the transfer of receivables to held for sale is recorded in the consolidated statement of income as provision for credit losses.
Thereisno similar requirement under I1FRSs.

Credit loss reserves on TDR Loans under U.S. GAAP are established based on the present value of expected future cash flows
discounted at the loans original effective interest rate.

For loans collectively evaluated for impairment under US GAARP, bank industry practice adopted in the fourth quarter of 2012
generally resultsin aloss emergence period for theseloans using aroll rate migration analysiswhich resultsin 12 months of losses
in our alowance for credit losses. Under IFRSs, we concluded that the estimated average period of time from last current status
to write-off for real estate secured loans collectively evaluated for impairment using aroll rate migration analysis was 10 months
which was also adopted in the fourth quarter of 2012. In the second quarter of 2013, we updated our review under IFRS to reflect
the period of time after aloss event aloan remains current before delinquency is observed which resulted in an estimated average
period of time from aloss event occurring and its ultimate migration from current status through to delinquency and ultimately
write-off for real estate |oans collectively evaluated for impairment using aroll rate migration analysis of 12 months.

Operating Expenses

Pension and other postretirement benefit costs - Pension expense under U.S. GAAP is generally higher than under IFRSs as a
result of theamortization of theamount by which actuarial |osses exceedsthe higher of 10 percent of the projected benefit obligation
or fair value of plan assets (the “corridor”). As aresult of amendments to the applicable |FRSs effective January 1, 2013, interest
cost and expected return on plan assets is replaced by a finance cost component comprising the net interest on the net defined
benefit liability. This has resulted in an increase in pension expense as the net interest does not reflect the benefit from the
expectation of higher returns on theriskier plan assets. In 2010, changesto future accrualsfor legacy participants under the HSBC
North AmericaPension Planwereaccounted for asaplan curtailment under IFRSs, which resulted inimmediateincomerecognition.
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Under U.S. GAAP, these changes were considered to be a negative plan amendment which resulted in no immediate income
recognition.

Share-based bonus arrangements - Under IFRSs, the recognition of compensation expense related to share-based bonuses begins
on January 1 of the current year for awards expected to be granted in the first quarter of the following year. Under U.S. GAAPR,
the recognition of compensation expense related to share-based bonuses does not begin until the date the awards are granted.

Property - Under IFRSs, thecarrying amount of property held for own usereflectsreval uation surplusesrecorded prior to January 1,
2004. Consequently, the carrying amounts of tangibl e fixed assets and shareholders' equity arelower under U.S. GAAPthan under
IFRSs. Thereis a correspondingly lower depreciation charge and higher net income aswell as higher gains (or smaller losses) on
the disposal of fixed assets under U.S. GAAP. For investment properties, net income under U.S. GAAP does not reflect the
unrealized gain or loss recorded under |FRSs for the period. In addition, the sale of our 452 Fifth Avenue property, including the
1 W. 39th Street building in April 2010, resulted in the recognition of a gain under IFRSs while under U.S. GAAPR, such gain is
deferred and recognized over the lease term due to our continuing involvement.

Litigation accrual - Under U.S. GAAR, litigation accruals are recorded when it is probable a liability has been incurred and the
amount is reasonably estimable. Under IFRSs, a present obligation must exist for an accrual to be recorded. In certain cases, this
creates differences in the timing of accrual recognition between IFRSs and U.S. GAAPR.

Assets

Customer loans (Loans) - Asdiscussed more fully above under " Other Operating Income (Total Other Revenues) - Loans held for
sale," on an IFRSs basis |oans designated as held for sale at the time of origination and accrued interest are classified as trading
assets. However, the accounting requirements governing when receivables previously held for investment are transferred to aheld
for sale category are more stringent under |FRSs than under U.S. GAAP which results in loans generally being reported as held
for sale later than under U.S. GAAP.

Precious metals - Under U.S. GAAP, precious metals leased or |oaned to customers are reclassified from trading precious metals
into loans. Precious metal leases or |oans are stated at spot price of the underlying precious metals with changesin value arising
from changesin spot pricerecordedin other income. Interest isrecorded asinterest incomein the consolidated statement of income.
Under IFRSs, precious metals leased or loaned to customers continue to be part of the precious metal inventory which is stated at
fair value. We take into consideration any financing and leasing arrangement in determining the fair value of precious metals.

Derivatives - Under U.S. GAAP, derivative receivables and payables with the same counterparty may be reported on a net basis
in the balance sheet when there is an executed International Swaps and Derivatives Association, Inc. (“ISDA”) Master Netting
Arrangement. In addition, under U.S. GAAR, fair value amounts recognized for the obligation to return cash collateral received
or theright to reclaim cash collateral paid are offset against thefair value of derivativeinstruments. Under | FRSs, these agreements
do not necessarily meet the requirementsfor offset, and therefore such derivative receivables and payables are presented gross on
the balance sheet.

Goodwill - IFRSsand U.S. GAAPrequiregoodwill to betested for impairment at least annually, or morefrequently if circumstances
indicate that goodwill may beimpaired. There are also differences between IFRSsand U.S. GAAPin how impairment ismeasured
as U.S GAAP requires a two-step impairment test which requires the fair value of goodwill to be determined in the same manner
asthe amount of goodwill recognized in abusiness combination. For | FRSs, goodwill wasamortized until 2005, however goodwill
was amortized under U.S. GAAP until 2002, which resulted in alower carrying amount of goodwill under IFRSs.
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VIEs - The requirements for consolidation of variableinterest entities (“VIES’) under U.S. GAAP are based on both the power to
direct the activitiesthat most significantly impact the VIE's economic performance and the obligation to absorb losses, or theright
to receive benefits that could potentially be significant to the VIE. As aresult, under U.S. GAAP we were determined to be the
primary beneficiary of and consolidated a commercial paper conduit effective January 1, 2010. However in the first quarter of
2011, changes involving liquidity asset purchase agreements were made that caused us to no longer be considered the primary
beneficiary and thiscommercial paper conduit was deconsolidated at March 31, 2011. Under IFRSs, this conduit was historically
not consolidated. Additional changes to the commercial paper conduit structure were made in 2013 and beginning in May 2013
we began to consolidate this entity for both US GAAP and IFRSs. See Note 18, "Variable Interest Entities” for further discussion.

Results for each segment on an IFRSs basis, as well as areconciliation of total results under IFRSsto U.S. GAAP consolidated

totals, are provided in the following tables.

IFRS Consolidated Amounts

Adjustments/ IFRS U.S. GAAP
Reconciling IFRS Reclassi-  Consolidated
RBWM CMB GBM PB Other Items Total Adjustments®  fications® Totals
(in millions)
Three Months Ended June 30, 2013
Net interest income®....... $ 206 $ 172 $ 125 $ 49 $ (14) $ ® $ 535 % (1) $ 4 % 518
Other operating income.... 82 77 295 30 60 3 547 20 (1) 566
Total operating income..... 288 249 420 79 46 — 1,082 (1) 3 1,084
lspan impairment charges ”n 1 6 . . . 28 19 20 67
267 248 414 79 46 — 1,054 (20) (17) 1,017
Operating expenses®........ 300 171 250 67 44 — 832 27 17 788
Profit before income tax
[0S —— $ (3 $ 77 $ 164 $ 12 8 2 $ — $ 22 7% — 3 229
Three Months Ended June 30, 2012
Net interest income®....... $ 197 $ 160 $ 167 $ 47 $ () $ M $ 563 $ (36) $ 8 $ 535
Other operating income.... 262 267 165 28 165 1 888 (32 23 879
Tota operating income..... 459 427 332 75 158 — 1,451 (68) 31 1,414
kpenimparment g e 8 B @ - — 89 7 ™ 89
398 419 309 78 158 — 1,362 (75) 38 1,325
Operating expenses®........ 321 168 236 63 745 — 1,533 @) 38 1,567
Profit before income tax
EXPENSE..vvverrrnesrnnenaes $ 77 $ 251 $ 73 $ 15 $ (587) $ — $ @amn s (7)) $ — $ (242)
Six Months Ended June 30, 2013
Net interest income®........ $ 421 $ 342 $ 234 $ 94 $ (28) $ ( $ 105 $ (38) $ 5 $ 1,023
Other operating income.... 189 142 677 58 35 7 1,108 54 4) 1,158
Total operating income..... 610 484 911 152 7 — 2,164 16 1 2,181
e e 8 15 9 I - 8 @ 14 88
557 469 902 151 7 — 2,086 20 (13) 2,093
Operating expenses®........ 591 333 480 127 86 — 1,617 (27) (13) 1,577
Profit before income tax
EXPENSE.....oevvreererreeinns $ (34) $ 136 $ 422 $ 24 $ (79 $ — 3 469 $ 47 $ — 3 516
Balances at end of -
period:
Total assets......cccovvvvnnes $19,563 $20,799 $ 200,591 $7,499 $ 1,088 $ — $249540 $ (57,199) $ 45 $ 192,386
Total loans, net................. 16,508 19,693 21,374 5,874 — — 63,449 3,144 (493) 66,100
Goodwill...... . 581 358 480 325 — — 1,744 484 — 2,228
Total deposits.........ceverenee 31,855 21,382 47,969 12,152 — — 113,358 (5,047) 3,424 111,735
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IFRS Consolidated Amounts

Adjustments/ IFRS U.S. GAAP
Reconciling IFRS Reclassi-  Consolidated
RBWM CMB GBM PB Other Items Total Adjustments® fications® Totals
Six Months Ended June 30, 2012
Net interest income®........ $ 44 $ 33 $ 310 $ 92 $ (18 $ (n $ 1151 $ (G1) $ 2 3% 1,122
Other operating income.... 359 335 491 57 (70) 7 1,179 36 48 1,263
Total operating income..... 803 665 801 149 (88) — 2,330 (15) 70 2,385
St T S © ® & - - 80 4 5 89
701 674 809 154 (88) — 2,250 (19) 65 2,296
Operating expenses®........ 642 332 495 121 785 — 2,375 — 65 2,440
Profit before income tax
EXPENSE...oovvrmrrenreressereenns $ 59 $ 342 $ 314 $ 33 $ (873) $ — $ (125 $ (19) $ — $ (144)
Balances at end of - N  — — — —
period:
$25654 $22691 $219,724 $680 $ 622 $ — $275551 $ (75139 $ 15 $ 200427
Total loans, net................. 16,312 18,080 33386 5,081 — — 72,859 (1,995)  (15,419) 55,445
GOOAWIll ....ovoeveeeerrreene. 581 358 480 325 — — 1,744 484 — 2,228
Total deposits...........cvene.. 36,770 21,125 42071 12,727 — — 112,693 (6,229) 16,763 123,227

@ Netinterestincome of each segment represents the difference between actual interest earned on assets and interest paid on liabilities of the segment adjusted
for afunding charge or credit. Segments are charged a cost to fund assets (e.g. customer loans) and receive afunding credit for funds provided (e.g. customer
deposits) based on equivalent market rates. The objective of these charges/credits isto transfer interest rate risk from the segments to one centralized unit
in Treasury and more appropriately reflect the profitability of segments.

@ Expenses for the segments include fully apportioned corporate overhead expenses.

®  The provision assigned to the segments is based on the segments’ net charge offs and the change in allowance for credit losses.
@ Represents adjustments associated with differences between IFRSs and U.S. GAAP bases of accounting.

®  Represents differencesin financial statement presentation between IFRSs and U.S. GAAP.
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17. Retained Earnings and Regulatory Capital Requirements

Capital amounts and ratios of HSBC USA Inc. and HSBC Bank USA, calculated in accordance with current banking regulations,
are summarized in the following table.

June 30, 2013 December 31, 2012
Capital V\_IeI_I-CapitaIi_zeH) Actual Capital V\{eI_I-CapitaIi;eH) Actual
Amount Minimum Ratio Ratio Amount Minimum Ratio Ratio
(dollars are in millions)
Total capital ratio:
HSBCUSA INC. ...ooveeeeeieeeenne $ 20,708 10.00% 17.42% $ 20,764 10.00% 19.52%
HSBC Bank USA........ccocceveenee 21,556 10.00 19.22 21,464 10.00 21.07
Tier 1 capitd ratio:
HSBCUSA INC. ..ccoevvveviieciecen, 14,774 6.00 12.43 14,480 6.00 13.61
HSBCBank USA........ccccceceeenee 15,894 6.00 14.17 15,482 6.00 15.20
Tier 1 common ratio:
HSBC USA INC. cvvooeveeeeeeresenees 12,666 500 @ 10.65 12,373 500 @ 1163
HSBC Bank USA........ccccceveenee 15,894 5.00 14.17 15,482 5.00 15.20
Tier 1 leverageratio:
HSBC USA INC. ...cveeeeeeerieens 14,774 300 ®@ 809 14,480 300 ® 770
HSBC Bank USA .......ccoevveueneee 15,894 5.00 9.03 15,482 5.00 8.43
Risk weighted assets:
HSBCUSA INC. ..ccvevvveeeveeee 118,895 106,395
HSBC Bank USA........ccocceveenee 112,161 101,865

@ HSBC USA Inc and HSBC Bank USA are categorized as “well-capitalized,” as defined by their principal regulators. To be categorized as well-capitalized
under regulatory guidelines, a banking institution must have the minimum ratios reflected in the above table, and must not be subject to a directive, order,
or written agreement to meet and maintain specific capital levels.

@ Thereisno Tier 1 common ratio component in the definition of awell-capitalized bank holding company. The ratio shown is the required minimum Tier 1
common ratio asincluded in the Federal Reserve Board's final rule regarding capital plans for U.S. bank holding companies with total consolidated assets
of $50 hillion or more.

®  Thereisno Tier 1 leverage ratio component in the definition of awell-capitalized bank holding company. The ratio shown is the minimum required ratio.
The regulatory capita ratiosin 2013 reflect the impact of the U.S. market risk final rule (known as Basel 2.5).

We did not receive any cash capital contributions from our immediate parent, HNAI during the first six months of 2013. We did
not make any capital contributions to our subsidiary, HSBC Bank USA, during the six months ended June 30, 2013.

Regulatory guidelinesimpose certain restrictionsthat may limit theinclusion of deferred tax assetsin the computation of regulatory
capital. We closely monitor the deferred tax assets for potential limitations or exclusions. At June 30, 2013 and December 31,
2012, deferred tax assets of $557 million and $622 million, respectively, were excluded in the computation of regulatory capital.

18. Variable Interest Entities

In the ordinary course of business, we have organized special purpose entities (“ SPES”) primarily to structure financial products
to meet our clients investment needs, to facilitate clients to access and raise financing from capital markets and to securitize
financial assets held to meet our own funding needs. For disclosure purposes, we aggregate SPES based on the purpose, risk
characteristics and business activities of the SPEs. A SPE is a VIE if it lacks sufficient equity investment at risk to finance its
activities without additional subordinated financial support or, as a group, the holders of the equity investment at risk lack either
a) the power through voting or similar rightsto direct the activitiesof theentity that most significantly impactstheentity'seconomic
performance; or b) the obligation to absorb the entity's expected losses, the right to receive the expected residual returns, or both.

Variable Interest Entities We consolidate VIEs in which we hold a controlling financial interest as evidenced by the power to
direct the activities of aVIE that most significantly impact its economic performance and the obligation to absorb losses of, or the
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right to receive benefits from, the VIE that could be potentially significant to the VIE and therefore are deemed to be the primary
beneficiary. We take into account our entire involvement in a VIE (explicit or implicit) in identifying variable interests that
individually or inthe aggregate coul d be significant enough to warrant our designation asthe primary beneficiary and hencerequire
us to consolidate the VIE or otherwise require us to make appropriate disclosures. We consider our involvement to be significant
where we, among other things, (i) provide liquidity put options or other liquidity facilities to support the VIE's debt obligations;
(i) enter into derivative contracts to absorb the risks and benefits from the VIE or from the assets held by the VIE; (iii) provide a
financial guarantee that covers assets held or liabilitiesissued; (iv) design, organize and structure the transaction; and (v) retain a
financial or servicing interest inthe VIE.

We are required to evaluate whether to consolidate a VIE when we first become involved and on an ongoing basis. In almost all
cases, aqualitative analysis of our involvement in the entity provides sufficient evidence to determine whether we are the primary
beneficiary. In rare cases, a more detailed analysis to quantify the extent of variability to be absorbed by each variable interest
holder is required to determine the primary beneficiary.

Consolidated VIEs The following table summarizes assets and liabilities related to our consolidated VIEs as of June 30, 2013
and December 31, 2012 which are consolidated on our balance sheet. Assets and liabilities exclude intercompany balances that
eliminate in consolidation:

June 30, 2013 December 31, 2012
Consolidated Consolidated ~ Consolidated  Consolidated
Assets Liabilities Assets Liabilities
(in millions)
Asset-backed commercial paper conduit:

Interest bearing deposits With banks...........c.ccccccveveeecieeicecicieeenns $ 8 $ — 3 — $ —
Held-to-maturity SECUNTIES .......ccvuiiriieeieee e 218 — — —
OthEr @SSELS ...t 49 — — —
Short-term DOrroOWINGS ........coeiiiiiere e — 400 — —
Other lHaDIlItIES......cvevereeerece e — 3 — —
SUBLOAL ... s $ 275 $ 403 $ — 3 —

Low income housing limited liability partnership:
Interest bearing deposits with banks...........ccocecevereincniecnies $ 213 $ — $ 216 $ —
OthEr @SSELS .....cueeeeeeiereree ettt 495 — 533 —
Long term debt........co.corciii e — 92 — 92
Other [18DIIITIES.......ceeerereeee e — 119 — 152
RS0 o) (o - [T $ 708 $ 211 $ 749 $ 244
1o, $ 983 $ 614 $ 749 $ 244

Asset-backed conduit During thefirst quarter of 2013, HSBC decided to restructure certain of its asset-backed commercial paper
conduit programsto haveonly oneasset-backed commercial paper conduit providing securitized financingtoHSBC clientsglobally.
Aspart of thisinitiative, our commercial paper conduit otherwise known as Bryant Park isno longer transacting new business and
certain existing Bryant Park customer transactions have been refinanced by an existing commercial paper conduit currently
consolidated by HSBC Bank plc. Bryant Park continues to exist but only to fund selected legacy assets it currently holds. Upon
completion of therestructurein May 2013, HSBC Bank USA becamethe primary beneficiary of Bryant Park at which time Bryant
Park became included in our consolidated results.

Low income housing limited liability partnership In 2009, al low income housing investments held by us were transferred to a
Limited Liability Partnership (“LLP") in exchange for debt and equity while athird party invested cash for an equity interest that
ismandatorily redeemable at afuture date. The LLPwas created in order to ensure the utilization of future tax benefits from these
low income housing tax projects. The LLP was deemed to be a VIE as it does not have sufficient equity investment at risk to
finance its activities. Upon entering into this transaction, we concluded that we are the primary beneficiary of the LLP due to the
nature of our continuing involvement and, as aresult, consolidate the LLP and report the equity interest issued to the third party
investor in other liabilities and the assets of the LLP in other assets on our consolidated balance sheet. The investments held by
the LL Prepresent equity investmentsin the underlying low income housing partnerships for which the L L P applies equity-method
accounting. The LLP does not consolidate the underlying partnerships because it does not have the power to direct the activities
of the partnerships that most significantly impact the economic performance of the partnerships.

63



HSBC USA Inc.

Unconsolidated VIEs We also have variable interests in other VIES that were not consolidated at June 30, 2013 and December
31, 2012 becausewewerenot the primary beneficiary. Thefollowing table provides additional information on those unconsolidated
VIEs, the variable interests held by us and our maximum exposure to loss arising from our involvements in those VIEs as of
June 30, 2013 and December 31, 2012:

Variable Interests Variable Interests Total Assets in Maximum
Held Classified Held Classified Unconsolidated Exposure
as Assets as Liabilities VIEs to Loss
(in millions)

June 30, 2013
Asset-backed commercial paper conduits...................... $ — $ — 3 16,198 $ 3,438
Structured NOte VENICIES .......ceveiieeeeiee e 1,799 71 6,400 6,228
TOAl. .o e e e $ 1,799 $ 71 $ 22598 $ 9,666
December 31, 2012
Asset-backed commercial paper conduits...................... $ — 3 — $ 16,104 $ 2,212
Structured Note VENICIES.......ccueevveeceiecee e 2,117 154 7,055 6,893
TOAl. ..o e s $ 2117 $ 154 $ 23,159 $ 9,105

Information on the types of variable interest entities with which we are involved, the nature of our involvement and the variable
interests held in those entities is presented bel ow.

Asset-backed commercial paper (""ABCP') conduits Separately from the Bryant Park facility discussed above, we provide
liquidity facilitiesto anumber of multi-seller and single-seller ABCP conduits sponsored by HSBC affiliates and by third parties.
These conduits support the financing needs of customers by facilitating the customers' access to commercial paper markets.

Customers sell financial assets, such as trade receivables, to ABCP conduits, which fund the purchases by issuing short-term
highly-rated commercial paper collateralized by the assets acquired. In a multi-seller conduit, any number of companies may be
originating and selling assets to the conduit whereas a single-seller conduit acquires assets from a single company. We, along with
other financial ingtitutions, provideliquidity facilitiesto ABCPconduitsintheform of linesof credit or asset purchase commitments.
Liquidity facilities provided to multi-seller conduits support transactions associated with a specific seller of assets to the conduit
and we would only be required to provide support in the event of certain triggers associated with those transactions and assets.
Liquidity facilitiesprovided to single-seller conduitsare not i dentified with specific transactions or assetsand wewould berequired
to provide support upon occurrence of certain triggers that generally affect the conduit as awhole. Our obligations are generally
pari passu with those of other institutions that also provide liquidity support to the same conduit or for the same transactions. We
do not provide any program-wide credit enhancements to ABCP conduits.

Each seller of assets to an ABCP conduit typically provides credit enhancements in the form of asset overcollateralization and,
therefore, bears the risk of first loss related to the specific assets transferred. We do not transfer our own assets to the conduits.
We do not providethe majority of theliquidity facilitiesto any of these ABCP conduits. We have no ownershipinterestsin, perform
no administrative duties for, and do not service any of the assets held by the conduits. We are not the primary beneficiary and do
not consolidate any of the ABCP conduits to which we provide liquidity facilities. Credit risk related to the liquidity facilities
provided is managed by subjecting these facilities to our normal underwriting and risk management processes. The $3.4 billion
maximum exposure to loss presented in the table above represents the maximum amount of loans and asset purchases we could
be required to fund under the liquidity facilities. The maximum loss exposure is estimated assuming the facilities are fully drawn
and the underlying collateralized assets are in default with zero recovery value.

Structured note vehicles Our involvement in structured note vehiclesincludesderivatives such asinterest rate and currency swaps
and investments in the vehicles debt instruments. With respect to several of these VIES, we hold variable interests in the form of
total return swaps entered into in connection with the transfer of certain assets to the VIEs. In these transactions, we transferred
financial assets from our trading portfolio to the VIEs and entered into total return swaps under which we receive the total return
on the transferred assets and pay a market rate of return. The transfers of assetsin these transactions do not qualify as sales under
the applicable accounting literature and are accounted for as secured borrowings. Accordingly, the transferred assets continue to
be recognized as trading assets on our balance sheet and the funds received are recorded as liabilities in long-term debt. As of
June 30, 2013, we recorded approximately $31 million of trading assets and $34 million of trading liabilities on our balance sheet
as aresult of “failed sale” accounting treatment for certain transfers of financial assets. As of December 31, 2012, we recorded
approximately $140 million of trading assets and $147 million of trading liabilities on our balance sheet asaresult of “failed sale”
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accounting treatment for certain transfers of financial assets. The financial assetsand financial liabilities were not legally ours and
we have no control over the financial assets which are restricted solely to satisfy the liability.

In addition to our variable interests, we also hold credit default swaps with these structured note VIEs under which we receive
credit protection on specified reference assets in exchange for the payment of a premium. Through these derivatives, the VIES
assume the credit risk associated with the reference assets which are then passed on to the holders of the debt instruments they
issue. Because they create rather than absorb variability, the credit default swaps we hold are not considered variable interests. In
limited circumstances, we entered into total return swaps taking on the risks and benefits of certain structured notes issued by
unconsolidated VIES. The same risks and benefits are passed on to third party entities through back-end total return swaps. We
earn aspread for facilitating the transaction. Our maximum exposure to lossisthe notional amount of the structured notes covered
by the swap. The maximum exposure to loss will occur in the unlikely scenario where the value of the structured notesis reduced
to zero and, at the same time, the counterparty of the back-end swap defaults with zero recovery.

Werecord all investmentsin, and derivative contractswith, unconsolidated structured notevehiclesat fair value on our consolidated
balance sheet. Our maximum exposure to loss is limited to the recorded amounts of these instruments or, where applicable, the
notional amount of the derivatives wrapping the structured notes.

Beneficial interests issued by third-party sponsored securitization entities We hold certain beneficial interests such asmortgage-
backed securities issued by third party sponsored securitization entities which may be considered VIEs. The investments are
transacted at arm's-length and decisionsto invest are based on a credit analysis of the underlying collateral assets or the issuer. We
are a passive investor in these issuers and do not have the power to direct the activities of these issuers. As such, we do not
consolidate these securitization entities. Additionally, we do not have other involvements in servicing or managing the collateral
assetsor providefinancial or liquidity support totheseissuerswhich potentially giverisetorisk of lossexposure. Theseinvestments
areanintegral part of thedisclosurein Note 4 “ Securities’ and Note 20“ Fair Value M easurements” and, therefore, are not disclosed
in this note to avoid redundancy.

19. Guarantee Arrangements, Pledged Assets and Collateral

Guarantee Arrangements Aspart of our normal operations, weenter into credit derivativesand various off-bal ance sheet guarantee
arrangements with affiliates and third parties. These arrangements arise principally in connection with our lending and client
intermediation activities and include standby letters of credit and certain credit derivative transactions. The contractual amounts
of these arrangements represent our maximum possible credit exposure in the event that we are required to fulfill the maximum
obligation under the contractual terms of the guarantee.

The following table presents total carrying value and contractual amounts of our sell protection credit derivatives and major off-
balance sheet guarantee arrangements as of June 30, 2013 and December 31, 2012. Following the table is a description of the
various arrangements.

June 30, 2013 December 31, 2012
Notional/ Notional/
Maximum Maximum
Carrying Exposure to Carrying Exposure to
Value Loss Value Loss
(in millions)
Credit derivativVEST™ ...t $ (1,052) $ 206,309 $ (76) $ 237,548
Financial standby letters of credit, net of participations®®.............ccoo....... — 5,073 — 5,554
Performance (non-financial) guarantees™® .............coccooveeereeeeeeeeseceereeeene. — 3,081 — 2,878
Liquidity asset purchase agreemMents® ............coveeoereeeeeeeoneeeeeseeessesssseen. — 3,438 — 2,212
TOA et et st e s ae et saa e beeree s $ (1,052) $ 217,901 $ (76) $ 248,192

@ Includes $39.4 hillion and $44.2 billion of notional issued for the benefit of HSBC affiliates at June 30, 2013 and December 31, 2012, respectively.
@ Includes $846 million and $808 million issued for the benefit of HSBC affiliates at June 30, 2013 and December 31, 2012, respectively.

®  For standby letters of credit and liquidity asset purchase agreements, maximum |oss represents |osses to be recognized assuming the letter of credit and
liquidity facilities have been fully drawn and the obligors have defaulted with zero recovery.

@ For credit derivatives, the maximum loss is represented by the notional amounts without consideration of mitigating effects from collateral or recourse
arrangements.

Credit-Risk Related Guarantees
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Credit derivatives Credit derivativesarefinancial instrumentsthat transfer the credit risk of areference obligation from the credit
protection buyer to the credit protection seller who is exposed to the credit risk without buying the reference obligation. We sell
credit protection on underlying reference obligations (such as loans or securities) by entering into credit derivatives, primarily in
theform of credit default swaps, with various institutions. We account for all credit derivatives at fair value. Where we sell credit
protectionto acounterparty that holdsthe reference obligation, the arrangement iseffectively afinancial guarantee on thereference
obligation. Under acredit derivative contract, the credit protection seller will reimbursethe credit protection buyer upon occurrence
of acredit event (such as bankruptcy, insolvency, restructuring or failure to meet payment obligations when due) as defined in the
derivative contract, in return for a periodic premium. Upon occurrence of a credit event, we will pay the counterparty the stated
notional amount of the derivative contract and receive the underlying reference obligation. The recovery value of the reference
obligation received could be significantly lower than its notional principal amount when a credit event occurs.

Certain derivative contracts are subject to master netting arrangements and related collateral agreements. A party to a derivative
contract may demand that the counterparty post additional collateral in the event its net exposure exceeds certain predetermined
limits and when the credit rating falls below a certain grade. We set the collateral requirements by counterparty such that the
collateral covers various transactions and products, and is not allocated to specific individual contracts.

We manage our exposure to credit derivatives using a variety of risk mitigation strategies where we enter into offsetting hedge
positions or transfer the economic risks, in part or in entirety, to investors through the issuance of structured credit products. We
actively manage the credit and market risk exposure in the credit derivative portfolios on a net basis and, as such, retain no or a
limited net sell protection position at any time. The following table summarizes our net credit derivative positions as of June 30,
2013 and December 31, 2012.

June 30, 2013 December 31, 2012
Carrying (Fair) Carrying (Fair)
Value Notional Value Notional
(in millions)
Sell-protection credit derivative positions............cccceevveeereeneininenes $ (1,052) $ 206,309 $ (76) $ 237,548
Buy-protection credit derivative positions............coceeenrereveeneneenns 1,136 212,873 120 247,384
NEL POSITIOND ..ot e s s eenee $ 84 $ (6,564) $ 4 $ (9,836)

@ positionsare presented net in thetabl e aboveto provide acomplete analysisof our risk exposure and depict theway we manage our credit derivative portfolio.
The offset of the sell-protection credit derivatives against the buy-protection credit derivatives may not be legally binding in the absence of master netting
agreements with the same counterparty. Furthermore, the credit loss triggering events for individual sell protection credit derivatives may not be the same
or occur in the same period as those of the buy protection credit derivatives thereby not providing an exact offset.

Standby letters of credit A standby letter of credit isissued to athird party for the benefit of a customer and is a guarantee that
the customer will perform or satisfy certain obligations under a contract. It irrevocably obligates us to pay a specified amount to
the third party beneficiary if the customer fails to perform the contractual obligation. We issue two types of standby letters of
credit: performance and financial. A performance standby letter of credit isissued where the customer isrequired to perform some
nonfinancial contractual obligation, such asthe performance of a specific act, whereas afinancial standby letter of credit isissued
where the customer's contractual obligation is of a financial nature, such as the repayment of aloan or debt instrument. As of
June 30, 2013, thetotal amount of outstanding financial standby lettersof credit (net of participations) and performance guarantees
were $5.1 billion and $3.1 billion, respectively. As of December 31, 2012, the total amount of outstanding financial standby letters
of credit (net of participations) and performance guarantees were $5.6 billion and $2.9 hillion, respectively.

Theissuance of a standby letter of credit is subject to our credit approval process and collateral requirements. We charge fees for
issuing letters of credit commensurate with the customer's credit evaluation and the nature of any collateral. Included in other
liahilities are deferred fees on standby letters of credit, which represent the value of the stand-ready obligation to perform under
these guarantees, amounting to $45 million and $46 million at June 30, 2013 and December 31, 2012, respectively. Also included
in other liabilitiesis an allowance for credit losses on unfunded standby letters of credit of $17 million and $19 million at June 30,
2013 and December 31, 2012, respectively.
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Below is a summary of the credit ratings of credit risk related guarantees including the credit ratings of counterparties against
which we sold credit protection and financial standby letters of credit as of June 30, 2013 as an indicative proxy of payment risk:

Credit Ratings of the Obligors or the Transactions

Average
Life Investment Non-Investment
Notional/Contractual Amounts (in years) Grade Grade Total
(dollars are in millions)

Sell-protection Credit Derivatives”

SINGIENAME CDS ..o 24 $ 121617 $ 24259 $ 145,876

StrUCtUred CDS........o e 2.0 23,337 2,997 26,334

Index credit derivativeS........ccceveece e 35 21,573 529 22,102

Total FELUrN SWaPS.....ccveevereereeeseseereeee e 8.1 9,979 2,018 11,997
ST o) (0] = SRS 176,506 29,803 206,309
Standby Letters of Credit® ... 1.2 6,608 1,546 8,154
B 1] = TSRS $ 183114 $ 31,349 $ 214,463

@ The credit ratingsin the table represent external credit ratings for classification asinvestment grade and non-investment grade.

@ External ratings for most of the obligors are not available. Presented above are the internal credit ratings which are developed using similar methodologies
and rating scale equivalent to external credit ratings for purposes of classification as investment grade and non-investment grade.

Our interna groupings are determined based on HSBC's risk rating systems and processes which assign a credit grade based on
a scale which ranks the risk of default of a customer. The groupings are determined and used for managing risk and determining
level of credit exposure appetite based on the customer's operating performance, liquidity, capital structure and debt service ability.
In addition, we also incorporate subjective judgments into the risk rating process concerning such things as industry trends,
comparison of performancetoindustry peersand perceived quality of management. We compare our internal risk ratingsto outside
externa rating agency benchmarks, where possible, at the time of formal review and regularly monitor whether our risk ratings
are comparable to the external ratings benchmark data.

A non-investment grade rating of areferenced obligor has a negative impact to the fair value of the credit derivative and increases
the likelihood that we will be required to perform under the credit derivative contract. We employ market-based parameters and,
where possible, use the observable credit spreads of the referenced obligors as measurement inputs in determining the fair value
of the credit derivatives. We believe that such market parameters are more indicative of the current status of payment/performance
risk than external ratings by the rating agencies which may not be forward-looking in nature and, as a result, lag behind those
market-based indicators.

Mortgage Loan Repurchase Obligations

Sale of mortgage loans Intheordinary courseof business, weoriginateand sell mortgageloansand providevariousrepresentations
and warrantiesrelated to, among other things, the ownership of theloans, the validity of theliens, theloan selection and origination
process, and the compliance to the origination criteria established by the agencies. In the event of a breach of our representations
and warranties, we may be obligated to repurchase the loans with identified defects or to indemnify the buyers. Our contractual
obligation arises only when the breach of representations and warranties are discovered and repurchase is demanded. Historically,
these sales have been primarily to government sponsored entities (“ GSES”). With the conversion of our mortgage processing and
servicing operations to PHH Mortgage in the second quarter of 2013, new agency eligible originations beginning with May 2013
applications will be sold directly to PHH Mortgage.

We typically first become aware that a GSE or other third party is evaluating a particular loan for repurchase when we receive a
reguest to review the underlying loan file. Generally, the reviews focus on severely delinquent loans to identify alleged fraud,
misrepresentation or file documentation issues. Upon completing its review, the GSE or other third party may submit arepurchase
demand. Historically, most filerequests have not resulted in repurchase demands. After recei pt of arepurchase demand, we perform
a detailed evaluation of the substance of the request and appeal any claim that we believe is either unsubstantiated or contains
errors, leveraging both dedicated internal as well as retained external resources. In some cases, we ultimately are not required to
repurchase aloan aswe are able to resolve the purported defect. From initial inquiry to ultimate resolution, atypical caseisusually
resolved within 3 months, however some cases may take aslong as 12 months to resolve. Acceptance of arepurchase demand will
involve either a) repurchase of the loan at the unpaid principal balance plus accrued interest or b) reimbursement for any realized
loss on aliquidated property (“make-whole” payment).
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To date, amagjority of the repurchase demands we have received primarily relate to primeloans sourced during 2004 through 2008
fromthelegacy broker channel which weexited in late 2008. Loans sold to GSEs and other third parties originated in 2004 through
2008 subject to representations and warranties for which we may be liable had an outstanding principal balance of approximately
$13.3 hillion and $15.1 billion at June 30, 2013 and December 31, 2012, respectively, including $8.5 billion and $9.6 billion,
respectively, of loans sourced from our legacy broker channel.

Thefollowingtableshowsthetrend in repurchase demandsreceived onloanssold to GSEsand other third partiesby loan origination
vintage for the three and six months ended June 30, 2013 and 2012;

Three Months Ended Six Months Ended
June 30, June 30,
2013 2012 2013 2012
(in millions)

PrE- 20004...... ettt e e e bbb b b e bt eae e b e e $ 1 % 2 3 3 % 3
22 PSS 2 7 11 11
2005 ...ttt e e e R e R e R R R e Rt eRe R R R e eR e R R e e e e e e e e e eneas 3 9 7 14
2006 ...ttt e e e e h e e b ea e e b e e et eRe e et eRe e Rt sae e aRe et e sbeenrenreenre e 11 29 26 45
2 PSS 25 76 61 120
2008 ...ttt e et h R e R h e R AR Rt Rt R e R e R e e e e e e e e eneas 13 52 35 78
POSE 2008 ...ttt e ettt e et b b e b e b b e e b eneaneennenan 5 6 10 10
Total repurchase demands reCaiVed™ ..............coouorveeeeereeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeseeeeeeeeeeneons $ 60 $ 181 $ 153 $ 281

@ Includes repurchase demands on |oans sourced from our legacy broker channel of $44 million and $151 million for the three months ended June 30, 2013
and 2012, respectively, and $120 million and $233 million for the six months ended June 30, 2013 and 2012, respectively.

The following table provides information about outstanding repurchase demands received from GSEs and other third parties at
June 30, 2013 and December 31, 2012:

June 30, December 31,

2013 2012
(in millions)
LS SO $ 5 $ 86
(@11 £ 3 3
TOBW ..ot $ 53 $ 89

@ Includes repurchase demands on loans sourced from our legacy broker channel of $40 million and $65 million at June 30, 2013 and December 31, 2012,
respectively.

In estimating our repurchase liability arising from breaches of representations and warranties, we consider the following:
e Thelevel of outstanding repurchase demands in inventory and our historical defenserate;

e Thelevel of outstanding requests for loan files and the related historical repurchase request conversion rate and defense
rate on such loans; and

» Thelevel of potentia future demands based on historical conversion rates of |oans which we have not received aloan file
reguest but are two or more payments delinquent or expected to become delinquent at an estimated conversion rate.

Thefollowing table summarizes the change in our estimated repurchase liability for loans sold to the GSEs and other third parties
during the three and six months ended June 30, 2013 and 2012 for obligations arising from the breach of representations and
warranties associated with the sale of these loans:

68



HSBC USA Inc.

Three Months Ended Six Months Ended

June 30, June 30,
2013 2012 2013 2012
(in millions)
Balance at beginning of PEFiOd..........cooeiiiiiiii s $ 211 $ 223 $ 219 $ 237
Increase in ligbility recorded through €arnings ..........ccceevevvienniencenee s 23 32 36 53
REEIIZEA IOSSES. ...ttt bbbt ne e (%)) (33) (38) (68)
Balance at end of PEriOd.......coouieieiriieeeiesse e $ 217 $ 222 $ 217 $ 222

Our reserve for potential repurchase liability exposures relates primarily to previously originated mortgages through broker
channels. Our mortgage repurchase liability of $217 million at June 30, 2013 represents our best estimate of the loss that has been
incurred including interest, resulting from various representations and warranties in the contractual provisions of our mortgage
loan sales. Because the level of mortgage |oan repurchase losses are dependent upon economic factors, investor demand strategies
and other external risk factors such ashousing market trendsthat may change, thelevel of theliability for mortgageloan repurchase
losses requires significant judgment. We have seen recent changesin investor demand trends and continue to eval uate our methods
of determining the best estimate of loss based on these recent trends. As these estimates are influenced by factors outside our
control, thereisuncertainty inherent in these estimatesmaking it reasonably possiblethat they could change. Therange of reasonably
possible losses in excess of our recorded repurchase liability is between zero and $130 million at June 30, 2013. This estimated
range of reasonably possi blelosseswas determined based upon modifying the assumptions utilized in our best estimate of probable
losses to reflect what we believe to be reasonably possible adverse assumptions.

Written Put Options, Non Credit-Risk Related and Indemnity Arrangements

Liquidity asset purchase agreements We provide liquidity facilities to a number of multi-seller and single-seller asset-backed
commercia paper conduits sponsored by affiliates and third parties. The conduits finance the purchase of individual assets by
issuing commercial paper to third party investors. Each liquidity facility istransaction specific and has a maximum limit. Pursuant
to the liquidity agreements, we are obligated, subject to certain limitations, to purchase the eligible assets from the conduit at an
amount not to exceed the face value of the commercial paper in the event the conduit is unable to refinance its commercial paper.
A liquidity asset purchase agreement is essentially a conditional written put option issued to the conduit where the exercise price
is the face value of the commercia paper. As of June 30, 2013 and December 31, 2012, we have issued $3.4 billion and $2.2
billion, respectively, of liquidity facilities to provide liquidity support to the commercial paper issued by various conduits See
Note 18, “Variable Interest Entities,” for further information.

Clearinghouses and exchanges We are amember of various exchanges and clearinghouses that trade and clear securities and/or
futures contracts. As a member, we may be required to pay a proportionate share of the financial obligations of another member
who defaults on its obligations to the exchange or the clearinghouse. Our guarantee obligations would arise only if the exchange
or clearinghouse had exhausted its resources. Any potential contingent liability under these membership agreements cannot be
estimated. Under the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act of 2010 ("Dodd-Frank™), members of a
clearinghouse may be required to contribute to a guaranty fund to backstop members' obligations to the clearinghouse.

Pledged Assets The following table presents pledged assets included in the consolidated balance sheet.

June 30, December 31,
2013 2012
(in millions)

Interest bearing depoSitS With DANKS............ccccoiiiiiiiicecece e $ 572 % 673
L s RO o = SO 3,656 2,346
Securities available-fOr-SAED ..ot 20,183 17,236
SECUNtIES NEIA-tO-MALUITY ...t s re et sr e e e ae e e e eneas 621 456
LOBNS™ ...ttt 1,766 2,142
OHNEN BSSEES™ ...t s st s s ee s en s et s s en e s senaensnnnees 2,235 2,265
110 1 SRS $ 29,033 $ 25118
@ Trading assets are primarily pledged against liabilities associated with repurchase agreements.
@)

Securities available-for-sale are primarily pledged against derivatives, public fund deposits and various short-term and long term borrowings, as well as
providing capacity for potential secured borrowings from the Federal Home Loan Bank and the Federal Reserve Bank.
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® Loans are primarily residential mortgage |oans pledged against long-term borrowings from the Federal Home Loan Bank.
@ Other assets represent cash on deposit with non-banks related to derivative collateral support agreements.

Debt securities pledged as collateral that can be sold or repledged by the secured party continue to be reported on the consolidated
balance sheet. The fair value of securities available-for-sale that can be sold or repledged was $8.4 billion and $6.5 billion at
June 30, 2013 and December 31, 2012, respectively. The fair value of trading assets that can be sold or repledged was $3.6 hillion
and $2.2 hillion at June 30, 2013 and December 31, 2012, respectively.

Thefair value of collateral we accepted but not reported on the consolidated balance sheet that can be sold or repledged was $9.2
billion and $5.7 billion at June 30, 2013 and December 31, 2012, respectively. This collateral was obtained under security resale
agreements. Of this collateral, $8.2 billion and $1.3 billion has been sold or repledged as collateral under repurchase agreements
or to cover short sales at June 30, 2013 and December 31, 2012, respectively.

Securitization Activity Inaddition to the repurchase risk described above, we have also been involved as a sponsor/seller of loans
used to facilitate whole loan securitizations underwritten by our affiliate, HSI. In this regard, we began acquiring residential
mortgage |oans beginning in 2005 which were warehoused on our balance sheet with the intent of selling them to HSI to facilitate
HSI’s whole loan securitization program which was discontinued in the second half of 2007. During 2005-2007, we purchased
and sold $24 hillion of such loans to HSI which were subsequently securitized and sold by HSI to third parties. See "Mortgage
Securitization Activity and Litigation" in Note 21, "L itigation and Regulatory Matters" for additional discussion of related exposure.

Offsetting of Resale and Repurchase Agreements and Securities Borrowing and Lending Agreements

We enter into purchases and borrowings of securities under agreementsto resell (resale agreements) and sales of securities under
agreementsto repurchase (repurchase agreements) substantially identical securities. Resaleand repurchaseagreementsaregenerally
accounted for as secured lending and secured borrowing transactions, respectively.

The amounts advanced under resale agreements and the amounts borrowed under repurchase agreements are carried on the
consolidated balance sheets at the amount advanced or borrowed, plusaccrued interest to date. Interest earned on resal e agreements
isreported asinterestincome. I nterest paid on repurchase agreementsisreported asinterest expense. We offset resal eand repurchase
agreements executed with the same counterparty under legally enforceable netting agreements that meet the applicable netting
criteria as permitted by generally accepted accounting principles.

Repurchase agreements may require us to deposit cash or other collateral with the lender. In connection with resale agreements,
itisour policy to obtain possession of collateral, which may include the securities purchased, with market value in excess of the
principal amount loaned. The market value of the collateral subject to the resale and repurchase agreementsisregularly monitored,
and additional collateral is obtained or provided when appropriate, to ensure appropriate collateral coverage of these secured
financing transactions.
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Thefollowing table providesinformation about repurchase agreementsand resel| agreementsthat are subject to offset asof June 30,
2013 and December 31, 2012:

Gross Amounts Not Offset in the
Balance Sheet

Gross Gross Amounts Net Amounts Cash Collateral
Amounts Offset in the Presented in the Financial Received /
Recognized Balance Sheet® Balance Sheet Instruments @ Pledged Net Amount ©
(in millions)

As of June 30, 2013:
Assets:

Securities purchased under

agreementstoresell ............ $ 9,210 7,811 1,399 1,393 — $ 6
Liabilities:

Securities sold under

repurchase agreements......... $ 20,256 7,811 12,445 12,445 — 3 —
As of December 31, 2012:
Assets:

Securities purchased under

agreementstoresdl ............. $ 5,736 2,587 3,149 3,146 — $ 3
Liabilities:

Securities sold under

repurchase agreements......... $ 9,404 2,587 6,817 6,817 — 3 —

@ Represents recognized amount of resale and repurchase agreements with counterparties subject to legally enforceable netting agreements that meet the
applicable netting criteria as permitted by generally accepted accounting principles.

@ Represents securities received or pledged to cover financing transaction exposures.

®  Represents the amount of our exposure that is not collateralized / covered by pledged collateral.

20. Fair Value Measurements

Accounting principles related to fair value measurements provide a framework for measuring fair value that focuses on the exit
price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer aliability in the principal market (or in the absence of the principal
market, the most advantageous market) accessible in an orderly transaction between willing market participants (the “Fair Value
Framework™). Where required by the applicable accounting standards, assets and liabilities are measured at fair value using the
“highest and best use” valuation premise. Amendments to the fair value measurement guidance, which became effective in 2012
clarifies that financial instruments do not have aternative uses and, as such, the fair value of financia instruments should be
determined using an “in-exchange” valuation premise. However, the fair value measurement literature provides a valuation
exception and permitsan entity to measurethefair value of agroup of financial assetsand financial liabilitieswith offsetting credit
risks and/or market risks based on the exit price it would receive or pay to transfer the net risk exposure of a group of assets or
liabilitiesif certain conditions are met. We elected to apply the measurement exception to a group of derivative instruments with
offsetting credit risks and market risks, which primarily relate to interest rate, foreign currency, debt and equity price risk, and
commodity price risk as of the reporting date.

Fair Value Adjustments The best evidence of fair value is quoted market price in an actively traded market, where available. In
the event listed price or market quotes are not availabl e, val uation techniquesthat incorporate rel evant transaction data and market
parametersreflecting the attributes of the asset or liability under consideration are applied. Where applicable, fair value adjustments
are made to ensure the financial instruments are appropriately recorded at fair value. The fair value adjustments reflect the risks
associated with the products, contractual terms of the transactions, and the liquidity of the marketsin which the transactions occur.
Thefair value adjustments are broadly categorized by the following major types:

Credit risk adjustment - The credit risk adjustment is an adjustment to a group of financial assets and financia liabilities,
predominantly derivative assets and derivative liabilities, to reflect the credit quality of the partiesto the transaction in arriving at
fair value. A credit valuation adjustment to a financial asset is required to reflect the default risk of the counterparty. A debit
valuation adjustment to a financial liability is recorded to reflect the default risk of HSBC USA.
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For derivative instruments, we calcul ate the credit risk adjustment by applying the probability of default of the counterparty to the
expected exposure, and multiplying the result by the expected loss given default. We estimate the implied probability of default
based onthe counterparty'scredit spread observed inthe credit default swap market. Wherecredit default spreads of the counterparty
arenot available, we usethe credit default spread of specific proxy (e.g. the credit default swap spread of the counterparty's parent).
Where specific proxy credit default swaps are not available, we apply a blended approach based on a mixture of proxy credit
default swap referencing to credit names of similar credit standing in the same industry sector and the historical rating-based
probability of default.

During 2012, we changed our estimate of credit valuation adjustments on derivative assets and debit valuation adjustments on
derivative liabilities to be based on a market-implied probability of default calculation rather than a ratings-based historical
counterparty probability of default calculation, consistent with recent changes in industry practice.

Liquidity risk adjustment - Theliquidity risk adjustment (primarily in the form of bid-offer adjustment) reflects the cost that would
be incurred to close out the market risks by hedging, disposing or unwinding the position. Valuation models generally produce
mid market values. The bid-offer adjustment is made in such away that resultsin a measure that reflects the exit price that most
represents the fair value of the financial asset of financial liability under consideration or, where applicable, the fair value of the
net market risk exposure of a group of financial assets or financia liabilities.

Model valuation adjustment - Where fair value measurements are determined using an internal valuation model based on
unobservable inputs, certain valuation inputs may be less readily determinable. There may be arange of possible valuation inputs
that market participants may assumein determining thefair value measurement. The resultant fair value measurement hasinherent
measurement risk if one or more significant parameters are unobservable and must be estimated. An input valuation adjustment
is necessary to reflect the likelihood that market participants may use different input parameters, and to mitigate the possibility of
measurement error. In addition, the values derived from valuation techniques are affected by the choice of valuation model and
model limitation. When different val uation techniques are avail abl e, the choice of valuation model can be subjective. Furthermore,
the valuation model applied may have measurement limitations. In those cases, an additional valuation adjustment is also applied
to mitigate the measurement risk.

Fair Value Hierarchy The Fair Value Framework establishes athree-tiered fair value hierarchy asfollows:
Level 1 quoted market price - Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.

Level 2 valuation technique using observable inputs - Level 2 inputsinclude quoted pricesfor similar assetsor liabilitiesin active
markets, quoted pricesfor identical or similar assetsor liabilitiesin marketsthat are inactive, and measurements determined using
valuation model swhereall significant inputsare observable, such asinterest ratesand yield curvesthat are observable at commonly
quoted intervals.

Level 3valuation technique with significant unobservable inputs - Level 3 inputs are unobservableinputsfor the asset or liability
and include situations where fair values are measured using valuation techniques based on one or more significant unobservable
input.

Classification within the fair value hierarchy is based on whether the lowest hierarchical level input that is significant to the fair
value measurement is observable. As such, the classification within the fair value hierarchy is dynamic and can be transferred to
other hierarchy levelsin each reporting period. Transfers between leveling categories are assessed, determined and recognized at
the end of each reporting period.

Valuation Control Framework We have established a control framework which is designed to ensure that fair values are either
determined or validated by afunction independent of the risk-taker. To that end, the ultimate responsibility for the determination
of fair values rests with Finance. Finance has established an independent price validation process to ensure that the assets and
liahilities measured at fair value are properly stated.

A valuation committee, chaired by the Head of Business Finance of Global Banking and Markets, meets monthly to review, monitor
and discuss significant valuation matters arising from credit and market risks. The committee is responsible for establishing
valuation policiesand procedures, approving the internal val uation techniques and models devel oped by the Quantitative Risk and
Valuation Group (“QRVG”), reviewing and approving valuation adjustments pertaining to, among other things, unobservable
inputs, market liquidity, selection of valuation model and counterparty credit risk. Significant valuation risksidentified in business
activities are corroborated and addressed by the committee members and, where applicable, are escalated to the Chief Financial
Officer of HUSI and the Audit Committee of the Board of Directors.

Where fair value measurements are determined based on information obtained from independent pricing services or brokers,
Finance applies appropriate validation proceduresto substantiate fair value. For price validation purposes, quotationsfrom at |east
two independent pricing sources are obtained for each financial instrument, where possible.
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The following factors are considered in determining fair values:

= similarities between the asset or the liability under consideration and the asset or liability for which quotation is received,;

= collaboration of pricing by referencing to other independent market data such as market transactions and relevant benchmark
indices;

= consistency among different pricing sources,

= thevaluation approach and the methodol ogies used by the independent pricing sources in determining fair value;

= the elapsed time between the date to which the market data relates and the measurement date;

= the source of the fair value information; and

=  whether the security istraded in an active or inactive market.

Greater weight is given to quotations of instruments with recent market transactions, pricing quotes from deal ers who stand ready
to transact, quotations provided by market-makers who structured such instrument and market consensus pricing based on inputs
from a large number of survey participants. Any significant discrepancies among the external quotations are reviewed and
adjustmentsto fair values are recorded where appropriate. Where the transaction volume of a specific instrument has been reduced
and thefair value measurement becomes|esstransparent, Finance will apply moredetailed proceduresto understand and challenge
the appropriateness of the unobservable inputs and the valuation techniques used by the independent pricing service. Where
applicable, Finance will develop afair value estimate using its own pricing model inputs to test reasonableness. Where fair value
measurementsaredetermined usinginternal val uation models, Financewill validatethefair valuemeasurement by either devel oping
unobservable inputs based on the industry consensus pricing surveys in which we participate or back testing by observing the
actual settlements occurring soon after the measurement date. Any significant val uation adjustments are reported to and discussed
with the valuation committee.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments The fair value estimates, methods and assumptions set forth below for our financial
instruments, including those financial instruments carried at cost, are made solely to comply with disclosuresrequired by generally
accepted accounting principles in the United States and should be read in conjunction with the financial statements and notes
included in this quarterly report.
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The following table summarizes the carrying value and estimated fair value of our financial instruments at June 30, 2013 and
December 31, 2012.

Carrying Fair
June 30, 2013 Value Value Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
(in millions)
Financial assets:
Short-term financial assetS.........cccveveeereiereesece s $ 31526 $31526 $ 1311 $ 29820 $ 395
Securities purchased under resale agreements..........coceeevereeenenn 1,399 1,399 — 1,399 —
Non-derivative trading @SSELS........cccveereereierereeseeeseeeeseees 18,447 18,447 1,530 14,772 2,145
DENVALIVES ..ottt 10,452 10,452 104 10,226 122
SECUNMTIES ...ttt ettt 54,511 54,572 29,573 24,999 —
Commercial loans, net of allowance for credit losses.................. 46,965 47,838 — — 47,838
Commercial loans designated under fair value option and held
FOr SAl @i 3 3 — 3 —
Commercia loansheld for sale........coooviieeeeciiicceee e, 17 17 — 17 —
Consumer loans, net of allowance for credit 10Sses...........ccccuenee. 19,135 16,054 — — 16,054
Consumer loans held for sale:
Residential MOrtgages ..........covvveereeneenenesenesesese s 275 276 — — 276
Other CONSUMES .....c.veuirieeiriecrieesie et saenens 64 64 — — 64
Financia liabilities:
Short-term financial liabilities............cccoevivieeiiieieceece e $ 21922 $ 21922 $ — $21922 $ —
Deposits:
Without fixed Maturities........cccvvvvirniineieseesees e 100,648 100,648 — 100,648 —
FixXed MatUMtieS.....ccovveivieevee e 3,137 3,160 — 3,160 —
Deposits designated under fair value option ..........cceceeeereeenenne, 7,950 7,950 — 5,288 2,662
Non-derivative trading liabilitieS ........ccoceevvvevvnsirsieceene 5,036 5,036 236 4,800 —
DENVALIVES ..ottt nesnens 11,211 11,211 32 11,079 100
LONG-term debt........ccovivieieer s 14,308 14,649 — 14,649 —
Long-term debt designated under fair value option..................... 6,626 6,626 — 6,168 458

74



HSBC USA Inc.

Carrying Fair
December 31, 2012 Value Value Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
(in millions)
Financial assets:
Short-term financial aSSEtS.........ccveveeveveeieieeeeeee e $ 15074 $ 15074 $ 1359 $ 13279 $ 436
Securities purchased under resale agreements............ccccoceveeneee. 3,149 3,149 — 3,149 —
Non-derivative trading @SSatS........ccuveireereirereeseeseeseseeeas 25,491 25,491 2,484 20,061 2,946
DEMIVALIVES .....eocveevectecteeteete ettt ettt st ereebesaeseens 11,986 11,986 30 11,785 171
SECUNTIES ...veiveeiesieceeses e ste ettt tesnesreen 69,336 69,547 43,421 26,126 —
Commercial loans, net of allowance for credit losses.................. 43,833 45,153 — — 45,153
Commercial loans designated under fair value option and held
FOr SAIE...eoeece e s 465 465 — 465 —
Commercial loansheld for sale.......ccoeoveeevceccccce e, 16 16 — 16 —
Consumer loans, net of alowance for credit losses..................... 18,778 15,173 — — 15,173
Consumer loans held for sale:
Residential MOrtgages ......cocooeereriirerirere e 472 485 — — 485
Other CONSUMIES .......ecuviieciiceeie ettt 65 65 — — 65
Financial liabilities:
Short-term financial liabilities.............ccceeveveveeeeeeeeceeeeeeeeeea $ 15421 $ 15421 $ — $15421 % —
Deposits:
Without fixed Maturities........ccoeeveeeeveecenirece e 104,414 104,414 — 104,414 —
Fixed MatUritieS.......cceeviieeececee e 4,565 4574 — 4574 —
Deposits designated under fair value option............coeevererecnene. 8,692 8,692 — 6,056 2,636
Non-derivative trading liabilitieS .........ccccevveiviniecieniie e 5,974 5,974 207 5,767 —
DEMVALIVES ...ttt ettt bbb snns 15,202 15,202 21 15,054 127
Long-term debt........coovvvii i 14,465 15,163 — 15,163 —
Long-term debt designated under fair value option ..................... 7,280 7,280 — 6,851 429

Loan values presented in the table above were determined using the Fair Value Framework for measuring fair value, which is
based on our best estimate of the amount within a range of value we believe would be received in a sale as of the balance sheet
date (i.e. exit price). The secondary market demand and estimated value for our residential mortgage loans has been heavily
influenced by the prevailing economic conditions during the past few years, including changes in house prices, unemployment,
consumer behavior, and discount rates. For certain consumer |oans, investorsincorporate numerous assumptionsin predicting cash
flows, such as higher charge-off levels and/or slower voluntary prepayment speeds than we, as the servicer of these loans, believe
will ultimately be the case. The investor discount rates reflect this difference in overall cost of capital as well as the potential
volatility in the underlying cash flow assumptions, the combination of which may yield a significant pricing discount from our
intrinsic value. The estimated fair values at June 30, 2013 and December 31, 2012 reflect these market conditions.

Assets and Liabilities Recorded at Fair Value on a Recurring Basis The following table presents information about our assets
and liabilities measured at fair value on arecurring basis as of June 30, 2013 and December 31, 2012, and indicates the fair value
hierarchy of the valuation techniques utilized to determine such fair value.
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Fair Value Measurements on a Recurring Basis

Gross Net
June 30, 2013 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Balance Netting® Balance
(in millions)
Assets:
Trading Securities, excluding derivatives:
U.S. Treasury, U.S. Government agencies and sponsored enterprises.... $ 1530 §$ 197 % — $ 1727 3 — $ 1727
Collateralized debt Obligations............ceoereeieuiierneiirreesse e — 75 227 302 — 302
Asset-backed securities:

Residential MOMQagES ........cevvreereeririeeresieee st — 167 — 167 — 167
Corporate and other domestic debt SECUMtIES........coovrveeerireeeierreeseiee — 2 1,498 1,500 — 1,500
Debt Securitiesissued by foreign entities:

COIPOIELE......veeeeteieeseet ettt sttt ettt s bbb s — 681 285 966 — 966

Government — 4,229 135 4,364 — 4,364
EQUILY SECUMTIES ...t — 24 — 24 — 24
Precious metals trading . — 9,397 — 9,397 — 9,397

Derivatives?:
INLErest rate CONIACLS..........ccovreviiriiiericrse e 74 57,233 1 57,308 — 57,308
Foreign exchange contracts.. 5 15,972 175 16,152 — 16,152
EQUILY CONEFACLS. ...ttt — 1,698 140 1,838 — 1,838
Precious Metals CONIactS ..o 768 2,881 — 3,649 — 3,649
Credit contracts.............. — 5,236 669 5,905 — 5,905
Derivatives netting — — — — (74,400) (74,400)
TOtAl AENVALIVES. .....cecvreieereereee e 847 83,020 985 84,852 (74,400) 10,452
Securities available-for-sale:
U.S. Treasury, U.S. Government agencies and sponsored enterprises..... 29,533 16,797 — 46,330 — 46,330
Obligations of U.S. states and political subdiviSions...........ccccoveinninnnne — 869 — 869 — 869
Asset-backed securities:

Residential MOMQagES ........cervreeueerireeereereee et — 1 — 1 — 1

COMMErCial MOMGAGES.......ceveuerereereerieiee sttt se e es — 166 — 166 — 166

Home equity — 245 — 245 — 245

OENEY ... — 104 — 104 — 104
Corporate and other domestic debt SECUMtIES........cccovvveeerireeeierreiieiee — 24 — 24 — 24
Debt Securitiesissued by foreign entities:

COIPOIELE......veeeteieeseet ettt ettt b ettt ss bbb s — 891 — 891 — 891

GovernmMeENt-backed ...........cccveienicecece e 40 4,023 — 4,063 — 4,063

— 165 — 165 — 165
— 3 — 3 — 3
— — 225 225 — 225
$ 31,950 $ 121,080 $ 3,355 $ 156,385 $ (74,400) $ 81,985
Liabilities: -
Deposits in OMEStIC OFfiCES®..........ovvviereeeeeeeeeeesessesesssses s sssssesseenes $ — $ 5288 $ 2662 $ 7,950 $ — $ 7,950
Trading ligbilities, excluding derivatives.. 236 4,800 — 5,036 — 5,036
Derivatives?:
INEErest rate CONIACLS..........ccouveviiriiririrs e 83 57,217 2 57,302 — 57,302
Foreign exchange contracts.. 4 15,522 71 15,597 — 15,597
EQUILY CONEFACLS. ...ttt — 1,335 223 1,558 — 1,558
Precious Metals CONIactS ..o 148 1,960 — 2,108 — 2,108
Credit contracts.............. — 5,492 444 5,936 — 5,936
Derivatives netting — — — — (71,290) (71,290)
TOtAl AENVALIVES......cecveeeeereiriree e 235 81,526 740 82,501 (71,290) 11,211
Long-term debt® .. — 6,168 458 6,626 — 6,626
Tota liabilities $ 471 $ 97,782 $ 3860 $ 102,113 $ (71,290) $ 30,823
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Fair Value Measurements on a Recurring Basis

Gross Net
December 31, 2012 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Balance Netting® Balance
(in millions)
Assets:
Trading Securities, excluding derivatives:
U.S. Treasury, U.S. Government agencies and sponsored enterprises..... $ 2484 $ 369 $ — $ 283 % — $ 2853
Collateralized debt Obligations...........oeererieieirneiireere e — — 466 466 — 466
Asset-backed securities:

Residential MOMgagES ........c.eovreereriririeerenieiee s — 221 — 221 — 221
Corporate and other domestic debt securities. — 1,035 1,861 2,896 — 2,896
Debt Securitiesissued by foreign entities:

COIPOIELE......eeeiteieieseeeese ettt ettt se e ne s — 468 299 767 — 767

Government — 5,609 311 5,920 — 5,920
EQUILY SECUMTIES ...t — 27 9 36 — 36
Precious metals trading . — 12,332 — 12,332 — 12,332

Derivatives®:
INLErest rate CONIACLS..........ccvuviiririirir e 98 71,717 8 71,823 — 71,823
Foreign exchange contracts.. 4 13,831 16 13,851 — 13,851
EQUILY CONEFACES......ceieeeiieeieiseeee ettt — 1,593 166 1,759 — 1,759
Precious metals CONIactS ..o 135 649 7 791 — 791
Credit contracts.............. — 5,961 1,168 7,129 — 7,129
Derivatives netting — — — — (83,367) (83,367)
TOtAl AENIVALIVES. .....cecvreiereiriecre e 237 93,751 1,365 95,353 (83,367) 11,986
Securities available-for-sale:
U.S. Treasury, U.S. Government agencies and sponsored enterprises..... 43,379 17,316 — 60,695 — 60,695
Obligations of U.S. states and political subdiviSions...........cccceveenininenne — 912 — 912 — 912
Asset-backed securities:

Residential MOMgagesS ........c.eovreereuererieierenieiee s — 1 — 1 — 1

COmMMErCial MOMGAgES.......coveviereerererireeieresteiee e s — 214 — 214 — 214

Home equity — 258 — 258 — 258

OENEY ... — 84 — 84 — 84
Corporate and other domestic debt SECUMtIES........c.covvveveirerieirirccieine — 26 — 26 — 26
Debt Securitiesissued by foreign entities:

COIPOFELE......eeeeeeteeeiereeteitee ettt ettt en e — 831 — 831 — 831

Government-backed ..o 42 4,480 — 4,522 — 4,522

173 — 173 — 173
465 — 465 — 465
— 168 168 — 168
$ 138572 $ 4479 $ 189,193 $ (83,367) $ 105,826
Liabilities: -
DePOSits iN dOMESLIC OFfiCES™...........ovvveereeeeeeeeesseesseesessseses e seessssesseeees $ — $ 605 $ 2636 $ 8692 $ — $ 8692
Trading liabilities, excluding derivatives.. 207 5,767 — 5,974 — 5,974
Derivatives®:
INLErest rate CONIACLS..........ccvuviiririiiericeree e 90 71,567 1 71,658 — 71,658
Foreign exchange contracts.. 25 13,582 11 13,618 — 13,618
EQUILY CONEFACES.......ceiveeiiieieineeeeiree et — 1,244 173 1,417 — 1,417
Precious metals CONIactS ..o 19 712 7 738 — 738
Credit contracts.............. — 6,754 597 7,351 — 7,351
Derivatives netting — — — — (79,580) (79,580)
TOtAl AENIVALIVES. .....ceerreeeereirieee e 134 93,859 789 94,782 (79,580) 15,202
Long-term debt® .. — 6,851 429 7,280 — 7,280
Tota liabilities $ 341 $ 112533 $ 3854 $ 116,728 $ (79,580) $ 37,148

@ Represents counterparty and cash collateral netting which allow the offsetting of amounts relating to certain contracts if certain conditions are met.

@ Includes trading derivative assets of $9.0 billion and $10.5 billion and trading derivative liabilities of $10.3 billion and $13.8 billion as of June 30, 2013
and December 31, 2012, respectively, aswell as derivatives held for hedging and commitments accounted for as derivatives.

77



HSBC USA Inc.

@ Includes leveraged acquisition finance and other commercial loans held for sale or risk-managed on afair value basis for which we have elected to apply

the fair value option. See Note 7, “Loans Held for Sale,” for further information.
@ SeeNote8, “Intangible Assets,” for additional information.

®  Represents structured deposits risk-managed on a fair value basis for which we have elected to apply the fair value option.

®  Includes structured notes and own debt issuances which we have elected to measure on afair value basis.

Transfers between leveling categories are recognized at the end of each reporting period.
Transfers between Levels 1 and 2 There were no transfers between Levels 1 and 2 during June 30, 2013 and 2012.

Information on Level 3 assets and liabilities The following table summarizes additional information about changes in the fair
value of Level 3 assets and liabilities during the three months ended June 30, 2013 and 2012. As arisk management practice, we
may risk manage the Level 3 assets and liabilities, in whole or in part, using securities and derivative positions that are classified
asLevel 1 or Level 2 measurements within the fair value hierarchy. Since those Level 1 and Level 2 risk management positions
are not included in the table below, the information provided does not reflect the effect of such risk management activities related
to the Level 3 assets and liabilities.

Total Gains and

(Losses) Included in® Current
Period
Trading Transfers  Transfers Unrealized
Apr. 1, Revenue Other Purch- Issu- Settle- Into Out of Jun. 30, Gains
2013 (Loss) Revenue ases ances ments Level 3 Level 3 2013 (Losses)
(in millions)
Assets:
Trading assets, excluding
derivatives:
Collateralized debt
obligations.......o.cevevrveninas $ 481 $ 83 $ — $ 216 $ — $ (553) $ — % — $ 227 3 56
Corporate and other
domestic debt securities... 1,524 21 — 16 — (63) — — 1,498 21
Corporate debt securities
issued by foreign entities. 294 9) — — — — — — 285 9)
Government debt
securities issued by
foreign entities................ 143 @) — — — 1) — — 135 9)
Equity securities.............. 11 @ — — — (4) — — — (7)
Derivatives®:
Interest rate contracts....... 6 1) (6) — — — — — 1) 7
Foreign exchange
CONLIECES....evveecrerreeenns 134 (18) — — — (6) (6) — 104 (28)
Equity contracts............... 34 (81) — — — 27) 6 (15) (83) 92)
Credit contracts................ 364 (105) — — — (34) — — 225 (82)
Mortgage servicing rights® 190 — 30 — 5 — — — 225 30
Total aSSEtS...ccvevrerencreirennas $ 3181 $ (124) $ 24 $ 232 % 5 $ (688) $ — $ (15) $ 2615 $ (127)
Liabilities:
Depositsin domestic
OffICES o $(2,876) $ 154 % — 3 —  $ 81 $ 110 $ @) s 208 (2,662) $ 175
Long-term debt................... (618) 15 — — (59) 68 — 136 (458) 18
Total liabilities.............c...... $(3,494) $ 169 $ — 3 — $ (1400 $ 178 $ 177) % 344 $ (3,120) $ 193
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Total Gains and

(Losses) Included in® Current
Period
Trading Transfers  Transfers Unrealized
Jan. 1, Revenue Other Purch- Issu- Settle- Into Out of Jun. 30, Gains
2013 (Loss) Revenue ases ances ments Level 3 Level 3 2013 (Losses)
(in millions)
Assets:
Trading assets, excluding
derivatives:
Collateralized debt
obligations.........cccvureneen. $ 466 $ 118 $ — $ 237 3 — $ (594) $ — $ — $ 227 87
Corporate and other
domestic debt securities... 1,861 28 — 31 — (422) — — 1,498 24
Corporate debt securities
issued by foreign entities. 299 (14) — — — — — — 285 (14)
Government debt
securitiesissued by
foreign entities................. 311 15 — — — (191) — — 135 10
Equity securities.............. 9 (5) — — — 4 — — — (5)
Derivatives®:
Interest rate contracts....... 7 ) ©) — — — — — (1) (8)
Foreign exchange
CONtIaCts......coeuvuvieereiinnens 5 4) — — — 116 (13) — 104 106
Equity contracts............... ) (20) — — — (48) 13 (21) (83) (73)
Credit contracts................ 571 (155) — — — (145) (46) — 225 (274)
Mortgage servicing rights® 168 — 46 — 11 — — — 225 51
Total aSSEtS...ovverrerererrenns $ 3,690 (38) $ 39 $ 268 $ 11 $(1,288) $ (46) $ (21) $ 2615 $ (96)
Liabilities:
Depositsin domestic
OffICES .o $(2,636) 113 $ — $ — $ (485 $ 219 $ (160) $ 287 (2,662) $ 149
Long-term debt..... (429) (16) — — (270) 119 — 138 (458) 7
Tota liabilities.......c.ccvvnnee $(3,065) 97  $ — $ — $ (755) $ 338 $ (160) $ 425 $ (3,120) $ 156
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Total Gains and

(Losses) Included in® Current
Period
Trading Transfers  Transfers Unrealized
Apr. 1, Revenue Other Purch- Issu- Settle- Into Out of Jun. 30, Gains
2012 (Loss) Revenue ases ances ments Level 3 Level 3 2012 (Losses)
(in millions)
Assets:
Trading assets, excluding
derivatives:
Collateralized debt
obligations.........c.ccceuuun. $ 661 $ 18 $ — 3 24 $ — $ @) % — $ — $ 658 $ 16
Corporate and other
domestic debt securities... 1,753 @) — 19 — (171) — — 1,599 (6)
Corporate debt securities
issued by foreign entities. 294 25 — 389 — (20) — — 688 25
Equity securities.............. 13 1) — — — — — — 12 o)
Derivatives?:
Interest rate contracts....... 9 — 3 — — — — — 12 3
Foreign exchange
CONLIacts.......oeeriirvnennne (5) (18) — — 5) 2 — (25) a7)
Equity contracts............... (53) 13 — — — (20) Q) (46) @
Credit contracts................ 984 (13) — — — (50) — — 921 (22)
Mortgage servicing rights® 228 — (47) — 6 — — — 187 (46)
Total 8SSEtS...c.veerverecrerrenens $3834 $ 2 $ (44 $ 432 % 1 $ (294 $ 1 $ 6 $ 4006 $ (49)
Liabilities:
Deposits in domestic
OffICES ... $ 21) $ — $ — $ (269 $ 9 % (46) $ 313 (2,908) $ (14)
Long-term debt . 10 — — (132) 1 (7 1 (287) 5
Total liabilities........cccvenees $ (11) $ — $ — $ (401) $ 80 $ (53) $ 314 $ (3195 $ (9)
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Total Gains and

(Losses) Included in® Current
Period
Trading Transfers  Transfers Unrealized
Jan. 1, Revenue Other Purch- Issu- Settle- Into Out of Jun. 30, Gains
2012 (Loss) Revenue ases ances ments Level 3 Level 3 2012 (Losses)
(in millions)
Assets:
Trading assets, excluding
derivatives:
Collateralized debt
obligations.........c.ccceuuun. $ 703 $ 57 $ — 3 25 $ — $ (127 3 — $ — $ 658 $ 49
Corporate and other
domestic debt securities... 1,679 18 — 101 — (199) — — 1,599 8
Corporate debt securities
issued by foreign entities. 253 66 — 389 — (20) — — 688 66
Equity securities.............. 13 1) — — — — — — 12 o)
Derivatives?:
Interest rate contracts....... 9 — 3 — — — — — 12 3
Foreign exchange
CONIacts.......covvrverriinnnns Q) (29) — — (5) 2 ?3) 1 (25 (19
22
(355)
(12)
(47)
$ (286)
Liabilities:
Deposits in domestic
offices . $(2867) $ 77 $ — 3 — $ (556) $ 160 $ 43) $ 475 (2,908) $ (50
Long-term debt................... (86) 9 — — (221) 5 7 13 (287) 4
Total liabilities........cccveneees $(2953) $ (68) $ — $ — $ (T777) $ 165 $ (50) $ 488 $ (3195 $ (46)

@ Includes realized and unrealized gains and losses.

@ Level 3 net derivativesincluded derivative assets of $1.0 billion and derivative liabilities of $740 million as of June 30, 2013 and derivative assets of

$2.4 billion and derivative liabilities of $2.2 billion as of June 30, 2012.
Includes Level 3 corporate lending activities risk-managed on afair value basis for which we have elected the fair value option.
@ SeeNote 8, “Intangible Assets,” for additional information.
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The following table presents quantitative information about the unobservable inputs used to determine the recurring fair value
measurement of assets and liabilities classified as Level 3 fair value measurements as of June 30, 2013 and December 31, 2012.

As of June 30, 2013

Fair Value
Financial Instrument Type (in millions) Valuation Technique(s) Significant Unobservable Inputs Range of Inputs
Collateralized debt obligations................ 227 Broker quotes or consensus Prepayment rates -% - 5%
pricing and, where applicable,
discounted cash flows
Conditional default rates 5% - 10%
Loss severity rates 70% -95%
Corporate and other domestic debt 1,498 Discounted cash flows Spread volatility on collateral assets 1% - 4%
SECUNEIES ..o
Correlation between insuranceclam ~ 80%
shortfall and collateral value
Corporate and government debt 420 Discounted cash flows Correlations of default among a 46% - 47%
securitiesissued by foreign entities.......... portfolio of credit names of
embedded credit derivatives
Interest rate derivative contracts.............. (1) Market comparable adjusted for Probability to fund for rate lock 8% - 100%
probability to fund commitments
Foreign exchange derivative contracts™ . 104  Option pricing model Implied volatility of currency pairs 1% - 40%
Equity derivative contracts™ ................... (83) Option pricing model Equity / Equity Index volatility 12% - 49%
Equity / Equity and Equity / Index 51% - 60%
correlation
Credit derivative contracts.........c.coeeveneee. 225  Option pricing model Correlation of defaults of aportfolio  47% - 53%
of reference credit names
Issuer by issuer correlation of 83% - 95%
defaults
Mortgage servicing rights.........cccceeenee 225 Option adjusted discounted cash Constant prepayment rates 6% - 26%
flows
Option adjusted spread 8% - 19%
Estimated annualized coststo service  $91 - $256 per
account
Depositsin domestic offices (structured (2,662) Option adjusted discounted cash Implied volatility of currency pairs 1% - 40%
deposits) V@ e flows
Equity / Equity Index volatility 12% - 49%
Equity / Equity and Equity / Index 51% - 60%
correlation
Long-term debt (structured notes) V@ ... (458) Option adjusted discounted cash ~ Implied volatility of currency pairs 1% - 40%
flows
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As of December 31, 2012

Fair Value
Financial Instrument Type (in millions) Valuation Technique(s) Significant Unobservable Inputs Range of Inputs
Collateralized debt obligations................ 466 Broker quotesor consensuspricing  Prepayment rates -% - 6%
and, where applicable, discounted
cash flows
Conditional default rates 4% - 14%
L oss severity rates 50% - 100%
Corporate and other domestic debt 1,861 Discounted cash flows Spread volétility on collateral assets 2% - 4%
SECUNTIES ..
Correlation between insuranceclaim ~ 80%
shortfall and collateral value
Corporate and government debt 610 Discounted cash flows Correlations of default among a 29%
securitiesissued by foreign entities.......... portfolio of credit names of
embedded credit derivatives
Equity securities (investmentsin hedge 9 Net asset value of hedge funds Range of fair value adjustmentsto 30% - 100%
FUNAS) - reflect restrictions on timing and
amount of redemption and realization
risks
Interest rate derivative contracts.............. 7 Market comparable adjusted for Probability to fund for rate lock 8% - 100%
probability to fund commitments
Foreign exchange derivative contracts™ . 5 Option pricing model Implied volatility of currency pairs 2% - 21%
Equity derivative contracts™ ................... (7) Option pricing model Equity / Equity Index volatility 6% - 104%
Equity / Equity and Equity / Index 56% - 64%
correlation
Credit derivative contracts...........cccvueeee. 571 Option pricing model Correlation of defaults of aportfolio  32% - 45%
of reference credit names
Industry by industry correlation of 44% - 67%
defaults
Mortgage servicing rights..........ccoeeeenne 168 Option adjusted discounted cash Constant prepayment rates 9% - 45%
flows
Option adjusted spread 8% - 19%
Estimated annualized coststo service  $98 - $263 per
account
Depositsin domestic offices (structured (2,636) Option adjusted discounted cash Implied volatility of currency pairs 2% - 21%
deposits) V@ e flows
Equity / Equity Index volatility 6% - 104%
Equity / Equity and Equity / Index 56% - 64%
correlation
Long-term debt (structured notes) V@ ... (429) Option adjusted discounted cash Implied volatility of currency pairs 2% - 21%
flows
Equity / Equity Index volatility 6% - 104%
Equity / Equity and Equity / Index 56% - 64%

(o

correlation

We are the client-facing entity and we enter into identical but opposite derivatives to transfer the resultant risks to our affiliates. With the exception of

counterparty credit risks, wearemarket neutral. Thecorrespondingintra-group derivativesare presented asequity derivativesand foreign currency derivatives

in the table.
@)

Significant Unobservable Inputs for Recurring Fair Value Measurements

Collateralized Debt Obligations (CDOs)

= Prepayment rate - Therate at which borrowers pay off the mortgage loans early. The prepayment rate is affected by a number
of factorsincluding the location of the mortgage collateral, the interest rate type of the mortgage loans, borrowers' credit and
sensitivity to interest rate movement. The prepayment rate of our CDOs portfolio istilted towards the low end of the range.

Structured deposits and structured notes contain embedded derivative features whose fair value measurements contain significant Level 3 inputs.

= Default rate - Annualized percentage of default rate over a group of collateral such as residentia or commercial mortgage
loans. The default rate and loss severity rate are positively correlated. The default rate of our portfolio is close to mid point

of therange.
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= Loss Severity Rate - Included in our Level 3 CDOs portfolio are collateralized loan obligations (CLOs) and trust preferred
securities which are about equally distributed. The loss severity rate for trust preferred securities as of June 30, 2013 is about
1.8timesof CLOs.

Equity Securities (Investments in Hedge Funds)

= Equity Interest in Hedge Funds - As of June 30, 2013, HUSI owns interests in about 30 distressed hedge funds where the
majority of the funds have been discounted at 50% to 60% to reflect our expectation of recovery.

Derivatives

= Correlation of Default - The default correlation of agroup of credit exposures measuresthelikelihood that the credit references
within a group will default together. The default correlation is not observable. For a Tranched Credit Default swap, HUSI,
through its participation in the industry survey, estimates and validates the default correlation of benchmark market credit
default swap indices which, after adjusting for any differences in the composition and the tenure between the market index
and the bespoke tranche under measurement, isused as an input to measure abespoke CDStranche. The correl ations of default
of our credit derivative portfolio are not widely dispersed.

= Implied volatility - Theimplied volatility isasignificant pricing input for freestanding or embedded options including equity,
foreign currency and interest rate options. The level of volatility isafunction of the nature of the underlying risk, the level of
strike price and the years to maturity of the option. Depending on the underlying risk and tenure, we determine the implied
volatility based on observable input where information is available. However, substantially all of the implied volatilities are
derived based on historical information. The implied volatility for different foreign currency pairs is between 1% and 40%
while theimplied volatility for equity/equity or equity/equity index is between 12% and 49%, respectively at June 30, 2013.
Although implied foreign currency volatility and equity volatility appear to be widely distributed at the portfolio level, the
deviation of implied volatility on atrade-by-trade basisis narrower. The average deviation of implied volatility for theforeign
currency pair and at-the-money equity option are 4.4% and 4.6%, respectively at June 30, 2013.

= Correlations of a group of foreign currency or equity - Correlation measures the rel ative change in values among two or more
variables (i.e., equity or foreign currency pair). Variables can be positively or negatively correlated. Correlation isakey input
indetermining thefair value of aderivativereferenced to abasket of variablessuch asequitiesor foreign currencies. A majority
of the correlations are not observable, but are derived based on historical data. The correlation between equity/equity and
equity/equity index was between 51% and 60% at June 30, 2013.

Sensitivity of Level 3 Inputs to Fair Value Measurements

Collateralized Debt Obligations - Probability of default, prepayment speed and loss severity rate are significant unobservable
inputs. Significant increase (decrease) in these inputs will result in alower (higher) fair value measurement of a collateralized
debt obligation. A change in assumption for default probability is often accompanied by a directionally similar change in loss
severity, and adirectionally opposite change in prepayment speed.

Corporate and Domestic Debt Securities - Thefair value measurements of certain corporate debt securities are affected by thefair
valueof theunderlying portfoliosof investmentsused ascol l ateral and themake-wholeguarantee provided by third party guarantors.
The probability that the collateral fair value declines below the collateral call threshold concurrent with the guarantors failure to
perform its make whole obligation is unobservable. The increase (decrease) in the probability the collateral value falls below the
collateral call threshold is often accompanied by a directionally similar change in default probability of the guarantor.

Credit derivatives - Correlation of default among abasket of reference credit namesisasignificant unobservableinput if the credit
attributes of the portfolio are not within the parameters of relevant standardized CDS indices. Significant increase (decrease) in
the unobservable input will result in alower (higher) fair value measurement of the credit derivative. A change in assumption for
default correlation is often accompanied by adirectionally similar changein default probability and lossrates of other credit names
in the basket.

Equity and foreign currency derivatives - The fair value measurement of a structured equity or foreign currency derivative is
primarily affected by the implied volatility of the underlying equity price or exchange rate of the paired foreign currencies. The
implied volatility isnot observable. Significant increase (decrease) intheimplied volatility will result in ahigher (lower) fair value
of along position in the derivative contract.

Material Additions to and Transfers Into (Out of) Level 3 Measurements During the six months ended June 30, 2013, we
transferred $46 million of credit derivatives from Level 2 to Level 3 asresult of including specific fair value adjustments rel ated
to certain credit default swaps. During thethree and six months ended June 30, 2013, wetransferred $208 million and $287 million,
respectively, of depositsin domestic offices and $136 million and $138 million, respectively, of long-term debt, which we have
elected to carry at fair value, from Level 3to Level 2 asaresult of the embedded derivative no longer being unobservable as the
derivative option is closer to maturity and there is more observability in short term volatility. Additionally, during the three and
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six months ended June 30, 2013, we transferred $177 million and $160 million, respectively, of long-term debt, which we have
elected to carry at fair value, from Level 2 to Level 3 as aresult of a change in the observability of underlying instruments that
resulted in the embedded derivative being unobservable.

During the three and six months ended June 30, 2012, we transferred $313 million and $475 million, respectively, of depositsin
domestic offices, which we have elected to carry at fair value, from Level 3to Level 2 as aresult of the embedded derivative no
longer being unobservable as the derivative option is closer in maturity and there is more observability in short term volatility.

Assets and Liabilities Recorded at Fair Value on a Non-recurring Basis Certain financial and non-financial assets are measured
at fair value on a non-recurring basis and therefore, are not included in the tables above. These assets include (&) mortgage and
consumer loans classified as held for sale reported at the lower of amortized cost or fair value and (b) impaired |oans or assets that
arewritten down to fair val ue based on the val uation of underlying collateral during the period. Theseinstrumentsare not measured
at fair value on an ongoing basis but are subject to fair value adjustment in certain circumstances (e.g., impairment). Thefollowing
table presentsthe fair value hierarchy level within which the fair value of the financial and non-financial assets has been recorded
as of June 30, 2013 and December 31, 2012. The gains (losses) during the three and six months ended June 30, 2013 and 2012 are
also included.

Non-Recurring Fair Value Measurements Total Gains (Losses)  Total Gains (Losses)
as of June 30, 2013 For the Three For the Six Months
Months Ended Ended
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total Jun. 30 2013 Jun. 30 2013
(in millions)
Residential mortgage loansheld forsale®™ ... $ — $ 134 ¢ 68 $ 202 $ — 3 3
Impaired commercial [0ans®.......c.ccooee.... — — 129 129 (1) 2)
Impaired consumer 10ans?.............coccoevveuenne, — 249 45 294 (11) (31)
Real estate owned® ...........ccooooocomerriviinnrienns 22 — — 22 — 2
Total assets at fair value on anon-recurring

DASIS ..o $ 22 $ 383 $ 242 $ o647 $ (12) $ (28)
Non-Recurring Fair Value Measurements Total Gains (Losses)  Total Gains (Losses)

as of December 31, 2012 For the Three For the Six Months

Months Ended = Ended
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total Jun. 30 2012 Jun. 30 2012
(in millions)
Residential mortgage loansheldforsale”... $ — $ 10 $ 67 $ 77 $ 4 $ (6)
Impaired commercial loans?..........c..ccoo....... — — 155 155 (12) (23)
Impaired consumer [0anS® ............ccooeervven. — 600 118 718 (35) (60)
Real estate owned® .........coo.ooovveeereiereeennnnn. 24 — — 24 — 2
Total assets at fair value on anon-recurring

DASIS ..o $ 24 $ 610 $ 340 $ 974 % B $ (87)

@ Asof June 30, 2013 and December 31, 2012, the fair value of the loans held for sale was below cost. Certain residential mortgage loans held for sale have
been classified asa Level 3 fair value measurement within the fair value hierarchy as the underlying real estate properties which determine fair value are
illiquid assetsasaresult of market conditionsand significant inputsin estimating fair value were unobservable. Additionally, thefair value of these properties
is affected by, among other things, the location, the payment history and the completeness of the loan documentation.

@ Certain commercial and consumer loans have undergone troubled debt restructurings and are considered impaired. As a matter of practical expedient, we
measure the credit impairment of a collateral-dependent 0an based on the fair value of the collateral asset. The collateral ofteninvolvesreal estate properties
that areilliquid due to market conditions. As aresult, these |oans are classified as a Level 3 fair value measurement within the fair value hierarchy.

©®  Real estate owned are required to be reported on the balance sheet net of transactions costs. The real estate owned amounts in the table above reflect the fair
value unadjusted for transaction costs.
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Thefollowingtable presentsquantitativeinformation about non-recurring fair value measurementsof assetsand liabilitiesclassified
with Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy as of June 30, 2013 and December 31, 2012.

As of June 30, 2013

Significant
Fair Value Unobservable Range of
Financial Instrument Type (in millions) Valuation Technique(s) Inputs Inputs
Valuation of third party appraisal on
Residential mortgage loans held for sale............ccccccvevcucrcnnenee. $ 68 underlying collateral Loss severity rates  -% - 100%
Valuation of third party appraisa on
Impaired commercial 10ans.............ccceeveeereeeieeeeeeeeeeee e 129  underlying collateral Loss severity rates -9 - 81%
As of December 31, 2012
Significant
Fair Value Unobservable Range of
Financial Instrument Type (in millions) Valuation Technique(s) Inputs Inputs
Valuation of third party appraisal on
Residential mortgage loans held for sale.........ccccoeovnvcvricnnne, $ 67 underlying collateral Lossseverity rates  -% - 100%
Valuation of third party appraisal on
Impaired commercial 10ans............cccoceeeeierieeieeeecee e 155 underlying collateral Loss severity rates 1% - 79%

Significant Unobservable Inputs for Non-Recurring Fair Value Measurements

Residential mortgage loans held for sale represent subprime residential mortgage |oans which were previously acquired with the
intent of securitizing or selling them to third parties. The weighted average loss severity rate for these loans was approximately
59% at June 30, 2013. These severity rates are primarily impacted by the outstanding balances of the loans and the value of the
underlying collateral securing the loans.

Impaired loans represent commercial loans. Loss severity rates for impaired loans are also primarily impacted by the outstanding
loan balance and the value of the underlying collateral securing the loan. The weighted average severity rate for these loans was
approximately 22% at June 30, 2013. These severity rates are primarily impacted by the outstanding bal ances of the loans and the
value of the underlying collateral securing the loans.

Valuation Techniques Following isadescription of valuation methodol ogies used for assets and liabilities recorded at fair value
and for estimating fair value for those financial instruments not recorded at fair value for which fair value disclosureis required.

Short-term financial assets and liabilities - The carrying amount of certain financial assets and liabilities recorded at cost is
considered to approximate fair value because they are short-term in nature, bear interest rates that approximate market rates, and
generally have negligible credit risk. These itemsinclude cash and due from banks, interest bearing deposits with banks, accrued
interest receivable, customer acceptance assets and liabilities and short-term borrowings.

Federal funds sold and purchased and securities purchased and sold under resale and repurchase agreements - Federal funds sold
and purchased and securities purchased and sold under resal e and repurchase agreementsarerecorded at cost. A significant majority
of these transactions are short-term in nature and, as such, the recorded amounts approximate fair value. For transactions with
long-dated maturities, fair value is based on dealer quotes for instruments with similar terms and collateral.

Loans - Except for leveraged loans, selected residential mortgage loans and certain foreign currency denominated commercial
loans, we do not record loans at fair value on a recurring basis. From time to time, we record impairments to loans. The write-
downs can be based on observable market price of the loan or the underlying collateral value. In addition, fair value estimates are
determined based on the product type, financial characteristics, pricing features and maturity.

* Mortgage LoansHeld for Sale — Certain residential mortgage loans are classified asheld for sale and are recorded at the lower
of amortized cost or fair value. Thefair value of these mortgage | oansisdetermined based on the val uation information observed
in alternative exit markets, such as the whole loan market, adjusted for portfolio specific factors. These factors include the
location of thecollateral, theloan-to-val ueratio, the estimated rate and timing of default, the probability of default or foreclosure
and loss severity if foreclosure does occur.

e Leveraged Loans— We record leveraged loans and revolvers held for sale at fair value. Where available, market consensus
pricing obtained from independent sourcesis used to estimate the fair value of the leveraged |loans and revolvers. In validating
the fair value, we take into consideration the number of participants submitting pricing information, the range of pricing
information and distribution, the methodol ogy applied by the pricing servicesto cleanse the data and market liquidity. Where
consensus pricing information is not available, fair value is estimated using observable market prices of similar instruments
or inputs, including bonds, credit derivatives, and loans with similar characteristics. Where observable market parameters are
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not available, fair value is determined based on contractual cash flows, adjusted for the probability of default and estimated
recoveries where applicable, discounted at the rate demanded by market participants under current market conditions. In those
cases, we also consider the loan specific attributes and inherent credit risk and risk mitigating factors such as collateral
arrangements.

Commercial Loans—Commercia |oansand commercial real estateloans are val ued by discounting the contractual cash flows,
adjusted for prepayments and the borrower’s credit risk, using adiscount rate that reflectsthe current rates offered to borrowers
of similar credit standing for the remaining term to maturity and, when applicable, our own estimate of liquidity premium.

Commercial impaired loans — Fair value is determined based on the pricing quotes obtained from an independent third party
appraisal.

Consumer Loans — The estimated fair value of our consumer loans were determined by devel oping an approximate range of
value from amix of various sources as appropriate for the respective pool of assets. These sources included estimates from an
HSBC affiliatewhich reflect over-the-counter trading activity, forward | ooking discounted cash flow model susing assumptions
consistent with those which would be used by market participantsin valuing such receivables; trading input from other market
participants which includes observed primary and secondary trades; where appropriate, the impact of current estimated rating
agency credit tranchinglevel swith the associated benchmark credit spreads; and general discussionsheld directly with potential
investors. For revolving products, the estimated fair value excludes future draws on the available credit line as well as other
items and, therefore, does not include the fair value of the entire relationship.

Valuation inputs include estimates of future interest rates, prepayment speeds, default and loss curves, estimated collateral
value and market discount rates reflecting management’s estimate of the rate that would be required by investorsin the current
market given the specific characteristics and inherent credit risk of the receivables. Some of these inputs are influenced by
collateral value changes and unemployment rates. Where available, such inputs are derived principally from or corroborated
by observable market data. We perform analytical reviews of fair value changes on a quarterly basis and periodically validate
our valuation methodol ogies and assumptions based on the results of actual sales of such receivables. In addition, from time
to time, we may engage a third party valuation specialist to measure the fair value of a pool of receivables. Portfolio risk
management personnel provide further validation through discussions with third party brokers and other market participants.
Since an active market for these receivables does not exist, the fair value measurement process uses unobservable significant
inputs specific to the performance characteristics of the various receivable portfolios.

Lending-related commitments - The fair value of commitments to extend credit, standby letters of credit and financial guarantees
are not included in the table. The magjority of the lending related commitments are not carried at fair value on arecurring basis nor
are they actively traded. These instruments generate fees, which approximate those currently charged to originate similar
commitments, which are recognized over the term of the commitment period. Deferred fees on commitments and standby letters
of credit totaled $45 million and $46 million at June 30, 2013 and December 31, 2012, respectively.

Precious metals trading - Precious metals trading primarily include physical inventory which is valued using spot prices.

Securities - Where available, debt and equity securities are valued based on quoted market prices. If a quoted market price for
the identical security is not available, the security is valued based on quotes from similar securities, where possible. For certain
securities, internally developed valuation models are used to determine fair values or validate quotes obtained from pricing
services. The following summarizes the valuation methodology used for our major security classes:

U.S. Treasury, U.S. Government agency issued or guaranteed and Obligations of U.S. state and political subdivisions—As
these securities transact in an active market, fair value measurements are based on quoted prices for the identical security or
quoted pricesfor similar securitieswith adjustmentsas necessary made using observabl einputswhich are market corroborated.

U.S. Government sponsored enterprises — For government sponsored mortgage-backed securities which transact in an active
market, fair value measurements are based on quoted prices for the identical security or quoted prices for similar securities
with adjustments as necessary made using observable inputs which are market corroborated. For government sponsored
mortgage-backed securities which do not transact in an active market, fair value is determined primarily based on pricing
information obtained from pricing services and is verified by internal review processes.

Asset-backed securities, including collateralized debt obligations— Fair value is primarily determined based on pricing
information obtai ned from independent pricing services adjusted for the characteristics and the performance of the underlying
collateral.
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Additional information relating to asset-backed securities and collateralized debt obligations as of June 30, 2013 is presented in
the following tables:

Trading asset-backed securities and related collateral:

Prime Alt-A Subprime
Level Level Level Level Level Level
Rating of Securities:® Collateral Type: 2 3 2 3 2 3 Total
(in millions)
AAA Al Residential mortgages................. $ — % — $91 $— $71 $ — $162
CCC-Unrated.........cooevvveveeevrenne Residential mortgages................. — — — 5 — 5

$ — $ — $91 $ — $ 7 $ — $167

Trading collateralized debt obligations and related collateral:

Rating of Securities:® Collateral Type: Level 2 Level 3
(in millions)
AAA A e SHUAENE [0ANS......veeveeeeieieireie e $ 74 $ —
BBB =B ..o Corporate |0aNS .......cevveuereeerreresiereee s — —
(@11 SRS — 228
Total BBB -B.......ccoooiiiiiiiieeeeeeee — 228

3T o8

Available-for-sale securities backed by collateral:

Commercial
Mortgages Prime Alt-A Subprime
Level Level Level Level Level Level Level Level
Rating of Securities:® Collateral Type: 2 3 2 3 2 3 2 3 Total
(in millions)
AAA A, Residential mortgages... $165 $§ — $§ — $ — $ — $ — $ — $ — $165
Home equity .................. — — — — 106 — — — 106
Total AAA -A.....eenee. 165 — — — 106 — — — 271
BBB -B ......ccccovririenn. Home equity .......c.c........ — — — — 79 — — — 79
Other.....coveeveeeeeceeee, — — — — 104 — — — 104
Total BBB -B................. — — — — 183 — — — 183
CCC-Unrated................. Residential mortgages... — — — — 1 — — — 1
Home equity .................. — — — — 61 — — — 61
Total CCC -Unrated....... — — — — 62 — — — 62

@ We utilize Standard & Poor's ("S& P") as the primary source of credit ratings in the tables above. If S& P ratings are not available, ratings by Moody's and
Fitch are used in that order.

e  Other domestic debt and foreign debt securities (corporate and government) - A significant portion of the domestic and foreign
securities are classified as Level 3 measurements. For non-callable corporate securities, a credit spread scale is created for
each issuer. These spreads are then added to the equivalent maturity U.S. Treasury yield to determine current pricing. Credit
spreads are obtained from the new market, secondary trading levels and dealer quotes. For securities with early redemption
features, an option adjusted spread (“OAS") model isincorporated to adjust the spreads determined above. Additionally, we
survey the broker/dealer community to obtain relevant trade data including benchmark quotes and updated spreads.

Equity securities— Except for those legacy investments in hedge funds, since most of our securities are transacted in active
markets, fair value measurementsare determined based on quoted pricesfor theidentical security. For mutual fund investments,
we receive monthly statements from the investment manager with the estimated fair value.
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Derivatives — Derivatives are recorded at fair value. Asset and liability positions in individual derivatives that are covered by
legally enforceable master netting agreements, including receivables (payables) for cash collateral posted (received), are offset
and presented net in accordance with accounting principles which allow the offsetting of amounts.

Derivatives traded on an exchange are valued using quoted prices. OTC derivatives, which comprise a majority of derivative
contract positions, areval ued using val uation techniques. Thefair valuefor themajority of our derivativeinstrumentsaredetermined
based on internally developed models that utilize independently corroborated market parameters, including interest rate yield
curves, option volatilities, and currency rates. For complex or long-dated derivative products where market data is not available,
fair value may be affected by the underlying assumptions about, among other things, the timing of cash flows, expected exposure,
probability of default and recovery rates. The fair values of certain structured derivative products are sensitive to unobservable
inputs such as default correlations of the referenced credit and volatilities of embedded options. These estimates are susceptible
to significant change in future periods as market conditions change.

We use the Overnight Indexed Swap (O1S) curves asinputs to measure the fair value of collateralized interest rate derivatives.
Significant inputs related to derivative classes are broken down as follows:

»  Credit Derivatives —Usecredit default curvesand recovery rateswhich aregenerally provided by broker quotesand various
pricing services. Certain credit derivatives may also use correlation inputsin their model valuation. Correlation is derived
using market quotes from brokers and various pricing services.

* Interest Rate Derivatives — Swaps use interest rate curves based on currency that are actively quoted by brokers and other
pricing services. Options will also use volatility inputs which are also quoted in the broker market.

e Foreign Exchange (“FX") Derivatives— FX transactions use spot and forward FX rates which are quoted in the broker
market.

»  Equity Derivatives — Use listed equity security pricing and implied volatilities from equity traded options position.
»  Precious Metal Derivative — Use spot and forward metal rates which are quoted in the broker market.

Asdiscussed earlier, we make fair value adjustmentsto model valuationsin order to ensure that those val ues represent appropriate
estimates of fair value. These adjustments, which are applied consistently over time, are generally required to reflect factors such
as bid-ask spreads and counterparty credit risk that can affect pricesin arms-length transactions with unrelated third parties. Such
adjustments are based on management judgment and may not be observable.

We estimate the counterparty credit risk for financial assets and own credit standing for financial liabilities (the “credit risk
adjustments”) in determining the fair value measurement. For derivative instruments, we calculate the credit risk adjustment by
applying the probability of default of the counterparty to the expected exposure, and multiplying the result by the expected loss
given default. We aso take into consideration the risk mitigating factors including collateral agreements and master netting
arrangements in determining credit risk adjustments. We estimate the implied probability of default based on the credit spreads of
the specific counterparties observed in the credit default swap market. Where credit default spread of the specific counterparty is
not available, we use the credit default spread of specific proxy (e.g., the CDS spread of the parent). Where specific proxy credit
default swap is not available, we apply a blended approach based on a combination of credit default swap referencing to credit
names of similar credit standing in the same industry sector and the historical rating-based probability of default.

Real estate owned - Fair value is determined based on third party appraisals obtained at the time we taketitle to the property and,
if less than the carrying amount of the loan, the carrying amount of the loan is adjusted to the fair value. The carrying amount of
the property is further reduced, if necessary, not less than once every 45 days to reflect observable local market data including
local area sales data.

Mortgage servicing rights - We el ected to measure residential mortgage servicing rights, which are classified as intangible assets,
at fair value. Thefair valuefor the residential mortgage servicing rightsis determined based on an option adjusted approach which
involves discounting servicing cash flows under various interest rate projections at risk-adjusted rates. The valuation model also
incorporates our best estimate of the prepayment speed of the mortgage |oans, current cost to service and discount rateswhich are
unobservable. As changesin interest rates is a key factor affecting the prepayment speed and hence the fair value of the mortgage
servicing rights, we use various interest rate derivatives and forward purchase contracts of mortgage-backed securities to risk-
manage the mortgage servicing rights.

Structured notes — Certain structured notes were elected to be measured at fair value in their entirety under fair value option
accounting principles. As aresult, derivative features embedded in the structured notes are included in the valuation of fair value.
The valuation of embedded derivatives may include significant unobservable inputs such as correlation of the referenced credit
names or volatility of the embedded option. Other significant inputsinclude interest rates (yield curve), timeto maturity, expected
loss and loss severity.
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Cash flows of the funded notes are discounted at the appropriate rate for the applicable duration of the instrument adjusted for our
own credit spreads. The credit spreads applied to these instruments are derived from the spreads at which institutions of similar
credit standing would offer for issuing similar structured instruments as of the measurement date. The market spreadsfor structured
notes are generally lower than the credit spreads observed for plain vanilla debt or in the credit default swap market.

Long-term debt — We elected to apply fair value option to certain own debt issuances for which fair value hedge accounting
otherwise would have been applied. These own debt issuances elected under FVO are traded in secondary markets and, as such,
the fair value is determined based on observed prices for the specific instrument. The observed market price of these instruments
reflectstheeffect of our own credit spreads. Thecredit spreadsapplied totheseinstrumentswerederived from the spreadsrecognized
in the secondary market for similar debt as of the measurement date.

For long-term debt recorded at cost, fair value is determined based on quoted market prices where available. If quoted market
pricesarenot available, fair valueisbased on dealer quotes, quoted prices of similar instruments, or internally devel oped valuation
models adjusted for own credit risks.

Deposits — For fair value disclosure purposes, the carrying amount of deposits with no stated maturity (e.g., demand, savings, and
certain money market deposits), which represents the amount payable upon demand, is considered to generally approximate fair
value. For deposits with fixed maturities, fair value is estimated by discounting cash flows using market interest rates currently
offered on deposits with similar characteristics and maturities.

21. Litigation and Regulatory Matters

In addition to the matters described below, inthe ordinary course of business, we are routinely named as defendantsin, or asparties
to, various legal actions and proceedings relating to activities of our current and/or former operations. These legal actions and
proceedings may include claims for substantial or indeterminate compensatory or punitive damages, or for injunctiverelief. Inthe
ordinary course of business, we also are subject to governmental and regulatory examinations, information-gathering requests,
investigations and proceedings (both formal and informal), certain of which may result in adverse judgments, settlements, fines,
penalties, injunctions or other relief. In connection with formal and informal inquiries by these regulators, we receive numerous
reguests, subpoenas and orders seeking documents, testimony and other information in connection with various aspects of our
regulated activities.

In view of theinherent unpredictability of litigation and regulatory matters, particularly where the damages sought are substantial
or indeterminate or when the proceedings or investigations arein the early stages, we cannot determinewith any degree of certainty
the timing or ultimate resolution of litigation and regulatory matters or the eventual loss, fines, penalties or business impact, if
any, that may result. We establish reservesfor litigation and regulatory matters when those matters present loss contingencies that
are both probable and can be reasonably estimated. The actual costs of resolving litigation and regul atory matters, however, may
be substantially higher than the amounts reserved for those matters.

For the litigation and governmental and regulatory matters disclosed below as to which aloss in excess of accrued liahility is
reasonably possible in future periods and for which there is sufficient currently available information on the basis of which
management believes it can make a reliable estimate, we believe a reasonable estimate could be as much as $1.8 billion. The
litigation and governmental and regulatory matters underlying this estimate of possible loss will change from time to time and
actual results may vary significantly from this current estimate.

Giventhesubstantial or indeterminate amounts sought in certain of these matters, and theinherent unpredictability of such matters,
an adverse outcome in certain of these matters could have a material adverse effect on our consolidated financial statementsin
particular quarterly or annual periods.

Litigation

Credit Card Litigation Since June 2005, HSBC Bank USA, HSBC Finance Corporation, HSBC North America and HSBC, as
well as other banks and Visa Inc. and MasterCard Incorporated, have been named as defendants in four class actions filed in
Connecticut and the Eastern District of New York: Photos Etc. Corp. et al v. Visa U.S.A., Inc., et al.(D. Conn. No. 3:05-CV-01007
(WWE)); National Association of Convenience Stores, et al. v. Visa U.S.A., Inc., et al.(E.D.N.Y. No. 05-CV 4520 (JG)); Jethro
Holdings, Inc., et al. v. Visa U.S.A,, Inc. et al. (E.D.N.Y. No. 05-CV-4521(JG)); and American Booksellers Asps' v. Visa U.S.A.,
Inc. et al. (E.D.N.Y. No. 05-CV-5391 (JG)). Numerous other complaints containing similar allegations (in which no HSBC entity
isnamed) werefiled acrossthe country against Visalnc., MasterCard Incorporated and other banks. Variousindividual (non-class)
actions were also brought by merchants against Visa Inc., and MasterCard Incorporated. These class and individual merchant
actionsprincipally allege that theimposition of ano-surcharge rule by the associations and/or the establishment of theinterchange
fee charged for credit card transactions causes the merchant discount fee paid by retailers to be set at supracompetitive levelsin

90



HSBC USA Inc.

violation of the Federal antitrust laws. These suits were consolidated and transferred to the Eastern District of New York. The
consolidated case is: In re Payment Card Interchange Fee and Merchant Discount Antitrust Litigation, MDL 1720, E.D.N.Y.
(“MDL 1720"). On February 7, 2011, MasterCard Incorporated, Visalnc., the other defendants, including HSBC Bank USA, and
certain affiliates of the defendants entered into settlement and judgment sharing agreements (the “ Sharing Agreements”) that
provide for the apportionment of certain defined costs and liabilities that the defendants, including HSBC Bank USA and our
affiliates, may incur, jointly and/or severally, in the event of an adversejudgment or global settlement of one or all of these actions.
A class settlement was preliminarily approved by the District Court on November 27, 2012. The class settlement is subject to final
approval by the District Court. Pursuant to the class settlement agreement and the Sharing Agreements, we have deposited our
portion of the class settlement amount into an escrow account for payment in the event the class settlement is approved. On
October 22, 2012, a settlement agreement with the individual merchant plaintiffs became effective, and pursuant to the Sharing
Agreements we have deposited our portion of that settlement amount into an escrow account.

Numerous merchants-including absent class member large and small merchants and certain named plaintiff merchants and trade
associations-have objected and/or opted out of the settlement during the exclusion period, which ended on May 28, 2013. The
defendants had the right to terminate the settlement agreement because the volume threshold was reached, but elected not to do
so. We anticipate that most of the larger merchants who opted out of the settlement will initiate separate actions seeking to recover
damages. A hearing on class plaintiffs motion for final approval of the class settlement is scheduled for September 12, 2013, before
the District Court.

Checking Account Overdraft Litigation On March 1, 2011 an action captioned Ofra Levin et al v. HSBC Bank USA, N.A. et al.
(N.Y. Sup. Ct. 650562/11) (the “State Action”) was filed in New York State Court on behalf of a putative New York class of
customers who allegedly incurred overdraft fees due to the posting order of debit card transactions. We filed a motion to dismiss
the complaint, which was granted in part with leave to amend.

Subsequently, plaintiffs (the “Levin Plaintiffs’) in the State Action acquired new attorneys and filed anew action in federal court,
captioned Ofra Levin et al. v. HSBC Bank USA, N.A. etal. (E.D.N.Y. 12-CV-5696) (the“Levin Federal Action”). TheLevin Federal
Action seeksrelief for a putative nationwide class and a putative New York subclass, asserting the same claims asthe State Action
and adding allegations that deposited funds are not made available pursuant to HSBC's funds availability disclosures. The Levin
Plaintiffs also filed a motion to dismiss the State Action, which the state court denied.

The Levin Plaintiffs former counsel amended the complaint in the State Action substituting a new named plaintiff, Darek Jura,
and the State Action wasrecaptioned In Re HSBC Bank USA, N.A. Checking Account Overdraft Litigation. Jurathen filed amaotion
for class certification. HSBC's response deadline has not been set, as the State Action is being held in abeyance until August 14,
2013. Jura also filed a federal action captioned Darek Jura v. HSBC Bank USA, N.A. et al. (E.D.N.Y. 12-CV-6224) (the “Jura
Federal Action”), presenting similar claimsto the State Action.

On February 20, 2013, afourth action captioned Hanes v. HSBC Bank USA, N.A. (E.D. Va. 13-CV-00229) (the "Hanes Action")
wasfiled. The HanesAction presentssimilar claimsto the previously filed actions and seeksrelief for a putative nationwide class
and a putative California subclass.

We subsequently sought centralization of all three federal actions with the Judicial Panel on Multidistrict Litigation ("JPML"),
and on June 5, 2013, the JPML created the HSBC Overdraft MDL and transferred the Hanes Action to the Eastern District of New
York for coordinated or consolidated pretrial proceedings with the Levin Federal Action and the Jura Federal Action. HSBC has
filed motions to dismiss in each of the three federal actions,

On July 22, 2013 the Eastern District of New issued an Order which: (1) consolidated the three federal actions; (2) appointed
counsel in the Jura Federal Action and the Hanes Action as interim class counsel; (3) ordered the interim class counsel to file a
consolidated complaint within 30 days; and (4) denied HSBC's previoudly filed motions to dismiss as moot, without prejudice.
Additionally, the plaintiffs in each of the underlying federal actions, respectively, have served written discovery, and HSBC has
responded and made productions in each of the actions.

DeKalb County, et al. v. HSBC North America Holdings Inc., et al. In October 2012, three of the five counties constituting the
metropolitan areaof Atlanta, Georgia, filed alawsuit pursuant to the Fair Housing Act against HSBC North Americaand numerous
subsidiaries, including HSBC Finance Corporation and HSBC Bank USA, in connection with residential mortgage lending,
servicing and financing activities. In the action, captioned DeKalb County, Fulton County, and Cobb County, Georgia v. HSBC
North America Holdings Inc., et al. (N.D. Ga. No. 12-CV-03640), the plaintiff counties assert that the defendants' allegedly
discriminatory lending and servicing practicesled to increased | oan delinquencies, forecl osures and vacancies, whichinturn caused
the plaintiff counties to incur damages in the form of lost property tax revenues and increased municipal services costs, among
other damages. Defendants’ motion to dismiss the case has been fully briefed and we are awaiting scheduling of oral argument.

Lender-Placed Insurance Matters Lender-placed insurance involves a lender obtaining an insurance policy (hazard or flood
insurance) on amortgaged property when the borrower fails to maintain their own policy. The cost of the lender-placed insurance

91



HSBC USA Inc.

is then passed on to the borrower. Industry practices with respect to lender-placed insurance are receiving heightened regul atory
scrutiny from both federal and state agencies. Beginning in October 2011, anumber of mortgage servicers and insurers, including
our affiliate, HSBC Insurance (USA) Inc., received subpoenasfromtheNew York Department of Financial Services(the*NYDFS”)
with respect to lender-placed insurance activities dating back to September 2005. We have and will continue to provide
documentation and information to the NY DFSthat isresponsiveto the subpoena. Additionally, in March 2013, the M assachusetts
Attorney General issuedaCivil Investigative Demand (“MA LPI CID") toHSBC Mortgage Corporation (USA) seekinginformation
about lender-placed insurance activities. We are providing responsive documentation and information to the Massachusetts
Attorney General and will continue to do so.

Between June 2011 and April 2013, several putative class actions related to lender-placed insurance were filed against various
HSBC U.S. entities, including actions against HSBC USA, Inc. and certain of our subsidiaries captioned Montanez et al v. HSBC
Mortgage Corporation (USA) et al. (E.D. Pa. No. 11-CV-4074); West et al. v. HSBC Mortgage Corporation (USA) et al. (South
Carolina Court of Common Pleas, 14th Circuit No. 12-CP-00687); Weller et al. v. HSBC Mortgage Services, Inc. et al. (D. Cal.
No. 13-CV-00185); and Hoover et al. v. HSBC Bank USA, N.A. et al. (N.D.N.Y. 13-CV-00149); and Lopez v. HSBC Bank USA,
N.A. et al. (S.D. Fla 13-CV-21104). These actions relate primarily to industry-wide practices, and include allegations regarding
the relationships and potential conflicts of interest between the various entities that place the insurance, the value and cost of the
insurance that is placed, back-dating policiesto the date the borrower allowed it to lapse, self-dealing and insufficient disclosure.
HSBC filed motions to dismiss the complaintsin the Montanez, L opez, Weller, and Hoover matters. The Court denied the motion
to dismiss in the Lopez matter and we await the court’s ruling on the other motions. In addition, in Montanez, plaintiffsfiled a
motion for multi-district litigation treatment to consolidate the action with Lopez. In West, discovery is ongoing.

Private Mortgage Insurance Matters Private Mortgage Insurance (“PMI™) isinsurance required to be obtained by home purchasers
who provide a down payment less than a certain percentage threshold of the purchase price, typically 20 percent. The insurance
generally protectsthe lender against adefault on theloan. In January 2013, a putative class action related to PM| was filed against
various HSBC U.S. entities, including HSBC USA, Inc. and certain of our subsidiaries captioned Ba v. HSBC Bank USA, N.A. et
al (E.D. Pa. No. 2:13-cv-00072PD). Thisaction relates primarily to industry-wide practices and includes allegations regarding the
relationships and potential conflicts of interest between the various entities that place the insurance, self-dealing, insufficient
disclosures and improper fees. HSBC filed a motion to dismiss the complaint on the Ba matter. No date has been set for oral
argument yet, and HSBC awaits the court's ruling.

People of the State of New York v. HSBC Bank USA, National Association and HSBC Mortgage Corporation (USA). On June 3,
2013, the New York Attorney General ("AG") commenced a special proceeding against HSBC Bank USA and HSBC Mortgage
Corporation ("HSBC"), aleging that HSBC repeatedly violated Executive Law 63(12). Specifically, the AG claims that HSBC
has an obligation to file a Request for Judicial Intervention ("RJI") at the same time that it files proof of service in aforeclosure
action. Thefiling of an RJl triggers the scheduling of a mandatory settlement conference. According to the AG, thefailuretofile
theRJI causesasignificant delay inmandatory settlement conferencesbeing scheduled, during whichtimethe AG allegesadditional
pendlties, fees and interest accrue to the borrower. The AG seeks both achangein HSBC's practices and damages for individual
homeowners. HSBC believesit has a number of factual and legal defenses available to the AG's claims.

Credit Default Swap Litigation In July 2013 HSBC Bank, HSBC Holdings plc. and HSBC Bank plc. were named as defendants,
among others, in three putative class actions filed in federal courtslocated in New York and Chicago. These class actions alege
that the defendants, which include ISDA, Markit and several other financial institutions, conspired to restrain tradein violation of
the federal anti-trust laws by, among other things, restricting access to credit default swap pricing exchanges and blocking new
entrantsinto the exchange market, with the purpose and effect of artificially inflating the bid/ask spread paid to buy and sell credit
default swaps in the United States. The Plaintiffs in these suits purport to represent a class of al persons who purchased or sold
credit default swaps to defendantsin the United States. These actions all are at avery early stage.

Madoff Litigation In December 2008, Bernard L. Madoff (“Madoff”) was arrested for running a Ponzi scheme and a trustee was
appointed for the liquidation of hisfirm, Bernard L. Madoff Investment Securities LL C (“Madoff Securities’), an SEC-registered
broker-dealer and investment adviser. Various non-U.S. HSBC companies provided custodial, administration and similar services
toanumber of fundsincorporated outsidethe United Stateswhose assetswereinvested with Madoff Securities. Plaintiffs(including
funds, fundsinvestors and the Madoff Securitiestrustee, as described bel ow) have commenced M adoff-rel ated proceedings against
numerous defendants in a multitude of jurisdictions. Various HSBC companies have been named as defendants in suits in the
United States, Ireland, Luxembourg and other jurisdictions. Certain suits (which include U.S. putative class actions) allege that
the HSBC defendants knew or should have known of Madoff's fraud and breached various duties to the funds and fund investors.

In November 2011, the District Court judge overseeing three related putative class actions in the Southern District of New York,
captioned In re Herald, Primeo and Thema Funds Securities Litigation (S.D.N.Y. Nos. 09-CV-0289 (RMB), 09-CV-2558 (RMB)),
dismissed al claims against the HSBC defendants on forum non conveniens grounds, but temporarily stayed thisruling asto one
of the actions against the HSBC defendants - the claims of investors in Thema International Fund plc. - in light of a proposed
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amended settlement agreement between the lead plaintiff in that action and the relevant HSBC defendants (including, subject to
the granting of leave to effect a proposed pleading amendment, HSBC Bank USA). In December 2011, the District Court lifted
thistemporary stay and dismissed all remaining claimsagainst the HSB C defendants, and declined to consider preliminary approval
of the settlement. In light of the District Court's decisions, HSBC has terminated the settlement agreement. The Thema plaintiff
contests HSBC's right to terminate. Plaintiffsin all three actions filed notices of appeal to the U.S. Circuit Court of Appeals for
the Second Circuit, where the actions are captioned In re Herald, Primeo and Thema Funds Securities Litigation (2nd Cir, Nos.
12-156, 12-184, 12-162). Briefing in that appeal was completed in September 2012 and oral argument was held in April 2013. A
decision is expected later this year.

In December 2010, the Madoff Securitiestrustee commenced suits against various HSBC companiesin the U.S. Bankruptcy Court
and in the English High Court. The U.S. action, captioned Picard v. HSBC et al (Bankr S.D.N.Y. No. 09-01364), which a so names
certain funds, investment managers, and other entities and individuals, sought $9 billion in damages and additional recoveries
from HSBC Bank USA, certain of our foreign affiliates and the various other codefendants. It sought damages against the HSBC
defendants for allegedly aiding and abetting Madoff's fraud and breach of fiduciary duty. In July 2011, after withdrawing the case
from the Bankruptcy Court in order to decide certain threshold issues, the District Court dismissed the trustee's various common
law claims on the grounds that the trustee lacks standing to assert them. In December 2011, the trustee filed a notice of appeal to
theU.S. Court of Appeal sfor the Second Circuit, wheretheactioniscaptioned Picard v. HSBC Bank plcetal. (2nd Cir., No. 11-5207).
Briefing in that appeal was completed in April 2012, and oral argument was held in November 2012. On June 20, 2013, the Second
Circuit Court of Appeals affirmed the decision of the District Court. The District Court returned the remaining claims to the
Bankruptcy Court for further proceedings. Those claims seek, pursuant to U.S. bankruptcy law, recovery of unspecified amounts
received by the HSBC defendants from funds invested with Madoff, including amounts that the HSBC defendants received when
they redeemed units held in the various funds. The HSBC defendants acquired those fund units in connection with financing
transactionsthe HSBC defendantshad entered into with variousclients. Thetrustee'sU.S. bankruptcy law claimsal so seek recovery
of feesearned by the HSBC defendantsfor providing custodial, administration and similar servicesto thefunds. Between September
2011 and April 2012, the HSBC defendants and certain other defendants moved again to withdraw the case from the Bankruptcy
Court. The District Court granted those withdrawal motions as to certain issues, and briefing and oral arguments on the merits of
the withdrawn issues are now complete. The District Court has issued rulings on several of the withdrawn issues, but decisions
with respect to other issues remain pending and are expected in 2013. Thetrustee's English action, which namesHSBC Bank USA
and other HSBC entities as defendants, seeks recovery of unspecified transfers of money from Madoff Securities to or through
HSBC on the ground that the HSBC defendants actually or constructively knew of Madoff's fraud. HSBC has not been served
with the trustee's English action.

Between October 2009 and April 2012, Fairfield Sentry Limited, Fairfield Sigma Limited and Fairfield Lambda Limited
(“Fairfield”), funds whose assets were directly or indirectly invested with Madoff Securities, commenced multiple suits in the
British Virgin Islands and the United States against numerous fund shareholders, including various HSBC companies that acted
as nominees for clients of HSBC's private banking business and other clients who invested in the Fairfield funds. The Fairfield
actions, including an action captioned Fairfield Sentry Ltd. v. Zurich Capital Markets et al. (Bankr. S.D.N.Y. No. 10-03634), in
which HSBC Bank USA is a defendant, and an action captioned Fairfield Sentry Ltd. et al. v. ABN AMRO Schweiz AG et al.
(Bankr. S.D.N.Y. No. 10-03636), naming beneficial owners of accountsheld in the name of Citco Global Custody (NA) NV, which
include HSBC Private Bank, adivision of HSBC Bank USA, asnominal owner of those accountsfor its customers, seek restitution
of amounts paid to the defendants in connection with share redemptions, on the ground that such payments were made by mistake,
based on inflated values resulting from Madoff's fraud. Some of these actions also seek recovery of the share redemptions under
British Virgin Idlands insolvency law. The U.S. actions are currently stayed in the Bankruptcy Court pending developments in
related appellate litigation in the British Virgin Islands.

HSBC Bank USA was also adefendant in an action filed in July 2011, captioned Wailea Partners, LP v. HSBC Bank USA, N.A.
(N.D. Ca. No. 11-CV-3544), arising from derivatives transactions between Wailea Partners, LP and HSBC Bank USA that were
linked to the performance of afund that placed its assets with Madoff Securities pursuant to a specified investment strategy. The
plaintiff alleged, among other things, that HSBC Bank USA knew or should have known that the fund's assetswould not beinvested
as contemplated. The plaintiff also aleged that HSBC Bank USA marketed, sold and entered into the derivatives transactions on
the basis of materially misleading statements and omissions in violation of California law. The plaintiff sought rescission of the
transactions and return of amounts paid to HSBC Bank USA in connection with the transactions, together with interest, fees,
expensesand disbursements. In December 2011, the District Court granted HSBC's motion to dismissthe complaint with prejudice,
and the plaintiff appealed to the U.S. Court of Appeals for the Ninth Circuit, where the action is captioned Wailea Partners, LP v.
HSBC Bank USA, N.A., (9th Cir., No. 11-18041). Briefing on that appeal was completed in May 2012, and oral argument has not
yet been scheduled.

There are many factors that may affect the range of possible outcomes, and the resulting financial impact, of the various Madoff-
related proceedings including, but not limited to, the circumstances of the fraud, the multiple jurisdictions in which proceeding
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have been brought and the number of different plaintiffs and defendantsin such proceedings. For these reasons, among others, we
are unable to reasonably estimate the aggregate liability or ranges of liability that might arise as a result of these claims but they
could be significant. In any event, we consider that we have good defenses to these claims and will continue to defend them
vigoroudly.

Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corporation v. Bank of America, et al. On March 14, 2013, the Federal Home Loan Mortgage
Corporation (“Freddie Mac”), filed a lawsuit in the United States District Court for the Eastern District of Virginia naming as
defendants HSBC Bank USA and other panel USD LIBOR panel banks, aswell as the British Bankers Association. The lawsuit
alleges improper practices in connection with the setting of USD LIBOR, and claims violation of the Sherman Act, breach of
contract, and fraud arising out of variousswap agreementsentered into by FreddieMacwiththe USD L IBOR panel banks, including
HSBC Bank USA. In May 2013 the lawsuit was transferred to the USD LIBOR Litigation Multi-District Proceeding pending
before Judge Buchwald in the Southern District of New York where it will be subject to a stay imposed by that court on all new
proceedings.

The lawsuit is at an early stage, and does not allege specific damages asto HSBC Bank USA.

Mortgage Securitization Activity and Litigation Inaddition to the repurchaserisk described in Note 19, “ Guarantee Arrangements
and Pledged Assets,” we have also been involved as a sponsor/seller of loans used to facilitate whole loan securitizations
underwritten by HSI. During 2005-2007, we purchased and sold $24 billion of whole loans to HSI which were subseguently
securitized and sold by HSI to third parties. The outstanding principal balance on these loans was approximately $6.9 hillion and
$7.4 billion at June 30, 2013 and December 31, 2012, respectively.

Participantsinthe U.S. mortgage securitization market that purchased and repackaged whol el oanshave been the subject of lawsuits
and governmental and regulatory investigationsand inquiries, which have been directed at groupswithinthe U.S. mortgage market,
such asservicers, originators, underwriters, trustees or sponsorsof securitizations, and at particul ar participantswithinthese groups.
As the industry's residential mortgage foreclosure issues continue, HSBC Bank USA has taken title to an increasing number of
foreclosed homes as trustee on behalf of various securitization trusts. As nominal record owner of these properties, HSBC Bank
USA has been sued by municipalities and tenants alleging various violations of law, including laws regarding property upkeep
and tenants' rights. While we believe and continue to maintain that the obligations at issue and any related liability are properly
those of the servicer of each trust, we continue to receive significant and adverse publicity in connection with these and similar
matters, including foreclosures that are serviced by othersin the name of “HSBC, as trustee.”

HSBC Bank USA and certain of our affiliates have been named as defendantsin anumber of actionsin connection with residential
mortgage-backed securities (“RMBS’) offerings, which generally allege that the offering documents for securities issued by
securitization trusts contained material misstatements and omissions, including statements regarding the underwriting standards
governing the underlying mortgage loans. In September 2011, the Federal Housing Finance Agency (the “FHFA™), acting in its
capacity as conservator for the Federal National Mortgage Association (“Fannie Mag”) and the Federal Home Loan Mortgage
Corporation (“Freddie Mac”), filed an action in the U.S. District Court for the Southern District of New York against HSBC Bank
USA, HSBC USA, HSBC North America, HSI, HSI Asset Securitization Corporation (“HASCQO”) and five former and current
officers and directors of HASCO seeking damages or rescission of mortgage-backed securities purchased by Fannie Mae and
Freddie Mac that were either underwritten or sponsored by HSBC entities. The aggregate unpaid principal balance of the securities
was approximately $1.6 billion at June 30, 2013. This action, captioned Federal Housing Finance Agency, as Conservator for the
Federal National Mortgage Association and the Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corporation v. HSBC North America Holdings
Inc. et al. (S.D.N.Y. No. CV 11-6189-LAK), is one of a series of similar actions filed against 17 financial institutions alleging
violations of federal and state securities laws in connection with the sale of private-label RMBS purchased by Fannie Mae and
Freddie Mac, primarily from 2005 to 2008. This action, along with all of the similar FHFA RMBS actions that were filed in the
U.S. Digtrict Court for the Southern District of New York, was transferred to a single judge, who directed the defendant in the
first-filed matter, UBS, to fileamotion to dismiss. In May 2012, the District Court filed its decision denying the motion to dismiss
FHFA's securities law claims and granting the motion to dismiss FHFA's negligent misrepresentation claims. The District Court's
ruling formed the basis for rulings on the other matters, including the action filed against HSBC Bank USA and our &ffiliates. On
April 5, 2013, the Second Circuit Court of Appeals affirmed the ruling of the District Court. In December 2012, the District Court
directed the FHFA parties to schedule mediation with the Magistrate Judge assigned to the action. In January 2013, the FHFA
parties met with the Magistrate Judge to discuss how to structure a mediation. Since that time, 3 of the FHFA defendants (GE,
Citigroup and UBS) have resolved their lawsuits (the terms of these settlements are largely confidential, but have been disclosed
to varying degrees, including to some extent by the defendants in securities filings). Discovery in the action against HSBC is
proceeding.

In January 2012, Deutsche Zentral-Genossenschaftsbank (“DZ Bank™) filed asummonswith noticein New York County Supreme
Court, State of New York, naming as defendants HSBC North America, HSBC USA, HSBC Bank USA, HSBC Markets (USA)
Inc., HASCO and HSI in connection with DZ Bank's alleged purchase of $122.4 million in RMBS from the HSBC defendants. In
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February 2012, HSH Nordbank AG (“HSH") filed a summons with notice in New York County Supreme Court, State of New
York, naming as defendants HSBC Holdings plc., HSBC North America Holdings Inc., HSBC USA, HSBC Bank USA, HSBC
Markets (USA) Inc., HASCO, and two Blaylock entities alleging HSH purchases of $41.3 million in RMBS from the HSBC and
Blaylock defendants. In May 2012, HSBC removed both the DZ Bank and HSH cases to the United States District Court for the
Southern District of New York. The cases were consolidated in an action captioned Deutsche Zentral-Genossenschaftsbank AG,
New York Branch v. HSBC North America Holdings Inc. et al (S.D.N.Y. No. 12-CV-4025) following removal. In September 2012,
DZ Bank and HSH filed aconsolidated complaint against all defendantsnamed intheir prior summonses other than HSBC Holdings
plc. The claims against HSBC are for (i) fraud; (ii) fraudulent concealment; (iii) negligent misrepresentation; (iv) aiding and
abetting fraud; and (v) rescission. Thisactionis at avery early stage.

In December 2012, Bayerische Landesbank (“BL") filed a summons with notice in New York County Supreme Court, State of
New York, naming as defendants HSBC, HSBC North America, HSBC USA, HSBC Markets (USA) Inc., HSBC Bank USA, HSI
Asset Securitization Corp. and HSI. In May 2013 BL served the HSBC entities with a complaint aleging that BL purchased $75
million in RMBS from the defendants and has sustained unspecified damages as a result of material misrepresentations and
omissionsregarding certain characteristics of the mortgage loans backing the securities. The claims against the HSBC entitiesare
for (i) fraud; (ii) fraudulent concealment; (iii) negligent misrepresentation; (iv) aiding and abetting fraud; and (v) rescission. This
actionisat avery early stage.

In June 2013, Deutsche Bank National Trust Company (“DBNTC"), as Trustee of HASCO 2007-NC1, filed asummonswith notice
in New York County Supreme Court, State of New York, naming HBUS asthe sole defendant. The summonsallegesthat DBNTC
brought the action at the direction of certificateholders of the Trust, seeking specific performance and damages of at least $508
million arising out of the alleged breach of various representations and warranties made by HBUS in the applicable |oan purchase
agreement regarding certain characteristics of the mortgage loans contained in the Trust. Thisaction isat avery early stage.

In December 2010 and February 2011, we received subpoenas from the SEC seeking production of documents and information
relating to our involvement, and theinvol vement of our affiliates, in specified private-label RM BStransactionsasanissuer, sponsor,
underwriter, depositor, trustee or custodian as well as our involvement as a servicer. We have also had preliminary contacts with
other governmental authoritiesexploringtherol e of trusteesin private-label RMBStransactions. In February 2011, weal so received
a subpoena from the U.S. Department of Justice (U.S. Attorney's Office, Southern District of New York) seeking production of
documents and information relating to loss mitigation efforts with respect to HUD-insured mortgages on residential properties
located in the State of New York. In January 2012, our affiliate, HSI, was served with a Civil Investigative Demand by the
Massachusetts State Attorney General seeking documents, information and testimony related to the sale of RMBS to public and
private customers in the State of Massachusetts from January 2005 to the present.

We expect these type of claimsto continue. As aresult, we may be subject to additional claims, litigation and governmental and
regulatory scrutiny related to our participation in the U.S. mortgage securitization market, either individually or as a member of
agroup.

Governmental and Regulatory Matters

Foreclosure Practices InApril 2011, HSBC Bank USA entered into a consent cease and desist order with the OCC (the “OCC
Servicing Consent Order”) and our affiliate, HSBC Finance Corporation, and our common indirect parent, HSBC North America,
entered into a similar consent order with the Federal Reserve (together with the OCC Servicing Consent Order, the “ Servicing
Consent Orders”) following compl etion of abroad horizontal review of industry foreclosure practices. The OCC Servicing Consent
Order requiresHSBC Bank USA to take prescribed actionsto address the defi ciencies noted in the joint examination and described
in the consent order. We continue to work with the OCC and the Federal Reserve to align our processes with the requirements of
the Servicing Consent Orders and are implementing operational changes as required.

The Servicing Consent Orders required an independent review of foreclosures (the “Independent Foreclosure Review”) pending
or completed between January 2009 and December 2010 to determine if any borrower was financially injured as a result of an
error in the foreclosure process. As required by the Servicing Consent Orders, an independent consultant was retained to conduct
that review. On February 28, 2013, HSBC Bank USA entered into an agreement with the OCC, and HSBC Finance Corporation
and HSBC North Americaenteredinto an agreement with the Federal Reserve(together the" | FR Settlement Agreements''), pursuant
to which the Independent Foreclosure Review has ceased and been replaced by a broader framework under which we and twelve
other participating servicerswill, in the aggregate, provide in excess of $9.3 billion in cash payments and other assistance to help
eligible borrowers. Pursuant to the IFR Settlement Agreements, HSBC North America has made a cash payment of $96 million
into afund that will be used to make paymentsto borrowersthat were in active foreclosure during 2009 and 2010 and, in addition,
will provide other assistance (e.g., loan modifications) to help eligible borrowers. Asaresult, in 2012, we recorded expenses of
$19 million which reflects the portion of HSBC North America's total expense of $104 million that we believeis allocable to us.
The mailing of checksto eligible borrowers by Rust Consulting, Inc., the paying agent, has begun and is targeted for completion
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during thethird quarter of 2013. Borrowers who receive compensation will not be required to execute arelease or waiver of rights
and will not be precluded from pursuing litigation concerning foreclosure or other mortgage servicing practices. For participating
servicers, including HSBC Bank USA and HSBC Finance Corporation, fulfillment of the terms of the IFR Settlement Agreements
will satisfy the Independent Foreclosure Review requirements of the Servicing Consent Orders, including the wind down of the
Independent Foreclosure Review.

The Servicing Consent Orders do not preclude additional enforcement actions against HSBC Bank USA or our affiliates by bank
regulatory, governmental or law enforcement agencies, such asthe U.S. Department of Justice or State Attorneys General, which
couldincludetheimposition of civil money penaltiesand other sanctionsrel ating to the activitiesthat arethe subject of the Servicing
Consent Orders. Pursuant to the IFR Settlement Agreement with the OCC, however, the OCC has agreed that it will not assess
civil money penalties or initiate any further enforcement action with respect to past mortgage servicing and foreclosure-rel ated
practices addressed in the Servicing Consent Orders, provided the terms of the | FR Settlement Agreement arefulfilled. The OCC's
agreement not to assess civil money penalties is further conditioned on HSBC North America making payments or providing
borrower assistance pursuant to any agreement that may be entered into with the U.S. Department of Justice in connection with
the servicing of residential mortgage loans within two years. The Federal Reserve has agreed that any assessment of civil money
penaltiesby the Federal Reservewill reflect anumber of adjustments, including amountsexpended in consumer relief and payments
made pursuant to any agreement that may be entered into with the U.S. Department of Justice in connection with the servicing of
residential mortgageloans. Inaddition, thel FR Settlement Agreementsdo not preclude privatelitigation concerning these practices.

Separate from the Servicing Consent Orders and the settlement related to the Independent Foreclosure Review discussed above,
in February 2012, the U.S. Department of Justice, the U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development and State Attorneys
General of 49 states announced a settlement with the five largest U.S. mortgage servicers with respect to foreclosure and other
mortgage servicing practices. Following the February 2012 settlement, these government agenciesinitiated discussionswith other
mortgage industry servicers. HSBC Bank USA, together with our affiliate HSBC Finance Corporation, have had discussions with
U.S. bank regulators and other governmental agencies regarding a potential resolution, although the timing of any settlement is
not presently known. We recorded an accrual of $38 million in the fourth quarter of 2011 (which was reduced by $6 millionin the
second quarter of 2013) reflecting the portion of the HSBC North Americaaccrua that we currently believeisallocableto HSBC
Bank USA. As this matter progresses and more information becomes available, we will continue to evaluate our portion of the
HSBC North America liability which may result in a change to our current estimate. Any such settlement, however, may not
completely preclude other enforcement actions by state or federal agencies, regulators or law enforcement agencies related to
foreclosure and other mortgage servicing practices, including, but not limited to, mattersrel ating to the securitization of mortgages
for investors. In addition, such a settlement would not preclude private litigation concerning these practices.

Anti-Money Laundering, Bank Secrecy Act and Office of Foreign Assets Control Investigations. In October 2010, HSBC Bank
USA entered into a consent cease and desist order with the OCC, and our indirect parent, HSBC North America, entered into a
consent cease and desist order with the Federal Reserve (together, the “AML/BSA Consent Orders’). These actions require
improvementsto establish an effective compliance risk management program across our U.S. businesses, including variousissues
relating to BSA and Anti-Money Laundering (“AML") compliance. Steps continue to be taken to address the requirements of the
AML/BSA Consent Orders to ensure compliance, and that effective policies and procedures are maintained.

In December 2012, HSBC, HSBC North Americaand HSBC Bank USA entered into agreementsto achieve aresolution with U.S.
and United Kingdom government agencies regarding past inadequate compliance with AML/BSA and sanctions laws, including
the previously reported investigations by the U.S. Department of Justice, the Federal Reserve, the OCC and the U.S. Department
of Treasury's Financial Crimes Enforcement Network ("FInCEN") in connection with AML/BSA compliance, including cross-
border transactionsinvolving our cash handling businessin Mexico and banknotes businessin the U.S., and historical transactions
involving parties subject to OFA C economic sanctions. As part of the resolution, HSBC and HSBC Bank USA entered into afive-
year deferred prosecution agreement with the U.S. Department of Justice, the United States Attorney's Office for the Eastern
District of New York, and the United States Attorney's Office for the Northern District of West Virginia (the "U.S. DPA"), and
HSBC entered into atwo-year deferred prosecution agreement with the New York County District Attorney (“DANY DPA"), and
HSBC consented to a cease and desist order and a monetary penalty order with the Federal Reserve. In addition, HSBC Bank
USA entered into a monetary penalty consent order with FinCEN and a separate monetary penalty order with the OCC. HSBC
also entered into an undertaking with the U.K. Financial ServicesAuthority, now aFinancial Conduct Authority (“FCA™) Direction,
to comply with certain forward-looking obligations with respect to AML and sanctions requirements over afive-year term.

Under these agreements, HSBC and HSBC Bank USA made paymentstotaling $1.921 billion to U.S. authorities, of which $1.381
billion was attributed to and paid by HSBC Bank USA, and are continuing to comply with ongoing obligations. Over the five-
year term of the agreements with the U.S. Department of Justice and the FCA, an independent monitor (who also will be, for FCA
purposes, a"skilled person” under Section 166 of the Financial Services and Markets Act) will evaluate HSBC's progressin fully
implementing its obligations, and will produce regul ar assessments of the effectiveness of HSBC's compliance function. Michael
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Cherkasky has been selected as the independent monitor and in July 2013, the United States District Court for the Eastern District
of New York approved the U.S. DPA. The U.S. DPA remains pending under thejurisdiction of the United States District Court for
the Eastern District of New York.

If HSBC and HSBC Bank USA fulfills all of the requirementsimposed by the U.S. DPA, the U.S. Department of Justice's charges
against those entities will be dismissed at the end of the five-year period of that agreement. Similarly, if HSBC fulfills all of the
regquirements imposed by the DANY DPA, DANY's charges against it will be dismissed at the end of the two-year period of that
agreement. The U.S. Department of Justice may prosecute HSBC or HSBC Bank USA in relation to the matters that are subject
of the U.S. DPA if HSBC or HSBC Bank USA breaches the terms of the US DPA, and DANY may prosecute HSBC in relation
to the matters which are the subject of the DANY DPA if HSBC violates the terms of the DANY DPA.

HSBC Bank USA also entered into a separate consent order with the OCC requiring it to correct the circumstances and conditions
as noted in the OCC's then most recent report of examination, imposing certain restrictions on HSBC Bank USA directly or
indirectly acquiring control of, or holding an interest in, any new financial subsidiary, or commencing anew activity initsexisting
financial subsidiary, unlessit receives prior approval from the OCC. HSBC Bank USA also entered into a separate consent order
with the OCC requiring it to adopt an enterprise-wide compliance program.

The settlement with the U.S. and U.K. government agencies does not preclude private litigation relating to, among other things,
HSBC's compliance with applicable AML/BSA and sanctions laws or other regulatory or law enforcement action for AML/BSA
or sanctions matters not covered by the various agreements.

Our affiliate, HSBC Securities (USA) Inc. (“HSI™), continues to cooperate in areview of its AML/BSA compliance program by
the Financial Industry Regulatory Authority and asimilar examination by the SEC, both of which wereinitiated in the third quarter
of 2012.

Other Regulatory and Law Enforcement Investigations. Wecontinueto cooperatein ongoinginvestigationsby theU.S. Department
of Justice and the IRS regarding whether certain HSBC Group companies and employees acted appropriately in relation to certain
customers who had U.S. tax reporting requirements.

InApril 2011, HSBC Bank USA received a“ John Doe” summons from the Internal Revenue Service (the “IRS") directing us to
produce records with respect to U.S.-based clients of an HSBC Group company in India. We have cooperated fully by providing
responsive documents in our possession in the U.S. to the IRS.

Alsoin April 2011, HSBC Bank USA received a subpoena from the SEC directing HSBC Bank USA to produce records in the
United Statesrelated to, among other things, HSBC Private Bank Suisse SA's cross-border policies and procedures and adherence
to U.S. broker-dealer and investment adviser rules and regulations when dealing with U.S. resident clients. HSBC Bank USA
continues to cooperate with the SEC.

InJuly 2013, HSBC and certain of itsaffiliates, including HBUS, received aStatement of Obj ectionsfrom the European Commission
relating to its ongoing investigation of alleged anti-competitive activity by anumber of market participantsin the credit derivatives
market between 2006 and 2009. The Statement of Objections sets out the European Commission's preliminary views and does
not prejudge the final outcome of its investigation. HSBC is reviewing the Statement of Objections in detail and will submit a
response to the European Commission in due course. Based on the facts currently known, it is not practicable at this time for us
to predict the resolution of the European Commission's investigation, including the timing or impact on HSBC or us.

Based on the facts currently known, in respect of each of these investigations, it is not practicable at thistime for usto determine
the terms on which these ongoing investigations will be resolved or the timing of such resolution or for usto estimate reliably the
amounts, or range of possible amounts, of any fines and/or penalties. As matters progress, it is possible that any fines and/or
penalties could be significant.
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22.

New Accounting Pronouncements

The following new accounting pronouncements were adopted effective January 1, 2013:

Disclosures About Offsetting Assets and Liabilities In December 2011, the FASB issued an Accounting Standards Update
("ASU") that required entitiesto discloseinformation about off setting and rel ated arrangementsto enabl eusersof itsfinancial
statements to understand the effect of those arrangements on its financial position. Entities are required to disclose both
gross information and net information about instruments and transactions eligible for offset in the statement of financial
position and those which are subject to an agreement similar to master netting arrangement. The new guidance became
effective for al annual and interim periods beginning January 1, 2013. Additionally, entities are required to provide the
disclosures required by the new guidance retrospectively for all comparative periods. In January 2013, the FASB issued
another ASU to clarify theinstruments and transactionsto which the guidancein the previously issued A ccounting Standards
Update would apply. The adoption of the guidancein these ASUs did not have an impact on our financial position or results
of operations.

Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income In February 2013, the FASB issued an ASU that adds new disclosure
requirements for items reclassified out of accumulated other comprehensive income. The new guidance became effective
for al annual and interim periods beginning January 1, 2013 and was applied prospectively. The adoption of this guidance
did not have an impact on our financial position or results of operations.

We do not expect any accounting pronouncementsissued during thefirst half of 2013 will have asignificant impact on our financial
position or results of operations.
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Item 2.  Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

Forward-Looking Statements

Management’s Discussionand Analysisof Financial Condition and Resultsof Operations(“MD&A™) should bereadin conjunction
with the consolidated financial statements, notes and tables included elsewhere in this report and with our Annual Report on
Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2012 (the “2012 Form 10-K”). MD& A may contain certain statements that may be
forward-looking in nature within the meaning of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. In addition, we may make
or approve certain statements in future filings with the SEC, in press releases, or oral or written presentations by representatives
of HSBC USA Inc. (“HSBC USA") that are not statements of historical fact and may also constitute forward-looking statements.
Words such as “may,” “will,” “should,” “would,” “could,” “appears,” “believe,” “intends,” “expects,” “estimates,” “targeted,”
“plans,” “anticipates,” “goal” and similar expressions are intended to identify forward-looking statements but should not be
considered as the only means through which these statements may be made. These matters or statements will relate to our future
financial condition, economic forecast, results of operations, plans, objectives, performance or business developments and will
involve known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors that may cause our actual results, performance or achievements
to be materially different from that which were expressed or implied by such forward-looking statements. Forward-looking
statementsare based on our current views and assumptionsand speak only as of the datethey are made. HSBC USA Inc. undertakes
no obligation to update any forward-looking statement to reflect subsequent circumstances or events.

"o

Executive Overview

HSBC USA Inc. ("HSBC USA” and, together with its subsidiaries, “HUSI") is an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of HSBC
North America Holdings Inc. (“HSBC North America’), which is an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of HSBC Holdings plc
(“HSBC"). HUSI may also bereferredtoin MD&A as“we”, “us’ or “our”.

The following discussion of our financial condition and results of operations excludes the results of our discontinued operations
unless otherwise noted. See Note 2, “ Discontinued Operations,” in the accompanying consolidated financial statementsfor further
discussion.

Current Environment The U.S. economy continued to improve at amodest pace during thefirst half of 2013, with GDP running
at anannualized rateof lessthan 2 percent whichremainswell bel ow theeconomy'spotential growthrate. Demand for manufacturing
remains tepid partially as aresult of weak global demand and many manufacturers are continuing to hold back hiring. Although
consumer confidence in May climbed to its highest level since early 2008 in part due to rising house prices, with continuing high
gasoline prices, the increase in payroll taxes at the beginning of the year and the onset of sequestration in March, consumer
confidenceremainsunder pressureand many househol dsremain uncertain about thefuture asdomesti ¢ fiscal uncertaintiescontinue
to affect consumer sentiment. Seriousthreatsto economic growth remain, including the sustainability of ahousing market recovery,
high energy costs, and elevated unemployment levels. During the second quarter of 2013, long-term interest rates begantorisein
part out of concern that the Federal Reserve may begin to slow its quantitative easing program if the economy continues to
strengthen. Federal Reserve policy makers previously announced that they do not expect to increase short-term rates until the
unemployment ratefallsbel ow 6.5 percent which, according to the Federal Reserve'seconomic projections, would keep the Federal
fundsrate near zero into 2015. The prolonged period of low interest rates continuesto put pressure on spreads earned on our deposit
base. The housing market continued the strong rebound which began in the second half of 2012 with overall home prices moving
higher in many regions as demand increased and the supply of homes for sale remaining tight. However, the sharp decline in the
distressed share of home sales currently being experienced, which is contributing to the increase in home sale prices, may not
continue as the impact of servicers resuming foreclosure activities and the listing of the underlying properties for sale could slow
down future price gains.

In addition, certain courts and state legislatures have issued new rules or statutes relating to foreclosures. Scrutiny of foreclosure
documentation hasincreased in some courts. Also, in some aresas, officialsare requiring additional verification of information filed
prior to the foreclosure proceeding. The combination of these factors has led to a significant backlog of foreclosures which will
taketimeto resolve. If asignificant number of foreclosures come to market at the same time, due to the backlog or other delays
in processing, it could have an adverse impact upon home prices.

Whilethe economy continued to add jobsin 2013, the pace of new job creation continued to be slower than needed to meaningfully
reduce unemployment. Asaresult, uncertainty remains as to how pronounced the economic recovery will ultimately be. Although
unemployment rates, which are amajor factor influencing credit quality, fell from 7.8 percent at the beginning of the year to 7.6
percent in June 2013, unemployment remains high based on historical standards. Also, a significant number of U.S. residents are
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no longer looking for work and, therefore, are not reflected in the U.S. unemployment rates. Unemployment has continued to have
an impact on the provision for credit losses in our loan portfolio and in loan portfolios across the industry. Concerns about the
futureof theU.S. economy, including thepaceand magnitudeof recovery fromtherecent economicrecession, consumer confidence,
fiscal policy, including the ability of the legislature to work collaboratively to addressfiscal issuesin the U.S,, volatility in energy
prices, credit market volatility including the ability to resolve the European sovereign debt crisis and trends in corporate earnings
will continue to influence the U.S. economic recovery and the capital markets. In particular, continued improvement in
unemployment rates, a sustained recovery of the housing markets and stabilization in energy pricesremain critical components of
a broader U.S. economic recovery. These conditions in combination with the impact of recent regulatory changes, including the
on-going implementation of the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act of 2010 (“Dodd-Frank™), will
continue to impact our results in 2013 and beyond.

Performance, Developments and Trends Income (loss) from continuing operations was $180 million and $363 million during the
three and six months ended June 30, 2013, respectively, compared with a loss from continuing operations of $593 million and
$513 million during the three and six months ended June 30, 2012, respectively. Income from continuing operations beforeincome
tax was $229 million and $516 million during the three and six months ended June 30, 2013, respectively, compared with aloss
from continuing operations before income tax of $242 million and $144 million during the three and six months ended June 30,
2012, respectively. Thesignificant improvement in both periodsreflects|ower operating expenses asthe prior year periods include
an expense of $700 million related to certain regulatory matters and, in the three month period, alower provision for credit losses
which was partially offset by lower net interest income and lower other revenues. Other revenues in both 2012 periods includes
a $330 million pre-tax gain ($71 million after-tax) from the sale of certain branches to First Niagara. In addition, our resultsin
all periods were impacted by the change in the fair value of our own debt attributable to credit spread for which we have elected
fair valueoptionwhich distortscomparability of theunderlying performancetrendsof our business. Thefollowing table summarizes
the impact of thisitem on our income from continuing operations before income tax for all periods presented:

Three Months Ended Six Months Ended

June 30, June 30,
2013 2012 2013 2012
(in millions)
Income (loss) from continuing operations before income tax, as reported...................... $ 229 $ (242) $ 516 $ (144)
Fair value movement on own fair value option debt attributable to credit spread .......... (53) (131) (11) 920
Underlying income (loss) from continuing operations beforeincometax & ................ $ 176 $ (373) $ 505 $ (54)

@ Representsanon-U.S. GAAPfinancial measure.

Excluding the impact of the change in the fair value of our own debt attributable to credit spread for which we have elected fair
value option in the table above, our underlying income (loss) from continuing operations before tax for the three and six months
ended June 30, 2013 increased $549 million and $559 million, respectively, compared with the prior year periods as discussed
above.
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During the six monthsended June 30, 2013, we continued to reduce legacy and other risk positionsas opportunitiesarose, including
the sale of $475 million of leveraged acquisition finance loans previoudly held for sale. A summary of the significant valuation
adjustments associated with these market conditions that impacted revenue for the three and six months ended June 30, 2013 and
2012 is presented in the following table:

Three Months Ended Six Months Ended

June 30, June 30,
2013 2012 2013 2012
(in millions)
Gains (Losses)
Insurance monoline structured credit Products™...........ecveerecenneeessseeesee s $ 21 $ (18 $ 41 $ (10)
Other structured credit ProdUCES™ ...........ooeveeereeeeeee e se e 2 33 38 74
Mortgage whole loans held for sale (predominantly subprime)®..............ccocevrveeveennnene.
5 2 7 (©)

Leverage acquisition finance 10aNS™..............ccoouueeeeeeerveeeeeeeees e — 4 13 34
TOAl QAINS.....oivcteeeeeeieteeee ettt ettt ettt st et aeee et ebe e et bese e seetebe s e bebenenana $ 28 $ 17 $ 99 $ 95

@ Reflected in Trading revenue in the consolidated statement of income (loss).

@ Reflected in Other income in the consolidated statement of income (10ss).

@ Reflected in Loss on instruments designated at fair value and related derivatives in the consolidated statement of income (10ss).

In addition to the impact of changesin value of our own debt attributable to credit spread for which we elected fair value option
presented in the table above, other revenuesin both prior year periodsincludes a$330 million pre-tax gain from the sale of certain
retail branchesto First Niagara. Excluding theimpact of both items, other revenuesincreased $95 million and $124 million during
the three and six months ended June 30, 2013, respectively, primarily due to higher mortgage banking revenue, higher affiliate
income, higher other income, in the three month period higher trading revenue and, in the year-to-date period, higher securities
gains, partially offset by lower credit card fees, lower fees and commissions, in the year-to-date period lower trading revenue and
in the three month period, lower securities gains. Trading revenue in both periods reflects higher revenue related to precious
metals, derivativesand bal ance sheet management activitieswhich was morethan offset in the year-to-date period by lower foreign
exchange revenue due to lower trade volumes and price volatility. The higher mortgage banking revenue was largely driven by
improved M SR performance and lower provisions for mortgage repurchase exposures on previously sold loans. Affiliate income
was higher primarily due to billings associated with internal audit activities performed for other HSBC affiliates. Higher other
income reflects higher miscellaneous income associated with fair value hedge ineffectiveness and improved valuations on loans
held for sale. Securities gains were higher in the year-to-date period due to sales largely occurring in the first quarter associated
with a continued re-balancing of the portfolio for risk management purposes based on the low interest rate environment. Lower
credit card fees and lower other fees and commissions reflect the impact of our branch sales to First Niagara in the second and
third quarters of 2012 which in addition to deposits also included certain loans and, in the case of other fees and commissions,
lower custodial fees. See “Results of Operations’ for a more detailed discussion of other revenues.

Net interest incomewas $518 million and $1.0 billion during the three and six months ended June 30, 2013, respectively, compared
with $535 million and $1.1 billion during the prior year-ago periods. The decrease in both periods reflects the impact of lower
interest income on securities due to lower interest rates including the impact from the sale of securities and an increase in interest
charges related to estimated tax exposures, partialy offset by higher interest income on loans driven by higher average balances
on commercia loans due to new business volume and lower interest expense on deposits reflecting the impact of our branch sales
to First Niagarain 2012 and lower average rates paid. See “Results of Operations’ for a more detailed discussion of net interest
income.

Our provisionfor credit losses was $67 million and $88 million during the three and six months ended June 30, 2013, respectively,
compared with $89 million and $89 million, respectively, duringtheprior year periods. In our consumer |oan portfolio, the provision
for credit losses declined in both periods, driven by alower provision in our residential mortgage loan portfolio and in the year-
to-date period in our credit card loan portfolio due to continued improvements in economic and credit conditions, including lower
dollars of delinquency on accounts less than 180 days contractually delinquent and improvements in loan delinquency roll rates.
In our commercial portfolio, our provision for credit losses was higher in both periods reflecting higher levels of reservesfor risk
factors primarily associated with large Global Banking and Markets |oan exposures. I n addition, while we experienced continued
improvementsin economic and credit conditionsincluding lower nonperformingloansand criticized asset level sin 2013, reductions
in higher risk rated loan balances and stabilization in credit downgrades in both years resulted in a higher overall release in our
credit lossreservesin the prior year periods. See“ Results of Operations’ for amore detailed discussion of our provision for credit
losses.
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Operating expenses totaled $788 million and $1.6 billion during the three and six months ended June 30, 2013, respectively, a
decrease of 50 percent and 35 percent, respectively, compared with the year-ago periods. Lower operating expensesin both periods
reflect lower compliance costs, the impact of our retail branch divestitures including lower expenses related to support services
from affiliates, lower other expenses and, in the year-to-date period, lower salaries and benefits as well as the non-recurrence of
a $700 million expense recorded in the second quarter of 2012 related to certain regulatory matters. Compliance costs while
remaining a significant component of our cost base in the second quarter and the first half of 2013 declined, totaling $71 million
and $147 million in the three and six months ended June 30, 2013, respectively, compared with $111 million and $208 millionin
the prior year periods, asthe prior year reflectsinvestment in BSA/AML process enhancements and infrastructure and, to alesser
extent, foreclosure remediation which did not occur at the same level in 2013. While we continue to focus attention on cost
mitigation effortsin order to continuerealization of optimal cost efficiencies, we believe compliancerel ated costshave permanently
increased to higher levelsdue to the remediation of regulatory consent agreements. See“ Results of Operations” for amore detailed
discussion of our operating expenses.

Our efficiency ratio from continuing operations was 72.7 percent and 72.3 percent during the three and six months ended June 30,
2013, respectively, compared with 110.8 percent and 102.3 percent during the year-ago periods. Our efficiency ratio was impacted
in both periods by the change in the fair value of our own debt attributable to credit spread for which we have elected fair value
option accounting. Excluding the impact of this item as discussed above, our efficiency ratio in the three and six months ended
June 30, 2013 improved to 76.4 percent and 72.7 percent, respectively, compared with 122.1 percent and 98.6 percent in the
corresponding three and six months ended June 30, 2012. The decrease in efficiency ratio was aresult of adecrease in operating
expenses partialy offset by adecreasein net interest income and in other revenues asthe prior year periodsincludesa$330 million
pre-tax gain from the sale of certain branches to First Niagara. While operating expenses declined in both periods, driven by the
impact of our retail branch divestitures, cost mitigation efforts and the non-recurrence of a $700 million expense in the second
quarter of 2012 related to certain regulatory matters, they continue to reflect elevated levels of compliance costs.

Our effective tax rate was 21.4 percent for the three months ended June 30, 2013 compared with 145.0 percent in the prior year
quarter. Our effective tax rate was 29.7 percent for the six months ended June 30, 2013 compared with 256.3 percent in the prior
year period. The effective tax rate for the three and six months ended June 30, 2013 was primarily impacted by an increasein state
uncertain tax reserves, prior period adjustments to current and deferred tax balance sheet accounts, the utilization of low income
housing tax credits and state income tax expense. The effective tax rate for the three and six months ended June 30, 2012 reflects
the non-deductible goodwill related to the branches sold to First Niagara, a non-deductible expense accrual related to certain
regulatory matters, the establishment of a tax reserve against the current liahility account, foreign tax expense, an increase in the
state uncertain tax reserves, the utilization of low income housing credits and the impact of state taxes.

Based on the results of our interim goodwill impairment testing in December 2012 and March 2013 and the historically narrow
differences between fair value and book valuein our Global Banking and Markets reporting unit, we performed an interim review
of goodwill impairment for this reporting unit during the second quarter of 2013. As aresult of this testing, the fair value of this
reporting unit continued to exceed its carrying value, including goodwill. At June 30, 2013, the book value of our Globa Banking
and Markets reporting unit including allocated goodwill of $612 million, was 97 percent of fair value. Our goodwill impairment
testing is, however, highly sensitiveto certain assumptions and estimates used. Asour testing results continue to indicate that there
isonly amarginal excess of fair value over book value for our Globa Banking and Markets reporting unit, we will continue to
monitor this reporting unit and perform interim impairment testing in future periods as very small changes in projections could
result in either partial or full goodwill impairment of this reporting unit. We continue to perform periodic analyses of the risks and
strategies of all our business and product offerings. If deterioration in economic conditions occurs or changes in the strategy or
performance of our businessesor product offerings occur, interimimpairment testsfor reporting unitsin addition to Global Banking
and Markets could be required in 2013.

We continue to focus on cost optimization efforts to ensure realization of cost efficiencies. To date, we have identified and
implemented various opportunities to reduce costs through organizational structure redesign, vendor spending, discretionary
spending and other general efficiency initiatives. Additional cost reduction opportunitieshave beenidentified and areinthe process
of implementation. Workforce reductions, some of which relate to our retail branch divestitures, have resulted in total legal entity
full-time equivalent employees being reduced by 35 percent since December 21, 2010. Workforce reductions are also occurring
in certain non-compliance shared services functions, which we expect will result in additional reductionsto future allocated costs
for these functions. These efforts continue and, as a result, we may incur restructuring charges in future periods, the amount of
which will depend upon the actions that ultimately are implemented.

During the second quarter of 2013, we completed the conversion of our mortgage processing and servicing operations to PHH
Mortgageunder our previously announced strategi c rel ationshi p agreement with PHH M ortgageto manage our mortgage processing
and servicing operations. Under the terms of the agreement, PHH M ortgage now provides us with mortgage origination processing
services as well as sub-servicing of our portfolio of owned and serviced mortgages totaling $46.8 billion as of June 30, 2013.
Although we continue to own both the mortgages on our balance sheet and the mortgage servicing rights associated with the
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serviced loans at the time of conversion, we now sell our agency eligible originations beginning with May 2013 applications
directly to PHH Mortgage on a servicing released basis which will result in no new mortgage servicing rights being recognized
going forward. The outsourcing will allow our Retail Banking and Wealth Management business to focus on strategic wealth
products and service initiatives. No significant one-time restructuring costs have been or are expected to be incurred as aresult of
this transaction. We plan to continue originating mortgages for our customers with particular emphasis on Premier relationships.

We continue to evaluate our overall operations aswe seek to optimize our risk profile and cost efficiencies aswell as our liquidity,
capital and funding requirements. This could result in further strategic actions that may include changes to our legal structure,
asset levels, cost structure or product offeringsin support of HSBC's strategic priorities.

The financial information set forth below summarizes selected financial highlights of HSBC USA Inc. as of June 30, 2013 and
December 31, 2012 and for the three and six months ended June 30, 2013 and 2012.

Three Months Ended June 30, Six Months Ended June 30,

2013 2012 2013 2012
(dollars are in millions)
Income (10ss) from continuing OPErations..............cveereeerecerereeeereennn. $ 180 $ (593) $ 363 $ (513)
Rate of return on average:
TOtAl @SSELS......ccuecvicieeectec e e 4 (1.2 4 (.5)
Total common shareholder’S EQUILY ........ccvveerirereneereee e 4.1 (14.2) 4.1 (6.9)
= T == 0 o [ S 1.30 1.29 1.30 1.35
EffiCIENCY Falio....ccee et 72.7 110.8 72.3 102.3
Commercial net charge-off ratio™)...........cocovvirveeeeieeseeeeee s (.04) .09 25 49
Consumer net charge-off ratio™ ...........o.cooveveieeeeeeeeeeceeeeeeeeeeeseeeeseean .70 1.41 .80 1.39
Balance Sheet Data: June 30, 2013 Dec%?gr 31'
Loans:
Construction and other real estate............c.cocvcciiiiccciccccis $ 8529 $ 8457
Business and corporate banking .........ccccceeeveveeveeiesieniesiesiese s 12,391 12,608
Global banKing........ccccoiiiiinieeree e 23,339 20,009
Other commErCial [0aNS.........ceeeviiieiiieecre e ere s 3,005 3,076
Total commercial [0aNS.........ccoveeieiiciece e 47,264 44,150
Residential mortgages, excluding home equity mortgages.............. 15,837 15,371
HOMe equity MOMQagES. .......coervereerieieriereeeeee et 2,172 2,324
Credit Card ......ooveeveeeeee e 858 815
Other CONSUMIE .......eotiitiieiseeie e e s sre b s seeseeseeseens 574 598
Total CONSUMES [0BNS........cciiriereerieirectiecte ettt st srae b e 19,441 19,108
10 = I [0 = 0 SRR $ 66,705 $ 63,258
LOANS held fOr SAlE......ccceivieieitictecreecte ettt be e $ 359 $ 1,018
Allowance asapercent of 10aNS™ .............oouoveeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeseeseeees 91 1.02
Consumer two-months-and-over contractual delinquency.................... 6.51 6.92
L0BNS 10 dEPOSIS FatiOP ... 77.34 71.35
Tier 1 capital to risk weighted 8SSets...........ccvvcvinncciiisncccs 12.43 13.61
Tier 1 common equity to risk weighted assets ........ccoceevevnencnencnenn, 10.65 11.63
Total capital to risk weighted assets...........ccoveieiniccciicrcees 17.42 19.52
Total shareholders’ equity to total aSSets.......coceevveevreienensiereseceens 9.05 9.07
()

Excludes loans held for sale.

@ Represents period end loans, net of allowance for loan losses, as a percentage of domestic deposits equal to or less than $100,000.
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Loans Loans, excluding loans held for sale, were $66.7 billion at June 30, 2013 compared with $63.3 billion at December 31,
2012. The increase in loans as compared with December 31, 2012 was driven by an increase in commercial loans of $3.1 billion
dueto new business activity, largely in global banking, including an increase of $2.5 billion in affiliate |oans. Theseincreaseswere
partially offset by paydowns and managed reductionsin certain exposures. Consumer loans increased, driven by higher levels of
residential mortgage loans duelargely to theinclusion of approximately $310 million of Federal Housing Administration ("FHA")
guaranteed | oans purchased from the Government National Mortgage Association ("GNMA™) which had previously been recorded
in other assets, and to a lesser extent, new originations targeted at our Premier customer relationships. We continue to sell a
substantial portion of new mortgage loan originations to government sponsored enterprises. See “Balance Sheet Review” for a
more detailed discussion of the changesin loan balances.

Credit Performance Our allowance for credit losses as a percentage of total loans decreased to .91 percent at June 30, 2013 as
compared with 1.02 percent at December 31, 2012. The decreasein our allowanceratio reflectsalower allowancefor credit losses
in our commercial portfolio dueto reductionsin certain loan exposures including the charge-off of asingle client relationship and
continued improvements in economic conditions, partially offset by a higher allowance for certain portfolio risk factors. Also
contributing to the decrease was alower alowance in our consumer portfolio due to improved credit quality including improved
delinquency roll rates reflecting continued improvements in economic conditions. See "Credit Quality" for a more detailed
discussion of this change.

Our consumer two-months-and-over contractual delinquency asapercentage of loansand loans held for sale (“ delinquency ratio”)
decreased to 6.51 percent at June 30, 2013 as compared with 6.92 percent at December 31, 2012 largely due to lower levels of
residential mortgage loan delinquency on accounts less than 180 days contractually delinquent due to improvements in credit
quality including improved delinquency roll rates and, to alesser extent, lower credit card delinquency. Residential mortgage loan
delinquency levels on accounts greater than 180 days contractually delinquent, however, continue to remain elevated driven by
an elongated foreclosure process. See“ Credit Quality” for amore detailed discussion of the trends in our delinquency ratios.

Net charge-offs as a percentage of average loans (“ net charge-off ratio”) decreased 35 basis points compared with the prior year
quarter duelargely to lower level sof residential mortgageloan charge-offsaswell aslower charge-offsin our commercial portfolio.
See “Credit Quality” for amore detailed discussion of our trends in net charge-off.

Funding and Capital Capital amountsand ratios are calculated in accordance with current banking regulations. Our Tier 1 capital
ratio was 12.43 percent and 13.61 percent at June 30, 2013 and December 31, 2012, respectively. Our capital levels remain well
above levels established by current banking regulations as “well capitalized”. The regulatory capital ratios in 2013 reflect the
impact of the U.S. market risk final rule (known as Basdl 2.5).

I ssuances of long-term debt during 2013 included $3.5 billion of medium term notes, of which $1.9 billion was issued by HSBC
Bank USA. See"Balance Sheet Review" for amore detailed discussion regarding long-term debt.
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Income Before Income Tax Expense — Significant Trends Income from continuing operations before income tax expense, and
changes in various trends and activity affecting operations between years, are summarized in the following table.

Three Months Ended Six Months Ended
June 30, June 30,
2013 2012 2013 2012
(in millions)
Income from continuing operations before income tax from prior year ................. $ (242) $ 90 $ (144 $ 382
Increase (decrease) in income from continuing operations before income tax
attributable to:
Balance sheet management activities excluding gains (losses) on security
SAIESY .ottt 94 () 40 9
TrAOING TEVENUED ...t ev et es e ee e s seeoe 29 (45) 4 (80)
Gains (10SSeS) 0N SECUNLY SAIES......ceviieiriere e nes (42) 53 59 39
Loans held FOr SAlE ..o 8 12 12 16
Residential mortgage banking related revenue™ ..o, — (53) 21 2
Gainonthesale of branChes ... (330) 330 (330) 330
Gain (loss) on own debt designated at fair value and related derivatives® ........ (104) 111 108 (112)
Gain (loss) on instruments designated at fair value and related derivatives,
excluding OWN AEDE® ...t 78 (10) 51 (21)
ProviSion fOr Credit 10SSES® ..o eeee e ses s seseeenes 22 6 1 4
Expense related to certain regulatory MEtterS™) ..........o.ovoeeeeeereeeseeeeeseesseseeenees 700 (700) 700 (700)
Interest expense on certain tax eXPOSUNES® ............oo.oovvoeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeseesereenes (8) 82 (12) 71
Impairment of software development COSES ........ccovviviiiiriieveseeeeeeeeere s — 16 — 94
AL OthEr ACHVITY'™ ... e eenes 24 (131) 6 (175)
Income from continuing operations before income tax for current year ................ $ 229 $ (242) $ 516 $ (144

@

@
(©)
@
O]

©)
vl

®
©

Balance sheet management activities primarily generate net interest income resulting from management of interest rate risk associated with the repricing
characteristics of balance sheet assetsand liabilities. For additional discussion regarding Global Banking and Markets net interest income, trading revenues,
and the Global Banking and Markets business segment, see the caption “Business Segments” in this MD&A.

For additional discussion regarding trading revenue, see the caption “Results of Operations’ in thisMD&A.
For additional discussion regarding loans held for sale, see the caption “ Balance Sheet Review” in this MD&A.
For additional discussion regarding residential mortgage banking revenue, see the caption “Results of Operations” in this MD&A.

For additional discussion regarding fair value option on our own debt, see Note 11, “Fair Value Option,” in the accompanying consolidated financial
statements.

For additional discussion regarding provision for credit losses, see the caption “Results of Operations” inthisMD&A.

For additional discussion regarding expense accrual related to certain regulatory matters, see Note 21, "Litigation and Regulatory Matters' in the
accompanying consolidated financial statements.

For additional discussion oninterest expense on certain tax exposures, see Note 12, “Income Taxes,” in the accompanying consolidated financial statements.
Represents other banking activities.

Basis of Reporting

Our consolidated financial statements are prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United
States (“U.S. GAAP"). Unless noted, the discussion of our financial condition and results of operationsincluded in MD&A are
presented on a continuing operations basis of reporting. Certain reclassifications have been madeto prior year amountsto conform
to the current year presentation.

In addition to the U.S. GAAPfinancial results reported in our consolidated financial statements, MD& A includes referenceto the
following information which is presented on anon-U.S. GAAP basis:

International Financial Reporting Standards (“1FRSs’”) Because HSBC reportsfinancial informationin accordancewith IFRSs
and IFRSs operating results are used in measuring and rewarding performance of employees, our management also separately
monitors net income under IFRSs (a non-U.S. GAAP financial measure). The following table reconciles our net income on a
U.S. GAAP basis to net income on an IFRSs basis.
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Three Months Ended Six Months Ended

June 30, June 30,
2013 2012 2013 2012
(in millions)
Net income — U.S. GAAPDASIS........ccociiiiiccceeseeee et $ 180 $ (545 $ 363 $ (310)
Adjustments, net of tax:
IFRS reclassification of fair value measured financial assets during 2008................. @) (@D a7 (42)
SECUNTIES ..ttt ceeete ettt ettt et be st e st e be s bese et e s e e e s eseeseeseebeebesbesbeebesteseesrentas Q) — (@) (1)
DEITVALIVES. ...ttt bbbttt — ()] 1 2
L OAN IMPAITMENL ...ttt s e e e e e e esa e e e e eseesesnesresreseesnens 18 10 11 10
L 0] 1= 1 RSSO 2 (6) (@) (9)
[ ST 0] o013 3 3 7 8
Transfer of credit card receivablesto held for sale and subsequent sdle..................... — (41 — (3D
Gain 0N Sale Of DIaNCNES.........cocoiiiiee e e — 70 — 70
Litigation @CCIUEL ........ooueieeeee et sresre e nnens @) — @) —
(@111 SO 9 7 (23) 11
NELINCOME — [FRSS DESIS.....cueiieiiieicieieee et 175 (515) 327 (296)
TaX EXPENSE — IFRSS DASIS.....c.ccuieeiiieirieetet et (47) (346) (142) (424)
Profit before tax — IFRSSDaSIS........ccc.ceuieiiieeiceceeeeteee et $ 222 $ (169 $ 469 $ 128

A summary of the significant differences between U.S. GAAP and IFRSs as they impact our results are presented below:

IFRS reclassification of fair value measured financial assets during 2008 - Certain securitieswerereclassified from “trading assets’
to“loansand receivables’ under IFRSsasof July 1, 2008 pursuant to an amendment to | AS 39, “ Financial | nstruments: Recognition
and Measurement” (“1AS 39"), and are no longer marked to market under IFRSs. In November 2008, additional securities were
similarly transferred to loans and receivables. These securities continue to be classified as “trading assets’ under U.S. GAAP.

Additionally, certain Leverage Acquisition Finance (“LAF") loans were classified as “Trading Assets’ for IFRSs and to be
consistent, an irrevocable fair value option was elected on these loans under U.S. GAAP on January 1, 2008. These loans were
reclassified to “loans and advances’ as of July 1, 2008 pursuant to the IAS 39 amendment discussed above. Under U.S. GAAR,
theseloansareclassified as"heldfor sale” and carried at fair value dueto theirrevocable nature of thefair value option. Substantially
all of the remaining balance of these |loans were sold in the first quarter of 2013.

Securities - Under U.S. GAARP, the credit loss component of an other-than-temporary impairment of adebt security is recognized
in earnings while the remaining portion of the impairment loss is recognized in accumulated other comprehensive income (l0ss)
provided we have concluded we do not intend to sell the security and it is more-likely-than-not that we will not have to sell the
security prior to recovery. Under IFRSs, there is no bifurcation of other-than-temporary impairment and the entire amount is
recognized in earnings. Also under | FRSs, recoveriesin other-than-temporary impairment rel ated toimprovement in the underlying
credit characteristics of the investment are recognized immediately in earnings while under U.S. GAARP, they are amortized to
income over the remaining life of the security. There are also less significant differences in measuring impairment under IFRSs
versus U.S. GAAP.

Under IFRSs, securitiesinclude HSBC shares held for stock plans at fair value. These shares held for stock plans are measured at
fair value through other comprehensive income. If it is determined these shares have become impaired, the unrealized loss in
accumulated other comprehensive income is reclassified to profit or loss. Thereis no similar requirement under U.S. GAAP.

Derivatives - Effective January 1, 2008, U.S. GAAP removed the observability requirement of valuation inputsto allow up-front
recognition of the difference between transaction price and fair value in the consolidated statement of income (loss). Under |FRSs,
recognition is permissible only if the inputs used in calculating fair value are based on observable inputs. If the inputs are not
observable, profit and lossis deferred and is recognized (1) over the period of contract, (2) when the data becomes observable, or
(3) when the contract is settled.

Loan impairment - IFRSs requires a discounted cash flow methodology for estimating impairment on pools of homogeneous
customer loans which requires the discounting of cash flows including recovery estimates at the original effective interest rate of
the pool of customer loans. The amount of impairment relating to the discounting of future cash flows unwinds with the passage
of time, and is recognized in interest income. Also under IFRSs, if the recognition of a write-down to fair value on secure loans
decreases because collateral values have improved and the improvement can be related objectively to an event occurring after
recognition of the write-down, such write-down isreversed, which is not permitted under U.S. GAAP. Additionally under IFRSs,
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future recoveries on charged-off loans or loans written down to fair value less cost to obtain title and sell are accrued for on a
discounted basis and a recovery asset is recorded. Subsequent recoveries are recorded to earnings under U.S. GAAP, but are
adjusted against the recovery asset under IFRSs. Under IFRSs, interest on impaired loansis recorded at the effective interest rate
on the customer loan balance net of impairment allowances, and therefore reflects the collectibility of the loans.

As discussed above, under U.S. GAARP, the credit risk component of the lower of amortized cost or fair value adjustment related
to the transfer of receivables to held for sale is recorded in the consolidated statement of income (loss) as provision for credit
losses. Thereis no similar requirement under |FRSs.

Credit loss reserves on TDR Loans under U.S. GAAP are established based on the present value of expected future cash flows
discounted at the loans original effective interest rate.

For loans collectively evaluated for impairment under U.S. GAAP, bank industry practice which we adopted in the fourth quarter
of 2012 generally resultsin aloss emergence period for these loans using aroll rate migration analysis which resultsin 12 months
of lossesin our allowancefor credit losses. Under IFRSs, we concluded that the estimated average period of timefrom last current
status to write-off for real estate loans collectively evaluated for impairment using aroll rate migration analysis was 10 months
which was also adopted in the fourth quarter of 2012. In the second quarter of 2013, we updated our review under IFRSsto reflect
the period of time after aloss event aloan remains current before delinquency is observed which resulted in an estimated average
period of time from aloss event occurring and its ultimate migration from current status through to delinquency and ultimately
write-off for real estate |oans collectively evaluated for impairment using aroll rate migration analysis of 12 months.

Property - The sale of our 452 Fifth Avenue property, including the 1 W. 39th Street building in April 2010, resulted in the
recognition of a gain under IFRSs while under U.S. GAAP, such gain is deferred and recognized over eight years due to our
continuing involvement.

Pension costs - Pension expense under U.S. GAAP is generally higher than under IFRSs as a result of the amortization of the
amount by which actuarial 1osses exceeds the higher of 10 percent of the projected benefit obligation or fair value of plan assets
(the “corridor™). As a result of amendments to the applicable |FRSs effective January 1, 2013, interest cost and expected return
on plan assets is replaced by a finance cost component comprising the net interest on the net defined benefit liability. This has
resulted in an increase in pension expense as the net interest does not reflect the benefit from the expectation of higher returns on
the riskier plan assets. In 2010, changes to future accruals for legacy participants under the HSBC North America Pension Plan
were accounted for as a plan curtailment under |FRSs, which resulted in immediate income recognition. Under U.S. GAAP, these
changes were considered to be a negative plan amendment which resulted in no immediate income recognition.

Transfer of credit card receivables to held for sale and subsequent sale - For receivables transferred to held for sale subsequent
to origination, IFRSs requires these receivables to be reported separately on the balance sheet when certain criteria are met which
are generally more stringent than those under U.S. GAAP, but does not change the recognition and measurement criteria.
Accordingly for IFRSs purposes, such loans continue to be accounted for in accordance with IAS 39, with any gain or loss
recognized at the time of sale. U.S. GAAP requires loans that meet the held for sale classification requirements be transferred to
aheld for sale category at the lower of amortized cost or fair value. As aresult, any lossisrecorded prior to sale.

Gain on sale of branches - Under U.S. GAAP, the amount of goodwill allocated to the retail branch disposal group is higher as
goodwill amortization ceased under U.S. GAAPin 2002 while under IFRSs, goodwill was amortized until 2005. Thisresultedin
alower gain under U.S. GAAP.

Litigation accrual - Under U.S. GAAP litigation accruals are recorded when it is probable a liability has been incurred and the
amount is reasonably estimable. Under IFRSs, a present obligation must exist for an accrual to berecorded. In certain cases, this
creates differences in the timing of accrual recognition between IFRSs and U.S. GAAP.

Other - Other includesthe net impact of certain adjustmentswhich represent differences between U.S. GAAPand IFRSsthat were
not individually material, including deferred loan origination costs and fees, interest recognition, restructuring costs, depreciation
expense, share based payments, precious metals and loans held for sale.
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Balance Sheet Review

We utilize deposits and borrowings from various sources to provide liquidity, fund balance sheet growth, meet cash and capital
needs, and fund investments in subsidiaries. Balance sheet totals at June 30, 2013 and increases (decreases) over prior periods are
summarized in the table below:

Increase (Decrease) From
March 31, 2013 December 31, 2012

June 30, 2013 Amount % Amount %
(dollars are in millions)

Period end assets:

ShOrt-term iNVESIMENES ........ccccevvvvevevereeeeeese e $ 32530 $ 7872 319% $ 14,743 82.9 %
L OGNS, NEL ..ot 66,100 3,736 6.0 3,489 5.6
Loansheld for Sale......ccovvvvveievcceeee e 359 (40) (10.0 (659) (64.7)
Trading aSSEtS........covveirieirieiseesees e 27,448 (7,210) (20.8) (8,547) (23.7)
SECUNTIES ...viuiiieeeteeete ettt sttt 54,396 (6,496) (20.7) (14,940) (21.5)
OtNEr 8SSELS ....veveeeerieeeie et 11,553 1,514 151 1,733 17.6

$ 192386 $ (624) (3% $ (4,181) (2.1)%

Funding sources: -

TOtal dEPOSITS......oeevireeiireeiriere s $ 111,735 $ (5314 45% $ (5936) (5.00%
Trading l1@bilItieS .......ccvvveirierecs e 15,337 (4,151) (21.3) (4,483) (22.6)
Short-term borrowings ........ccooeveeeieneeeeeeeeeeens 21,394 9,592 81.3 6,461 43.3
All other l1aDilIties. ..o 5,584 790 16.5 1,022 224
Long-term debt........ccoevveieieicere e 20,934 (1,105) (5.0) (811) (3.7)
Shareholders’ equity.........ccoveereereineierereereeeees 17,402 (436) (2.4 (434) (2.9)

$ 192386 $ (624) (3% $ (4,181 (2.1)%

Short-Term Investments Short-term investments include cash and due from banks, interest bearing deposits with banks and
securities purchased under resal e agreements. Balances will fluctuate from period to period depending upon our liquidity position
at the time. Overall balances increased from both periods as we manage our short-term liquidity to maximize earnings while
retaining liquidity.
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Loans, Net Loan balances at June 30, 2013, and increases (decreases) over prior periods, are summarized in the table bel ow:

Increase (Decrease) From
March 31, 2013 December 31, 2012

June 30, 2013 Amount % Amount %

(dollars are in millions)

Commercial loans:

Construction and other real estate........ccccovveevevecvvieiinnnnns $ 8529 $ 210 25% $ 72 .9%
Business and corporate banking...........cccoovniiicninnn, 12,391 (334 (2.6) (217) @.7n
Global banking™ ..o 23,339 3,621 18.4 3,330 16.6
Other commercial 10aNS .........ccccveeveivereneeseseseseeeens 3,005 128 4.4 (71) (2.3)
Total commercial 08NS .........ccovveeeeeeee e 47,264 3,625 8.3 3,114 7.1

Consumer loans:
Residential mortgages, excluding home equity

MOMQAOES. .. venveeeeereenerseeeeeseeeneesseeneesneeseesseeseesseensesseens 15,837 107 Ve 466 3.0
Home equity MOrtgages .........ccoevereereererieeenerese e 2,172 (64) (2.9 (152) (6.5
Total residential MOrtgagesS.......cocevvereeerrerreeieseseseseenens 18,009 43 2 314 1.8
Credit Card.......ooeeeerereeeerreee s 858 109 14.6 43 5.3
Other CONSUMES ......coviiiiieciereeie ettt 574 4 (.7 (24) (4.0
Total CoNSUMEY [08NS.........cvereirerrereeereee e 19,441 148 8 333 17

TOtEl 108NS......ooeceieereeee e 66,705 3,773 6.0 3,447 54
Allowance for credit 10SSes..........cccviiciniciiicicicie 605 37 6.5 (42) (6.5)
L 08NS, NEL.....cveereiiirieeeeere e $ 66100 $ 3,736 6.0% $ 3,489 5.6%

@ Represents large multinational firmsincluding globally focused U.S. corporate and financial institutions and USD lending to selected high quality Latin
American and other multinational customers managed by HSBC on a global basis as well asto HSBC &ffiliates.

Commercial loan balances increased compared with both March 31, 2013 and December 31, 2012 due to new business activity,
largely in global banking, including an increase of $2.2 billion and $2.5 billion, respectively, in affiliate loans. These increases
were partially offset by paydowns and managed reductions in certain exposures.

Residential mortgage loans remained relatively flat compared with March 31, 2013, and increased compared with December 31,
2012, primarily duetotheinclusion of approximately $310 millionin guaranteedloanspurchased from GNMA which had previously
been recorded in other assets. Repayments on these purchased GNMA loans are predominantly insured by the FHA and as such,
these loans have different risk characteristics from the rest of our consumer loan portfolio. As aresult of balance sheet initiatives
to manage interest rate risk and improve the structural liquidity of HSBC Bank USA, we continue to sell a substantial portion of
our new residential loan originationsand target new residential mortgagel oan originations, with our Premier customer rel ationships.
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Over the past several years, real estate marketsin alarge portion of the United States have been affected by stagnation or declines
inproperty values. Asaresult, whiletheloan-to-value (“LTV") ratiosfor our mortgageloan portfolio hasdeclined since origination,
we have recently seen a general improvement in refreshed loan-to-value ratios ("Refreshed LTVS'). Refreshed LTV for our
mortgage loan portfolio, excluding subprime residential mortgage loans held for sale, are presented in the table below.

Refreshed LTVs(l)(Z) Refeshed LTVs(l)(z)
at June 30, 2013 at December 31, 2012
First Lien Second Lien First Lien Second Lien

LTV < 80%0.ceieiteeeseeieie ettt s 82.4% 60.3% 79.5% 59.4%
8090 S LTV K 9000...cuuiieiiiinieeie ettt e 7.7% 13.1% 8.6% 13.3%
90% S LTV < L0090.....c.eeeeueeierieeieniesiesieeresie s s e e seeseeeenens 4.8% 11.3% 5.7% 11.5%
LTV > 20090 .....cceeeerieeiesieeie sttt st 5.1% 15.3% 6.2% 15.8%
Average LTV for portfolio.......cccroeeerevieric e 65.0% 70.4% 62.4% 71.9%

@ Refreshed LTVsfor first liens are calculated using the loan balance as of the reporting date. Refreshed LTV's for second liens are calculated using the loan
balance as of the reporting date plus the senior lien amount at origination. Current estimated property values are derived from the property's appraised value
at the time of loan origination updated by the changein the Federal Housing Finance Agency's (formerly known asthe Office of Federal Housing Enterprise
Oversight) house pricing index (“HPI") at either a Core Based Statistical Area (“CBSA”) or state level. The estimated value of the homes could vary from
actual fair values due to changesin condition of the underlying property, variations in housing price changes within metropolitan statistical areas and other
factors. As aresult, actual property values associated with loans that end in foreclosure may be significantly lower than the estimates used for purposes of
this disclosure.

@ Current property values are calculated using the most current HPIs available and applied on an individual loan basis, which resultsin an approximate three
month delay in the production of reportable statistics. Therefore, the information in the table above reflects current estimated property valuesusing HPIs as
of March 31, 2013 and September 30, 2012, respectively.

Credit card receivable balances, which represent our legacy HSBC Bank USA credit card portfolio, increased compared with
March 31, 2013 and remained relatively flat compared with December 31, 2012. The increase since March 31, 2013 reflects the
impact of seasonal improvements in our collection activities during the first quarter as customers use their tax refunds to make
payments.

Other consumer loans have decreased from both March 31, 2013 and December 31, 2012 reflecting the discontinuation of student
loan originations and the run-off of our installment loan and auto finance portfolios.

Loans Held for Sale Loans held for sale at June 30, 2013 and increases (decreases) over prior periods are summarized in the
following table.

Increase (Decrease) From

March 31, 2013 December 31, 2012
June 30, 2013 Amount % Amount %
(dollars are in millions)
Total commercial 10anS........cccovvevereiierreee e $ 20 $ (38) (65.5% $ (461) (95.8)%
Consumer loans:
Residential Mortgages .........cuovvvrreneneneeneeesieeniens 275 (2 (0.7) (197) (41.7)
Other CONSUMES ......oeeeiiiiieeriees e 64 — — (D) (1.5)
Total CONSUMEr [0ANS.......cccevieiererieieereeeeeee e 339 2 (0.6) (198) (36.9)
Total loansheld for sale.......ooooeiiicii $ 359 $ (40) (10.00% $ (659) (64.7)%

We originate commercial loans in connection with our participation in a number of leveraged acquisition finance syndicates. A
substantial majority of these loans are originated with the intent of selling them to unaffiliated third parties and are classified as
commercia loans held for sale. During the first quarter of 2013, we completed the sale of substantially all of our remaining
leveraged acquisition finance syndicated loans which we had been holding since the financia crisis. Commercial loans held for
sale under this program were $3 million, $3 million and $465 million at June 30, 2013, March 31, 2013 and December 31, 2012,
respectively, all of which arerecorded at fair value aswe have elected to designate theseloansunder fair value option. SeeNote 11,
“Fair Value Option,” in the accompanying consolidated financial statements for further information. Commercial loans held for
sale aso includes commercia real estate loans of $55 million and $16 million at March 31, 2013 and December 31, 2012,
respectively, which are originated with the intent to sell to government sponsored enterprises. There were no such loans held for
sale at June 30, 2013.
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Residential mortgage loans held for sale historically included first mortgage loans originated and held for sale primarily to various
government sponsored enterprises. Upon conversion of our mortgage processing and servicing operations to PHH Mortgage in
the second quarter of 2013, beginning with May 2013 applications we no longer retain the servicing rights in relation to the
mortgages upon sale. Also included in residential mortgage loans held for sale are subprime residential mortgage loans of $54
million, $51 million and $52 million at June 30, 2013, March 31, 2013 and December 31, 2012, respectively, which were acquired
from unaffiliated third parties and from HSBC Finance with the intent of securitizing or selling the loans to third parties.

Other consumer loans held for salein all periods aso include certain student loans which we no longer originate.

Consumer loans held for sale are recorded at the lower of cost or fair value. The valuation adjustment on loans held for sale was
$95 million and $114 million at June 30, 2013 and December 31, 2012, respectively.

Trading Assets and Liabilities Trading assetsand liabilitiesbalancesat June 30, 2013, andincreases (decreases) over prior periods,
are summarized in the following table.

Increase (Decrease) From

March 31, 2013 December 31, 2012
June 30, 2013 Amount % Amount %
(dollars are in millions)
Trading assets:
S e AL == $ 9050 $ (1,381) (13.2% $ (4,109 (31.2)%
Precious Metals..........ooovcciicciinscc s 9,397 (6,478) (40.8) (2,935) (23.8)
DEMVAHVES? ... 9,001 649 7.8 (1,503) (14.3)
$ 27448 $ (7,210) (20.8)% $ (8,547) (23.7)%
Trading liabilities: -
Securities sold, not yet purchased.............cccooveviiiniiiinines 491 (350) (41.6)% 284 100+
Payables for precious metals ..., 4,545 (1,641) (26.5) (1,222) (21.2)
DENIVAIVES ..ot ee e 10,301 (2,160) (17.3) (3,545) (25.6)

$ 15337 $ (4151) (213)% $ (4483)  (226)%

@ IncludesU.S. Treasury securities, securitiesissued by U.S. Government agencies and U.S. Government sponsored enterprises, other asset-backed securities,
corporate and foreign bonds and debt securities.

@ At June 30, 2013, March 31, 2013 and December 31, 2012, the fair value of derivativesincluded in trading assets has been reduced by $5.0 billion, $5.3
billion and $5.1 hillion, respectively, relating to amounts recognized for the obligation to return cash collateral received under master netting agreements
with derivative counterparties.

©®  AtJune 30, 2013, March 31, 2013 and December 31, 2012, the fair value of derivativesincluded in trading liabilities has been reduced by $1.9 billion, $1.4
billion and $1.3 billion, respectively, relating to amounts recognized for the right to reclaim cash collateral paid under master netting agreements with
derivative.

Securities balances decreased since both March 31, 2013 and December 31, 2012 due to a decrease in U.S. Treasury, corporate
and foreign sovereign positions held to mitigate the risks of interest rate products issued to customers of domestic and emerging
markets. Balances of securities sold, not yet purchased decreased since March 31, 2013 due to reduction in short US Treasury
positionsrel ated to hedgesof derivativesintheinterest ratetrading portfolio. Balancesof securitiessold, not yet purchasedincreased
since December 31, 2012 due to an increase in short U.S. Treasury positions related to hedges of derivativesin the interest rate
trading portfolio.

Preciousmetal strading assetsdecreased at June 30, 2013 compared with both March 31, 2013 and December 31, 2012 dueprimarily
to a decrease in our own inventory positions held as hedges for client activity, declines in spot rates and, to a lesser extent, a
decrease in unallocated metal balances held for customers. The lower payable for precious metals compared with both March 31,
2013 and December 31, 2012 was primarily due to a decrease in unallocated customer balances.

Precious metal positions may not represent our net underlying exposure as we may use derivatives contracts to reduce our risk
associated with these positions, where the fair value would appear in the derivative linein the table above.

Derivative assets balances at June 30, 2013 increased compared with March 31, 2013 and decreased compared with December
31, 2012. Derivativeliabilities balances at June 30, 2013 decreased compared with both March 31, 2013 and December 31, 2012.
The decreases were mainly due to market movements as valuations of interest rate, foreign exchange and credit derivatives all
declined. The balances also reflect the continued decrease in credit derivative positions as a number of transaction unwinds and
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commutations reduced the outstanding market value as we continue to actively reduce the exposure in the legacy structured credit
business. More than offsetting these decreases as it relates to derivative assets balances compared with March 31, 2013 were
increasesin emerging markets and metal derivatives as short positionsincreased as prices reduced offsetting positionsin securities
and metals.

Securities Securitiesinclude securities available-for-sale and securities hel d-to-maturity. Balanceswill fluctuate between periods
depending upon our liquidity position at the time. The decline in balances since both March 31, 2013 and December 31, 2012
reflect the sale of $10.0 billion and $22.3 billion, respectively, of U.S. Treasury, mortgage-backed and other asset-backed securities
as part of a continuing strategy to re-balance the securities portfolio for risk management purposes based on the current interest
rate environment. Partially offsetting the decline was the addition of $218 million of securities held-to-maturity as a result of the
consolidation of aVIEinthesecond quarter of 2013. SeeNote4, “ Securities,” intheaccompanying consolidated financial statements
for additional information.

Deposits Deposit balances by major depositor categories at June 30, 2013, and increases (decreases) over prior periods are
summarized in the following table.

Increase (Decrease) From

March 31, 2013 December 31, 2012
June 30, 2013 Amount % Amount %
(dollars are in millions)

Individuas, partnerships and corporations................e..... $ 91430 $ (4,729) 49% $ (4,420) (4.6)%
Domestic and foreign banks.............ccooevinnnininnn, 18,827 (376) (2.00% (1,432) (7.1)%
U.S. government and states and political subdivisions..... 972 3 3% 279 40.3 %
Foreign governments and official institutions.................. 506 (217) (30.0)% (363) (41.8)%
Total dEPOSITS.....c.eeeeceeireriee e $ 111,735 $ (5314 45% $ (5,936) (5.0)%
Total core depOSItS™ ...........oveeveereeeeeseeeeeseeeesseeeeseeeneens $ 86711 $ (2,460) (2.8)% (3,370) (3.7)%

@ We monitor “core deposits’ as a key measure for assessing results of our core banking network. Core deposits generally include all domestic demand,
money market and other savings accounts, as well as time deposits with balances not exceeding $100,000.

Deposits continued to be a significant source of funding during the first quarter of 2013. Deposits at June 30, 2013 declined
compared with March 31, and December 31, 2012. Core domestic deposits which are a substantial source of our core liquidity,
also decreased compared with both March 31, 2013 and December 31, 2012 driven largely by a strategic decision to actively
reduce deposit interest rates particularly in the non-premier segments. The strategy for our core retail banking business, includes
building relationship deposits and wealth management across multiple markets, channels and segments. This strategy includes
various initiatives, such as:
e HSBC Premier, a premium service wealth and relationship banking proposition designed for the internationally-minded
client with adedicated premier relationship manager. Total Premier deposits have decreased to $21.6 billion at June 30,
2013 as compared with $22.5 billion and $22.8 billion at March 31, 2013 and December 31, 2012, respectively, primarily
as aresult of the impact of the deposit rate reductions; and
e Expanding our existing customer relationships by needs-based sales of wealth, banking and mortgage products.

We continue to actively manage our balance sheet to increase profitability while maintaining adequate liquidity. We have made
reductionsto rates on certain deposits and, while we have seen declinesin the associated deposit balances, we still retain substantial
levels of liquidity.
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Short-Term Borrowings Short-term borrowings at June 30, 2013 increased compared with both March 31, 2013 and December
31, 2012 largely as aresult of increased levels of securities sold under agreements to repurchase. Short-term borrowings at June
30, 2013 also reflects $400 million of commercial paper due to the consolidation of aVIE in the second quarter of 2013.

Long-Term Debt Long-term debt at June 30, 2013 decreased as compared with both March 31, 2013 and December 31, 2012,
due to the impact of debt retirements partially offset by debt issuances which included $1.7 billion and $3.5 billion, respectively,
of medium-term notes, of which $922 million and $1.9 billion, respectively, was issued by HSBC Bank USA.

Incremental issuances from the $40 billion HSBC Bank USA Globa Bank Note Program totaled $922 million and $1.9 hillion
during the three and six months ended June 30, 2013, respectively, compared with $55 million and $202 million during the three
and six months ended June 30, 2012, respectively. Total debt outstanding under this program was $4.6 billion and $4.8 billion at
June 30, 2013 and December 31, 2012. Given the adequate liquidity of HSBC Bank USA, we do not anticipate the Global Bank
Note Program being heavily used in the future as deposits will continue to be the primary funding source for HSBC Bank USA.

Incremental long-term debt issuances from our shelf registration statement with the Securities and Exchange Commission totaled
$750 million and $1.6 hillion during the three and six months ended June 30, 2013 compared with $1.2 billion and $4.5 hillion
during the three and six months ended June 30, 2012, respectively. Total long-term debt outstanding under this shelf was $10
billion and $10.1 billion at June 30, 2013 and December 31, 2012, respectively.

Borrowings from the Federal Home Loan Bank of New York (“FHLB") totaled $1.0 billion at June 30, 2013 and December 31,
2012. At June 30, 2013, we had the ability to access further borrowings of up to $4.3 billion based on the amount pledged as
collateral with the FHLB.
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Residential Real Estate Owned

We obtain real estate by taking possession of the collateral pledged as security for residential mortgageloans. Residential mortgage
loan real estate owned ("REQ") totaled $27 million and $28 million at June 30, 2013 and December 31, 2012, respectively. REO
properties are made available for sale in an orderly fashion with the proceeds used to reduce or repay the outstanding receivable
balance. The following table provides quarterly information regarding our REO properties:

Three Months Ended

June 30, March 31, December 31, September 30, June 30,
2013 2013 2012 2012 2012

Number of REO properties at end of period............... 246 240 221 203 188
Number of properties added to REO inventory in the

PEITO.....eceeieiieieteee s 86 119 96 87 88
Average loss on sale of REO properties™................. 4.6% 5.0% 1.6% 2.1% 8.0%
Average total loss on foreclosed properties® ............ 46.8% 47.8% 45.4% 46.8% 48.7%
Average timeto sell REO properties (in days)............ 197 280 285 296 273

@ Property acquired through foreclosureisinitially recognized at the lower of amortized cost or itsfair value less estimated coststo sell (“Initial REO Carrying
Amount”). The average loss on sale of REO properties is calculated as cash proceeds less the Initial REO Carrying Amount divided by the unpaid loan
principal balance prior to write-down (excluding any accrued finance income) plus certain other ancillary disbursementsthat, by law, are reimbursable from
the cash proceeds (e.g., real estate tax advances) and were incurred prior to our taking title to the property and does not include holding costs on REO
properties. This ratio represents the portion of our total loss on foreclosed properties that occurred after we took title to the property.

@ The average total loss on foreclosed properties sold each quarter includes both the loss on sale of the REO property as discussed above and the cumulative
write-downs recognized on the loans up to the time we took title to the property. This calculation of the average total 1oss on foreclosed properties uses the
unpaid loan principal balance prior to write-down (excluding any accrued finance income) plus certain other ancillary disbursements that, by law, are
reimbursable from the cash proceeds (e.g., real estate tax advances) and were incurred prior to the date we took title to the property and does not include
holding costs on REO properties.

Our methodology for determining the fair values of the underlying collateral as described in Note 2, “ Summary of Significant
Accounting Policies and New Accounting Pronouncements’ in our 2012 Form 10-K is continuously validated by comparing our
net investment in the loan subsequent to charging the loan down to the lower of amortized cost or fair value less cost to sell, or
our net investment in the property upon completing the foreclosure process, to the updated broker's price opinion and once the
collateral has been obtained, any adjustments that have been made to lower the expected selling price, which may be lower than
the broker's price opinion. Adjustments in our expectation of the ultimate proceeds that will be collected are recognized as they
occur based on market information at that time and consultation with our listing agents for the properties.

As previously reported, beginning in late 2010 we temporarily suspended all new foreclosure proceedings and in early 2011
temporarily suspended foreclosures in process where judgment had not yet been entered while we enhanced foreclosure
documentation and processes for foreclosures and re-filed affidavits where necessary. During thefirst and second quarter of 2013,
we added 119 properties and 86 properties, respectively, to REO inventory. We expect that the number of REO properties added
to inventory may increase during 2013 although the number of new REO propertiesadded to inventory will continueto beimpacted
by our ongoing refinements to our foreclosure processes as well as the extended foreclosure timelines in al states as discussed
below.

In addition, certain courts and state legislatures have issued new rules or statutes relating to foreclosures. Scrutiny of foreclosure
documentation hasincreased in some courts. Also, in some areas, officialsare requiring additional verification of information filed
prior to the foreclosure proceeding. The combination of these factors has led to a significant backlog of foreclosures which will
taketimeto resolve. If asignificant number of foreclosures come to market at the same time, due to the backlog or other delays
in processing, it could have an adverse impact upon home prices.

The number of REO properties at June 30, 2013 increased as compared with March 31, 2013 and December 31, 2012. We have
resumed processing suspended foreclosure actionsin substantially all states and have referred the majority of the backlog of loans
for foreclosure. We have a so begun initiating new foreclosure activities in substantially all states.

The averageloss on sale of REO properties and the average total 1oss on foreclosed propertiesimproved during the second quarter
of 2013 as compared with thefirst quarter of 2013 due to improvementsin home prices. Compared with the fourth quarter of 2012,
these ratios increased as we had taken title by accepting a deed-in-lieu for fewer REO properties sold during the current period.
Total losses on deed-in-lieu aretypically lower than lossesfrom REO properties acquired through the standard forecl osure process.
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Results of Operations

Unless noted otherwise, the foll owing discusses amounts from continuing operations as reported in our consolidated statement of
income.

Net Interest Income Net interest income is the total interest income on earning assets less the total interest expense on deposits
and borrowed funds. In the discussion that follows, interest income and rates are presented and analyzed on a taxable equivalent
basisto permit comparisons of yields on tax-exempt and taxabl e assets. An analysis of consolidated average balances and interest
rates on a taxable equivalent basis is presented in this MD& A under the caption “Consolidated Average Balances and Interest
Rates — Continuing Operations.”

In the following table which summarizes the significant components of net interest income, interest expense includes $10 million
and $50 millioninthethreeand six monthsended June 30, 2012, respectively, that hasbeen allocated to our discontinued operations
in accordance with our existing internal transfer pricing policies as external interest expense is unaffected by these transactions.

Three Months Ended  Six Months Ended

June 30, June 30,
2013 2012 2013 2012
Yield 0N total @arNING BSSELS......ciiiirerieriiriee ettt st see e se e e 1.89% 1.97% 1.90% 2.06%
Expense on interest bearing liabilitieS ..o 81 .89 .82 .88
BRI =Sl (RS o)1= o TSRS 1.08 1.08 1.08 1.18
Benefit from net non-interest paying fUNAS™ ............o.cooveveeeeeeeeresseseeees s 22 21 22 17
NEL TNEEIESE MAIGIN. ...ttt st e b e s b e e b e s neas 1.30% 1.29% 1.30% 1.35%

@ Represents the benefit associated with interest earning assetsin excess of interest bearing liabilities. Theincreased percentagesreflect growth in thisexcess.

Significant trends affecting the comparability of the three and six months ended June 30, 2013 and 2012 net interest income and
interest rate spread are summarized in the following table. Net interest income in the table is presented on a taxable equivalent
basis.

Three Months Ended Six Months Ended June
June 30, 2013 30, 2013
Interest Rate Interest Rate
Amount Spread Amount Spread
(dollars are in millions)
Net interest income/interest rate spread from prior year .........cccceceveveveevesnennn. $ 529 1.08% $ 1,081 1.18%
Increase (decrease) in net interest income associated with: -
Trading related aCtiVItiES.........coveeeecieece e 7 1
Balance sheet management aCtivities™...............oooooveeeereeeeecesseesseeseeeen. 10 (19)
COMMEICIAl 10BNS ..ot 37 111
DEPOSITS. ... s (21) (31)
Residential mortgage banking............cccoorinniiiccee s (7 )
Interest on estimated taxX EXPOSUMES ........c.cuevveceeuciiececie s (8) (12)
Other BCHVILY ..o (24) (91)
Net interest income/interest rate spread for current year ..........ccccecevveeeene $ 523 1.08% $ 1,033 1.08%

@ Represents our activities to manage interest rate risk associated with the repricing characteristics of balance sheet assets and liabilities. Interest rate risk,
and our approach to managing such risk, are described under the caption “ Risk Management” in this Form 10-Q.

Trading related activities Net interest income for trading related activities increased during the three and six months ended June
30, 2013 as lower funding costs were partially offset by lower average balances aswell as, in the year-to-date period, lower rates
earned on interest earning trading assets.

Balance sheet management activities Higher net interestincomefrom bal ance sheet management activitiesduring thethree months
ended June 30, 2013 reflectslower funding costs. Net interest income from bal ance sheet management activitieswas|ower during
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the six months ended June 30, 2013 as lower funding costs were more than offset by the impact of the sale of certain securities
for risk management purposes and alower interest rate environment.

Commercial loans Net interest income on commercial loans increased during the three and six months ended June 30, 2013
primarily due to higher average |oan balances due to new business activity as well aslower levels of nonperforming loans which
was partially offset by alower average yield on these loans.

Deposits Lower net interest income during the three and six months ended June 30, 2013 primarily reflects the impact of lower
rates of return on invested capital and, to alesser extent, lower average balances and lower rates paid on interest bearing deposits.

Residential mortgage banking revenue Net interest income on residential mortgage banking revenue was lower in both periods
as lower residential mortgage average outstanding balances (and the associated net interest income) primarily as aresult of the
sale of branches to First Niagarain 2012 and continued higher portfolio prepayments were partially offset by widening interest
spreads largely as aresult of lower portfolio funding costs.

Interest on estimated tax exposures Net interest income during the three and six months ended June 30, 2013 reflects the impact
of higher interest expense associated with tax reserves on estimated exposures.

Other activity Net interestincome on other activity waslower during the three and six months ended June 30, 2013, largely driven
by lower rates of return on invested capital related to short-term and long-term borrowing.

Provision for Credit Losses The provision for credit losses associated with our various loan portfolios is summarized in the
following table:

Increase (Decrease)
Three Months Ended June 30, 2013 2012 Amount %
(dollars are in millions)

Commercial:
Construction and other real ESLALE...........c.ccevveveeieerivieiceeeceee e $ (14 3 5) $ (9) (100+)
Business and corporate Danking ...........coeoveireiineineneee e 15 15 — —
Global DANKING. .....ceeiiieii e 29 19 10 52.6
Other COMMEICIAL .......ocviiieieiececees ettt e b 4 (7 3 42.9
TOtal COMMENCIAL ... $ 26 $ 22 % 4 18.2 %
Consumer:
Residential mortgages, excluding home equity mortgages..........ccccoveeeeeerenennenn 14 24 (100  (41.7)%
HOME EQUILY MOMGBOES. .. .. eeveeetereete sttt sttt 13 34 (21) (61.8)
Credit Card reCaIVADIES .......ooi e e e 13 9 4 44.4
OLNEr CONSUMES ..ottt 1 — 1 100+
Total consumer 41 67 (26) (38.8)
Total provision for Credit I0SSES.........ciiiciiieeeceee e seaeees $ 67 $ 8 $ (22  (247)%

Increase (Decrease)

Six Months Ended June 30, 2013 2012 Amount %
(dollars are in millions)

Commercial:
Construction and other real EStALe..........c.c.cucveeeeveeeeeeeeeeeeee e $ B5)$ (25 % 20 80.0 %
Business and corporate Danking ...........coeoveereineineiseree e 17 21 4 (19.0
Global bBanKiNg........ccovieiiiee e 28 3 31 100+
Other COMMEICIA ......ccuiieeeeceeeeecee e et re e ene (@) 9 5 55.6
TOtal COMMEICIA ..o e sa bbb sa st nenesnnneas $ 36 $ (16 $ 52 100+
Consumer:
Residential mortgages, excluding home equity mortgages..........ccccceeererenennenn 11 39 (28) (71.8)%
HOME EQUILY MOMGBOES. .. .. eeveeetereete ettt sttt et 30 42 (12) (28.6)
Credit Card reCaIVADIES .......ccerieeeceee e e 11 20 (99 (45.0
OLhEr CONSUMIET .......ccteiieiieieie ettt ettt st be st sre st et e e e e esaese e e enestesaeenens — 4 (4) (100.0)
TOLAl CONSUIMET ...ttt ettt ettt b e b bt es e e nn s 52 105 (53) (50.5)
Total provision for Credit I0SSES.........covvciiirce e $ 88 $ 89 $ (1) 1.1)%
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During the three months ended June 30, 2013, our provision for credit losses decreased $22 million driven by alower provision
or credit lossesin our consumer loan portfolio, while our commercial loan credit |oss provision increased modestly. Our provision
for credit losses decreased $1 million during the six months ended June 30, 2013 driven by a higher provision for credit lossesin
our commercial loan portfolio partially offset by alower credit loss provision in our consumer loan portfolio. Our provision asa
percentage of averagereceivableswas.10 percent and .14 percent during thethreeand six monthsended June 30, 2013, respectively.
During the three months ended June 30, 2013, we increased credit loss reserves as the provision for credit losses was $37 million
higher than net charge-offs. During the six months ended June 30, 2013, we decreased our credit 10ss reserves asthe provision for
credit losses was lower than net charge-offs by $42 million.

In our commercial portfolio, the provision for credit losses increased in both periods reflecting higher levels of reserves for risk
factors primarily associated with large Global Banking and Markets [oan exposures. In addition, while we experienced continued
improvementsineconomicand credit conditionsincludinglower nonperformingloansand criticized asset level sin 2013, reductions
in higher risk rated loan balances and stabilization in credit downgrades, including managed reductionsin certain exposures and
improvementsin the financial circumstances of certain customer relationshipsin both years resulted in a higher overall releasein
our credit loss reservesin the prior year periods.

The provision for credit losses on residential mortgages including home equity mortgages decreased $31 million and $40 million
during the three and six months ended June 30, 2013, respectively, as compared with the year-ago periods driven by continued
improvementsin economic and credit conditionsincluding lower dollars of delinquency on reservable accounts|essthan 180 days
contractualy delinquent and improvementsin loan delinquency roll rates.

The provision for credit losses associated with credit card receivables increased $4 million during the three month period ended
June 30, 2013 due to increases in late stage delinquency roll rates, partialy offset by lower dollars of delinquency and lower
receivable levels. In the six months ended June 30, 2013, the provision for credit losses associated with credit card receivables
decreased $9 million reflecting improved economic conditions, including lower dollars of delinquency, improvements in loan
delinquency roll rates and lower receivable levels.

Our methodology and accounting policies related to the allowance for credit losses are presented in “ Critical Accounting Policies
and Estimates’ inthisMD& A andinNote 2, “ Summary of Significant Accounting Policiesand New Accounting Pronouncements’
in our 2012 Form 10-K. See* Credit Quality” inthisMD& A for additional discussion on the allowance for credit |osses associated
with our various loan portfolios.
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Other Revenues The components of other revenues are summarized in the following tables.

Increase (Decrease)

Three Months Ended June 30, 2013 2012 Amount %
(dollars are in millions)
Credit Card fEES ..o $ 21 $ 2 $ D (4.5)%
Other fees and COMMISSIONS ........c.oueiiiiiiiiiii s 176 185 9 (4.9)
QLTS AT 010 T = OSSP 31 25 6 24.0
TradiNg FEVENUE........couiiriiietieet et 107 84 23 274
Other SeCUritieS gains, NEL..........coccviciii s 23 65 (42) (64.6)
HSBC &ffiliate income:
Fees and COMMISSIONS.........ccuveirieirieiriereese et 44 36 8 222
Other affiliate INCOME......ccueeeeeeeeeeeee e 15 10 5 50.0
Total HSBC affiliat@ iNCOME.......ciueirieieieieeeie e 59 46 13 283
Residential mortgage banking revenue™ .............o.oovoveoeeeeeeeeeeceeeeeeeeeeeeeee s 9 2 7 100+
Gain on instruments designated at fair value and related derivatives..................... 115 141 (26) (18.4)
Gainon sale of BranChes..........occuieiiciici — 330 (330) (100.0)%
Other income:
Valuation of loans held for sale............ccoviiiiiiiiie 6 2 100+
[NSUFBINCE ...ttt sb bbb b e b e b e e et e et enenbenaesne 2 1 50.0
Earnings from equity iNVESIMENES..........coiirininiee e 1 (3 4 100+
MiSCEllaNEOUS INCOME.......cooviiiiiii s 15 (18) 33 100+
Total Other INCOME..........coviiiiiiii s 25 (21) 46 100+
Total Other FeVENUES........c.cccvicici s $ 566 $ 879 $ (313) (35.6)%
Increase (Decrease)
Six Months Ended June 30, 2013 2012 Amount %
(dollars are in millions)
Credit Card FEES ... $ 4 % 52 $ (18) (34.6)%
Other fees and COMMISSIONS ........coervereeireeeeere e sre e 346 396 (50) (12.6)
THUSE INCOMIB. ...ttt ettt b s b b st b e et et e e b e s b b e e e 63 50 13 26.0
TradiNg FEVENUE........coviiitiiet ettt bbb 271 282 (11) (3.9
Other SECUtIES QAINS, NEL......oiveeeieeeeeeee e sre e 154 95 59 62.1
HSBC &ffiliate income:
Fees and COMMISSIONS.......cciieiereeeeieeee ettt e ne e see e 86 82 4 4.9
Other affiliate INCOME........ccoiieiireei e 27 20 7 35.0
Total HSBC affiliat@ iNCOME.......coeiiriiriiisiese e 113 102 11 10.8
Residential mortgage banking revenue™® ...............ccoooorooeeoeeeoeeceeeceeeeeeeeeeeees 55 27 28 100+
Gain (loss) on instruments designated at fair value and related derivatives........... 88 (71) 159 100+
Gain on sale Of BranChes.........ccvicineiee s — 330 (330) (100.0)%
Other income:
Valuation of loansheld for Sale.........covvviieiecisere e 9 3 12 100+
INSUFBINCE ...ttt ettt st s b e bbbt ere e e e e neennesneesneennas 4 4 — —
Earnings from equity iNVESIMENES.........cooiiririnieeeese e 2 (1) 3 100+
MiSCEllANEOUS INCOME.......ceeuiieiirieieriecrier et 19 — 19 100+
Total OtNEN INCOME. ... .ot 34 — 34 100+
TOtaAl OtNEr TEVENUES......ceeeeeiceeicecieeeicieeeeeee e eesesi et ses st sesesesssesenesensaneas $ 1,158 $ 1263 $ (105 (8.3)%
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@ Includes servicing fees received from HSBC Finance of less than $1 million and $2 million during the three months ended March 31, 2013 and 2012,

respectively.
Credit card fees Credit card fees declined during both periods largely due to lower outstanding balances driven by the sale of a

portion of the portfolio as part of the sale of 195 retail branchesin 2012 aswell as atrend towards |ower |ate fees due to improved
customer behavior.

Other fees and commissions Other fee-based income decreased during the three and six months ended June 30, 2013. The decrease
in both periods was due to lower account service related fees primarily due to the impact of the sale of 195 retail branches as
discussed above and a decline in custodial fees due to decrease in precious metal related fees. Also impacting the six months
ended June 30, 2013 was a decrease in credit facility related fees primarily due to a decrease in syndication fees as well as a
decrease in other fees due to the impact of the sale of 195 retail branches. The components of other fees and commissions are
summarized in the following table.

Increase (Decrease)

Three Months Ended June 30, 2013 2012 Amount %
(dollars are in millions)
ACCOUNE SEIVICES ..ot $ 71 $ 77 ® (78
Credit faCIlItIES ....ueeee et re s 52 52 — —
LOU LS (0o [ I =S 14 17 (3 (17.6)
(@1 01C g == RS RRURRU 39 39 — —
Total other fees and COMMISSIONS..........cucuiuiiiinieie s $ 176 $ 185 $ (9 (49%

Increase (Decrease)

Six Months Ended June 30, 2013 2012 Amount %
(dollars are in millions)
ACCOUNE SEIVICES ...ttt ettt st st eesaebese st seaseessetese e eeebese e enetesens $ 140 $ 159 (19) (119
Credit FaClITIES.....oe e 104 117 (13) (111
CUSLOTIE FEES .vvvvrrrvvereeseeeeeeeeeeeseesseeeeeeeseseeeessseesess s eesessessesseseeeessseseesseseen 32 36 @ (111
OFNEN FEES ...ttt 70 84 (14 (16.7)
Total other fees and COMMISSIONS ........c.ovrrererirrerrr s eeees $ 346 $ 3% $ (50) (12.6)%

Trust income Trust income increased during both periods due to an increase in fee income associated with our management of
fixed income assets, partially offset by reduced fee income associated with the continued decline in money market assets under
management.
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Trading revenue Trading revenueis generated by participation in the foreign exchange, rates, credit and precious metals markets.
The following table presents trading related revenue by business. The data in the table includes net interest income earned on
trading instruments, aswell as an allocation of the funding benefit or cost associated with thetrading positions. Thetrading related
net interest income component isincluded in net interest income on the consolidated statement of income. Trading revenuesrel ated
to the mortgage banking business are included in residential mortgage banking revenue.

Increase (Decrease)

Three Months Ended June 30, 2013 2012 Amount %
(dollars are in millions)

LI o [T =YL= 10 $ 107 $ 84 $ 23 27.4 %

NELINLErESt INCOME ..o (5) (12) 6 54.5

Trading related FEVENUE........cc.eoeeeeeeeeeeeeeee e $ 102 $ 73 $ 29 39.7 %

Business: -
DEAVAIVESY .....oooovvvoeoesvose s $ 26 $ 25 % 1 4.0 %
Balance sheet management ... 7 (14) 21 100+
FOreign eXChange ..........ccciiiiiii e 43 51 (8) (15.7)
PrECiOUS MELAIS. ... .c..eiviteie ettt s 22 9 13 100+
Global BANKING .......ccveveiiie s 1 (1) 2 100+
(@101 o (=T (1 0o SRS 3 3 — —

Trading related FeVENUE...........coo e $ 102 $ 73 $ 29 39.7 %

Increase (Decrease)

Six Months Ended June 30, 2013 2012 Amount %
(dollars are in millions)

TrA0ING FEVENUE.........vceeeeeeeeeteeee ettt ettt ettt se st ete s et tenens $ 2711 $ 282 $ (11 (3.9%

NEL TNEErESE INCOME ....viictiecteee ettt er e (15) a7) 2 11.8

Trading related FEVENUE............coiveuiiieecicesies e $ 256 $ 265 $ (9) (3.4)%

Business: -
DENVAIVES™Y ..ottt $ 95 $ 89 $ 6 6.7 %
Balance sheet Management ........coceceeererese e s 4 3 7 100+
FOraign EXChaNGE .....ccuecueie e sreeras 108 122 (14 (@15
PreCioUS MELAIS. .....c..o ittt s neas 48 41 7 171
Global BanKiNG .......cceieieceeee e e 1 2 (1) (50.0)
(@10 T= g 7= 10 TSRS — 14 (14) (100.0)

Trading related rEVENUE.........c.ccurieirecerirerieeeeeeeesieie e esesses e sessase s nesensaneas $ 25 $ 265 $ (9) (3.4)%

@ Includes derivative contracts related to credit default and cross-currency swaps, equities, interest rates and structured credit products.

Trading revenue during the three and six months ended June 30, 2013 reflects higher revenue from economic hedges employed
by balance sheet management to manage interest rate risk as well as higher precious metals and derivatives revenue. Foreign
exchange revenue was lower driven by areduction in trade volumes and price volatility. In the year-to-date period, declinesin
foreign exchange revenue and other trading revenue more than offset the improvements in revenue associated with balance sheet
management, precious metal sand derivatives. Revenueincreased in precious metalsfrom greater pricevolatility and in derivatives
from valuation gains in structured credit products. Derivative performance aso reflects a change in estimation methodology
beginning in the fourth quarter of 2012 with respect to credit valuation adjustments and debit val uation adjustments to be based
on a market-implied probability of default calculation rather than a ratings-based historical counterparty probability of default
calculation consi stent with evolving market practices. Lower revenuefrom other trading activitiesin theyear-to-date period reflects
valuation adjustments that were previously included in other trading that are now being included in other business lines.

Trading revenue related to derivatives products increased during the three and six months ended June 30, 2013, impacted by a
changein credit risk adjustment estimates. Derivatives revenue was a so impacted by higher valuation gainsfrom structured credit
products in both periods, partialy offset by declines in emerging markets related derivatives revenue, which was impacted by
weakening economic conditionsin Latin America.
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Trading revenue related to balance sheet management activities increased during the three and six months ended June 30, 2013
primarily due to higher revenue from economic hedge positions used to manage interest rate risk.

Foreign exchange trading revenue decreased during the three and six months ended June 30, 2013 due to lower revenue from a
reduction in trade volumes and price volatility.

Precious metals trading revenues increased during the three and six months ended June 30, 2013 as a result of increased metals
price volatility.

Other trading revenue was flat during the three months ended June 30, 2013 and decreased during the six months ended June 30,
2013. The decrease in the year-to-date period reflects valuation adjustments that were previoudly included in other trading that
are now being included in other business lines.

Other securities gains, net We maintain various securities portfolios as part of our balance sheet diversification and risk
management strategies. In the second quarter and first six months of 2013, we sold $10.0 billion and $22.3 billion, respectively,
of U.S. Treasury, mortgage-backed and other asset-backed securities as part of a continuing strategy to re-balance the securities
portfolio for risk management purposes based on the current interest rate environment and recognized gains of $83 million and
$207 million and losses of $60 million and $61 million, respectively, which is included as a component of other security gains,
net above. In the second quarter and first six months of 2012, we sold $3.0 billion and $7.4 billion, respectively, of U.S. Treasury,
mortgage-backed and other asset-backed securities as part of a strategy to adjust portfolio risk duration as well as to reduce risk-
weighted asset | evel sand recogni zed gainsof $132 millionand $201 millionandlossesof $67 millionand $106 million, respectively.

HSBC affiliate income Affiliate income increased in both the three and six months ended June 30, 2013 primarily due to higher
billings associated with internal audit activities performed for other HSBC affiliates.
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Residential mortgage banking revenue The following table presents the components of residential mortgage banking revenue.
The net interest income component reflected in the tableisincluded in net interest incomein the consolidated statement of income
and reflects actual interest earned, net of interest expense and corporate transfer pricing.

Increase (Decrease)

Three Months Ended June 30, 2013 2012 Amount %
(dollars are in millions)
NEt iNtErest INCOME ..o $ 44 3% 51 $ (7 (13.7)%
Servicing related income:
SErViCiNg FEEINCOME..... .o e 21 22 (D (4.5)
Changesin fair value of MSRS AUETO: .......cccveeiiciieiiceece e
Changesin vauation, including inputs or assumptions..........c.cccveeereceneeee 42 (31) 73 100+
Realization of cash fIOWS..........ccociiiiii (13) (16) 3 18.8
Trading — Derivative instruments used to offset changesin value of MSRs (34) 38 (72)  (100+)
Total servicing related iNCOME.......ccooiiiiiiere e 16 13 3 23.1
Originations and sales related income:
Gains on sales of residential MOrgAagES........ccvevereerieeere e 8 15 (M (46.7)
Provision for repurchase obligations.............ccoooiiiiiiiniiicicci (23) (32) 9 28.1
Trading and hedging @CtIVILY.........cccceiiiiinene e 4 3 7 100+
Total originations and sales related INCOME. ..o (11) (20) 9 450
Other MOrtgage INCOIME...........eceirieeriierereerese et nnenes 4 9 (5) (55.6)
Total residential mortgage banking revenue included in other revenues................ 9 2 7 100+
Total residential mortgage banking related revenue.............cooeeeeeieinnicnencnenn $ 53 $ 5 $ — — %

Increase (Decrease)

Six Months Ended June 30, 2013 2012 Amount %
(dollars are in millions)
= T L= =S T (o 1 $ 9%5 $ 102 $ (7) (6.9)%
Servicing related income:
SENVICING FEEINCOME....ctiieie ettt 42 47 (5) (10.6)
Changesin fair value of MSRS AUETO: ........coueirieiiiiiierereeeeee e
Changesin valuation, including inputs or assumptions..........ccccceeeeverieiennens 68 (15) 83 100+
Realization of cash fIOWS..........c.cccoicieiiiccce e (23) (32 9 28.1
Trading — Derivative instruments used to offset changesin value of MSRs. (41) 26 (67)  (100+)
Total servicing related iNCOME.......cociiiiiiiire et 46 26 20 76.9
Originations and sales related income:
Gains on sales of residential MOMQAgES.........cccvvevvrenerereee e 32 33 (N} (3.0
Provision for repurchase obligations...........ccocvovveineieneeseiese e (36) (53) 17 321
Trading and hedging @CHIVITY .........cciiiernereee e 4 4 — —
Total originations and sales related iINCOME ........cceveveveerierieieeceeeree e — (16) 16  100.0
Other MOrtgage INCOME.........cviuriieeiireeririetesiee e seese sttt saesessesesaesessesessenes 9 17 (8) (47.1)
Tota residential mortgage banking revenue included in other revenues................ 55 27 28 100+
Total residential mortgage banking related revenue............cceeeveveeeeeeecvceeeceevene. $ 150 $ 129 $ 21 16.3 %

Netinterestincomein both periodswaslower compared with theyear-ago periodsaslower residential mortgage averageoutstanding
balances (and the associated net interest income) primarily asaresult of the sale of branchesto First Niagarain 2012 and continued
higher portfolio prepayments were partially offset by widening interest spreads largely the result of lower portfolio funding costs.
Consistent with our Premier strategy, additionsto our residential mortgage portfolio are primarily to our Premier customers, while
sales of loans consist primarily of conforming non-premier loans sold to government sponsored enterprises.
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Total servicing related income increased in the three and six months ended June 30, 2013 driven by improved net hedged MSR
performance partially offset by lower net servicing fees driven by a lower serviced loan portfolio as a result of prepaymentsin
excess of new additions to the serviced portfolio. As aresult of our strategic relationship with PHH Mortgage, beginning in May
2013 we no longer add new volume to our serviced portfolio as all loans are now sold on a servicing released basis. Changesin
M SR valuations are driven by updated market based assumptions such asinterest rates, expected prepayments, primary-secondary
spreads and cost of servicing. Consequently, primarily as aresult of rising mortgage rates, the MSR asset fair value increased in
the three and six months ended June 30, 2013 partially offset by losses on instruments used to hedge changes in the fair value of
the MSRs.

Originationsand salesrelated incomeimproved inthethree and six monthsended June 30, 2013 largely duetolower lossprovisions
for loan repurchase obligations associated with loans previously sold. During the three and six months ended June 30, 2013, we
recorded a charge of $23 million and $36 million, respectively, due to an increase in our estimated exposure associated with
repurchase obligations on loans previously sold compared with a charge of $32 million and $53 million, respectively, in the year-
ago periods.

Gain (loss) on instruments designated at fair value and related derivatives We have elected to apply fair value option accounting
to commercial leveraged acquisition financeloans, unfunded commitments, certain own fixed-rate debt issuancesand all structured
notes and structured deposits issued after January 1, 2006 that contain embedded derivatives. We also use derivatives to
economically hedge the interest rate risk associated with certain financial instrumentsfor which fair value option has been elected.
See Note 11, “Fair Value Option,” in the accompanying consolidated financial statements for additional information including a
breakout of these amounts by individual component.

Gain on sale of branches As discussed above, in May 2012 we completed the sale of 138 non-strategic retail branches to First
Niagara and recognized a pre-tax gain, net of allocated non-deductible goodwill, of $330 million. We completed the sale of the
remaining 57 branches in the third quarter of 2012. See Note 2, "Discontinued Operations' for additional information.

Valuation of loans held for sale Valuation adjustments on loans held for sale improved during the three and six months ended
June 30, 2013 due to lower average balances and reduced volatility. Valuations on loans held for sale relate primarily to residential
mortgage loans purchased from third parties and HSBC affiliates with the intent of securitization or sale. Included in this portfolio
are subprime residential mortgage loans with afair value of $54 million and $52 million as of June 30, 2013 and December 31,
2012, respectively. Loansheld for sale are recorded at the lower of their aggregate cost or fair value, with adjustmentsto fair value
being recorded as a valuation allowance. Valuations on residential mortgage loans held for sale that we originate are recorded as
a component of residential mortgage banking revenue in the consolidated statement of income.

Other income Other income, excluding the valuation of loans held for sale as discussed above, increased during the three and six
monthsended June 30, 2013 driven by higher income associated with fair value hedgeineffectivenessrel ated to securitiesavail able-
for-sale.
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Operating Expenses The components of operating expenses are summarized in the following table.

Increase (Decrease)

Three Months Ended June 30, 2013 2012 Amount %
(dollars are in millions)
Salary and employee BENEFitS ..o $ 247 $ 246 1 4%
OCCUPENCY EXPENSE, NEL.......coiiiiiiiiiiie e e s 57 57 — —
Support services from HSBC affiliates:
Fees paid to HSBC Finance for loan servicing and other administrative
SUPPON ...ttt eteete et et et et et et eseese e e eteebesbeebeabesbesbestebessessessessessenseseeseesessestesaesrens 5 7 2 (28.6)
Feespaid to HMUS. ..o 54 79 (25) (31.6)
FEESPAid tO HTSU ...t 242 240 2 8
Fees paid to other HSBC affiliales........ccovvrririiireeeerrseees e 61 60 1 17
Total support services from HSBC affiliates.........cooevveereivcineeseeseeniees 362 386 (24) (6.2
Expense related to certain regulatory Matters............ooveiniinicinnnnsccese — 700 (700)  (100.0)
Other expenses:
EqQuipment and SOfIWEIE...........ccvvirererirerecier e 13 11 2 18.2
YT 11 To T 8 11 (3) (27.3)
OULSIAE SENVICES.....eecticeeicte ettt sttt sttt e e st e e teebeesbesreesbeseesaeensesanetesseens 31 27 4 14.8
ProfESSioNal FEES......ccoiiiiieeeeeer et 29 31 2 (6.5)
Postage, printing and Office SUPPHIES........ccevrrrrrrrrieerreeees e 2 3 (@) (33.3)
Off-balance sheet Credit FESEIVES ..o (21) 4 a7 (100+)
FDIC @SSESSMENE TEE.......eiiiiicicrc e 20 26 (6) (23.1)
[NSUFANCE DUSINESS......cvieiiiierieeer et 1 2 Q) (50.0)
MISCEITANEOUS.......ooivieee ettt eae st st saa et e sae et e eaeeereenns 39 71 (32) (45.1)
TOtal OtNEr EXPENSES.....c.cuiuieiirieicieieieieieie et sb e sesnneeas 122 178 (56) (31.5)
Total OPErating EXPENSES.........cciuiiueeiiiiiiieiecrsiei s $ 788 $1567 $ (779 (49.7)%
PErsonnel - QVErage NUMDE .............cc.uerveeeeeeeeeeesseeesssesssssss s sesesssensssssssessesens 658 68337
EffICIBNCY FAI0....c.iieeercieee e 72.7%  110.8%
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Increase (Decrease)

Six Months Ended June 30, 2013 2012 Amount %
(dollars are in millions)

Salary and employee DENEFItS .........cooeiiiircrc s $ 499 $ 526 (27) (5.1

OCCUPANCY EXPENSE, NMEL......eveeireeereeeeeee ettt se e s sneenenres 116 116 — —

Support services from HSBC affiliates:
Fees paid to HSBC Finance for loan servicing and other administrative

LS U o] o0 o N 9 17 (8) (47.2)
Feespaid to HMUS.......ccoce et 106 161 (55) (34.2)
FEeSPAId tO HTSU ..ot e 475 474 1 2
Feespaid to other HSBC affiliates.......c.ccccovviieiinieie e 96 119 (23) (19.3)
Total support services from HSBC affiliates........ccooeeveeveincincneecceeee 686 771 (85) (11.0
Expense related to certain regulatory Matters........coeveveereeneeneeniecseeseeeieens — 700 (700)  (100.0)
Other expenses:
Equipment and SOFtWAIE..........coeoeeeeereeeneeeere e e 28 22 6 27.3
IMEBIKELING ...ttt bbbt 18 25 (7) (28.0)
OULSIAE SENVICES. ...vviieieieie ettt bbbt 53 47 6 12.8
ProfessionNal TEES.......oiiieie e s 54 61 (7 (11.5)
Postage, printing and Office SUPPHIES........coirriririrrieeere e 4 8 (4 (50.0)
Off-balance sheet Credit FESEIVES ..ot @an (12 (5) (41.7)
FDIC @SSESSMENT FER.....vite et 42 54 (12 (22.2)
[NSUFANCE DUSINESS. .....cviiiieiiiiteieieeet ettt 1 2 (1) (50.0)
MISCEIIANEOUS........ccuiiieciecie et ae e sreers 93 120 (27 (22.5)
TOtal OthEr EXPENSES. ... .c.eieeeeieeiere ettt e e sae e sae 276 327 (51) (15.6)
TOtal OPEraliNg EXPENSES. ...ccvivrerererrrrrrrrrereereseresssssssesesssssssssesesssssssesesesssssssesesssssssnses $1577 $2440 $ (863) (35.4)%
Personnel - QVErage NUMDES ............oc.veeeeeeeeeseeseeeeeeseseesessessees s s enees e 6,707 8526
EffICIENCY FaHIO.... eeeeeeeeee ettt 72.3%  102.3%

Salaries and employee benefits Salaries and employee benefits expense remained relatively flat during the three months ended
June 30, 2013, but declined during the six months ended June 30, 2013. While both 2013 periods benefited from the impact of the
sale of 195 non-strategic retail branches completed in 2012 and continued cost management efforts, these improvements were
partially offset by higher salaries expense relating to expansion activities associated with certain businesses, an increase to the
incentive accrual and higher severance costs in the second quarter of 2013.

Occupancy expense, net Occupancy expense remained flat during the three and six months ended June 30, 2013.

Support services from HSBC affiliates includes technology and certain centralized support services, including human resources,
corporate affairs and other shared services, legal, compliance, tax and finance charged to us by HTSU. Support services from
HSBC affiliates also includes services charged to us by an HSBC affiliate located outside of the United States which provides
operational support to our businesses, including among other areas, customer service, systems, risk management, collection and
accounting functionsaswell as servicing fees paid to HSBC Finance for servicing nhonconforming residential mortgage loans and,
prior to May 1, 2012, certain credit card receivables. Lower support servicesfrom HSBC affiliates during the three and six months
ended June 30, 2013 reflects lower fees paid to HMUS largely related to lower compliance costs as the prior year periods reflect
investment in AML process enhancements and infrastructure which did not occur at the same level in 2013 and lower fees paid to
HSBC Finance, which no longer services our credit card portfolio. Compliance costs reflected in support services from affiliates
totaled $68 million and $135 million during the three and six months ended June 30, 2013, respectively, compared with $85 million
and $164 million in the year-ago periods.

Expense related to certain regulatory matters Included in the three and six months ended June 30, 2012 is an expense of $700
million related to certain regulatory matters. See Note 21, "Litigation and Regulatory Matters' for additional information.

Marketing expenses Lower marketing and promotional expenses in the three and six months ended June 30, 2013 resulted from
continued optimization of marketing spend as aresult of general cost saving initiatives.

Other expenses Other expenses (excluding marketing expenses) decreased during the three and six months ended June 30, 2013
primarily dueto lower | 0ss estimates associ ated with off-bal ance credit exposures, lower FDIC assessment fees, lower professional
fees associated with compliance and lower litigation costs and fraud related losses.
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Efficiency ratio Our efficiency ratio from continuing operationswas 72.7 percent and 72.3 percent during the three and six months
ended June 30, 2013, respectively, compared with 110.8 percent and 102.3 percent during the year-ago periods. Our efficiency
ratio was impacted in each period by the change in the fair value of our own debt attributable to credit spread for which we have
elected fair value option accounting. Excluding the impact of this item, our efficiency ratio for the three and six months ended
June 30, 2013 improved to 76.4 percent and 72.7 percent, respectively, compared with 122.1 percent and 98.6 percent in the year-
ago periods due to a decrease in operating expenses partialy offset by a decrease in net interest income and in other revenues as
the prior year periods include a $330 million pre-tax gain from the sale of certain branches to First Niagara. While operating
expenses declined in both periods driven by the impact of our retail branch divestitures, cost mitigation efforts and the non-
recurrence of a $700 million expense in the second quarter of 2012 related certain regulatory matters, they continue to reflect
elevated levels of compliance costs.

Segment Results — IFRS

We have four distinct business segments that are utilized for management reporting and analysis purposes which are aligned with
HSBC's global businesses and business strategy. The segments, which are generally based upon customer groupings and global
businesses, are described under Item 1, “Business’ in our 2012 Form 10-K. Our segment results are reported on a continuing
operations basis. There have been no changesin the basis of our segmentation or measurement of segment profit as compared with
the presentation in our 2012 Form 10-K except as noted bel ow.

Commercial Banking has historically held investments in low income housing tax credits. The financia benefit from these
investments is obtained through lower taxes. Since business segment returns are measured on a pre-tax basis, arevenue share has
historically been in place in the form of a funding credit to provide CMB with an exact and equal offset booked to the Other
segment.  Beginning in 2013, this practice has been eliminated and the low income housing tax credit investments and related
financial impact are being recorded entirely in the Other segment. We have reclassified prior period results in both the CMB and
Other segments to conform to the revised current year presentation.

Our segment results are reported on a continuing operations basis. As previously discussed, in the second quarter of 2012 we sold
our GM and UP credit card receivables aswell as our private label credit card and closed-end receivablesto Capital One. Because
the credit card and private label receivables sold had been classified as held for sale prior to disposition and the operations and
cash flows from these receivabl es are eliminated from our ongoing operations post-disposition without any significant continuing
involvement, we have determined we have met the requirements to report the results of these credit card and private label card
and closed-end receivables being sold, as discontinued operationsfor all periods presented. Prior to being reported as discontinued
operations beginning in the third quarter of 2011, these receivables were previoudly included in our Retail Banking and Wealth
Management segment.

We report financial information to our parent, HSBC, in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards ("IFRSs").
As aresult, our segment results are presented on an IFRSs basis (a non-U.S. GAAP financial measure) as operating results are
monitored and reviewed, trends are evaluated and decisions about allocating resources such as employees are made almost
exclusively onan |FRSsbasis. However, we continueto monitor capital adequacy, establish dividend policy and report to regul atory
agencies on a U.S. GAAP basis. The significant differences between U.S. GAAP and IFRSs as they impact our results are
summarizedin Note 16, “ Business Segments,” in the accompanying consolidated financial statementsand under thecaption“Basis
of Reporting” inthe MD&A.

Retail Banking and Wealth Management (“RBWM”) Our RBWM segment providesafull range of banking and wealth products
and servicesthrough our branches and direct channelstoindividuals. During thefirst half of 2013, we continued to direct resources
towards the development and delivery of premium service, client needs based wealth and banking services with particular focus
on HSBC Premier, HSBC's global banking service that offers customers a seamless international service. In order to align our
retail network to our strategic focus on internationally connected markets and customers, in 2012 we sold 195 branches, primarily
in our non-strategic upstate New York region and closed and/or consolidated afurther 13 branchesin Connecticut and New Jersey.

Consistent with our strategy, additions to our residential mortgage portfolio are primarily to our Premier customers, while sales
of loans historically consist primarily of conforming loans sold to GSEs and beginning in May 2013, PHH Mortgage. In addition
to normal salesactivity, at timeswe have historically sold prime adjustable and fixed rate mortgage loan portfoliosto third parties.
Historically, we retained the servicing rights in relation to the mortgages upon sale. Beginning with May 2013 applications, new
conforming loans will be sold servicing released to PHH Mortgage. Upon conversion of our mortgage processing and servicing
operationsto PHH Mortgage, we now sell our agency eligible originations beginning with May 2013 applications directly to PHH
Mortgage on a servicing released basis which will result in no new mortgage servicing rights being recognized going forward.
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The following table summarizes the IFRS results for our RBWM segment:

Increase (Decrease)

Three Months Ended June 30, 2013 2012 Amount %
(in millions)
NEL INLErESE INCOIME. ..ottt $ 206 $ 197 $ 9 4.6 %
Other OpErating INCOME.........cureirirecrireerireee et 82 262 (180) (68.7)
Total OPErating INCOIME. ..o 288 459 a71) (37.3)
L0an impairment CREIgES ..........ccuvreirreenereeeseee st 21 61 (40) (65.6)
267 398 (1312) (32.9)
OPErating EXPENSES. .....eeeerererereresesesesesesesesesesesesesesesesesesesesesesesesesesesssesesessssssseseens 300 321 (21) (6.5)
Profit (10SS) DEFOrETaX ........c.cuvuieeciciiiicicccc s $ (33) $ 77 $ (110 (100+)

Increase (Decrease)

Six Months Ended June 30, 2013 2012 Amount %
(in millions)
Net iNterest iNCOME.........cciiiii $ 421 $ 44 3 () (5.20%
Other OPErating INCOME........c.ciuereirirrereier et 189 359 (170) (47.4)
Total OPErating INCOME. .....couiiiiereiieerie ettt sttt s e e ere e e 610 803 (193) (24.0)
L0an impPairmeNt CRAIGES ......c.vvvrreieerere e 53 102 (49) (48.0)
557 701 (144) (20.5)
OPEratiNng EXPENSES.....c.vvereuererrereseresreresesesessesese s s rese st sessesese e s s s e sesrese e e sresessaees 591 642 (51) (7.9)
Profit (10SS) DEFOrE taX ........cvuivciciciciiiicic s $ (34) % 59 $ (9N (100+)

Our RBWM segment reported a lower profit before tax during the three and six months ended June 30, 2013, as both prior year
periods include a gain of $180 million relating to the sale of certain branches to First Niagara. Excluding the gain on the sale of
these branches, profit before tax improved $70 million and $87 million, respectively, during the three and six month periods ended
June 30, 2013 as compared with the corresponding prior year periods driven by lower loan impairment charges and lower operating
exXpenses.

Net interest income was lower during the six months ended June 30, 2013 driven by lower deposit levels as aresult of the branch
sale to First Niagara. Partially offsetting the impact of branch sale to First Niagara in the year-to-date period and favorably
impacting the three months ended June 30, 2013 were margin improvements due to active pricing of the deposit base especially
in the non-premier segments. Residential mortgage average balances were lower than the year-ago period due to the impact of the
branch sales partially offset by an increase in residential mortgage loans to our Premier customers.

Other operating income included a gain from the partial completion of the sale of certain branches to First Niagara totaling $180
million in the three and six months ended June 30, 2012. Excluding the gain on the sale of branches, other operating income
increased intheyear-to-date period driven by lower provisionsfor mortgageloan repurchase obligations associated with previously
sold loans and improved net hedged mortgage servicing rights results.

Loan impairment charges decreased during the three and six months ended June 30, 2013 driven by significant improvementsin
market val ue adjustments on |oan collateral due to improvementsin home prices aswell as continued improvementsin economic
and credit conditionsincluding lower delinquency levels on accounts less than 180 days contractually delinquent, improvements
in delinquency roll rates as well as lower charge offs in the current year. In the second quarter of 2013, we updated our review
under IFRS to reflect the period of time after aloss event aloan remains current before delinquency is observed which resulted
in an estimated average period of time from a loss event occurring and its ultimate migration from current status through to
delinquency and ultimately write-off for real estateloans collectively evaluated for impairment using aroll rate migration analysis
of 12 months. Thisresulted in an incremental loan impairment charge of approximately $15 million under |FRS during the second
quarter of 2013.

Operating expenses were lower in both periods primarily due to the sale of the 195 branches to First Niagara as well as lower
compliance costs and decreases in expenses driven by several cost reduction initiatives relating to our retail branch network,
primarily optimizing staffing and administrative areas, as well as reduced marketing expenditures. Partially offsetting these
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improvementswastheimpact of areduction intheamount of branch costsallocated to Commercial Banking and the non-recurrence
of $12 millionin costs in both prior year periods associated with penalties related to foreclosure delays involving loans serviced
for GSEs.

Commercial Banking (“CMB”) CMB's business strategy is to be the leading international trade and business bank in the U.S.
CMB strivesto execute this vision and strategy in the U.S. by focusing on key markets with high concentration of internationally
minded customers. Our Commercia Banking segment servesthe markets through three client groups, notably Corporate Banking,
Business Banking and Commercial Real Estate which alows us to align our resources in order to efficiently deliver suitable
products and servicesbased ontheclient'sneeds. Whether it is through commercial centers, retail branch network, or viaHSBCnet,
CMB provides customerswith the productsand services needed to grow their businessesinternationally. Our rel ationship managers
operate within arobust, customer focused compliance and risk culture, and collaborate across HSBC to capture alarger percentage
of arelationship. In first half of 2013, an increase in the number of relationship managers and product partnersis enabling us to
gain alarger presence in key growth markets, including the West Coast, Southeast and Midwest.

Duringthefirst half of 2013, new loan originations haveresultedin a15 percent increase in average | oans outstanding to Corporate
Banking customers since June 30, 2012. The Commercial Real Estate group is focusing on selective business opportunities in
marketswith strong portfolio expertise, which resulted in a13 percent increase in average outstanding loansfor this portfolio since
June 30, 2012. Total average loans increased 10 percent across all CMB business lines as compared with June 30, 2012.

The following table summarizes the IFRS results for our CMB segment:

Increase (Decrease)

Three Months Ended June 30, 2013 2012 Amount %
(in millions)
NS T L= =S T ot 1= T $ 172 $ 160 $ 12 75 %
Other Operating iNCOME..........ouviririrrrrerer e 77 267 (190) (71.2)
Total OPErating INCOME. .....ccuiieieieerieerereeee ettt s se e e e s erenae e 249 427 (178) (41.7)
Loan impairment Charges (TECOVENTES) .......uirrrererirerinieiereseeiee s 1 8 (7) (87.5)
248 419 (171) (40.8)
OPEratiNG EXPENSES. ....cveueerirertereetereeteseesessesessesessesessesesseessessssessssessesessesessesessensssenes 171 168 3 18
Profit DEFOrE taX ........oveveirireecce e $ 77 $ 251 $ (179) (69.3)%

Increase (Decrease)

Six Months Ended June 30, 2013 2012 Amount %
(in millions)
NEL INEEMESE INCOMIEL......eieieiee et e e et e e s e e e s st e e s e saeessebeeessabeesssnessanns $ 342 $ 330 $ 12 3.6 %
Other Operating iINCOME..........ouviiirirerrrrerrer e 142 335 (193) (57.6)
Total OPErating INCOME. .......cuirieiireeiirieeri ettt 484 665 (181) (27.2)
Loan impairment Charges (FECOVENTES) .......covreeuerieierieerieerieesiee ettt sesee e 15 (9) 24 100+
469 674 (205) (30.4)
OPEratiNG EXPENSES. ....cuvevertererteeeteseeteseetesteseseeseseesessesesseessenessessesessesessesesaesessenessenes 333 332 1 3
Profit DEFOIE TaX ... c.eieeeieeeeiec et $ 136 $ 342 $ (206) (60.2)%

Our CMB segment reported a lower profit before tax during the three and six months ended June 30, 2013 as both prior year
periods include a gain of $213 million relating to the sale of certain branches to First Niagara. Excluding the gain on the sale of
these branches, profit before tax improved $39 million and $7 million, respectively, during the three and six months ended June
30, 2013 as compared with the corresponding prior year periods driven by higher other operating income and higher net interest
income, partially offset in the year-to-date period by higher loan impairment charges.

Net interest income during both periods increased as the favorable impact of higher loan balances in expansion markets were
partially offset by lower business banking revenue due to the branch sale.

Other operating income included a gain from the partial completion of the sale of certain branches to First Niagara totaling $213
million in the three and six months ended June 30, 2012. Excluding the gain on the sale of branches, other operating income was
higher during both periods due to higher fees generated from trade services, foreign currency revenue and credit commitments,
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as well as an increase in debt and leverage acquisition financing activity was partially offset by lower interchange and deposit
service fees primarily due to the branch sale.

L oanimpairment chargeswerelower during thethree monthsended June 30, 2013 duetoloanrecoveriesprimarily inthecommercial
real estate portfolio. Loan impairment charges were higher during the six months ended June 30, 2013 compared with the year-
ago periods due to alower level of recoveries and higher provisions as aresult of loan growth in expansion markets.

Operating expenses increased dlightly during the three and six months ended June 30, 2013 as additional expenses relating to
staffing increasesin growth marketsaswell ashigher technol ogy infrastructure costswere partially offset by areductionin network
costs due to the branch sale and a reduction in the amount of branch costs allocated from RBWM.

Global Banking and Markets Our Globa Banking and Markets business segment supports HSBC's emerging markets-led and
financing-focused global strategy by leveraging HSBC Group advantages and scale, strength in developed and emerging markets
and Global Markets products expertise in order to focus on delivering international productsto U.S. clients and local products to
international clients, with New York as the hub for the Americas business, including Canada and Latin America. Global Banking
and Marketsprovidestailored financial solutionsto major government, corporateand institutional clientsaswell asprivateinvestors
worldwide. Managed as a global business, Global Banking and Markets clients are served by sector-focused teams that bring
together relationship managersand product specialiststo devel op financia solutionsthat meet individual client needs. With afocus
on providing client connectivity between the emerging markets and developed markets, we ensure that a comprehensive
understanding of each client’sfinancial requirementsisdevel oped with along-term rel ationship management approach. In addition
to Global Banking and Markets clients, Global Banking and Markets works with RBWM, CMB and PB to meet their domestic
and international banking needs.

Within client-focused business lines, Globa Banking and Markets offers afull range of capabilities, including:

» Corporate and investment banking and financing solutions for corporate and institutional clients, including loans, working
capital, investment banking, trade services, payments and cash management, and leveraged and acquisition finance; and

* One of the largest markets business of its kind, with 24-hour coverage and knowledge of world-wide local markets and
providing servicesin credit and rates, foreign exchange, derivatives, money markets, precious metalstrading, cash equities
and securities services.

Also included in our Global Banking and Markets segment is Balance Sheet Management, which is responsible for managing
liquidity and funding under the supervision of our Asset and Liability Policy Committee. Balance Sheet Management al so manages
our structural interest rate position within alimit structure.

We continue to proactively target U.S. companies with international banking requirements and foreign companies with banking
needs in the Americas. Furthermore, we have seen higher average corporate loan balances as well as growth in revenue from the
cross-saleof our productsto CM B and RBWM customersconsistent with our global strategy of cross-saleto other global businesses.
Globa Banking and Markets segment results during the first half of 2013 benefited from more stable U.S. financial market
conditions, which reflected continued low interest rates and generally less volatile credit spreads and foreign exchange prices.
Economic factors in Latin America, however, were more volatile and marked broadly by higher interest rates and wider credit
spreads. This environment led to improved results from domestic related rates and credit products but resulted in a decline in
emerging markets related revenue within rates and credit products. Balance sheet management revenue increased from higher
gains from the sale of securities associated with a continued re-balancing of the portfolio for risk management purposes based on
the low interest rate environment, while other global markets performance improved due to fair value adjustment gains on our
structured noteliabilitiesand debit val uation adjustment gains rel ated to derivative contracts, which were madeto reflect fair value
changes in our own credit risk. The liquidity costs on unused credit commitments decreased resulting in a slight widening of the
average spread on the corporate loan portfolio. This change coupled with continued corporate loan growth resulted in higher
Financing revenue growth during the three and six months ending June 30, 2013. Partialy offsetting these revenue gains were
reductions in foreign exchange and transaction services.
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The following table summarizes |FRS results for the Global Banking and Markets segment.

Increase (Decrease)

Three Months Ended June 30, 2013 2012 Amount %
(in millions)
NEt iNtEreSt INCOME........c.cuiiiiiiicic s $ 125 $ 167 $ (42 (25.1)%
Other OpErating INCOME.........ccereerireerireerireee et nneaes 295 165 130 78.8
Total OPErating INCOME.........cvoireereirer e e 420 332 88 26.5
Loan impairment Charges (FECOVEITES) ........cvrverereerereireerree e 6 23 a7) (73.9)
414 309 105 34.0
OPENaLING EXPENSES. ....cueruieteriertestesteseersessesseeesese st sresbe et sbesbestessensesseseenseneeneenessesses 250 236 14 59
o1 0 o= 0= - TR $ 164 $ 73 $ 91 100+

Increase (Decrease)

Six Months Ended June 30, 2013 2012 Amount %
(in millions)
NEL INEIESE INCOME. .....ecveeeeteeiee ettt ettt ettt ese et eae s et seseanenesesas $ 234 $ 310 $ (76) (24.5)%
Other OpErating INCOME........ccuiiiiuireerireetiriee ettt snenes 677 491 186 37.9
Total OPErating INCOME. .....ccuiieiereereeereere et et st se e e e e e eseerenneens 911 801 110 13.7
Loan impairment charges (FECOVENES) .......coureriiirerie e 9 )] 17 100+
902 809 93 115
OPEraLiNG EXPENSES. ...ueeueererrertertistesteseesseseesseseesesessessessessessessessessessessessessesessesssssesses 480 495 (15) (3.0
Profit DEfOIE 1AX ......ciuiueieueierireieieiere ettt et bane $ 422 $ 314 $ 108 34.4 %
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Thefollowing table summarizestheimpact of key activitiesontotal operating income of the Global Banking and Markets segment.

Increase (Decrease)

Three Months Ended June 30, 2013 2012 Amount %
(in millions)
Foreign exchange and MELalS............ccooiiriiiinsce s $ 9% $ 80 $ 16 20.0 %
CIEAI® ..ottt s et 38 (13) 51 100+
REEES ...ttt s 21 54 (33) (61.1)
BQUITTES ..ottt 7 3 4 100+
Other Global Markets..........couvviiiecieiiicicie e 7 (51) 58 100+
Total GloDal MArKELS...........coveiirrrrrr s 169 73 96 100+
FINBNCING ... 57 46 11 239
Payments and cash management .............cccoceceeenccee s 84 87 3 (3.4)
Other tranSaction SEIVICES.........coiiieeiecie ettt sre et sreens 13 22 9) (40.9)
Total Global BanKing ........ovvriririrrrirsrrs s 154 155 (1) (.6)
Balance Sheet Management® ..........c.o...coovreeeneeereesnsessssees s 91 110 (19) (17.3)
ONEY ..o 6 (6) 12 (100+)
Total OPErating iNCOME.........cccuiuiiiricice e $ 420 $ 332 $ 88 26.5 %

Increase (Decrease)

Six Months Ended June 30, 2013 2012 Amount %
(in millions)
Foreign exchange and MELalS............ocovvrerirninneneese e $ 190 $ 206 $ (16) (7.8)%
CIEUI™M ..ooooeeeeteeeet s e 66 10 56 100+
RELES ...t 65 97 (32) (33.0)
BQUITTES ..t 10 8 2 250
Other Global Markets..........oooiiiiiiiereee e 23 (42) 65 100+
Total Global Markets.........ooviiircrs e 354 279 75 26.9
FINANCING ...ttt 103 78 25 321
Payments and €ash ManagEmENt ...........ceovrerrrreeneresreeneres e 162 170 (8) 4.7
Other tranSaCtioN SEIVICES.......ceieiereeieriee ettt 29 51 (22) (43.1)
Total Global BanKing .......ccccviveirerir s 294 299 (5) @7
Balance Sheet Management® ..............cooc.oovvoeceeeeeveeneeeeeeeeseeeseeeeesseessessssesse 257 228 29 12.7
ONEY <. 6 (5) 11 (100+)
Total OPerating INCOME........ccciirerereere ettt $ 911 $ 801 $ 110 13.7 %

@ Credit includes gains of $34 million and $66 million in the three and six months ended June 30, 2013, respectively, compared with aloss of $8 million
and again of $19 million in the three and six months ended June 30, 2012, respectively, of revenue related to valuation adjustments on structured credit
products and mortgage loans held for sale which we no longer offer.

@ Includes gains on the sale of securities of $23 million and $154 million in the three and six months ended June 30, 2013, respectively, compared with
gains on the sale of securities of $65 million and $90 million in the three and six months ended June 30, 2012, respectively.

Our GBM segment reported a higher profit before tax during the three and six months ended June 30, 2013 driven by higher other
operating income, partially offset by lower net interest income. Profit before tax during the three months ended June 30. 2013
was a so impacted by lower loan impairment charges (recoveries) partially offset by higher operating expenses. Profit before tax
duringthesix monthsended June 30, 2013 wasa so impacted by |ower operating expensespartially offset by higher |oanimpai rment
charges (recoveries).

Net interest income decreased in both periods due to lower rates on investment balances including the impact of security sales,
partially offset by an increase due to growth of corporate |oan balances.
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Other operatingincomeincreased during thethreeand six monthsended June 30, 2013 dueto anincreasefromfair valueadjustments
on our structured note liabilities and debit val ue adjustments on derivative contracts, which both reflect changesin our own credit
risk. Revenue from Credit improved during both periods, substantially due to valuation adjustments on legacy structured credit
and mortgage held for sale. In addition, revenues increased in both periods from the performance of economic hedges employed
by Balance Sheet Management to manage interest raterisk, and in Financing related to loan activities. These improvements were
partially offset by lower revenue during both periods in Rates, mainly from emerging markets related products due to weaker
economic conditions in Latin America and a decline in other transaction services revenue resulting from the transfer of our fund
services business to an affiliate entity. Balance Sheet Management also reflected lower gains from the sale of securities during the
three month period, but higher gainsfrom the sales of securities during the six months ended June 30, 2013 due to sal es associated
with a continued re-balancing of the portfolio for risk management purposes based on the low interest rate environment. Foreign
exchange revenue declined during the six month period ended June 30, 2013, from a reduction in trading volumes and price
volatility.

Other operating income reflected gains on structured credit products of $26 million and $57 million during the three and six months
ended June 30, 2013, respectively, compared with losses of $6 million and gains of $25 million during the three and six months
ended June 30, 2012, respectively. Included in structured credit products were exposures to monoline insurance companies that
resulted in gains of $21 million and $41 million during the three and six months ended June 30, 2013, respectively, compared with
losses of $18 million and $10 million during the year-ago periods. Valuation gains of $6 million and $8 million during the three
and six months ended June 30, 2013, respectively, were recorded against the fair values of sub-prime residential mortgage loans
held for sale compared with valuation losses of $2 million and $4 million during the year-ago periods.

Loan impairment charges increased during the six months ended June 30, 2013 compared with the year-ago period reflecting
higher levels of impairment allowances for risk factors primarily associated with large loan exposures as well as alower level of
recoveries partially offset by lower |oss estimates associated with off-balance credit exposures in the second quarter of 2013 and
an impairment of an individual customer relationship in the second quarter of 2012. Loan impairment charges decreased during
the three months ended June 30, 2013 compared with the year-ago period due to lower 1oss estimates associated with off-balance
credit exposures in the second quarter of 2013 and an impairment of a credit facility in the second quarter of 2012 which more
than offset the increases due to the factors discussed above.

Operating expenses increased during the three months ended June 30, 2013 and decreased during the six months ended June 30,
2013 asreduced staff costsdueto lower headcount and lower compliance costsassociated with our AML/BSA remediation activities
in both periods were more than offset in the three month period by higher performance based compensation accruals and litigation
related costs associated with our legacy credit business.

Private Banking (“PB”) PB provides wealth management and trustee services to high net worth individuals and families with
local and international needs. Accessing the most suitable products from the marketplace, PB works with its clients to offer both
traditional and innovative waysto manage and preserve wealth while optimizing returns. Managed as aglobal business, PB offers
awiderangeof wealth management and specialist advisory services, including banking, liquidity management, investment services,
custody services, tailored lending, wealth planning, trust and fiduciary services, insurance, family weal th and philanthropy advisory
services. PB also works to ensure that its clients have access to other products and services, capabilities, resources and expertise
available throughout HSBC, such as credit cards, investment banking, commercial real estate lending and middle market lending,
to deliver services and solutions for al aspects of their wealth management needs.

During the first half of 2013, we continued to dedicate resources to strengthen product and service leadership in the wealth
management market. Areas of focus are banking and cash management, investment advice including discretionary portfolio
management, investment and structured products, residential mortgages, aswell aswealth planning for trusts and estates. Alsoin
the first half of 2013, our compliance and risk framework was strengthened by the establishment of a Global Private Banking
Global Standards Committee and a revised risk appetite framework. Client deposit levels decreased $500 million or 4 percent
compared with June 30, 2012 from domestic and international market customers. Total loansincreased $500 million or 10 percent
compared with prior year primarily in the residential mortgage portfolio. Overall period end client assets were lower than June
2012 by $2.9 billion and $1.7 billion lower than December 31, 2012 primarily dueto reductionin highly activeinstitutional custody
balances partially offset by higher PB wealth management and investment products. Total operating income was slightly higher
due to improved loans balances and higher managed and investment products fees, partially offset by lower net interest margins
in deposits. Higher impairment charges are due to lower levels of recoveries.
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The following table provides additional information regarding client assets during the first six months of 2013 and 2012:

Six Months Ended June 30, 2013 2012
(in billions)

Client assets at beginning of the PEIOU............cccveiuceieiceceeece et $ 465 $ 47.7
NEt NEW MONEY (OULTIOWS) ......eveicieicieee ettt sttt s sa e s ae e bt (1.6) 4
VAIUB CRANGE ...ttt b e e b et eebe s besbe et e s beste st e besee s entenseneeneeseeaeeneerenss (.1) (4

Client assetsat enNd Of PEMIOU...........cooveieieeeeeeeeeeeee ettt en e $ 448 $ 47.7

The following table summarizes IFRS results for the PB segment.

Increase (Decrease)

Three Months Ended June 30, 2013 2012 Amount %
(in millions)

NEt INTErESt INCOME. ..ot s $ 49 $ 47 3% 2 43 %
Other Operating iNCOME..........ccciiiiicii s 30 28 2 7.1
Total OPErating INCOME. ....cveuireeeireeeirieerieesie ettt e e se e a et 79 75 4 5.3
Loan impairment Charges (TECOVETES) ........covuriiiiirincic s — (3) 3 100.0

79 78 1 13
OPErating EXPENSES........oucuiiririeieieie st 67 63 4 6.3
Profit (10SS) DEFOr@taX ......ccveveeiirrererr e $ 12 $ 15 % (3) (20.0)%

Increase (Decrease)

Six Months Ended June 30, 2013 2012 Amount %
(in millions)
NEL INLEFESE INCOIME.......cceiieereeiirerre e $ 94 3 92 $ 2 22%
Other OpErating INCOIME........coiiieuireeeerietireee et nnenes 58 57 1 18
Total OPErating INCOME. ....c.vcuirieeirieeirieirieese ettt b et 152 149 3 2.0
Loan impairment Charges (FECOVEITES) ........oervererereriererieiereee e seere e 1 (5) 6 100+
151 154 (3) (1.9
OPErAiNG EXPENSES. ....c.veuerreuerrereereseeseseeseseese st ssesess e ss e b ss s ss st sseseseesessesesrenesnenes 127 121 6 5.0
Profit (10SS) DEFOr@aX ......ccveveeeirerieeerr e $ 24 $ 33 $ (9 (27.3)%

Our PB segment reported lower profit before tax during the three and six months ended June 30, 2013 primarily driven by higher
loan impairment charges (recoveries) and higher operating expenses, partially offset by higher net interest income and higher other
operating income.

Net interest income was higher in both periods asimproved volumesin lending, primarily in residential mortgages, were partially
offset by lower net interest from the reduction in deposit balances.

Other operating income was higher during both periods reflecting higher volumes and fees on managed and structured investment
products as well as higher funds fees.

L oan impairment charges increased during the three and six months ended June 30, 2013 compared with the year-ago periods due
to alower level of recoveries and higher provisions as aresult of loan growth.

Operating expenses increased during both periods primarily due to costs associated with the closure of aforeign branch as well
as higher compliance and regulatory costs.

Other The other segment primarily includes adjustments made at the corporate level for fair value option accounting related to
certain debt i ssued, income and expense associated with certain affiliate transactions, adjustmentsto thefair value on HSBC shares
held for stock plans and interest expense associated with certain tax exposures.

133



HSBC USA Inc.

The following table summarizes |FRSs Basis results for the Other segment.

Increase (Decrease)

Three Months Ended June 30, 2013 2012 Amount %
(in millions)

NEL INTErESt EXPENSE. ......oviiiiciii s $ (14 % 7 $ (7) (100.0)%
Gain (loss) on own debt designated at fair value and related derivatives............... 45 149 (104) (69.8)
Other operating iNCOME (10SS) ..o 15 16 @ (6.3)
Total operating iNCOME (0SS) .....cveveuiririereireririeee et 46 158 (112) (70.9)
Loan impairment CRargeS ..ot s — — — —

46 158 (112) (70.9)
OPEraLiNG EXPENSES. ....eeueeveetereereesteseeseesseseesseseeseeesseasessessessessessessessessessessesssseesesesses 44 745 (701) (94.1)
Profit (10SS) DEFOre tax .........covvveirieiiesereere e $ 2 $ (B87) $ 589 100+

Increase (Decrease)

Six Months Ended June 30, 2013 2012 Amount %
(in millions)

NEL INTErESt EXPENSE. ......vvviicieieie s $ (28 $ (18) $ (10 (55.6)%
Gain (loss) on own debt designated at fair value and related derivatives............... 4 (103) 107 100+
Other operating iNCOME (I0SS) ......covvireriirerieeereree s 31 33 2 (6.1)
Total operating iNCOME (10SS) ........cciriiriciier e 7 (88) 95 100+
Loan impairment ChargeS.......coueveeeieerece s sre s — — — —

7 (88) 95 100+
OPErating EXPENSES. ......eeeererereresesesesesesesesesesesesesesesesesesese e e e sese st e e e sesese s sese e 86 785 (699) (89.0)
Profit (10SS) DEFOr@ taX ..........cccueviieecice $ (799 $ (873 794 91.0 %

Profit (loss) beforetax increased $589 million and $794 million during the three and six months ended June 30, 2013, respectively,
driven largely by an expense accrual related to certain regulatory matters totaling $700 million recorded in the second quarter of
2012 that did not re-occur. Excluding the impact of thisitem on both prior year periods, profit (loss) before tax declined $111
million and improved $94 million during the three and six month periods ended June 30, 2013, respectively. The changesin both
periods was primarily due to revenue associated with changesin fair value and related derivatives of our own debt for which fair
value option was elected. During the three month period revenue associated with these positions declined, while in the six month
period, revenue associated with these positionsimproved. Also impacting both periodswaslower net interest expense largely due
to an increase in interest expense associated with changes in estimated tax exposures.

Reconciliation of Segment Results Aspreviously discussed, segment resultsarereported onan|FRSBasis. SeeNote 16, “ Business
Segments,” in the accompanying consolidated financial statements for a discussion of the differences between IFRSs and
U.S. GAAP. For segment reporting purposes, intersegment transactions have not been eliminated, and we generally account for
transactions between segments as if they were with third parties. Also see Note 16, “Business Segments,” in the accompanying
consolidated financial statements for areconciliation of our IFRS Basis segment results to U.S. GAAP consolidated totals.

Credit Quality

In the normal course of business, we enter into a variety of transactions that involve both on and off-balance sheet credit risk.
Principal among these activities is lending to various commercial, institutional, governmental and individual customers. We
participate in lending activity throughout the U.S. and, on alimited basis, internationally.

Allowance for Credit Losses For asubstantial majority of commercial loans, we conduct a periodic assessment on aloan-by-loan
basisof losseswebelieveto beinherentintheloan portfolio. Whenitisdeemed probabl e based upon known factsand circumstances
that full contractua interest and principal on anindividual loan will not be collected in accordance with its contractual terms, the
loan is considered impaired. An impairment reserve is established based on the present value of expected future cash flows,
discounted at the loan's original effective interest rate, or as a practical expedient, the loan's observable market price or the fair
value of the collateral if theloanis collateral dependent. Updated appraisals for collateral dependent loans are generally obtained
only when such loans are considered troubled and the frequency of such updates are generally based on management judgment
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under the specific circumstances on a case-by-case basis. Problem commercial |oans are assigned various obligor grades under
the allowance for credit losses methodology. Each credit grade has a probability of default estimate.

Our credit gradesfor commercial loansalign with U.S. regulatory risk ratings and are mapped to our probability of default master
scale. These probability of default estimates are validated on an annual basis using back-testing of actual default rates and
benchmarking of theinternal ratingswith external rating agency datalike Standard and Poor'sratingsand default rates. Substantially
all appraisalsin connection with commercial real estate loans are ordered by the independent real estate appraisal unit at HSBC.
The appraisal must be reviewed and accepted by this unit. For loans greater than $250 thousand, an appraisal is generally ordered
when the loan is classified as Substandard as defined by the Office of the Comptroller of the Currency (the “OCC”). On average,
it takes approximately four weeks from the time the appraisal is ordered until it is completed and the values accepted by HSBC's
independent appraisal review unit. Subsequent provisions or charge-offs are completed shortly thereafter, generally within the
quarter in which the appraisal isreceived.

In situations where an external appraisal is not used to determine the fair value of the underlying collateral of impaired loans,
current information such asrent rollsand operating statements of the subject property are reviewed and presented in astandardized
format. Operating results such as net operating income and cash flows before and after debt service are established and reported
with relevant ratios. Third-party market datais gathered and reviewed for relevance to the subject collateral. Datais also collected
from similar propertieswithin the portfolio. Actual saleslevelsof condominiums, operating income and expensefiguresand rental
data on a square foot basis are derived from existing loans and, when appropriate, used as comparables for the subject property.
Property specific data, augmented by market data research, is used to project a stabilized year of income and expense to create a
10-year cash flow model to be discounted at appropriate rates to present value. These valuations are then used to determineif any
impairment on the underlying loans exists and an appropriate allowance is recorded when warranted.

For loansidentified astroubled debt restructures ("TDR Loans"), an allowance for credit |osses is maintained based on the present
value of expected future cash flows discounted at the loans original effective interest rate or in the case of certain commercial
loans which are solely dependent on the collateral for repayment, the estimated fair value of the collateral less coststo sell. The
circumstancesin which we perform aloan modificationinvolvingaTDR Loansat athen current market interest rate for aborrower
with similar credit risk would include other changesto the terms of the original loan made as part of the restructure (e.g. principal
reductions, collateral changes, etc.) in order for the loan to be classified asa TDR Loans.

For pools of homogeneous consumer |oans which do not qualify astroubled debt restructures, probable | osses are estimated using
aroll rate migration analysis that estimates the likelihood that aloan will progress through the various stages of delinquency, or
buckets, and ultimately charge-off based upon recent historical performance experience of other loans in our portfolio. This
migration analysis incorporates estimates of the period of time between a loss occurring and the confirming event of its charge-
off. Thisanalysis considers delinquency status, |oss experience and severity and takes into account whether loans have filed for
bankruptcy, have been re-aged or are subject to an external debt management plan, hardship, modification, extension or deferment.
The alowance for credit losses on consumer receivables also takes into consideration the loss severity expected based on the
underlying collateral, if any, for the loan in the event of default based on historical and recent trends which are updated monthly
based on arolling average of several months' data using the most recently available information and is typically in the range of
25-35 percent for first lien mortgage | oans and 80-100 percent for second lien home equity loans. At June 30, 2013, approximately
1 percent of our second lien mortgages where the first lien mortgage is held or serviced by us and has a delinquency status of 90
daysor more delinquent, were less than 90 days delinquent and not considered to be atroubled debt restructure or already recorded
at fair value less costs to sell.

Theroll rate methodology isamigration analysis based on contractual delinquency and rolling average historical loss experience
which captures the increased likelihood of an account migrating to charge-off as the past due status of such account increases.
Theroll rate models used were devel oped by tracking the movement of delinquencies by age of delinquency by month (bucket)
over a specified time period. Each “bucket” represents a period of delinquency in 30-day increments. The roll from the last
delinquency bucket resultsin charge-off. Contractual delinquency is a method for determining aging of past due accounts based
on the status of payments under the loan. Theroll percentages are converted to reserve requirements for each delinquency period
(i.e., 30 days, 60 days, etc.). Average roll rates are developed to avoid temporary aberrations caused by seasonal trends in
delinquency experienced by some product types. We have determined that a 12-month average roll rate balances the desire to
avoid temporary aberrations, while at the same time analyzing recent historical data. The cal culations are performed monthly and
are done consistently from period to period. In addition, loss reserves on consumer receivables are maintained to reflect our
judgment of portfolio risk factors which may not be fully reflected in the statistical roll rate calculation.

Our alowance for credit losses methodology and our accounting policies related to the allowance for credit losses are presented
infurther detail under the caption “ Critical Accounting Policiesand Estimates’ andinNote 2, “ Summary of Significant Accounting
Policies and New Accounting Pronouncements,” in our 2012 Form 10-K. Our approach toward credit risk management is
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summarized under the caption “ Risk Management” in our 2012 Form 10-K. There have been no material revisionsto our policies
or methodol ogies during the first half of 2013.

The following table sets forth the allowance for credit losses for the periods indicated:

June 30, March 31, December 31,

2013 2013 2012
(dollars are in millions)
AOWANCE TOF CrEAIT IOSSES .......c.e ettt ettt ettt eaeenas $ 605 $ 568 $ 647
Ratio of Allowance for credit losses to:
Loans.®
(@0 411000 S .63% .62% 72%
Consumer:
Residential mortgages, excluding home equity MOrtgages........ccoceveeveevereeeieeesieniennnns 1.24% 1.22% 1.37%
HOME EQUILY MOIMGAOES.....veveeeeeeeieieeee ettt sttt sttt sttt e e eaesaesnesrens 2.39% 2.24% 1.94%
Credit Card reCaIVADIES..........coeceeieecee e e 5.24% 5.61% 6.75%
Other CONSUMEN [0BNS ........c.coiuiiieieeiee ettt se e sre e ee e e sae s e e stesneens 2.26% 2.60% 3.34%
TOtal CONSUMEN [OANS.......cceiieeierieitiseseseeseete e et sre e teseea e e e e e e esesseenesrenes 1.57% 1.55% 1.73%
TOMAL ..ttt ettt ettt e bbb b et e beste et e benae e entente e eaeeaeeaeeaeebeers .91% .90% 1.02%
Net charge-offs?®@:

(00 a1 131 1= (T RO NM%  114.47% 173.22%
L0 1S 1 1= OSSR 225.00 175.88 129.92
TOMAL ..ttt ettt e be bbb et e beshe et e besae s et eneeneeaeeaeeneeaeeteers 504.17%  140.25% 148.05%

Nonperforming loans'®:
(0000101 (o ! SRS 117.72% 81.02% 63.40%
L0 1S 1 1= USSR 26.87 26.23 28.16
o] - PR 43.43% 38.59% 38.70%

@ Ratios exclude loans held for sale as these |oans are carried at the lower of cost or fair value.

@ Quarter-to-date net charge-offs, annualized.
®  Theratio of allowance for credit losses to net charge-offs for commercial loans is not meaningful (NM) for June 30, 2013 because recoveries exceeded

charge-offsin the quarter.

136



HSBC USA Inc.

Changes in the allowance for credit losses by general loan categories for the three months ended June 30, 2013 and 2012 are
summarized in the following table:

Commercial Consumer
Residential
Business Mortgage,
Construction and Excl Home Home
and Other Corporate Global Other Equity Equity Credit Other
Real Estate Banking Banking  Comm’l Mortgages Mortgages  Card  Consumer Total
(in millions)
Three Months Ended June 30, 2013
Allowance for credit losses — beginning of
PEMIOU. ..o $ 116 $ % $ 40 $ 17 $ 192 $ 50 $ 42 % 15 $ 568
Provision charged to income............ccovceunnee (14) 15 29 4) 14 13 13 1 67
Charge offS......ccvvecevneernceeneee s 1) 9) — — (13) (11) (11) 3 (48)
RECOVENIES....cuieiiiriceresie e 9 1 — 4 3 — 1 — 18
Net (charge offs) recoveries.........ccoevnieunenee 8 8) — 4 (10) (11) (10) ®3) (30)
Allowance for credit losses—end of period... $ 110 $ 103 $ 69 $ 17  $ 196 $ 52 $ 45 $ 13 $ 605
Three Months Ended June 30, 2012
Allowance for credit losses — beginning of
PENMO. ...t $ 205 $ 7% $ 25 $ 200 $ 182 $ 43 $ 3B $ 17 $ 603
Provision charged to income. (5) 15 19 @) 24 34 9 — 89
Charge offs 2 (13) — — (23) (30) (16) (@) (91)
RECOVENIES......ocuuienicieiiieieeie e — 2 — 5 5 — 3 3 18
Net (charge offs) recoveries.........ccooeeerirunnene. 2 (11 — 5 (18) (30) (13) 4 (73)
Allowance for credit losses—end of period... $ 198 $ 80 $ 4 % 18 $ 188 $ 47 $ 31 % 13 $ 619
Six Months Ended June 30, 2013
Allowance for credit losses — beginning of
415 (]v.c F R $ 162 $ 97 $ 41 $ 17 $ 210 $ 45 $ 55 $ 20 $ 647
Provision charged to income...........c.cooceuunee (5) 17 28 (4) 1 30 11 — 88
Charge offS......coeeieveeierieereeeeese e (59) (15) — — (29) (23) (23) 9) (158)
RECOVENIES.......cuiviiiviirieiiieiesieieeieess e 12 4 — 4 4 — 2 2 28
Net (charge offs) reCoveries.........ccccocnennennee 47) (11) — 4 (25) (23) (21) )] (130)
Allowance for credit losses—end of period... $ 110 $ 103 $ 69 $ 17 $ 196 $ 52 $ 45 % 13 $ 605
Six Months Ended June 30, 2012
Allowance for credit losses — beginning of
PENIOT. . $ 212 $ 78 $ 131 $ 21 $ 192 $ 52 $ 39 $ 18 $ 743
Provision charged to income...........cccooceuenee (25) 21 ©)] 9 39 42 20 4 89
Charge Off ... 3) (23) (84) — (49) (47) 33) (14) (253)
Recoveries 14 4 — 6 6 — 5 5 40
Net (charge offs) recoveries.........ccoevnieunenee 11 (129) (84) 6 (43) (47) (28) 9) (213)

Allowance for credit losses—end of period... $ 198 $ 80 $ 4 3% 18 $ 188 $ 47 $ 31 $ 13 $ 619

Theallowancefor creditlossesat June 30, 2013 increased $37 million, or 7 percent ascompared with March 31, 2013 and decreased
$42 million, or 6 percent ascompared with December 31, 2012. TheincreasesinceMarch 31, 2013 waslargely driven by increased
levels of reserves for commercia loan risk factors primarily associated with large Global Banking and Markets loan exposures,
while consumer reserve levelsincreased modestly driven by higher loss estimatesin asmall segment of our residential mortgage
loan portfolio. The decrease from December 31, 2012 was due to lower |oss estimates in both our commercial and consumer loan
portfolios. Our commercial allowance for credit losses decreased $18 million in thefirst six months of 2013 due to reductionsin
certain loan exposuresincluding the charge-off of asingle client rel ationship and continued improvementsin economic conditions
whichledtolower levelsof non-performing loansand criticized assets. Thesereductionswerepartially offset by higher allowances
for certain portfolio risk factors associated primarily with large loan exposure as discussed above. Our consumer alowance for
credit losses decreased $24 million in the first six months of 2013, driven primarily by lower loss estimates in our residential
mortgage loan portfolio due to continued improvementsin credit quality including lower delinquency levels on accountslessthan
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180 days contractually delinquent and improvementsin loan delinquency roll rates. Our residential mortgage loan allowance for
credit losses in all periods reflects consideration of certain risk factors relating to trends such as recent portfolio performance as
compared with average roll rates and economic uncertainty, including housing market trends and foreclosure timeframes. Also
contributing to the decrease was lower loss estimatesin our credit card portfolio due to improvementsin credit quality including
improved loan delinquency roll rates. Reserve levels for all consumer loan categories however continue to be impacted by the
slow pace of the economic recovery in the U.S. economy, including elevated unemployment rates and, as it relates to residential
mortgage loans, a housing market which isin the early stages of recovery.

The allowance for credit losses as a percentage of total loans at June 30, 2013 increased slightly compared with March 31, 2013
but decreased compared with December 31, 2012 for the reasons discussed above.

Theallowancefor credit |osses as a percentage of net charge-offsincreased as compared with March 31, 2013 largely dueto lower
dollars of commercial loan net charge-offs asthe prior quarter reflected higher commercia |oan charge-offs driven by the charge-
off of asingle commercial real estate relationship, which was fully reserved and higher reserve levels as discussed above. Also
impacting the ratio was an increase in the allowance for credit losses as a percentage of net charge-offs for consumer loans as
consumer loan net charge-offs decreased while the allowance for credit losses increased. The allowance for credit losses as a
percentage of net charge-offsal so increased as compared with December 31, 2012 largely dueto lower dollars of both commercial
and consumer loan net charge-offs as the decline outpaced the decrease in the allowance.

The allowance for credit losses by major loan categories, excluding loans held for sale, is presented in the following table:

% of % of % of
Loans to Loans to Loans to
Total Total Total
Amount  Loans®  Amount  Loans®  Amount  Loans®
June 30, 2013 March 31, 2013 December 31, 2012
(dollars are in millions)
COMMENCIA @ .......oooeeeee e $ 299  709% $ 269  693% $ 317  69.8%
Consumer:
Residential mortgages, excluding home equity mortgages........... 196 23.7 192 25.0 210 243
HOME equity MOMJagES ......veereeeereeerteeeeereete et 52 3.3 50 3.6 45 3.7
Credit card recalVables..........cccovvvvevevinese e 45 1.3 42 1.2 55 1.3
Other CONSUMES .......eciiciiete ettt 13 8 15 9 20 0.9
TOtAl CONSUMEY .....coiviiieeciecee ettt ettt be bbb er e sre e 306 29.1 299 30.7 330 30.2
TOAl ..ttt et et e b e e r e e be e sareereennaeens $ 605 100.0% $ 568 100.0% $ 647 100.0%

@ Excluding loans held for sale.
@ Components of the commercial allowance for credit losses, including exposure relating to off-balance sheet credit risk, and the movements in comparison
with prior years, are summarized in the following table:

June 30, March 31, December 31,

2013 2013 2012
(in millions)

On-balance sheet commercial allowance:

S o= oSSR $ 31 $ 34 3 94
(00 1= ot (1= 268 235 223
Total on-balance sheet commercial aloOWanCe...........cccoeveevierieieccece e 299 269 317
Off-balance sheet commercial allOWanCe..........cccvveveverererceeeee e 63 145 139
Total commeErcial allOWANCES...........occieieietiecee ettt et sreeereesaee s $ 362 $ 414 $ 456

While our alowance for credit loss is available to absorb lossesin the entire portfolio, we specifically consider the credit quality
and other risk factors for each of our products in establishing the allowance for credit loss.

Reserves for Off-Balance Sheet Credit Risk We also maintain aseparate reservefor credit risk associated with certain off-balance
sheet exposures, including letters of credit, unused commitmentsto extend credit and financial guarantees. Thisreserve, included
in other ligbilities, was $63 million, $145 million and $139 million at June 30, 2013, March 31, 2013 and December 31, 2012,
respectively. The related provision is recorded as a component of other expense within operating expenses. The decrease in off-
bal ance sheet reserves June 30, 2013 as compared with March 31, 2013 and December 31, 2013 largely reflects the impact of an
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upgrade to an individual monoline which resulted in an improvement to our expectation of cash flows from an off-balance sheet
liquidity facility and the consolidation of apreviously unconsolidated commercial paper VIE in the second quarter of 2013 which
resulted in the reclassification of a$61 million reserve on our balance sheet. Off-balance sheet exposures are summarized under
the caption “ Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements, Credit Derivatives and Other Contractual Obligations” in this MD&A.

Delinquency Thefollowing table summarizesdollarsof two-months-and-over contractual delinquency and two-months-and-over
contractual delinquency as a percent of total loans and loans held for sale (“delinquency ratio”):

June 30, March 31, December 31,
2013 2013 2012

(dollars are in millions)

Delinquent loans:

(@00] 101001 (o - OSSOSO $ 197 $ 160 $ 339
Consumer:
Residential mortgages, excluding home equity mortgages®™ ...........oo.cocoeeeeeereeeneeeeenenes 1,170 1,158 1,233
HOME eqUItY MOIQAJES.......c.coiriiieii i 77 85 75
Total residential MOMGAGES?............oveieeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeee e ee e eee e ene e 1,247 1,243 1,308
Credit Card reCaIVADIES ..o e st 15 18 21
(@151 e a] LS W 4= SO 26 24 30
TOLBI CONSUIMES ...ttt te et eee ettt sttt see st e beseese et e e et eseesessesaesbeseeseeseeneeseans 1,288 1,285 1,359
TOMAl ..ottt R R e R R ettt R e e e Rene e e pene s $1485 $ 1445 $ 1,698
Delinquency ratio: -
(000] 101001 (o OSSOSO 42% 37% .76%
Consumer:
Residential mortgages, excluding home equity MOrtgages........ccocvevveveeveveseseseeseeneenes 7.26 7.23 7.78
HOME EQUILY MOMTBOES. ...cveuerreuerteeerereeteseste et se et sees s sr et r e sr et ere s bese b seenesnene s 3.55 3.80 3.23
Total residential MOMGAGES?............oveeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeee e e e ee e seees e ene e 6.82 6.81 7.20
Credit Card FTECEIVADIES ...ttt sttt e e s e b e e s saa e e s sabeesssbenssanes 1.75 2.40 258
(@141 gece] LS W 1 4= ST 4.08 3.74 4.25
TOLBI CONSUIMES ....ueiiitiiteite ettt sttt et st ae bbb b e be e e e e e e e e e eaeebesaesbesbesbesbenbasbeseans 6.51 6.54 6.92
8o T 2.21% 2.29% 2.64%

@ At June 30, 2013, March 31, 2013 and December 31, 2012, residential mortgage loan delinquency includes $1.1 billion, $1.1 billion and $1.0 billion,
respectively, of loans that are carried at the lower of amortized cost or fair value of the collateral less costs to sell, including $33 million, $35 million and
$39 million, respectively, relating to loans held for sale.

@ Thefollowing reflects dollars of contractual delinquency and delinquency ratios for interest-only loans and ARM loans:

June 30, March 31, December 31,
2013 2013 2012

(dollars are in millions)

Dollars of delinquent loans:

INEEFESE-ONIY [OBNS......vecverieisieiseisee ettt sttt s bbb b ss s s bt en s s n s s st st s st s $ 68 % 74 $ 87
ARM TOBIIS ..ottt 338 337 356
Delinquency ratio:

Interest-only loans 1.78% 1.92% 2.18%

ARM LOGNS......ceiuciiiiteieess ettt sttt se st se et e s e s e et e e seebese s e s es e et esenesa et ene e esese s nreae e tenen 3.19 324 343

Compared with March 31, 2013, our two-months-and-over contractual delinquency ratio decreased driven by higher outstanding
loan balances. Our consumer loan two-month-and-over contractual delinquency ratio at June 30, 2013 decreased 3 basis points
from March 31, 2013 primarily dueto lower levelslevels of credit card delinquency on higher loan balances whiletotal residential
mortgage loan delinquency remained relatively flat as outstanding loan balances grew modestly. Residential mortgage loan
delinquency level s continueto beimpacted by an elongated forecl osure process which hasresulted in loanswhich would otherwise
have been foreclosed and transferred to REO remaining in loan account. Overall consumer loan delinquency levels also continue
to be impacted by elevated unemployment levels and, as it relates to residential mortgages, a housing market which is slowly
recovering. Compared with March 31, 2013, our commercial two-months-and-over contractual delinquency ratioincreased 5basis
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pointsdueto aspecific commercial real estatecredit partially offset by continued improvementsinthe credit quality of the portfolio
and higher outstanding loan balances.

Compared with December 31, 2012, our two-months-and-over contractual delinquency ratio decreased 43 basis points driven by
lower delinquency levelsin both our commercia and consumer loan portfolios. Compared with December 31, 2012, our consumer
loan two-months-and-over contractua delinquency ratio decreased 41 basis points primarily due to lower levels of residential
mortgageloan delinquency on accountslessthan 180 dayscontractual ly delinquent dueto improvementsin credit quality, including
improved delinquency roll rates partialy offset by higher late stage delinquency. Credit card delinquency also improved due to
continued improvements in economic conditions. Our commercial loan two-months-and-over contractual delinquency ratio
decreased 34 basis points compared with December 31, 2012 due to higher outstanding loan balances as well asimproved credit
quality including reductionsin certain exposuresand theresol ution of certain maturedloanswhichwereintheprocessof refinancing
or paydown at year-end.

Residential mortgage first lien delinquency is significantly higher than second lien home equity mortgage delinquency in all
periods largely due to the inventory of loans which are held at the lower of amortized cost or fair value of the collateral less cost
to sell and are in the foreclosure process. Given the extended foreclosure time lines, particularly in those states where HUSI has
alarge footprint, thefirst lien residential mortgage portfolio has a substantial inventory of loans which are greater than 180 days
past due and have been written down to the fair value of the collateral less cost to sell. Thereis a substantially lower volume of
second lien home equity mortgage loans where we pursue foreclosure less frequently given the subordinate position of the lien.
In addition, our legacy business originated through broker channelsand loan transfersfrom HSBC is of alower credit quality and,
therefore, contributesto an overall higher weighted average delinquency ratefor our first lien residential mortgages. Both of these
factors are expected to diminish significantly in future periods as the forecl osure backlog resulting from extended foreclosure time
lines is managed down and the portfolio mix continues to shift to higher quality loans as the legacy broker originated business
and prior loan transfers run off.
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Net Charge-offs of Loans Thefollowingtable summarizesnet charge-off (recovery) dollarsaswell asthenet charge-off (recovery)
of loans for the quarter, annualized, as a percentage of average loans, excluding loans held for sale, (“net charge-off ratio”):

June 30,2013 March 31,2013  June 30, 2012
(dollars are in millions)

Net Charge-off Dollars:

Commercial:
Construction and other real EStaL..........cccvveereeeeireeeree e $ B8 $ 5 $% 2
Business and corporate banking..........cccceeeeeeiriineeesise e 8 3 11
Global BANKING......eceee e s — — —
Other COMMEICIAL......c.eoiceieicecece ettt bbb et se e neenas 4 — (5)
TOtal COMMEICIAL ...ttt sttt st ne e e e e e eneas 4 58 8
Consumer:
Residential mortgages, excluding home equity mortgages.........ccoeevvvereereereeseenene. 10 15 18
HOME EQUILY MOIMQAOES.......ecveieiereeeeeeeeeeee ettt sttt s ens 11 12 30
Total residential MOMJAJES. ........ciuertererierieierie ettt s 21 27 43
Credit card reCaIVADIES..........oco i e 10 11 13
OthEr CONSUMIET ...ttt ettt sttt sttt eaesbe e st beseese et e ae e e e eneenes 3 4 4
QLI o0 01510 1= SRS 34 42 65
TOUBL et e et b e bbb $ 30 $ 100 $ 73
Net Charge-0ff RALIO:..........c.cvieeeeeeeeeeseeseeeeees s s esses e ss s es s sne e -
Commercial:
Construction and other real EState..........cooevueeieeeceicce e (-38)% 2.62% .10%
Business and corporate DanKing...........c.coeveereereineneereesesese e .26 A3 .39
Global DANKING........coiiiiei s — — —
Other COMMEICIAL........ccviiieviiereieetc e aes (.52) — (.65)
TOtal COMMEICIAL.....ceceeieieeeiee et sr et besa e e e e e e e e eneas (.04) .55 .09
Consumer:
Residential mortgages, excluding home equity Mortgages.........ccooeverereererseeccnennes .25 40 .50
HOME EQUILY MOMGBOES ... .ccveueeteeetereete et sttt se et s eb e e b e s beseene e 2.00 2.15 4.87
Total residential MOMJAJES. ......coviiriireieer e A7 .62 114
Credit Card reCaIVADIES........ooci s 4.90 5.84 6.55
(@141 e a] LS W 4= TR 2.05 2.71 241
T OBl CONSUIMES ...ttt sttt ettt be bbbt sb e s besb e st e sbese e e e s e e e e eneas .70 .89 141
o= OSSOSO 19 % .65% 54%

Our net charge-off ratio as a percentage of average |oans decreased 46 basis points for the quarter ended June 30, 2013 compared
with the quarter ended March 31, 2013, due primarily to lower levels of commercia loan charge-offs asthe prior quarter reflects
the charge-off of alarge client relationship. Also contributing to the decrease was lower consumer |oan charge-offs primarily due
to lower residential mortgage |oan charge-offs. The lower residential mortgage charge-off levels reflect the impact of improved
credit quality including the impact of lower levels of delinquency on accounts less than 180 days delinquent experienced in prior
quarters.

Compared with the year-ago quarter, our charge off ratio decreased 35 basis points, driven by lower charge-offsin our residential
mortgage loan portfolio as discussed above and, to alesser extent, lower charge-off levelsin our commercial portfolio.
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Nonperforming Assets Nonperforming assets are summarized in the following table.

June 30, March 31, December 31,
2013 2013 2012
(dollars are in millions)
Nonaccrual loans:
Commercial:
Real Estate:
Construction and [aNd [08NS............ccuiieiiieiiieecceeeee et $ 471 $ 471 % 104
OtNEr TEAl ESEALE ......ecvieeee et sttt st 132 218 281
Business and corporate banking ..........cccceeeceienenenierieeeieieee e 44 30 47
GlODEl DANKING ... b e 18 18 18
Other COMMENCIAL .....c.vecueeie ettt et esbe e e sreeneesreenesaeennens 5 14 13
Total COMMEICIAL.......cuiieeiece ettt ettt e st e et e et e enbeebeereeaeennas 246 327 463
Consumer:
Residential mortgages, excluding home equity Mortgages........c.ocvevvvvvvenerceneeneeseesennenns 1,013 1,026 1,038
HOME EUILY MOIMQAOES.......cueeveeieeeeetere sttt ste e se et s te st sresae e ae e e s eneeneens 89 74 86
Total residential MOMGAgES Y@ ..o 1,102 1,100 1,124
L0191 £ RSSRN 5 5 5
TOtal CONSUMES [OBNS.......uvieeeeeetie et et ettt ste et s e ete e e b e e beesaeesareesbeesnseesbessnreeressans 1,107 1,105 1,129
Nonaccrual 10aNS held fOr SAlE..........ooiciicecceccec e e 50 34 37
Total NONACCIUING 10ANS.........ccceiicese et sa e ne e e e 1,403 1,466 1,629
Accruing loans contractually past due 90 days or more:
Commercial:
Real Estate:
Construction and 1aNd [0@NS............ceeeeeeveeeieeee et $ — 3 — 3 —
Other 18I ESIALE ... uecveetecteete ettt ettt et e e e s be e e sbe e eesaeeaesreennens 1 2 8
Business and corporate banking ..........ccceeererererenereeseeesresesese s see e e seeseeseeeeeens 6 2 28
Other COMIMEICIEL .......coviieiieeieee ettt ene s 1 1 1
TOtal COMMEICIAL......ccueieiieirieetie et et 8 5 37
Consumer:
Credit Card reCEIVADIES ...........ooe et et ee 11 13 15
ONEE CONSUMIES ...ttt ettt et st e st e e besbe et e sbe e beere e beeaeesbesaeesaeennesreensesanennens 21 22 28
TOtAl CONSUMES TOBNS......cueeeiiieiirieirie ettt bbb 32 35 43
Total accruing loans contractually past due 90 days OF MOFe...........ccceeeverererererienennnn. 40 40 80
Total NONPErfOrMING l0ANS........cccciiiiiccec e e e 1,443 1,506 1,709
Other real EStalE OWNE........cui e et s r e enee s — 88 80
Total NONPEITOrMING ASSELS.......c.ceeieeeeceeeeeeeteteeeeee ettt sttt eae e seetere e sene $1443 $ 1594 $ 1,789
Allowance for credit losses as a percent of nonperforming loans®®: -
L@00] 101001 (o= ST 117.72%  81.02% 63.40%
CONSUIMIES ...ttt ettt bbb e e et e e h e e ae e Rt eb e eb e s ae e Rt ek e s e sh et et e ne e e ens e e eneeneas 26.87 26.23 28.16

@ At June 30, 2013, March 31, 2013 and December 31, 2012, residential mortgage |oan nonaccrual balancesinclude $1.1 billion, $1.1 billion and $1.0 billion,

respectively, of loans that are carried at the lower of amortized cost or fair value less cost to sell.

@ Nonaccrual residential mortgages includes all receivables which are 90 or more days contractually delinquent as well as loans discharged under Chapter 7
bankruptcy and not re-affirmed and second lien loans where the first lien loan that we own or service is 90 or more days contractually delinquent.

®  Represents our commercial or consumer allowancefor credit losses, as appropriate, divided by the corresponding outstanding balance of total nonperforming
loansheldfor investment. Nonperformingloansinclude accruing loans contractually past due 90 daysor more. Ratio excludesnonperforming loansassociated
with loan portfolios which are considered held for sale as these loans are carried at the lower of amortized cost or fair value.

Nonaccrual loans at June 30, 2013 decreased as compared with March 31, 2013 and December 31, 2012 due to lower levels of
commercia non-accrua loans. Commercial non-accrual loans decreased due to credit risk rating upgrades outpacing credit risk
rating downgrades, managed reductions in certain exposures, as well as payments and charge-offs within our portfolio. Our
consumer nonaccrual loans remained relatively flat compared with March 31, 2013 and decreased modestly compared with
December 31, 2012 aslower nonaccrual first lien residential mortgage loansin both periodswas offset by higher nonaccrual home
equity mortgages. Residential mortgage loan nonaccrual levels however continue to be impacted by an elongated foreclosure
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process as previously discussed. Accruing loans past due 90 days or more remained flat since March 31, 2013 but decreased
compared with December 31, 2012 driven by lower commercial loan balances due to the resolution of certain loans which were
refinanced in early 2013 at market rates.

Our policies and practices for problem loan management and placing loans on nonaccrual status are summarized in Note 2,
“Summary of Significant Accounting Policies and New Accounting Pronouncements,” in our 2012 Form 10-K.

Accrued but unpaid interest on loans placed on nonaccrual status generally is reversed and reduces current income at the time
loans are so categorized. Interest income on these loans may be recognized to the extent of cash payments received. In those
instances where there is doubt as to collectability of principal, any cash interest payments received are applied as reductions of
principal. Loans are not reclassified as accruing until interest and principal payments are brought current and future payments are
reasonably assured.

Impaired Commercial Loans A commercial loan is considered to be impaired when it is deemed probable that al principal and
interest amounts due according to the contractual terms of the loan agreement will not be collected. Probablelossesfrom impaired
loans are quantified and recorded as acomponent of the overall allowancefor credit losses. Generally, impaired commercial loans
includeloansin nonaccrual status, loansthat have been assigned aspecific allowancefor credit | osses, loansthat have been partially
charged off and loans designated as troubled debt restructurings. Impaired commercial loan statistics are summarized in the
following table:

June 30, March 31, December 31,
2013 2013 2012
(in millions)
Impaired commercial loans:
Balance at end Of PEITOU........coii i $ 615 $ 532 % 697
Amount With imPairMMENE FESEIVE.......cueieeeeeeeeee e e e e e snens 282 131 250
[MPAITMENE FESEIVE. ....c..eitiitiieitietesie sttt eb bbbt b b e b et e e e se e e e seebesaesne s 38 35 96

Criticized Loan Ciriticized |oan classifications are based on the risk rating standards of our primary regulator. Problem loans are
assigned various criticized facility grades under our allowance for credit losses methodology. The following facility grades are
deemed to be criticized.

«  Special Mention — generally includes loans that are protected by collateral and/or the credit worthiness of the customer, but
are potentially weak based upon economic or market circumstances which, if not checked or corrected, could weaken our
credit position at some future date.

e Substandard —includes|oans that are inadequately protected by the underlying collateral and/or general credit worthiness of
the customer. These loans present a distinct possibility that we will sustain some loss if the deficiencies are not corrected.
This category also includes certain non-investment grade securities, as required by our principal regulator.

e Doubtful —includes loans that have all the weaknesses exhibited by substandard loans, with the added characteristic that the
weaknesses make collection or liquidation in full of the recorded loan highly improbable. However, athough the possibility
of lossisextremely high, certain factors exist which may strengthen the credit at some future date, and therefore the decision
to charge off the loan is deferred. Loans graded as doubtful are required to be placed in nonaccruing status.

Criticized loans are summarized in the following table.

June 30, March 31, December 31,
2013 2013 2012
(in millions)

Specia mention:

(070110100 T=tor =!I o= 1 = $ 909 $ 1,144 $ 1,125
Substandard:

COMMENCIAI [OBNS .......eeeie ettt e et e e sreeae e e saesneesaesnnens 818 810 916

CONSUMES [OBNS.....ccviiiiiecitieitteecteeeee et e eteete e seeere e saeeesbeesbessbessseesabessseessseesbessnsenssenans 1,005 1,001 1,031

QIO L= IS T 0 =g o = o 1,823 1,811 1,947
Doubtful:

COMMENCIA [OBNS ........eeiietiee ettt e e e sre e eesaeesaesaeesbeeneens 36 40 117

TOUEL ..o $ 2,768 $ 299 $ 3,189
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The overall decreasesin criticized loansin thefirst half of 2013 resulted primarily from improved levels of criticized commercial
loans due to changes in the financial circumstances of certain customers as well as paydowns and charge-off related to certain
exposures and general improvement in market conditions.

Geographic Concentrations Regional exposure at June 30, 2013 for certain |oan portfolios is summarized in the following table.

Commercial
Construction and Residential Credit

Other Real Mortgage Card

Estate Loans Loans Receivables
NEW YOIrK SEALE.......cciviiieitiiee ittt sttt be et s sre e sresaeesresnnesbesanens 40.5% 34.1% 56.6%
North Central United SEAtES.........coeeeveieireeeireeetee ettt 4.6 6.3 3.7
North Eastern United States, excluding New York State..........cccceeeeeennee. 10.9 9.4 12.3
SoUthErN UNItEO SLALES........cveeeeeireeciee ettt et et 225 15.3 13.9
WESLErN UNITEA SEALES.......coivieeeireeire ettt et sre e sre e sae e 215 34.9 11.3
(@11 £ — — 2.2
[ I0. 7= 100.0% 100.0% 100.0%

Exposures to Certain Countries in the Eurozone There have been no significant changes to our exposures to the countries of
Greece, Ireland, Italy, Portugal and Spain from the amounts disclosed in our 2012 Form 10-K under caption “ Credit Quality”.

Credit Risks Associated with Derivative Contracts Credit risk associated with derivatives is measured as the net replacement
cost in the event the counterparties with contracts in a gain position to us fail to perform under the terms of those contracts. In
managing derivative credit risk, both the current exposure, which is the replacement cost of contracts on the measurement date,
as well as an estimate of the potential change in value of contracts over their remaining lives are considered. Counterparties to
our derivative activities include financia institutions, foreign and domestic government agencies, corporations, funds (mutual
funds, hedge funds, etc.), insurance companiesand private clientsaswell as other HSBC entities. These counterparties are subject
to regular credit review by the credit risk management department. To minimize credit risk, we enter into legally enforceable
master netting agreements which reduce risk by permitting the closeout and netting of transactions with the same counterparty
upon occurrence of certain events. Inaddition, wereduce credit risk by obtaining collateral from counterparties. The determination
of the need for and the levels of collateral will vary based on an assessment of the credit risk of the counterparty.

Thetotal risk in aderivative contract is a function of a number of variables, such as:

e volatility of interest rates, currencies, equity or corporate reference entity used as the basis for determining contract
payments;

e current market events or trends;

e country risk;

e maturity and liquidity of contracts;

e credit worthiness of the counterparties in the transaction;

« theexistence of a master netting agreement among the counterparties; and

e existence and value of collateral received from counterparties to secure exposures.
The table below presents total credit risk exposure measured using rules contained in the risk-based capital guidelines published
by U.S. banking regulatory agencies. Risk-based capital guidelines recognize that bilateral netting agreements reduce credit risk

and, therefore, allow for reductions of risk-weighted assets when netting requirements have been met. As aresult, risk-weighted
amounts for regulatory capital purposes are a portion of the original gross exposures.

The risk exposure calculated in accordance with the risk-based capital guidelines potentially overstates actual credit exposure
because the risk-based capital guidelinesignores collateral that may have been received from counterparties to secure exposures;
and the risk-based capital guidelines compute exposures over the life of derivative contracts. However, many contracts contain
provisionsthat allow usto close out the transaction if the counterparty failsto post required collateral. In addition, many contracts
give us the right to break the transactions earlier than the final maturity date. As a result, these contracts have potentia future
exposures that are often much smaller than the future exposures derived from the risk-based capital guidelines.
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June 30, December 31,

2013 2012
(in millions)
Risk associated with derivative contracts:
TOtAl Creit FISK EXPOSUNE......eeeiereeiereete ettt sttt ettt st st st be sttt bt be e s be e be e be e be e es $ 38867 $ 41,248
Less: collateral held 8gaiNSt EXPOSUNE.........cuirieiirieirieirt sttt b e b 5,232 7,530
INEL Credit FISK EXPOSUIE. .......eeitireetiietereeteseet sttt ettt b e b b e e s et e se b ene b ene s s e s ebe s eneneenes $ 33635 $ 33,718

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Effectiveliquidity management isdefined asensuring wecan meet customer | oan requests, customer deposit maturities/withdrawals
and other cash commitmentsefficiently under both normal operating conditionsand under unpredictabl e circumstances of industry
or market stress. To achi evethi sobjective, wehaveguidelinesthat requiresufficient liquidity to cover potential funding requirements
and to avoid over-dependence on volatile, less reliable funding markets. Guidelines are set for the consolidated balance sheet of
HSBC USA to ensure that it is a source of strength for our regulated, deposit-taking banking subsidiary, as well as to address the
more limited sources of liquidity available to it as a holding company. Similar guidelines are set for the balance sheet of HSBC
Bank USA to ensure that it can meet its liquidity needs in various stress scenarios. Cash flow analysis, including stress testing
scenarios, forms the basis for liquidity management and contingency funding plans.

During the first half of 2013, marketplace liquidity continued to remain available for most sources of funding except mortgage
securitization. However credit spreads continue to beimpacted by concerns regarding government spending and the budget deficit
as well asin the second quarter of 2013, concern that the Federal Reserve would begin to slow its quantitative easing program
later thisyear if the economy continuesto strengthen, earlier than had previously been expected, which together have caused long-
terminterest ratesto rise. The prolonged period of low interest rates al so continuesto put pressure on spreads earned on our deposit
base.

OnJune 27, 2013, HSBC and HBUS submitted an initial resolution plan jointly to the FRB and the FDIC as required under Dodd-
Frank and arule issued by those bank regulators relating to the resolution of bank holding companies with assets of $50 billion
or more and a FDIC rule relating to the resolution of insured depository institutions with assets of $50 billion or more.

Interest Bearing Deposits with Banks totaled $29.8billionand $13.3billionat June 30, 2013 and December 31, 2012, respectively,
which includes $26.2 billion and 10.7 billion, respectively, held with the Federal Reserve Bank. Balanceswill fluctuate from year
to year depending upon our liquidity position at the time and our strategy for deploying such liquidity.

Securities Purchased under Agreements to Resell totaled $1.4 billion and $3.1 billion at June 30, 2013 and December 31, 2012,
respectively. Balances will fluctuate from year to year depending upon our liquidity position at the time and our strategy for
deploying such liquidity.

Short-Term Borrowings totaled $21.4 billion and $14.9 billion at June 30, 2013 and December 31, 2012, respectively. See
“Balance Sheet Review” in this MD& A for further analysis and discussion on short-term borrowing trends.

Deposits totaled $111.7 billion and $117.7 billion at June 30, 2013 and December 31, 2012, respectively. See “Balance Sheet
Review” inthisMD&A for further analysis and discussion on deposit trends.

Long-Term Debt decreased to $20.9 hillion at June 30, 2013 from $21.7 hillion at December 31, 2012. The following table
summarizes issuances and retirements of long-term debt during the six months ended June 30, 2013 and 2012:

Six Months Ended June 30, 2013 2012

(in millions)
LONG-LEIM AEDE ISSUEH........vcvieiiciictiee ettt sttt bbb s b et bese et be e st bese s s ebebe s st $ 3637 $ 4,739
[IoTaTo = g1 (= oL 1= (] (o PR (4,054) (1,465)
NEt [ONG-TEIM AEOL ISSUBH ......cucuieieieciieiceccee et sn et s st es s s s s s s $ (417) $ 3274

Issuances of long-term debt during the first half of 2013 included $3.5 billion of medium term notes, of which $1.9 billion was
issued by HSBC Bank USA.

Under our shelf registration statement on file with the Securities and Exchange Commission, we may issue debt securities or
preferred stock. The shelf has no dollar limit, but the amount of debt outstanding is limited by the authority granted by the Board
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of Directors. At June 30, 2013, we were authorized to issue up to $21 hillion, of which $11 billion was available. HSBC Bank
USA also has a $40 hillion Global Bank Note Program of which $14.1 billion was available at June 30, 2013.

Asamember of the New York Federal Home Loan Bank (“FHLB"), we have a secured borrowing facility which is collateralized
by real estateloansand investment securities. At June 30, 2013 and December 31, 2012, long-term debt included $1.0 billion under
thisfacility. Thefacility also allows accessto further borrowings of up to $4.3 billion based upon the amount pledged as collateral
with the FHLB.

Preferred Equity See Note 20, “Preferred Stock,” in our 2012 Form 10-K for information regarding all outstanding preferred
share issues.

Common Equity During the first quarter of 2013, we did not receive any cash capital contributions from HNAI. During the first
half of 2013, we did not make any capital contributions to our subsidiary, HSBC Bank USA.

Selected Capital Ratios Capital amounts and ratios are calculated in accordance with current banking regulations. In managing
capital, we develop targets for Tier 1 capital to risk weighted assets, Tier 1 common equity to risk weighted assets, Total capital
to risk weighted assets and Tier 1 capital to average assets (this|atter ratio, also known as the "leverage ratio"). Our targets may
change from time to time to accommodate changes in the operating environment, regul atory requirements or other considerations
such as those listed above. Selected capital ratios are summarized in the following table:

June 30, December 31,
2013 2012
Tier 1 capital to risk WEIGhEd GSSELS......cciierieseeeeeee e et ere e 12.43% 13.61%
Tier 1 common equity tO risk WEIGtEA BSSELS.......cccoovrirerirerieeiere et 10.65 11.63
Total capital t0 riSK WEIGNIE SSELS.......cuieieiieieieiere bbb 17.42 19.52
Tier 1 capital to average assets (IeVErage ratio) ......c.coveeeeeeresesiesie e e see s e e sae e et snesrenes 8.09 7.70
Total UILY 10 TOLAl BSSELS.....couereeriiitieie ettt et s e e et eb e aeeaeeae e 9.05 9.07

HSBC USA manages capital in accordance with the HSBC Group policy. The HNAH Internal Capital Adequacy Assessment
Process (“ICAAP") worksin conjunction with the HSBC Group'sICAAP. HNAH's ICAAPevaluates regulatory capital adequacy,
economic capital adequacy and capital adequacy under various stress scenarios. Our initial approach isto meet our capital needs
for these stress scenarios locally through activities which reduce risk. To the extent that local aternatives are insufficient or
unavailable, we will rely on capital support from our parent in accordance with HSBC's capital management policy. HSBC has
indicated that they are fully committed and have the capacity to provide capital as needed to run operations, maintain sufficient
regulatory capital ratios and fund certain tax planning strategies.

InJune 2012, the U.S. regulatorsissued three joint Notices of Proposed Rulemaking ("NPRs") which would both implement many
of the capital provisionsof Basel |11 for U.S. banking institutions and substantially revisethe U.S. banking regulators Basel | risk-
based guidelinesto make them more risk sensitive. For further information regarding the NPRs, see “ Regulation and Competition
- Regulatory Capital Requirements” and “Liquidity and Capital Resources’ in our 2012 Form 10-K.

In July 2013, the U.S. banking regulators adopted a final rule which consolidates the three NPRs released in June 2012 and
implements the Basel |11 regulatory capital reforms from the Basel Committee on Banking Supervision, and certain changes
required by Dodd-Frank. Thefinal rule establishes an integrated regulatory capital framework to improve the quality and quantity
of regulatory capital and introduces the "Standardized Approach" for risk weighted assets, which will replace the Basel | risk-
based guidance for determining risk-weighted assets as of January 1, 2015. For the largest banking organizations, such asHSBC
USA, thefinal ruleislargely unchanged from the three NPRs and will take effect from January 1, 2014, but with a number of the
provisions being phased in through to 2019. The final rule is also largely consistent with regard to the Standardized Approach,
although it did not adopt modifications from the Basel | standards to the calculation of risk-weighting for mortgages as proposed.

With regard to the elements of capital, thefinal rulewill require HSBC USA to phase trust preferred securitiesissued prior to May
19, 2010 out of Tier 1 Capital by January 1, 2016, with 50% of these capital instrumentsincludablein Tier 1 Capital in 2014 and
25% includablein 2015. Thetrust preferred securities excluded from Tier 1 Capital may be included fully in Tier 2 Capital during
those two years, but must be phased out of Tier 2 Capital by January 1, 2022. As previously noted (see “Liquidity and Capital
Resources-Long-Term Debt” in our 2012 Form 10-K), we exercised our option to call and redeem the trust preferred securities
issued by HSBC USA Capital Trust VII. We continue to consider options for redeeming other trust preferred securities issued
which total $550 million at June 30, 2013.

In connection with thefinal rule, theregulatory agencies provided certain information with regard to the appropriate subordination
standardfor Tier 2qualifying subordinated debt. Thisinformationrepresentsamodification of current guidanceonthesubordination
standards to qualify for Tier 2 regulatory capital treatment at the bank holding company level. Under the final rule, any
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nonconforming Tier 2 subordinated debt issued prior to May 19, 2010 will be required to be phased out by January 1, 2016, and
issuances after May 19, 2010 will berequired to be excluded from capital asof January 1, 2014. Weintend to review any clarifying
guidance from the regulatory agencies and assess the impact, if any, on our currently outstanding Tier 2 qualifying subordinated
debt of approximately $1.2 billion. Also under the final rule, Tier 1 capital is expected to include only noncumulative perpetua
preferred stock, in addition to common stock and the final rule removes the limitation on the amount of Tier 2 capital that may be
recognized relative to Tier 1 capital.

As previoudly disclosed, Advanced Approaches banking organizations such as HSBC North America and HSBC Bank USA
participate in a“parallel run” wherein they must report both their Basel | (and in 2015, their Standardized Approach) risk-based
ratios as well as their Advanced Approaches ratios to their primary federal regulator, and publicly disclose only their Basel | (or
in 2015, their Standardized Approach) ratios. Upon receiving approval to exit parallel run, Advanced Approaches banking
organizations would then publicly disclose both their risk-based and Advanced A pproaches capital ratios. Although we began a
parallel run period in January 2010, it isunclear asto when approval from the appropriate regulatorswill bereceivedto exit parallel
run.

The final rule has only recently been issued, is not yet in effect, and has not yet been the subject of regulatory guidance or
interpretation. We continue to review the final rule and itsimpact on our regulatory capital.

InAugust 2012, U.S. regulators published afinal rule (known in theindustry as Basel 2.5), that would change the U.S. regulatory
market risk capital rules to better capture positions for which the market risk capital rules are appropriate, reduce procyclicality,
enhance the sensitivity to risks that are not adequately captured under current methodol ogies and increase transparency through
enhanced disclosures. Thisfinal rule became effective January 1, 2013. This changeisreflected in our June 30, 2013 Basel | risk-
weighted asset levels. In July 2013, the U.S. banking regulators proposed changes to the Basel 2.5 rule that would conform to
changesin thefinal capital rules. We are currently reviewing the proposed changes to assess the impact on our regulatory capital.

U.S. regulators have issued regulations on capital planning for bank holding companies. Under the regulations, from January 1,
2012, U.S. bank holding companies with $50 billion or morein total consolidated assets need to obtain approval of their annua
capital plans prior to making capital distributions. Additionally, there are certain circumstances in which abank holding company
isrequired to provide prior notice for approval of capital distributions, even if included in an approved plan.

In October 2012, the Federal Reserve Board published a final rule setting out the stress testing requirements for bank holding
companies with $50 hillion or morein total consolidated assets. HSBC North America becomes subject to the rule from October
2013 and is expected to have to comply with the Federal Reserve Bank's Comprehensive Capital Analysisand Review ("CCAR")
program for its capital plan submission in January 2014. HSBC Bank USA is also subject to stress testing requirements under
OCC rulesfinalized in October 2012.

We and HSBC Bank USA are required to meet minimum capital requirements by our principal regulators. Risk-based capital
amounts and ratios are presented in Note 17, “Retained Earnings and Regulatory Capital Requirements,” in the accompanying
consolidated financial statements.
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2013 Funding Strategy Our current estimate for funding needs and sources for 2013 are summarized in the following table.

Estimated
Actual July 1
January 1 through Estimated
through June December 31, Full Year
30,2013 2013 2013
(in billions)
Funding needs:
INEL 10BN GrOWEN......eeeeeee et sttt st et e e e e e e eneas $ 5 $ 4 % 9
Long-term debt MELUNITIES.........cvieiiie e s st eeneas 4 1 5
Total FuNAING NEEAS ..o s $ 9 % 5 % 14
Funding sources:
Net change in Short-term iNVESIMENES...........oieieerirereeerrer e e e $ 5 $ 2 % 7
LONg-term debt ISSUANCE.......ccvveieicise ettt st s ne e s 4 3 7
Total FUNAING SOUICES .....ceeuiitiiieie ittt sttt e et e eneas $ 9 % 5 % 14

Theabovetablereflectsalong-term funding strategy. Daily balancesfluctuate aswe accommodate customer needs, while ensuring
that we have liquidity in place to support the balance sheet maturity funding profile. Should market conditions deteriorate, we
have contingency plans to generate additional liquidity through the sales of assets or financing transactions. Our prospects for
growth continue to be dependent upon our ability to attract and retain deposits and, to alesser extent, accessto the global capital
markets. Weremain confident in our ability to accessthe market for long-term debt funding needsin the current market environment.
We continue to seek well-priced and stable customer deposits as customers move funds to larger, well-capitalized institutions.

We will continue to sell a substantial portion of new mortgage |oan originations going forward, largely to PHH Mortgage.

HSBC Finance ceased issuing under its commercial paper program in the second quarter of 2012 and instead is relying on its
affiliates, including HSBC USA Inc., to satisfy its funding needs.

HSBC Bank USA is subject to significant restrictionsimposed by federal law on extensions of credit to, and certain other “covered
transactions” with, HSBC USA and other affiliates. Covered transactionsinclude loans and other extensions of credit, investments
and asset purchases, and certain other transactions involving the transfer of value from a subsidiary bank to an affiliate or for the
benefit of an affiliate. Pursuant to amendments included in Dodd-Frank, a bank's credit exposure to an affiliate as a result of a
derivative, securities lending or repurchase agreement is also subject to these restrictions. Once regulations are issued (originally
forecasted for July 2012) to implement these amendments, we may be required to change the method by which we calcul ate credit
exposure. A bank's transactions with its non-bank affiliates are also required to be on arm's length terms.

For further discussion relating to our sources of liquidity and contingency funding plan, see the caption “Risk Management” in
thisMD&A.
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Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements, Credit Derivatives and Other Contractual Obligations

As part of our normal operations, we enter into credit derivatives and various off-balance sheet arrangements with affiliates and
third parties. These arrangements arise principally in connection with our lending and client intermediation activities and involve
primarily extensions of credit and, in certain cases, guarantees.

Asafinancia services provider, we routinely extend credit through loan commitments and lines and letters of credit and provide
financial guarantees, including derivative transactions having characteristics of a guarantee. The contractual amounts of these
financial instruments represent our maximum possible credit exposure in the event that a counterparty draws down the full
commitment amount or we are required to fulfill our maximum obligation under a guarantee.

The following table provides maturity information related to our credit derivatives and off-balance sheet arrangements. Many of
these commitments and guarantees expire unused or without default. As a result, we believe that the contractual amount is not
representative of the actual future credit exposure or funding requirements.

Balance at June 30, 2013

Over One Balance at
One Year through Over Five December 31,
or Less Five Years Years Total 2012
(in billions)

Standby letters of credit, net of participations™®...........cc.......... $ 54 $ 28 % — $ 82 % 8.4
Commercial letters of Credit ........oooeveiecee i 7 2 — 0.9 1.0
Credit deriVativVES® ... 62.5 131.0 12.8 206.3 2375
Other commitments to extend credit:

(00110011 (o ! 14.0 47.2 3.2 64.4 57.7

(00019151 (1 0= ST 6.8 — — 6.8 7.0
[ o) = TR $ 894 $ 1812 $ 160 $ 2866 % 311.6

@ Includes $846 million and $808 million issued for the benefit of HSBC affiliates at June 30, 2013 and December 31, 2012, respectively.
@ Includes $39.4 billion and $44.2 billion issued for the benefit of HSBC affiliates at June 30, 2013 and December 31, 2012, respectively.

Other Commitments to Extend Credit Other commitments to extend credit include arrangements whereby we are contractually
obligated to extend credit intheform of loans, participationsinloans, leasefinancing receivabl es, or similar transactions. Consumer
commitments are comprised of certain unused MasterCard/Visa credit card lines and commitments to extend credit secured by
residential properties. We have the right to change or terminate any terms or conditions of a customer’s credit card or home equity
line of credit account, for cause, upon notification to the customer. Commercial commitments comprise primarily those related to
secured and unsecured loans and lines of credit and certain asset purchase commitments. In connection with our commercial
lending activities, we provideliquidity support to anumber of multi-seller and single-sell er asset backed commercial paper conduits
(“ABCP conduits’) sponsored by affiliates and third parties. See Note 18, “Variable Interest Entities,” in the accompanying the
consolidated financial statements for additional information regarding these ABCP conduits and our variable interests in them.

Liquidity support is provided to certain ABCP conduits in the form of liquidity loan agreements and liquidity asset purchase
agreements. Liquidity facilities provided to multi-seller conduits support transactions associated with a specific seller of assetsto
the conduit and we would only be expected to provide support in the event the multi-seller conduit is unable to issue or rollover
maturing commercial paper. Liquidity facilities provided to single-seller conduits are not identified with specific transactions or
assets and we would be required to provide support upon the occurrence of a commercia paper market disruption or the breach
of certain triggers that affect the single-seller conduit’s ability to issue or rollover maturing commercia paper. Our obligations
have generally the same terms as those of other institutions that also provide liquidity support to the same conduit or for the same
transactions. We do not provide any program-wide credit enhancements to ABCP conduits.

Under the terms of these liquidity agreements, the ABCP conduits may call upon us to lend money or to purchase certain assets
in the event the ABCP conduits are unable to issue or rollover maturing commercial paper if certain trigger events occur. These
trigger events are generally limited to performance tests on the underlying portfolios of collateral securing the conduits’ interests.
With regard to amulti-seller liquidity facility, the maximum amount that we could be required to advance upon the occurrence of
atrigger eventisgenerally limited to the lesser of the amount of outstanding commercial paper related to the supported transaction
and the balance of the assets underlying that transaction adjusted by afunding formulathat excludes defaulted and impaired assets.
Under asingle-seller liquidity facility, the maximum amount that we and other liquidity providers could be required to advance
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is also generally limited to each provider’s pro-rata share of the lesser of the amount of outstanding commercia paper and the
balance of unimpaired performing assets held by the conduit. As aresult, the maximum amount that we would be required to fund
may be significantly less than the maximum contractual amount specified by the liquidity agreement.

The tables below present information on our liquidity facilities with ABCP conduits at June 30, 2013. The maximum exposure to
loss presented in the first table represents the maximum contractual amount of |oans and asset purchases we could be required to
make under the liquidity agreements. This amount does not reflect the funding limits discussed above and also assumes that we
suffer atotal loss on all amounts advanced and all assets purchased from the ABCP conduits. As such, we believe that this measure
significantly overstates our expected |0ss exposure.

Conduit Assets Conduit Funding®
Maximum Weighted Weighted
Exposure Total Average Life  Commercial  Average Life
Conduit Type to Loss Assets (Months) Paper (Days)
(dollars are in millions)
HSBC affiliate sponsored (multi-seller).....ccccceeeececereneeee. $ 3139 $ 1618 15 ¢ 1618 16
Third-party sponsored:
SINGIE-SAIIES ..o 299 5,029 40 4,809 60
LI L $ 3438 $ 6,647 $ 6,427

@ For multi-seller conduits, the amounts presented represent only the specific assets and related funding supported by our liquidity facilities. For single-seller
conduits, the amounts presented represent the total assets and funding of the conduit.

Average : (1)
Asset Average Credit Quality
Asset Class Mix AAA AA+AA A A- BB/BB-
Multi-seller conduits
Debt securities backed by:
Autoloansand 1€8SesS...........ccccceveeveveece e, 33% 51% —% —% —% —%
Trade recalvables.........ccoceveeiececiececeeeee e, 24 — 100 24 — —
Credit card receivables..........cccovvvveveieccrecceene, 11 — — 76 — —
Equipment 10ans..........ccooerererieneneeeeee e 32 49 — — — —
100% 100% 100% 100% —% —%

@ Credit quality isbased on Standard and Poor’sratings at June 30, 2013 except for |oans and trade receivables held by single-seller conduits, which are based
on our internal ratings. For the single-seller conduits, external ratings are not available; however, our internal credit ratings were developed using similar
methodol ogies and rating scales equivalent to the external credit ratings.

Wereceivefeesfor providing theseliquidity facilities. Credit risk on these obligationsis managed by subjecting themto our normal
underwriting and risk management processes.

During the first six months of 2013, U.S. asset-backed commercial paper volumes continued to be stable as most major bank
conduit sponsors continue to extend new financing to clients but at aslow pace. Credit spreads in the multi-seller conduit market
generally trended lower during the first six months of 2013 following a pattern that was prevalent across the U.S. credit markets.
The low supply of ABCP has led to continued investor demand for the ABCP issued by large bank-sponsored ABCP programs.
The improved demand for higher quality ABCP programs has led to less volatility in issuance spreads.

The preceding tables do not include information on liquidity facilitiesthat we previously provided to certain Canadian multi-seller
ABCP conduits that have been subject to restructuring agreements. As part of the enhanced collateral pool established for the
restructuring, we have provided a $301 million Margin Funding Facility to new Master Conduit Vehicles, which expiresin July
2017 and is currently undrawn.

We have established and manage anumber of constant net asset value (“CNAV”) money market fundsthat invest in shorter-dated
highly-rated money market securitiesto provideinvestorswith ahighly liquid and secure investment. These funds price the assets
in their portfolio on an amortized cost basis, which enables them to create and liquidate shares at a constant price. The funds,
however, are not permitted to price their portfolios at amortized cost if that amount varies by more than 50 basis points from the
portfolio's market value. In that case, the fund would be required to price its portfolio at market value and consequently would no
longer be able to create or liquidate shares at a constant price. We do not consolidate the CNAV funds because we do not absorb
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the majority of the expected future risk associated with the fund's assets, including interest rate, liquidity, credit and other relevant
risks that are expected to affect the value of the assets.

Fair Value

Fair value measurement accounting principlesrequireareporting entity to takeinto consideration itsown credit risk in determining
the fair value of financial liabilities. The incorporation of our own credit risk accounted for a increase of $107 million and $98
millionin the fair value of financial liabilities during the three and six months ended June 30, 2013, respectively, compared with
aincrease of $75 million and an decrease of $113 million during the prior year periods.

Net income volatility arising from changes in either interest rate or credit components of the mark-to-market on debt designated
at fair value and related derivatives affects the comparability of reported results between periods. Accordingly, the gain (loss) on
debt designated at fair value and related derivatives during the six months ended June 30, 2013 should not be considered indicative
of the results for any future period.

Control Over Valuation Process and Procedures We have established a control framework which is designed to ensure that fair
values are either determined or validated by afunction independent of the risk-taker. See Note 20, “Fair Value M easurements” for
further details on our valuation control framework.

Fair Value Hierarchy Fair value measurement accounting principles establish afair value hierarchy structure that prioritizesthe
inputs to determine the fair value of an asset or liability (the “ Fair Value Framework™). The Fair Value Framework distinguishes
between inputs that are based on observed market data and unobservable inputs that reflect market participants’ assumptions. It
emphasizes the use of valuation methodol ogies that maximize observable market inputs. For financial instruments carried at fair
value, the best evidence of fair value is a quoted price in an actively traded market (Level 1). Where the market for a financial
instrument is not active, valuation techniques are used. The mgjority of our valuation techniques use market inputs that are either
observable or indirectly derived from and corroborated by observable market data for substantially the full term of the financial
instrument (Level 2). Because Level 1 and Level 2 instruments are determined by observable inputs, less judgment is applied in
determining their fair values. In the absence of observable market inputs, the financial instrument is valued based on valuation
techniquesthat feature one or more significant unobservableinputs (Level 3). The determination of thelevel of fair valuehierarchy
within which the fair value measurement of an asset or aliability is classified often requires judgment and may change over time
as market conditions evolve. We consider the following factors in developing the fair value hierarchy:

. whether the asset or liability istransacted in an active market with a quoted market price;
. the level of bid-ask spreads;

. alack of pricing transparency due to, among other things, complexity of the product and market liquidity;

. whether only afew transactions are observed over a significant period of time;

. whether the pricing quotations vary substantially among independent pricing services;

. whether inputs to the valuation techniques can be derived from or corroborated with market data; and

. whether significant adjustments are made to the observed pricing information or model output to determine the fair
value.

Level 1inputsare unadjusted quoted pricesin active markets that the reporting entity has the ability to access for identical assets
or liabilities. A financial instrument is classified asaLevel 1 measurement if it islisted on an exchange or isan instrument actively
traded in the over-the-counter (“OTC") market where transactions occur with sufficient frequency and volume. Weregard financial
instruments such as equity securities and derivative contracts listed on the primary exchanges of a country to be actively traded.
Non-exchange-traded instruments classified as Level 1 assets include securities issued by the U.S. Treasury or by other foreign
governments, to-be-announced (“TBA”) securities and non-callable securities issued by U.S. government sponsored entities.

Level 2 inputs are those that are observable either directly or indirectly but do not qualify asLevel 1inputs. We classify mortgage
pass-through securities, agency and certain non-agency mortgage collateralized obligations, certain derivative contracts, asset-
backed securities, corporate debt, preferred securities and leveraged loans as Level 2 measurements. Where possible, at least two
guotations from independent sources are obtained based on transactions involving comparabl e assets and liabilitiesto validate the
fair value of these instruments. We have established a process to understand the methodol ogies and inputs used by the third party
pricing services to ensure that pricing information met the fair value objective. Where significant differences arise among the
independent pricing quotesand theinternally determinedfair value, weinvestigate and reconcilethedifferences. If theinvestigation
resultsin a significant adjustment to the fair value, the instrument will be classified as Level 3 within the fair value hierarchy. In
general, we have observed that there is a correlation between the credit standing and the market liquidity of a non-derivative
instrument.
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Level 2 derivative instruments are generally valued based on discounted future cash flows or an option pricing model adjusted for
counterparty credit risk and market liquidity. The fair value of certain structured derivative productsis determined using valuation
techniques based on inputs derived from observable benchmark index tranches traded in the OTC market. Appropriate control
processes and procedures have been applied to ensure that the derived inputs are applied to value only those instrumentsthat share
similar risks to the relevant benchmark indices and therefore demonstrate a similar response to market factors. In addition, a
validation process has been established, which includes participation in peer group consensus pricing surveys, to ensure that
valuation inputs incorporate market participants risk expectations and risk premium.

Level 3inputs are unobservable estimates that management expects market participants would use to determine the fair value of
the asset or liability. That is, Level 3 inputsincorporate market participants assumptions about risk and the risk premium required
by market participants in order to bear that risk. We develop Level 3 inputs based on the best information available in the
circumstances. As of June 30, 2013 and December 31, 2012, our Level 3 instruments included the following: collateralized debt
obligations (“CDOs") and collateralized loan obligations (“ CLOs") for which thereisalack of pricing transparency dueto market
illiquidity, certain structured deposits aswell as certain structured credit and structured equity derivatives where significant inputs
(e.g., volatility or default correl ations) arenot observabl e, credit default swapswith certain monolineinsurerswherethedeterioration
in the creditworthiness of the counterparty has resulted in significant adjustmentsto fair value, U.S. subprime mortgage |oans and
subprime related asset-backed securities, mortgage servicing rights, and derivatives referenced to illiquid assets of less desirable
credit quality. See Note 20, "Fair Value Measurements' in the accompanying consolidated financial statements for additional
information on Level 3 inputs.

Transfers between leveling categories are recognized at the end of each reporting period.

Material Transfers Between Level 1 and Level 2 Measurements During the six months ended June 30, 2013 and 2012, there
were no transfers between Level 1 and Level 2 measurements.

Level 3 Measurements Thefollowingtableprovidesinformationabout Level 3assets/liabilitiesinrelationtototal assetgliabilities
measured at fair value as of June 30, 2013 and December 31, 2012.

June 30, December 31,

2013 2012
(dollars are in millions)
LEVE BESSEISMP .. .ottt $ 3597 $ 4701
Total assets Measured at fair VAIUET ...............cooveuoreeieeeseeeseeesesee s seseesss s sesss s ensssnenes 157,032 189,449
LEVE STTADITTIES. ...ttt ettt e sae e et e e st e et e e ebe e s beeeaeesabeesaeeeaseesbeesnreenbessnns 3,860 3,854
Total liabilities measured at fair VAIUE™ ...........co..coovveirveieeeseeesesee s eeseseesse e sss s essss s ssssssesneees 102,113 116,728
Level 3 assets as a percent of total assets measured at fair Value..........cceoeeereniiininenene e 2.3% 2.5%
Level 3 liahilities as a percent of total liabilities measured at fair value........c.ccoeveenvenecnccnccns 3.8% 3.3%

@ Presented without netting which allows the offsetting of amounts relating to certain contracts if certain conditions are met.

@ Includes $3.4 billion of recurring Level 3 assetsand $242 million of non-recurring Level 3 assetsat June 30, 2013. Includes $4.5 billion of recurring Level 3
assets and $222 million of non-recurring Level 3 assets at December 31, 2012.

®  Includes $156.4 hillion of assets measured on a recurring basis and $647 million of assets measured on a non-recurring basis at June 30, 2013. Includes
$189.2 hillion of assets measured on a recurring basis and $256 million of assets measured on anon-recurring basis at December 31, 2012.

Material Changes in Fair Value for Level 3 Assets and Liabilities

Derivative Assets and Counterparty Credit Risk We have entered into credit default swaps with monoline insurers to hedge our
credit exposure in certain asset-backed securities and synthetic CDOs. We made $41 million positive and $10 million negative
credit risk adjustmentsto the fair value of our credit default swap contracts during the six months ended June 30, 2013 and 2012,
respectively, which is reflected in trading revenue. We have recorded a cumulative credit adjustment reserve of $77 million and
$136 million against our monoline exposure at June 30, 2013 and December 31, 2012, respectively. Thefair value of our monoline
exposure net of cumulative credit adjustment reserves equaled $327 million and $534 million at June 30, 2013 and December 31,
2012, respectively. The decrease since December 31, 2012 reflects both reductionsin our outstanding positions and improvements
in exposure estimates.

Loans As of June 30, 2013 and December 31, 2012, we have classified $54 million and $52 million, respectively, of mortgage
wholeloansheld for saleasanon-recurring Level 3financial asset. These mortgageloansare accounted for on alower of amortized
cost or fair value basis. Based on our assessment, we recorded gain of $5 million and $7 million during the three and six months
ended June 30, 2013, respectively, compared with aloss of $2 million and $3 million during the three and six months ended June
30, 2012, respectively. The changesin fair value are recorded as other revenues in the consolidated statement of income.
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Material Additions to and Transfers Into (Out of) Level 3 Measurements During the six months ended June 30, 2013, we
transferred $46 million of credit derivatives from Level 2 to Level 3 asresult of including specific fair value adjustments rel ated
to certain credit default swaps. During the three and six months ended June 30, 2013, wetransferred $208 million and $287 million,
respectively, of deposits in domestic offices and $136 million and $138 million, respectively, of long-term debt, which we have
elected to carry at fair value, from Level 3to Level 2 asaresult of the embedded derivative no longer being unobservable asthe
derivative option is closer to maturity and there is more observability in short term volatility. Additionally, during the three and
six months ended June 30, 2013, we transferred $177 million and $160 million, respectively, of long-term debt, which we have
elected to carry at fair value, from Level 2 to Level 3 as aresult of a change in the observability of underlying instruments that
resulted in the embedded derivative being unobservable.

During the three and six months ended June 30, 2012, we transferred $313 million and $475 million, respectively, of depositsin
domestic offices, which we have elected to carry at fair value, from Level 3to Level 2 asaresult of the embedded derivative no
longer being unobservable as the derivative option is closer in maturity and there is more observability in short term volatility.

See Note 20, “Fair Value Measurements,” in the accompanying consolidated financial statements for information on additions to
and transfers into (out of) Level 3 measurements during the three and six months ended June 30, 2013 and 2012 as well as for
further details including the classification hierarchy associated with assets and liabilities measured at fair value.

Credit Quality of Assets Underlying Asset-backed Securities The following tables summarize the types and credit quality of the
assets underlying our asset-backed securities as well as certain collateralized debt obligations and collateralized loan obligations
held as of June 30, 2013:

Asset-backed securities backed by consumer finance collateral:

Credit Quality of Collateral:

Commercial
Mortgages Prime Alt-A Subprime
Priorto 2006to Priorto 2006to Priorto 2006to  Priorto 2006 to
Year of Issuance: Total 2006 Present 2006 Present 2006 Present 2006 Present
(in millions)
Rating of
securities™ Collateral type:

AAA Residential mortgages........ $ 257 $ 51 $ 115 $ — % — % 91 $ — % — 3 —
AA Residential mortgages......... 6 — — — — 6 — — —
A Residential mortgages........ 23 — — — — 23 — — —
Home equity loans.............. 106 — — — — — 106 — —
129 — — — — 23 106 — —
BBB 3 — — — e 3 e — e
104 — — — — 104 — — —
107 — — — — 107 — — —
B Home equity loans.............. 152 — — — — — 78 — 74
CCC Home equity loans.............. 61 — — — — — 61 — —
Residential mortgages........ — — — — — — — — —
Total CCC......ovvverrerrreerirenes 61 — — — — — 61 — —
Unrated Residential mortgages........ 1 — — — — 1 — — —
$ 713 % 51 $ 115 $ — $ — $ 228 $ 245 % — $ 74

Collateralized debt obligations (CDO) and collateralized loan obligations (CLO):

Credit quality of collateral: Total A or Higher BBB BB/B CCC Unrated
(in millions)

Rating of securities™  Collateral type:

Corporateloans.................... $ — % — % — % — % — % —
Trust preferred.........oveueeeee. 228 — 208 _ _ _
OtherS...ccviceeee e 74 $ 74 — — _ _

$ 302 $ 74 $ 228 $ — 8 — $ —

Total asset-backed securities ¢ 1,015
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@ We utilize Standard & Poor's ("S&P") as the primary source of credit ratingsin the tables above. |f S& Pratings are not available, ratings by Moody's and Fitch
are used, in that order.

Effect of Changes in Significant Unobservable Inputs Thefair value of certainfinancial instrumentsis measured using valuation
techniques that incorporate pricing assumptions not supported by, derived from or corroborated by observable market data. The
resultant fair value measurements are dependent on unobservabl einput parameters which can be selected from arange of estimates
and may be interdependent. Changes in one or more of the significant unobservable input parameters may change the fair value
measurements of these financial instruments. For the purpose of preparing the financial statements, the final valuation inputs
selected are based on management's best judgment that reflect the assumptions market participants would use in pricing similar
assetsor liagbilities.

The unobservable input parameters selected are subject to the internal valuation control processes and procedures. When we
perform atest of all the significant input parameters to the extreme values within the range at the same time, it could result in an
increase of the overall fair value measurement of approximately $66 million or a decrease of the overall fair value measurement
of approximately $82 million as of June 30, 2013. The effect of changesin significant unobservableinput parametersare primarily
driven by mortgage servicing rights, certain asset-backed securities including CDOs, and the uncertainty in determining the fair
value of credit derivatives executed against monoline insurers.

Risk Management

Overview Somedegree of risk isinherent in virtually all of our activities. Accordingly, we have comprehensive risk management
policies and practices in place to address potential risks, which include the following:

. Credit risk is the potential that a borrower or counterparty will default on a credit obligation, as well as the impact
on the value of credit instruments due to changes in the probability of borrower default; Credit risk includes risk
associated with cross-border exposures.

. Liquidity risk isthe potential that an institution will be unable to meet its obligations as they become due or fund its
customers because of inadequate cash flow or the inability to liquidate assets or obtain funding itself;

. Interest rate risk is the potential impairment of net interest income due to mismatched pricing between assets and
liahilities as well aslosses in value due to rate movements,

. Market risk isthe risk that movementsin market risk factors, including foreign exchange ratesand commaodity prices,
interest rates, credit spreads and equity prices, will reduce HSBC USA’s income or the value of its portfolios;

. Operational risk istherisk of lossresulting from inadequate or failed internal processes, people, or systems, or from
external events (including legal risk but excluding strategic and reputational risk);

. Compliance risk isthe risk that we fail to observe the |etter and spirit of all relevant laws, codes, rules, regulations,

regulatory requirements and standards of good market practice, and incur fines and penalties and suffer damage to
our business as a consequence;

. Fiduciary risk is the risk of breaching fiduciary duties where we act in a fiduciary capacity as trustee, investment
manager or as mandated by law or regulation.

. Reputational risk is the risk arising from afailure to safeguard our reputation by maintaining the highest standards
of conduct at all timesand by being aware of i ssues, activitiesand associationsthat might poseathreat to thereputation
of HSBC locally, regionally or internationally;

. Strategic risk is the risk that the business will fail to identify, execute, and react appropriately to opportunities and/
or threats arising from changes in the market, some of which may emerge over a number of years such as changing
economic and political circumstances, customer regquirements, demographic trends, regulatory developments or
competitor action;

. Security and Fraud risk is the risk to the business from terrorism, crime, incidents/disasters, and groups hostile to
HSBC interests;

. Model risk isthe risk of incorrect implementation or inappropriate application of models. Model risk occurs when
amodel does not properly capture risk(s) or perform functions as designed; and

. Pension risk is the risk that the cash flows associated with pension assets will not be enough to cover the pension

benefit obligations required to be paid.

See*Risk Management” inMD& A inour 2012 Form 10-K for amore compl ete discussion of the objectivesof our risk management
system aswell asour risk management policies and practices. Our risk management processinvolvesthe use of various simulation
models. We believe that the assumptions used in these models are reasonable, but actual events may unfold differently than what
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isassumed in the models. Consequently, model results may be considered reasonabl e estimates, with the understanding that actual
results may vary significantly from model projections.

Credit Risk Management Credit risk is the potential that a borrower or counterparty will default on a credit obligation, as well
as the impact on the value of credit instruments due to changes in the probability of borrower default. Credit risk includes risk
associated with cross-border exposures. There have been no material changes to our approach towards operational risk since
December 31, 2012. See"Risk Management" in MD&A in our 2012 Form 10-K for amore complete discussion of our approach
to credit risk.

Credit risk isinherent in various on- and off-balance sheet instruments and arrangements, such as:

. loan portfolios;

. investment portfolios;

. unfunded commitments such as letters of credit and lines of credit that customers can draw upon; and

. treasury instruments, such asinterest rate swapswhich, if more valuable today than when originally contracted, may

represent an exposure to the counterparty to the contract.

While credit risk exists widely in our operations, diversification among various commercial and consumer portfolios helps to
lessenrisk exposure. Day-to-day management of credit and market risk isperformed by the Chief Credit Officer / Head of Wholesale
Credit and Market Risk North Americaand the HSBC North America Chief Retail Credit Officer, who report directly to the HSBC
North America Chief Risk Officer and maintain independent risk functions. The credit risk associated with commercial portfolios
is managed by the Chief Credit Officer, while credit risk associated with retail consumer loan portfolios, such as credit cards,
installment loansand residential mortgages, ismanaged by theHSBC North AmericaChief Retail Credit Officer. Further discussion
of credit risk can be found under the “Credit Quality” caption in this MD&A.

Credit risk associated with derivatives is measured as the net replacement cost in the event the counterparties with contractsin a
gain position to usfail to perform under the terms of those contracts. In managing derivative credit risk, both the current exposure,
which is the replacement cost of contracts on the measurement date, as well as an estimate of the potential change in value of
contractsover their remaining livesare considered. Counterpartiesto our derivative activitiesincludefinancial institutions, foreign
and domestic government agencies, corporations, funds (mutual funds, hedge funds, etc.), insurance companies and private clients
aswell asother HSBC entities. These counterparties are subject to regular credit review by the credit risk management department.
To minimize credit risk, we enter into legally enforceable master netting agreements which reduce risk by permitting the closeout
and netting of transactions with the same counterparty upon occurrence of certain events. In addition, we reduce credit risk by
obtaining collateral from counterparties. The determination of the need for and the levels of collateral will vary based on an
assessment of the credit risk of the counterparty.

Thetotal risk in aderivative contract is a function of anumber of variables, such as:

e voldtility of interest rates, currencies, equity or corporate reference entity used as the basis for determining contract
payments;

e current market events or trends;

e country risk;

e maturity and liquidity of contracts;

e credit worthiness of the counterparties in the transaction;

« theexistence of a master netting agreement among the counterparties; and

e existence and value of collateral received from counterparties to secure exposures.
The table below presents total credit risk exposure measured using rules contained in the risk-based capital guidelines published
by U.S. banking regulatory agencies. Risk-based capital guidelines recognize that bilateral netting agreements reduce credit risk

and, therefore, alow for reductions of risk-weighted assets when netting requirements have been met. As aresult, risk-weighted
amounts for regulatory capital purposes are a portion of the original gross exposures.

The risk exposure calculated in accordance with the risk-based capital guidelines potentialy overstates actual credit exposure
because the risk-based capital guidelinesignore collateral that may have been received from counterparties to secure exposures;
and the risk-based capital guidelines compute exposures over the life of derivative contracts. However, many contracts contain
provisionsthat allow usto close out the transaction if the counterparty failsto post required collateral. In addition, many contracts
give us the right to break the transactions earlier than the final maturity date. As a result, these contracts have potentia future
exposures that are often much smaller than the future exposures derived from the risk-based capital guidelines.
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June 30, December
2013 31,2012
(in millions)
Risk associated with derivative contracts:
TOtAl CrEit FISK EXPOSUNE......c.e ettt sttt sttt sttt b et be et e et eseebeneebese s e st s sbne $ 38,867 $ 41,248
Less: collateral held 8gaiNSt EXPOSUNE .......ccuiiiiiieiieeieseet ettt 5,232 7,530
INEL CrEdit FISK EXPOSUIE ... .cvieeiirietirieirie sttt sttt se ettt e et en b e e s b et e b et e b e s ebesbe s e teneseenensenes $ 33635 $ 33,718

Liquidity Risk Management There have been no material changes to our approach towards liquidity risk management since
December 31, 2012. See “Risk Management” in MD&A in our 2012 Form 10-K for a more compl ete discussion of our approach
to liquidity risk. Although our overall approach to liquidity management has not changed, we continue to enhance our
implementation of that approach to reflect best practices. The past few years have suggested that in a market crisis, traditional
sources of crisis liquidity such as secured lending and deposits with other banks may not be available. Similarly, the current
regulatory initiatives are suggesting banks need to retain a portfolio of extremely high quality liquid assets. Consistent with these
items, we are expanding our portfolio of high quality sovereign and sovereign guaranteed securities.

We continuously monitor the impact of market events on our liquidity positions. In general terms, the strains due to the recent
credit crisis have been concentrated in the whol esale market as opposed to the retail market (the latter being the market from which
we source core demand and time deposit accounts). Financial institutionswith lessreliance on the whol esale marketswerein many
respects less affected by those conditions. Our limited dependence upon the wholesale markets for funding has been a significant
competitive advantage through the most recent period of financial market turmoil.

Our liquidity management approach includes increased deposits and potential sales (e.g. residential mortgage loans) in liquidity
contingency plans. As previously discussed, HSBC Financeis currently winding down its commercial paper program during 2012
and instead will rely onits affiliates, including HSBC USA to satisfy its short-term funding needs.

Our ahility to regularly attract wholesale funds at a competitive cost is enhanced by strong ratings from the major credit ratings
agencies. At June 30, 2013, we and HSBC Bank USA maintained the following long and short-term debt ratings:

Moody’s S&P Fitch pBrsY
HSBC USA Inc.:
Short-term BOrrOWINGS. ......ccovveveeerirneeerr e P-1 A-1 Fl+ R-1 (middle)
Long-term/senior debt............cccooiiiiiiiniicii, A2 A+ AA- AA (low)
HSBC Bank USA:
Short-term borrowings...........ococeevinciiiincee e P-1 A-1+ F1+ R-1 (middle)
Long-term/Senior debt..........ccoveeenneneiire e Al AA- AA- AA (low)

(1) Dominion Bond Rating Service.

On February 8, 2013, DBRS downgraded the HSBC USA and HSBC Bank USA senior debt ratings to AA (low) from AA, and
corresponding short-term instrument rating to R-1 (middle) from R-1 (high), and removed these ratings from "rating under review
with negativeimplications’. DBRS cited concernswith recent regul atory and complianceremediation costs, which despite HSBC's
ongoing reforms and organizational changes still represent a significant challenge to implement in such alarge, complex banking
organization.

Asof June 30, 2013, there were no pending actionsin terms of changes to ratings on the debt of HSBC USA or HSBC Bank USA
from any of the rating agencies.

Interest Rate Risk Management Various techniques are utilized to quantify and monitor risks associated with the repricing
characteristics of our assets, liabilities and derivative contracts. Our approach to managing interest rate risk is summarized in
MD&A in our 2012 Form 10-K under the caption “Risk Management”. There have been no material changes to our approach
towards interest rate risk management since December 31, 2012.

Present value of a basis point isthe change in value of the balance sheet for a one basis point upward movement in al interest
rates. The following table reflects the PVBP position at June 30, 2013 and December 31, 2012.
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June 30, 2013 December 31, 2012

(in millions)
Institutional PVBP MOoVEMENt [iMit.........ccoviveiieiieeeceeeeeeeeceee ettt $ 80 $ 8.0
PVBP position af PEMOC €N .........couiiieieieeeieieeeeses ettt et a e 4.9 17

Economic value of equity isthe changein value of the assets and liabilities (excluding capital and goodwill) for either a200 basis
point immediate rateincrease or decrease. The following table reflects the economic value of equity position at June 30, 2013 and
December 31, 2012.

June 30, 2013 December 31, 2012
(values as a percentage)

Institutional economic value of equity lIMit ..o +/-15 +/-15
Projected change in value (reflects projected rate movements on January 1):
Change resulting from an immediate 200 basis point increase in interest rates.................. 1) 1
Change resulting from an immediate 200 basis point decrease in interest rates................. (10) (20)

Thegain or lossin value for a 200 basis point increase or decreasein rates is aresult of the negative convexity of the residential
whole loan and mortgage backed securities portfolios. If rates decrease, the projected prepayments rel ated to these portfolios will
accelerate, causing less appreciation than acomparable term, non-convex instrument. If ratesincrease, projected prepaymentswill
slow, which will cause the average lives of these positions to extend and result in a greater loss in market value.

Dynamic simulation modeling techniques are utilized to monitor anumber of interest rate scenariosfor their impact on net interest
income. These techniques include both rate shock scenarios, which assume immediate market rate movements by as much as
200 basis points, as well as scenarios in which ratesrise or fall by as much as 200 basis points over a twelve month period. The
following table reflects the impact on net interest income of the scenarios utilized by these modeling techniques.

June 30, 2013 December 31, 2012
Amount % Amount %

(dollars are in millions)
Projected change in net interest income (reflects projected rate movements on

January 1): (10) (10)
Change resulting from a gradual 100 basis point increase in the yield curve....... $ 94 4 $ 107 5
Change resulting from a gradual 100 basis point decrease in the yield curve....... (150) ) (155) (8)
Change resulting from a gradual 200 basis point increase in the yield curve....... 147 7 128 6
Change resulting from a gradual 200 basis point decrease in the yield curve....... (275) (13) (210) (10)

Other significant scenarios monitored (reflects projected rate movements on

January 1):

Change resulting from an immediate 100 basis point increase in the yield curve 135 6 182 9
Change resulting from an immediate 100 basis point decrease in the yield curve (243) (11) (200) (10)
Change resulting from an immediate 200 basis point increase in the yield curve 235 11 158 8
Change resulting from an immediate 200 basis point decrease in the yield curve (440) (21) (234) (12)

The projections do not take into consideration possible complicating factors such as the effect of changes in interest rates on the
credit quality, size and composition of the balance sheet. Therefore, although this provides a reasonabl e estimate of interest rate
sensitivity, actual results will vary from these estimates, possibly by significant amounts.

Capital Risk/Sensitivity of Other Comprehensive Income Large movements of interest rates could directly affect some reported
capital balances and ratios. The mark-to-market valuation of available-for-sale securities is credited on a tax effective basis to
accumulated other comprehensiveincome. Although thisvaluation mark iscurrently excluded from Tier 1 and Tier 2 capital ratios,
it isincluded in two important accounting based capital ratios: the tangible common equity to tangible assets and the tangible
common equity to risk weighted assets. Under the final rule adopting the Basel |11 regulatory capital reforms, the valuation mark
will no longer be excluded from Tier 1 and Tier 1 capital ratios and the impact of this change for HSBC USA will be assessed
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along with the other Basel |11 changes being introduced. As of June 30, 2013, we had an available-for-sale securities portfolio of
approximately $52.9 billion with a positive mark-to-market of $425 million included in tangible common equity of $13.4 billion.
An increase of 25 basis pointsin interest rates of all maturities would lower the mark-to-market by approximately $295 million
toanet gain of $130 millionwith thefollowing resultson our tangible capital ratios. Asof December 31, 2012, we had anavailable-
for-sale securities portfolio of approximately $67.7 billion with a positive mark-to-market of $1.7 billion included in tangible
common equity of $13.2 billion. An increase of 25 basis pointsin interest rates of al maturities would lower the mark-to-market
by approximately $238 million to a net gain of $1.4 billion with the following results on our tangible capital ratios

June 30, 2013 December 31, 2012
Actual Proforma® Actual Proforma®
Tangible common equity to tangible aSSatS.........ccvevererirneneereereees 7.06% 6.98% 6.79% 6.72%
Tangible common equity to risk weighted assetS.........ccoeveveeceeieriesieceneenns 11.29 11.14 12.39 12.26

@ proforma percentages reflect a 25 basis point increase in interest rates.

Market Risk Management We have incorporated the qualitative and quantitative requirements of Basel 2.5, including stressed
VAR, Incremental Risk Charge and Comprehensive Risk Measure into our process and received regulatory approval to initiate
these enhancements effective January 1, 2013. See “Risk Management” in MD&A in our 2012 Form 10-K for a more complete
discussion of our approach to market risk. There have been no material changesto our approach towards market risk management
since December 31, 2012.

Value at Risk VAR analysis is a technique that estimates the potential losses that could occur on risk positions as a result of
movements in market rates and prices over a specified time horizon and to a given level of confidence. VAR calculations are
performed for all material trading activities and as atool for managing risk inherent in non-trading activities. VAR is calcul ated
daily for a one-day holding period to a 99 percent confidence level.

Trading Activities Our management of market risk is based on a policy of restricting individual operations to trading within an
authorized list of permissibleinstruments, enforcing new product approval procedures and restricting trading in the more complex
derivative products to offices with appropriate levels of product expertise and robust control systems. Market making trading is
undertaken within Global Banking and Markets.

Inaddition, at both portfolio and position levels, market risk intrading portfoliosis monitored and managed using acomplementary
set of techniques, including VAR and a variety of interest rate risk monitoring techniques as discussed above. These techniques
quantify the impact on capital of defined market movements.

Trading portfolios reside primarily within the Markets unit of the Global Banking and Markets business segment, which include
warehoused residential mortgage loans purchased with the intent of selling them, and within the mortgage banking subsidiary
included within the RBWM business segment. Portfolios include foreign exchange, interest rate swaps and credit derivatives,
precious metals (i.e. gold, silver, platinum), equities and money market instruments including “repos’ and securities. Trading
occurs as a result of customer facilitation, proprietary position taking and economic hedging. In this context, economic hedging
may include forward contracts to sell residential mortgages and derivative contracts which, while economically viable, may not
satisfy the hedge accounting requirements.

Thetrading portfolios have defined limits pertaining to items such as permissible investments, risk exposures, loss review, balance
sheet size and product concentrations. “Loss review” refers to the maximum amount of loss that may be incurred before senior
management intervention is required.

The following table summarizes trading VAR for the six months ended June 30, 2013:

Six Months Ended June 30, 2013

December 31,
June 30, 2013 Minimum Maximum Average 2012
(in millions)
Total trading......ccccoveveveeeeeieececee e $ 10 $ 6 $ 19 $ 9 $ 8
Foreign exchange..........coueeereeneenieieseseseses e 7 4 12 7 5
Interest rate directional and credit spread.................... 10 7 15 10 6

The following table summarizes the frequency distribution of daily market risk-related revenues for trading activities during
the six months ended June 30, 2013. Market risk-related trading revenues include realized and unrealized gains (losses) related
to trading activities, but exclude the related net interest income. Analysis of the gain (loss) data for the six months ended June
30, 2013 shows that the largest daily gain was $10 million and the largest daily loss was $9 million.
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Below $(5) $0 $5 Over
Ranges of daily trading revenue earned from market risk-related activities $(5) to $0 to $5 to $10 $10

(dollars are in millions)

Number of trading days market risk-related revenue was within
the StAtEA FANGE......c.ecveecteeeteec e e 7 53 58 5 2

VAR - Non-trading Activities Interest rate risk in non-trading portfolios arises principally from mismatches between the future
yield on assets and their funding cost as aresult of interest rate changes. Analysis of thisrisk is complicated by having to make
assumptions on embedded optionality within certain product areas such as the incidence of mortgage repayments, and from
behavioral assumptions regarding the economic duration of liabilitieswhich are contractually repayable on demand such as current
accounts. The prospective changein future net interest income from non-trading portfolioswill bereflected inthe current realizable
value of these positionsif they were to be sold or closed prior to maturity. In order to manage this risk optimally, market risk in
non-trading portfolios is transferred to Global Markets or to separate books managed under the supervision of the local ALCO.
Once market risk hasbeen consolidated in Global Marketsor AL CO-managed books, the net exposureistypically managed through
the use of interest rate swaps within agreed upon limits.

Non-trading VAR also includes the impact of asset market volatility on the current investment portfolio of financial investments
including assets held on an available for sale (AFS) and held to maturity (HTM) basis. The main holdings of AFS securities are
held by Balance Sheet Management within GB& M. These positions which are originated in order to manage structural interest
rate and liquidity risk are treated as non-trading risk for the purpose of market risk management. The main holdings of AFS assets
include U.S. Treasuries and Government backed GNMA securities.

Thefollowing table summarizes non-trading VAR for the six months ended June 30, 2013, assuming a 99 percent confidencelevel
for atwo-year observation period and a one-day “holding period.”

Six Months Ended June 30, 2013

December 31,
June 30, 2013 Minimum Maximum Average 2012
(in millions)
Total Accrual VAR ..o $ 119 $ 78 3% 125 % 91 $ 92

Trading Activities MSRs — Trading occurs in mortgage banking operations as a result of an economic hedging program intended
to offset changes in the value of mortgage servicing rights and the salable loan pipeline. Economic hedging may include, for
example, forward contractsto sell residential mortgages and derivative instruments used to protect the value of MSRs.

MSRs are assets that represent the present value of net servicing income (servicing fees, ancillary income, escrow and deposit
float, net of servicing costs). MSRs are separately recognized upon the sale of the underlying loans or at the time that servicing
rights are purchased. MSRs are subject to interest rate risk, in that their value will decline as a result of actual and expected
acceleration of prepayment of the underlying loansin afalling interest rate environment.

Interest rate risk is mitigated through an active hedging program that uses trading securities and derivative instruments to offset
changes in value of MSRs. Since the hedging program involves trading activity, risk is quantified and managed using a number
of risk assessment techniques.
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Modeling techniques, primarily rate shock analyses, are used to monitor certain interest rate scenarios for their impact on the
economic value of net hedged MSRs, asreflected in the following table.

December 31,

June 30, 2013 2012
(in millions)
Projected change in net market value of hedged M SRs portfolio (reflects projected rate movements
on April 1 and January 1):

Value of hedged M SRS POIfOli0.......cceireirieiricrises e $ 225 % 168
Change resulting from an immediate 50 basis point decrease in the yield curve:

Change limit (NOWOISE tNaN) ... (20) (20)

Calculated change in net Market ValUE...........ccccueiiicicii e ) 4
Change resulting from an immediate 50 basis point increase in the yield curve:

Change limit (N0 WOrSE than) ..........ccuoviruiiiiiec e 8) (8)

Calculated change in Net Market VaIUE...........cceieieeieeiccceeee s st eneas 2 8
Change resulting from an immediate 100 basis point increase in the yield curve:

Change [imit (NOWOISE tNaN) .........ccvruierirerrrrrrrrs e (12) (12)

Calculated change in Net Market VAIUE............cccoiiieiirieceeees e 3 28

The economic value of the net hedged M SRs portfolio is monitored on a daily basis for interest rate sensitivity. If the economic
value declines by more than established limits for one day or one month, various levels of management review, intervention and/
or corrective actions are required.

Thefollowing table summarized the frequency distribution of the weekly economic value of the M SR asset during the six months
ended June 30, 2013. This includes the change in the market value of the MSR asset net of changes in the market value of the
underlying hedging positions used to hedge the asset. The changes in economic value are adjusted for changesin M SR valuation
assumptions that were made during the course of the year.

Below $(2) $0 $2 Over
Ranges of mortgage economic value from market risk-related activities $(2) to $0 to $2 to $4 $4

(dollars are in millions)

Number of trading weeks market risk-related revenue was within
the Stated raNgE........eoee e 2 6 15 3 -

Operational Risk There have been no material changes to our approach toward operational risk since December 31, 2012.
Compliance Risk There have been no material changes to our approach toward compliance risk since December 31, 2012.
Fiduciary Risk There have been no material changes to our approach toward fiduciary risk since December 31, 2012.
Reputational Risk There have been no material changes to our approach toward reputational risk since December 31, 2012.
Strategic Risk There have been no material changes to our approach toward strategic risk since December 31, 2012.

Security and Fraud Risk There have been no material changes to our approach toward security and fraud risk since December
31, 2012.

Model Risk There have been no material changes to our approach toward model risk since December 31, 2012.

Pension Risk There have been no material changes to our approach toward pension risk since December 31, 2012.
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CONSOLIDATED AVERAGE BALANCES AND INTEREST RATES

The following tables show the quarter-to-date and year-to-date average daily balances of the principal components of assets,
liahilities and shareholders equity together with their respective interest amounts and rates earned or paid, presented on ataxable
equivalent basis. Net interest margin is calculated by dividing annualized net interest income by the average interest earning assets
from which interest income is earned. The calculation of net interest margin includes interest expense of $10 million and $50
million for the three and six months ended June 30, 2012, respectively, which has been allocated to our discontinued operations.
This allocation of interest expense to our discontinued operations was in accordance with our existing internal transfer pricing

policies as external interest expense is unaffected by these transactions.

Three Months Ended June 30, 2013 2012
Average Average
Balance Interest Rate® Balance Interest Rate®
(dollars are in millions)
Assets
Interest bearing deposits with banks..........ccccovceveeereeeennne. $ 23,168 $ 14 26% $ 25198 $ 17 .28%
Federal funds sold and securities purchased under resale
20| (== 1= 0] £SO 1,862 2 37 10,315 15 59
Trading 8SSELS......covvevereeieriee ettt 10,524 27 1.04 10,786 26 97
S o U 1 (1< 57,794 230 1.60 58,074 285 1.97
Loans:
COMMENCIAl ..o e 45,421 295 2.60 37,071 254 2.76
Consumer:
Residential MOrtgages.......ccoevvvvievevenieseeneesereeseeeeennes 16,031 140 3.49 15,442 148 3.87
HEL OCs and home equity mortgages .........cccceeeeeeeuene. 2,197 18 3.27 3,017 25 3.37
Credit CardS .....oceecieceececeeceecee e 817 17 8.45 1,045 17 6.37
Other CONSUMES .......cceeeiiciececee e 649 8 4.67 827 12 5.67
TOtal CONSUMEN .....ccueceeeeerie et se e e se e enens 19,694 183 3.72 20,331 202 4.00
TOtal [0BNS......couiriereeeeriere e 65,115 478 2.94 57,402 456 3.20
(@111 2,847 11 1.49 3,677 10 1.26
Total EarNING 8SSELS.....ccciirerierie et 161,310 $ 762 1.89% 165,452 809 1.97%
Allowance for credit [0SSes..........cccoovninieiieeienieccceeees (573) (604)
Cash and due from banks...........cccoerinine e 1,133 1,595
(@1 0 g S (S 25,370 28,641
Assets of discontinued Operations...........ccoceveveeeeierienccnenne. — 6,605
TOLAl @SSELS....ccvicveicreceeere ettt $ 187,240 $ 201,689
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Three Months Ended June 30, 2013 2012
Average Average
Balance Interest Rate® Balance Interest Rate®
(dollars are in millions)

Liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity
Depositsin domestic offices:

SaVINGS AEPOSITS. ..o $ 43964 $ 18 16% $ 54539 $ 53 .39%

Other time dePOSItS........cvveereireererese e 19,942 36 71 15,109 28 73
Depositsin foreign offices:

Foreign banks deposits........coeoeeerreieeenere e 7,183 1 .07 9,437 .07

Other interest bearing dePOSItS........cccceeveveeveeeeereseseren 7,432 1 .08 13,960 A1
Depositsheld for Sale.......ccoeiieineinereeeseee e — — — 9,745 6 .26
Total interest bearing dePOSItS.......cccvevveveereereeeeere e 78,521 56 28 102,790 93 40
Short-term BOrrOWINGS ........covevereeerecereeee e 16,688 8 20 12,841 7 21
Long-term debt........ccovvvveiiseeeseee e 21,997 166 3.01 19,757 179 3.65
Total interest bearing depositsand debt.............ccccceeeeenee 117,206 230 135,388 279
OtNEN ... 504 9 7.76 466 1 1.67
Total interest bearing liabilities.........ccoooeieieinineccee 117,710 239 81 135,854 280 .89
Net interest income/Interest rate spread...........ceeveeveviennns $ 523 1.08% $ 529 1.08%
Noninterest bearing depoSItS............c..vverereeesreeeeeeresreeneenn. 308 25485
Other lHabilitiES......ecceeceie e 20,892 20,469
Liabilities of discontinued operations............cccceeeeeereernnunns — 1,052
Total shareholders’ equity........ccocveievereereceececceeece e 17,785 18,829
Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity.............ccccu....... $ 187,240 $ 201,689
Net interest margin on average earning assets................... - 130% 1.29%
Net interest income to average total assets........coceveeerenene 1.12% 1.10%

Six Months Ended June 30, 2013 2012
Average Average
Balance Interest Rate® Balance Interest Rate®
(dollars are in millions)
Assets
Interest bearing deposits with banks............ccccceeeeeveinnene $ 20292 $ 26 26% $ 24001 $ 34 .28%
Federal funds sold and securities purchased under resale
AQrEEMENES.....ivieiiiiie e e 1,886 4 43 6,801 25 74
Tragding @SSEtS......cccvvvvereirereeee s 10,991 51 93 12,087 59 .98
S e | (L (1T 60,107 463 1.55 57,318 594 2.08
Loans:
COMMENCIAL ..ot 44,375 568 2.58 36,529 498 2.74
Consumer:
Residential MOrtgages.......ccooevevereenereneeesesese e 15,895 286 3.62 15,392 298 3.90
HEL OCs and home equity mortgages ........cccovevveernene 2,237 37 3.30 3,199 54 3.42
Credit CardS.....uuev e e 794 35 8.84 1,123 12 7.34
Other CONSUMEY .......covieereeeiesieseesesieseeneeee e esesresne e 648 16 5.06 881 27 6.18
TOtal CONSUMEN.......ccecuiiiieiececte ettt eneas 19,574 374 3.85 20,595 421 411
QLI I o= 63,949 942 2.97 57,124 919 3.23
(@1 1= SOOI 3,034 21 1.43 3,781 21 1.21
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Six Months Ended June 30, 2013 2012
Average Average
Balance Interest Rate® Balance Interest Rate®
(dollars are in millions)

Total arNiNgG ASSELS......civeveeeeerere e se e e ee e e eeneas 160,259 $ 1,507 1.90% 161,112 $ 1,652 2.06%
Allowance for credit [0SSes..........ccveiiccieiiecccc e (603) (666)
Cash and due from banks..........ccccvveierienevenenie e, 1,130 1,595
OthEr 8SSELS ... 27,056 29,264
Assets of discontinued operations...........ccceeveveverereeeeenne. — 13,508
TOtAl ASSELS.....ccviveeeeeeeeeeeee ettt ettt st eenea $ 187,842 $ 204,813
Liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity
Depositsin domestic offices:

SAVINGS AEPOSIES. ....eveeeiieeieieieseee e s $ 44260 $ 37 17% $ 56561 $ 113 40%

Other time depoSItS........cccvevrrreeirree s 20,495 56 55 14,994 62 .83
Depositsin foreign offices:

Foreign banks deposits..........ccoovreiinnnceinsecerens 7,434 .07 8,801 .07

Other interest bearing depoSItS........cccccevvevieveceviereeeene 6,756 3 .09 14,810 A1
Deposits held for sale........cvvvriciiec e — — — 12,418 16 .26
Total interest bearing dePOSItS........ccovveveveeieve v, 78,945 99 25 107,584 202 43
Short-term BOrrowWings .........oeoverreninineeese e, 16,442 17 21 15,283 15 .20
LoNG-term debt........cveviirieirerree e 22,036 333 3.04 18,923 341 3.62
Total interest bearing deposits and debt ..o, 117,423 449 141,790 558
(@111 OSSR 504 25  10.09 466 13 5.88
Total interest bearing liabilities.........cc.cooeiiiiciinie, 117,927 474 82 142,256 571 .88
Net interest income/Interest rate spread..........ccccveveveevennne. $ 1,033 1.08% $ 1,081 1.18%
Noninterest bearing depOSItS.............ovurvverrvereerreereeeieneennens 3094 2289
Other [1ahilITiES.....c.ecececeeeeecee e 21,130 19,926
Liabilities of discontinued operations............c.covererereeeenn — 994
Total shareholders equity 17,801 18,738
Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity............cccueueeneeee. $ 187,842 $ 204,813
Net interest margin on average earning assets...................... - 130% 1.35%
Net interest income to average total assats..........cocvevereeeene 1.11% 1.14%

@ Rates are calculated on amounts that have not been rounded to the nearest million.

The total weighted average rate earned on earning assets is interest and fee earnings divided by daily average amounts of total
interest earning assets, including the daily average amount on nonperforming loans. Loan interest for the three and six months
ended June 30, 2013 included fees of $19 million and $43 million, respectively compared with fess of $19 million and $34 million

during the three and six months ended June 30, 2012, respectively.
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Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk

Information required by this Item isincluded within Item 2. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and
Results of Operationsin the Risk Management section under the captions “ Interest Rate Risk Management” and “Market Risk
Management” of this Form 10-Q.

Item 4. Controls and Procedures

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures We maintain a system of internal and disclosure controls and procedures
designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed by HSBC USA in the reports we file or submit under the Securities
ExchangeAct of 1934, as amended (the “ Exchange Act”), isrecorded, processed, summarized and reported on atimely basis. Our
Board of Directors, operating through itsAudit Committee, which is composed entirely of independent outside directors, provides
oversight to our financial reporting process.

We conducted an evaluation, with the participation of the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, of the effectiveness
of our disclosure controls and procedures as of the end of the period covered by thisreport. Based upon that evaluation, the Chief
Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures were effective as of the end
of the period covered by thisreport so asto alert themin atimely fashion to material information required to be disclosed in reports
we file under the Exchange Act.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting There hasbeen no changein our internal control over financia reporting
that occurred during the quarter ended June 30, 2013 that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, our
internal control over financia reporting.

PART Il

Item 1. Legal Proceedings.

See “Litigation and Regulatory Matters’ in Note 21, “Litigation and Regulatory Matters,” in the accompanying consolidated
financial statements beginning on page 90 for our legal proceedings disclosure, which isincorporated herein by reference.

Item 5. Other Information.

Disclosures Pursuant to Section 13(R) of the Securities Exchange Act Section 219 of thelran Threat Reduction and SyriaHuman
Rights Act of 2012 added a new subsection (r) to section 13 of the Securities Exchange Act, requiring each issuer registered with
the SECtodiscloseinitsannual or quarterly reportswhether it or any of itsaffiliates have knowingly engaged in specified activities
or transactions with persons or entities targeted by U.S. sanctions programs relating to Iran, terrorism, or the proliferation of
weapons of mass destruction, even if those activities are not prohibited by U.S. law and are conducted outside the U.S. by non-
U.S. affiliates in compliance with local laws and regulations.

In order to comply with this requirement, HSBC Holdings plc (together with its affiliates, “HSBC”) has requested relevant
information from its affiliates globally. During the period covered by this Form 10-Q, HSBC USA Inc. (“HUSI”) did not engage
in any activities or transactions requiring disclosure pursuant to Section 13(r) other than those activities related to frozen accounts
and transactions permitted under relevant U.S. sanction programs described under “Frozen Accounts and Transactions’ below.
The following activities conducted by our affiliates are disclosed in response to Section 13(r):

Loans in repayment Between 2001 and 2005, the Project and Export Finance (“PEF") division of HSBC arranged or participated
in a portfolio of loans to Iranian energy companies and banks. All of these |loans were guaranteed by European and Asian export
credit agencies, and they have varied maturity dates with final maturity in 2018. For those loans that remain outstanding, HSBC
continues to seek repayment in accordance with its obligations to the supporting export credit agencies and, in all cases, with
appropriate regulatory approvals. Details of these loans follow.

HSBC has 13 loans outstanding to an Iranian petrochemical and energy company. These loans are supported by the official Export
Credit Agencies of the following countries: the United Kingdom, France, Germany, Spain, The Netherlands, South Korea and
Japan. HSBC continues to seek repayments from the company under the existing loans in accordance with the original maturity
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profiles. All repayments made by the Iranian company have received a license or an authorization from relevant authorities.
Repayments have been received under a number of the loans during the second quarter of 2013.

Bank Melli and Bank Saderat acted as sub-participants in three of the aforementioned loans. In the second quarter of 2013, the
repayments due to these banks under the loan agreements were paid into frozen accounts under licenses or authorizations from
relevant European governments.

In 2002, HSBC provided a loan to Bank Tejarat with a guarantee from the Government of Iran to fund the construction of a
petrochemical plant undertaken by a U.K. contractor. Thisloan was supported by the U.K. Export Credit Agency. One repayment
was received in the second quarter of 2013 under license from the relevant Europe Government.

HSBC also maintains sub-participationsin five loans provided by other international banksto Bank Tejarat and Bank Mellat with
guarantees from the Government of Iran. These sub-participations were supported by the Export Credit Agencies of Italy, The
Netherlands, France, and Spain. The repayments due under the sub-participations were not received during the second quarter of
2013, and claims are being processed and settled by the relevant European Export Credit Agencies. Licenses and relevant
authorizations have been obtained from the competent authorities of the European Union in respect of the transactions.

Estimated gross revenue to HSBC generated by these loans in repayment for the second quarter of 2013, which includes interest
and fees, was $307,000. Estimated net profit for HSBC during the second quarter of 2013 was $133,000. While HSBC intends
to continue to seek repayment, it does not intend to extend any new loans.

Legacy contractual obligations related to guarantees Between 1996 and 2007, HSBC provided guaranteesto anumber of its non-
Iranian customersin Europe and the Middle East for various business activitiesin Iran. In anumber of cases, HSBC issued counter
indemnities in support of guarantees issued by Iranian banks as the Iranian beneficiaries of the guarantees required that they be
backed directly by Iranian banks. The Iranian banks to which HSBC provided counter indemnities included Bank Tejarat, Bank
Mélli, and the Bank of Industry and Mine.

HSBC worked with relevant regulatory authorities to obtain licenses where required and ensure compliance with laws and
regulationswhile seeking to cancel the guaranteesand counter indemnities. None were cancel ed during the second quarter of 2013.

Estimated gross revenue to HSBC for the second quarter of 2013, which includes fees and/or commissions, was $3,000. HSBC
does not alocate direct coststo fees and commissions and therefore has not disclosed a separate profits measure. HSBC is seeking
to cancel all relevant guarantees and does not intend to provide any new guarantees involving Iran.

Check clearing Certain Iranian banks sanctioned by the United States continue to participate in officia clearing systems in the
UAE, Bahrain, Oman, L ebanon, Qatar, and Turkey. HSBC hasapresencein these countries and, as such, participatesin theclearing
systems. The Iranian banks participating in the clearing systems vary by location and include Bank Saderat, Bank Mélli, Future
Bank, and Bank Méllat.

While HSBC has attempted to restrict or terminate its role as paying or collecting bank, some check transactions with U.S.-
sanctioned Iranian financial ingtitutions have been settled. HSBC's ability to effectively terminate or implement check-clearing
restrictions is dependent on the relevant central banks permitting it to do so unilaterally. Where permitted, HSBC has terminated
the activity altogether, implementing both automated and manual controls. There was no measurable gross revenue or net profit
generated by this activity in the second quarter of 2013.

Other relationships with Iranian banks Activity related to U.S.-sanctioned Iranian banks not covered el sewherein this disclosure
includes the following:

* HSBC maintains afrozen account in the U.K. for an Iranian-owned, FSA-regulated financial institution. In April 2007,
the U.K. government issued alicenseto allow HSBC to handle certain transactions (operational payments and settlement
of pre-sanction transactions) for this institution. There was some licensed activity in the second quarter of 2013.

* HSBC actsasthe trustee and administrator for pension schemes involving three employees of a U.S.-sanctioned Iranian
bank in Hong Kong. Under the rules of these schemes, HSBC accepts contributions from the Iranian bank each month
and allocates the funds into the pension accounts of the three Iranian bank employees. HSBC runs and operates these
pension schemes in accordance with Hong Kong laws and regul ations.

* 1n 2010, HSBC closed its representative office in Iran. HSBC maintains alocal account with a U.S.-sanctioned Iranian
bank in Tehran in order to facilitate residual activity related to the closure. There was no activity in the second quarter of
2013.

Estimated gross revenue to HSBC for the second quarter of 2013 for all Iranian bank-related activity described in this section,
which includes fees and/or commissions, was $2,000. HSBC does not allocate direct costs to fees and commissions and therefore
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has not disclosed a separate profits measure. HSBC intends to continue to wind down this Iranian bank-related activity and not
enter into any new such activity.

Iranian embassy-related activity HSBC maintained a bank account in London for the Iranian embassy in London, which was used
to support Iranian students studying in the U.K. The account was closed in the second quarter of 2013, and the funds were moved
into unclaimed balances.

2013 Activity related to U.S. Executive Order 13224 HSBC maintained a frozen persona account for an individual sanctioned
under Executive Order 13224, and by the U.K. and the U.N. Security Council. Activity on this account in the second quarter of
2013 was permitted by a license issued by the U.K. There was no measurable gross revenue or net profits generated to HSBC in
the second quarter of 2013.

2013 Activity related to U.S. Executive Order 13382 HSBC held an account for a customer in the United Arab Emirates that was
sanctioned under Executive Order 13382 in the second quarter of 2013. HSBC has notified the customer that the account is being
closed, and there has been minimal activity in the second quarter of 2013. There was no measurable gross revenue or net profits
generated to HSBC in the second quarter of 2013.

Frozen accounts and transactions HSBC and HSBC Bank USA (a subsidiary of HUSI) maintain several accounts that are frozen
under relevant sanctions programs and on which no activity took place during the second quarter of 2013. In the second quarter
of 2013, HSBC and HSBC Bank USA also froze payments where required under relevant sanctions programs. There was no gross
revenue or net profit to HSBC.
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Item 6. Exhibits.

Exhibitsincluded in this Report:

12 Computation of Ratio of Earnings to Fixed Charges and Earnings to Combined Fixed Charges and Preferred Stock
Dividends.

31 Certification of Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley
Act of 2002.

32 Certification of Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley
Act of 2002.%

101INS XBRL Instance Document®

101.SCH

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document®

101.CAL XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document®
101.DEF XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document®
101.LAB XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document®
101.PRE

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document®

This exhibit shall be not be deemed “filed” for purposes of Section 11 and 12 of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and Section 18 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934,
as amended, or otherwise subject to liability under those sections.

Pursuant to Rule 405 of Regulation S-T, includes the following financial information included in HSBC USA Inc.'s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June
30, 2013, formatted in eXentsible Business Reporting Language (“ XBRL") interactive datafiles: (i) the Consolidated Statement of Income for the three and six months ended June
30, 2013 and 2012, (ii) the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income for the three and six months ended June 30, 2013 and 2012, (iii) the Consolidated Balance Sheet as
of June 30, 2013 and December 31. 2012, (iv) the Consolidated Statement of Changesin Shareholders Equity for the six monthsended June 30, 2013 and 2012, (V) the Consolidated
Statement of Cash Flows for the six months ended June 30, 2013 and 2012, and (vi) the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Liquidity and capital resources 145
Liquidity risk 154, 156
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risk concentration 29

troubled debt restructures 22, 135
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Pension and other postretirement benefits 51
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capital 62, 103, 146
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earnings to fixed charges — Exhibit 12

efficiency 103, 124
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Reconciliation of U.S. GAAP resultsto IFRSs 106

Refreshed |oan-to-value 110
Regulation 62, 95, 146
Related party transactions 52
Reputational risk 154, 160
Results of operations 115
Retail banking and wealth management segment results (IFRSs) 60, 126
Risk elementsin the loan portfolio 28
Risk management:

credit 154, 156
compliance 154, 160
fiduciary 154, 160
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liquidity 154, 160
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reputational 154, 160
strategic 154, 160

Securities:

fair value 13
impairment 16
maturity analysis 19
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retail banking and wealth management 60, 126
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global banking and markets 60, 129
private banking 60, 132

other 60, 133

overal summary 60, 126

Selected financial data 103
Sensitivity:

Statement of changesin shareholders' equity 7
Statement of changesin comprehensive income (loss) 4

projected net interest income 157

Statement of income (loss) 3
Strategic risk 154, 160
Stress testing 145, 147
Table of contents 2

Tax expense 46

Trading:

assets 12, 111
derivatives 12, 111
liabilities 12, 111
portfolios 12

Trading revenue (net) 120
Troubled debt restructures 22, 135
Value at risk 159

Variable interest entities 62
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Signatures

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on
its behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly authorized.

Date: August 5, 2013

HSBC USA Inc.
(Registrant)

/s JOHN T. MCGINNIS

John T. McGinnis

Senior Executive Vice President and
Chief Financial Officer
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Exhibit Index

12 Computation of Ratio of Earnings to Fixed Charges and Earnings to Combined Fixed Charges and Preferred Stock
Dividends.

31 Certification of Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley
Act of 2002.

32 Certification of Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley
Act of 2002.

10LINS XBRL Instance Document®

101.SCH XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document®

101.CAL XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document®

101.DEF XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document®

101.LAB XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document®

101.PRE XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document®

This exhibit shall be not be deemed “filed” for purposes of Section 11 and 12 of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and Section 18 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934,
as amended, or otherwise subject to liability under those sections.

2. Pursuant to Rule 405 of Regulation S-T, includes the following financial information included in HSBC USA Inc.'s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June
30, 2013, formatted in eXentsible Business Reporting Language (“ XBRL") interactive datafiles: (i) the Consolidated Statement of Income for the three and six months ended June
30, 2013 and 2012, (ii) the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income for the three and six months ended June 30, 2013 and 2012, (iii) the Consolidated Balance Sheet as
of June 30, 2013 and December 31. 2012, (iv) the Consolidated Statement of Changesin Shareholders Equity for the six monthsended June 30, 2013 and 2012, (V) the Consolidated
Statement of Cash Flows for the six months ended June 30, 2013 and 2012, and (vi) the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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HSBC USA INC.
COMPUTATION OF RATIO OF EARNINGS TO FIXED CHARGES AND
EARNINGS TO COMBINED FIXED CHARGES AND PREFERRED STOCK DIVIDENDS

Six Months Ended June 30,
2013 2012

(dollars are in millions)
Ratios excluding interest on deposits:

Income (10SS) from CONtINUING OPEIALTIONS .........cuerveeirieierieerieesieer e $ 363 $ (513)
[NCOME TBX EXPEINSE. ... eeeireeri e e st s et s re e s s e sr e n e e reenn e smeesneseesme e e e sr e e nenre e renne e reennenneenes 153 369
Less: Undistributed eqUItY EaIMINGS .......coceoueeeieeieireee sttt s e e e e sre b s snen — —
Fixed charges:

Interest on:
BOMOWED FUNGS. ... 17 15
LONG-EIM AEDL. ..o 333 332
OLNEIS ...ttt e 25 13
One third of rents, net of income from SUDIEASES ...t 17 15
Total fixed charges, excluding interest 0N dePOSITS.........cccveirerrirneree e 392 375
Earnings from continuing operations before taxes and fixed charges, net of undistributed equity
BAITINTS. 1.ttt ettt sttt b et b bbb e R R R e R bR 4R R R e R R R R R e R R Rt e Rt n s 908 231
Ratio of earningSto fiXed ChargeS ... ..ooi e 2.32 .62
Total preferred Stock dividend FACtOr™ ..o eee e $ 51 $ 51
Fixed charges, including the preferred stock dividend factor............ooeveveieienecceeeeeee $ 443 % 426
Ratio of earnings from continuing operations to combined fixed charges and preferred stock
0TV T =00 L3 2.05 54

Ratios including interest on deposits:

Total fixed charges, excluding interest 0N dEPOSITS.........oeveirrrrreererre e $ 392 $ 375
Add: INEErESt ON AEPOSITS .....cueieeetirieriesiese ettt b e e bbb e e e s b e aesaesre b e 99 161
Total fixed charges, including iNterest 0N dEPOSITS..........ovreirrrrreerreeeerres e $ 491 $ 536

Earnings from continuing operations before taxes and fixed charges, net of undistributed

L= == 1T o TSP T $ 908 $ 231
PaXo o B g1 = (== 0 g o = 00 | TSRS 99 161
L1 1 $ 1,007 $ 392
Ratio of earningS to fiXed ChargES........coiiririeirier e 2.05 73
Fixed charges, including the preferred stock dividend factor...........coovveveveccceccecccecce e $ 443 3 426
FaXo o B g1 = (== 0 g o = 00 S | TR 99 161
Fixed charges, including the preferred stock dividend factor and interest on deposits.................. $ 542 $ 587
Ratio of earnings from continuing operations to combined fixed charges and preferred stock
TIVIENAS. ...ttt E et e Rt e bbbt 1.86 .67

(1) Preferred stock dividends grossed up to their pretax equivalents.



EXHIBIT 31

Certification of Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer
Pursuant to Section 302 of The Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

Certification of Chief Executive Officer
I, Irene M. Dorner, President, Chief Executive Officer and Chairman of the Board of HSBC USA Inc., certify that:
1. | have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of HSBC USA Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material
fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading
with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present
in al material respects the financia condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods
presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and | are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and
procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(€)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined
in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a) designed such disclosure controlsand procedures, or caused such disclosure controlsand proceduresto be designed
under our supervision, to ensurethat material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, ismade
known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b) designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to
be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the
preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

¢) evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our
conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report
based on such evaluation; and

d) disclosed in thisreport any change in the registrant’sinternal control over financial reporting that occurred during
the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s
internal control over financial reporting; and

5. Theregistrant’s other certifying officer and | have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over
financial reporting, to the registrant’sauditors and the audit committee of the registrant’sboard of directors (or persons performing
the equivalent functions):

a) all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial
reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial
information; and

b) any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in
the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

Date: August 5, 2013

/s IRENE M. DORNER

Irene M. Dorner

President, Chief Executive

Officer and Chairman of the Board




Certification of Chief Financial Officer
I, John T. McGinnis, Senior Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of HSBC USA Inc., certify that:
1. I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of HSBC USA Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material
fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading
with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present
in al material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods
presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and | are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and
procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(€e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined
in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a) designed such disclosure controlsand procedures, or caused such disclosure controlsand proceduresto be designed
under our supervision, to ensurethat material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, ismade
known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b) designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to
be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the
preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

¢) evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our
conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report
based on such evaluation; and

d) disclosed in thisreport any change in the registrant’sinternal control over financial reporting that occurred during
the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s
internal control over financial reporting; and

5. Theregistrant’s other certifying officer and | have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over
financial reporting, to theregistrant’sauditors and the audit committee of the registrant’sboard of directors (or persons performing
the equivalent functions):

a) all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial
reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial
information; and

b) any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in
theregistrant’sinternal control over financial reporting.

Date: August 5, 2013

/s JOHN T. MCGINNIS

John T. McGinnis

Senior Executive Vice President and
Chief Financial Officer




EXHIBIT 32

Certification of Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer
Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

Certification Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as Adopted Pursuant to
Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

The certification set forth below is being submitted in connection with the HSBC USA Inc. (the “ Company”) quarterly report on
Form 10-Q for the period ending June 30, 2013 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the
“Report”) for the purpose of complying with Rule 13a-14(b) or Rule 15d-14(b) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (the
“Exchange Act”) and Section 1350 of Chapter 63 of Title 18 of the United States Code.

I, Irene M. Dorner, President, Chief Executive Officer and Chairman of the Board of the Company, certify that:
1. the Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Exchange Act; and

2. the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results
of operations of HSBC USA Inc.

Date: August 5, 2013

/s IRENE M. DORNER

Irene M. Dorner

President, Chief Executive

Officer and Chairman of the Board




Certification pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as Adopted Pursuant to
Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

The certification set forth below is being submitted in connection with the HSBC USA Inc. (the “Company™) quarterly report on
Form 10-Q for the period ending June 30, 2013 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the
“Report”) for the purpose of complying with Rule 13a-14(b) or Rule 15d-14(b) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (the
“Exchange Act”) and Section 1350 of Chapter 63 of Title 18 of the United States Code.

I, John T. McGinnis, Senior Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of the Company, certify that:
1. the Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Exchange Act; and

2. the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results
of operations of HSBC USA Inc.

Date: August 5, 2013

/s/ JOHN T. MCGINNIS

John T. McGinnis

Senior Executive Vice President and
Chief Financia Officer

These certifications accompany each Report pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 and shall not, except to
the extent required by the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, be deemed filed by HSBC USA Inc. for purposes of Section 18 of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.

Signed originals of these written statements required by Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 have been provided to
HSBC USA Inc. and will be retained by HSBC USA Inc. and furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff
upon request.



	Cover Page
	Table of Contents
	Part I
	Item€1. Financial Statements (Unaudited)
	Consolidated Statement of Income
	Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
	Consolidated Balance Sheet
	Consolidated Statement of Changes in Shareholder's Equity
	Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
	Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
	1. Organization
	2. Discontinued Operations
	3. Trading Assets and Liabilities
	4. Securities
	5. Loans
	6. Allowance for Credit Losses
	7. Loans Held for Sale
	8. Intangible Assets
	9. Goodwill
	10. Derivative Financial Instruments
	11. Fair Value Option
	12. Income Taxes
	13. Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income (Loss)
	14. Pension and Other Postretirement Benefits
	15. Related Party Transactions
	16. Business Segments
	17. Retained Earnings and Regulatory Capital Requirements
	18. Variable Interest Entities
	19. Guarantee Arrangements and Pledged Assets
	20. Fair Value Measurements
	21. Litigation and Regulatory Matters
	22. New Accounting Pronouncements


	Item 2. Management s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations
	Forward-Looking Statements
	Executive Overview
	Basis of Reporting
	Balance Sheet Review
	Residential Real Estate Owned
	Results of Operations
	Segment Results - IFRS Basis
	Credit Quality
	Liquidity and Capital Resources
	Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements, Credit Derivatives and Other Contractual
	Fair Value
	Risk Management

	Consolidated Average Balances and Interest Rates
	Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk
	Item 4. Controls and Procedures

	Part II
	Item€1. Legal Proceedings
	Item 5. Other Information
	Item 6. Exhibit

	Index
	Signatures
	Exhibit Index
	Exhibit 12
	Exhibit 31 - CEO
	Exhibit 31 - CFO
	Exhibit 32 - CEO
	Exhibit 32 - CFO

